Medical University of South Carolina MEDICA

MUSC Theses and Dissertations

2020

Hospital-Based Buprenorphine-Focused Interventions for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder: A Scoping Literature Review and Case Study

Richard Bottner Medical University of South Carolina

Follow this and additional works at: https://medica-musc.researchcommons.org/theses

Recommended Citation

Bottner, Richard, "Hospital-Based Buprenorphine-Focused Interventions for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder: A Scoping Literature Review and Case Study" (2020). *MUSC Theses and Dissertations*. 529. https://medica-musc.researchcommons.org/theses/529

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by MEDICA. It has been accepted for inclusion in MUSC Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of MEDICA. For more information, please contact medica@musc.edu.

Hospital-Based Buprenorphine-Focused Interventions for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder:

A Scoping Literature Review and Case Study

BY

Richard Bottner, PA-C

A doctoral project submitted to the faculty of the Medical University of South Carolina in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Health Administration in the College of Health Professions

© Richard Bottner 2020 All rights reserved

Hospital-Based Buprenorphine-Focused Interventions for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder:

A Scoping Literature Review and Case Study

BY

Richard Bottner, PA-C

Approved by:

Chair, Project Committee	Jillian B. Haever Jillian Harvey, PhD	8/14/2020 Date
Member, Project Committee	Jami Jones, MHA, PhD	8/14/2020 Date
Member, Project Committee	Amber Baysinger, MD, PhD	8/14/2020 Date
Member, Project Committee	Christopher Moriates, MD	8/14/2020 Date

Acknowledgements

I would like to express sincere appreciation to my committee for their dedication, thoroughness, and guidance. To Amber Baysinger, MD, PhD, thank you for the amazingly indepth subject matter expertise and editorial skills you have always brought to our work. I have learned so much from you and look forward to collaborating again soon. To Jillian Harvey, PhD, thank you for the many conversations and focusing my energy (that is no easy task!) It feels like just yesterday we were speaking on the phone about the program before I applied. To Jami Jones, MHA, PhD, thank you for the commitment and encouragement during this process. To Chris Moriates, MD, thank you for your attention to detail and ongoing mentorship. I am forever grateful for all you have done and continue to do in support of my professional development. Thank you all for your unwavering support and belief in me.

I would like to offer heartfelt gratitude to the incredible group of healthcare professionals who make up the B-Team family. None of this work would be possible without you. I have never had the privilege before to be part of such a cohesive, caring, and wonderful group of people. You inspire me every day and have taught me so much about leadership and the importance of interprofessional care. I am also deeply appreciative to the many addiction medicine and substance use disorder experts I have met over the last several years. Thank you for accepting me into this fascinatingly complex world and continuing to teach me something new each day.

There are many organizations that have encouraged and supported this work. I am grateful to Dell Medical School at the University of Texas at Austin, Dell Seton Medical Center, Integral Care, Community Care, and Communities for Recovery. Thank you to the PA Foundation for their financial support of our work three years ago and again through a scholarship for this project. Thank you to the Medical University of South Carolina for their institutional support and hosting such an excellent academic program. To my classmates, it has been an incredible journey filled with tons of laughs and maybe a few tears. I can't wait to see what the future holds.

Finally, I am deeply grateful to my family for their extensive and unwavering support over the years, especially my mom. Thank you all for your encouragement and patience! This will probably be the last degree, but we'll see. Lastly, to my fiance Lisl, I could not have made it through this process without you. I have a camping trip or two to make up to you.

Abstract of Dissertation Presented to the Medical University of South Carolina In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Health Administration

Hospital-Based Buprenorphine-Focused Interventions for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder:

A Scoping Literature Review and Case Study

by

Richard Bottner, PA-C

Chairperson: Committee: Jillian Harvey, PhD Jami Jones, MHA, PhD Amber Baysinger, MD, PhD Christopher Moriates, MD

The United States continues to struggle to find meaningful solutions to the opioid epidemic. Because they save lives, medications for the treatment of opioid use disorder (OUD), such as buprenorphine, are recommended to be made available in all practice settings. Yet the treatment of opioid use disorder appears to be rarely offered during hospitalization. However, a 220-bed academic hospital in Texas achieved this goal without the presence of an addiction medicine consultation service. This study sought to illuminate this growing area of work through an extensive literature review and case study of the program in Texas. For the case study, key informant interviews took place of stakeholders engaged in the program in addition to document review from the program's inception. Over 4,500 computer files and over 9,400 emails were reviewed from November 2017 to December 2019. Eleven key informant interviews were conducted. The findings show key areas for integration of OUD treatment within the walls of U.S. hospitals including stakeholder engagement, executive support, interprofessional collaboration, widespread education, stigma reduction, advocacy and institutional policy reform, and sharing of patient stories. As a result, a dedicated group of interprofessional hospital-based healthcare professionals working in a consultative model is one feasible method of increasing access to life-saving treatment and harm reduction for patients with opioid use disorder and likely substance use disorders as a whole.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	9
Problem Statement	
Study Objective	
Population	
Chapter 2: Scoping Literature Review	
Literature Review Preface	
History of the Opioid Epidemic	
Basic Opioid and Addiction Physiology	
Definitions of Opioid Use Disorder and Addiction	
Epidemiology	
Role of Treatment and Harm Reduction	
Medications for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder	
Hospital-Based Treatment	
Barriers to Care for Patients with Opioid Use Disorder	
Peer Recovery and Coaching	
Harm Reduction	
Further Considerations	127
Literature Review Limitations	

Chapter 3: Methods	
Study Objective	
Research Question	
Study Design	
Data Sources	
Data Collection	
Data Analysis	
Chapter 4: Case Study and Early Results	
Practice Setting and Organizational Stakeholders	
Texas Opioid Use Disorder Statistics	
County Payer System for Underinsured and Uninsured Patients	
Concept Development	
Recognition of the Opportunity to Treat OUD	
Early Discovery – First Thirty Days	
Developing the Process	
Education	
Building Momentum	
Early Results and Outcomes	
Implementation Themes and Messages	

What's Next?	
Chapter 5: Discussion and Lessons Learned	200
Theme 1	
Theme 2	
Theme 3	
Limitations	
The Future	
Conclusion	
References	211
Tables	
Figures	
Appendix	

Chapter 1: Introduction

Hospital-Based Buprenorphine-Focused Interventions for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder:

A Scoping Literature Review and Case Study

The United States is facing an alarming public health crisis. An average of 130 people die every day across the nation from opioid poisonings (United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018b). In 2017 alone, over 47,000 individuals died from opioid misuse (National Institute on Drug Abuse [NIDA], 2019). In 2016, 950,000 people were using heroin and an additional 150,000 people tried heroin for the first time (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services [DHHS], 2018a). By the same year, over \$500 billion had been lost from the economy due to acute hospitalization, rehabilitation, criminal justice costs, and lost productivity since the start of the epidemic in the late 1990s (DHHS, 2018a).

Prevention is not Enough

There has been a tremendous amount of work to decrease the supply of prescription opioids, such as oxycodone, with hopes that diversion for illicit use will also decrease. These efforts include prescribing smaller doses of opioids with less frequency and increasing utilization of prescription drug monitoring programs. These strategies appear to be achieving a reduced total amount of opioids prescribed across the country since 2010 (Hoots et al., 2018). However, despite these efforts, the number of opioid-related deaths continue to sky-rocket. For example, deaths related to the highly-potent opioid fentanyl increased by over 40% from 2013 to 2017 (Katz, 2017). By focusing mostly on prevention efforts such as appropriate prescribing, overdose deaths are expected to decrease by only 5% by the year 2025 (Chen et al., 2019). Therefore, prevention efforts must be balanced with increasing access to treatment of opioid use disorder (OUD), bolstering of harm reduction efforts and policies, and development of pathways to facilitate long-term recovery. The Institute for Healthcare Improvement [IHI] recommends five

system-level strategies for ending the opioid epidemic including screening, treatment, education, and reducing harm, in addition to appropriate prescribing (Botticelli et al., 2019).

Buprenorphine is an effective treatment for OUD and is equally effective to methadone, another widely used but highly regulated medication (Mattick, Breen, Kimber, & Davoli, 2014). Buprenorphine partially activates the brain's opioid receptors enough to prevent withdrawal and cravings for many patients, but not to the extent that it causes respiratory depression (Mattick, Breen, Kimber, & Davoli, 2014). The medication's less-restrictive federal regulations may make it an ideal intervention to support patients on their journey to recovery in the hospital and the community.

Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder in the Hospital

Hospitalization is a reachable moment and an ideal time to offer patients access to buprenorphine and harm reduction. Between 1993 and 2014, there were almost 2 million hospitalizations stemming from opioid misuse (Song, 2017). Patients are often admitted for several days to several weeks for sequelae of OUD such as endocarditis and spinal abscesses. These patients may not be actively seeking treatment and, therefore, are not necessarily assisted by community programs or other public health programs. Up to 30% of patients with substance use disorders leave the hospital against medical advice because of stigma, inadequate control of cravings, and fear of mistreatment (Ti & Ti, 2015). Such patients are more likely to be readmitted within 30 days of discharge (Walley et al., 2012). Moreover, 80% of patients who are "detoxified" from heroin during hospitalization will return to heroin use after discharge if not provided treatment, which may include initiation of a medication such as buprenorphine (Chutuape et al., 2001). Patients started on buprenorphine during hospitalization are more likely to enter outpatient treatment, stay in treatment longer, and have more drug-free days compared to those offered only a referral (Liebschutz et al., 2014). Patients receiving buprenorphine are also less likely to be readmitted at 30 and 90 days for reasons related to OUD (Moreno et al., 2019).

Buprenorphine therapy contributes to reduced overall healthcare costs, including total cost related to hospitalizations (Mohlman et al., 2016). Patients who begin buprenorphine in the emergency department are less likely to use illicit drugs or enter inpatient drug rehabs, as opposed to outpatient treatment, versus those provided a referral and no medication to treat OUD (D'Onofrio et al., 2017). Offering buprenorphine in the emergency room is also cost-effective (Busch et al., 2017).

Barriers to Treating Addiction

There are several barriers to starting buprenorphine therapy during hospitalization. These can be divided into three domains: patient, clinician, and system. Patients are often confused and misinformed about the role of medications for treating OUD. They may believe that these medications "replace one addiction with another" (Hassamal et al., 2017a).

Clinicians may feel that they lack the clinical knowledge to start treatment for patients with OUD and that this service is better offered by behavior health specialists (Hassamal et al., 2017a). This may be partly because medical educators have historically excluded training around addictions or their treatment during early formal education (Association of American Medical Colleges [AAMC], n.d.). There is also stigma against patients with OUD. For example, stigmatizing language in the medical record influences the behavior of medical trainees and subsequent prescribing patterns (Goddu et al., 2018). From a systems standpoint, there is often an absence of protocols and overall institutional support for treating OUD in the hospital setting (Hassamal et al., 2017a). Twelve-step and fellowship programs often advocate for total pharmacologic abstinence, which includes medications for the treatment of OUD such as buprenorphine (Brico, 2017).

Moreover, the regulatory environment for prescribing buprenorphine is complex and restrictive. The Drug Addiction Treatment Act of 2000 (DATA 2000) provides the statutory authority for physicians to prescribe buprenorphine for the treatment of OUD (GovTrack, 2020b). One of its goals was to increase access to buprenorphine therapy in primary care settings. The legislation requires completion of an eight-hour course in most cases. Ten years after the law was passed, only 2% of eligible prescribers had completed the training necessary to offer treatment, and only 6% of this tiny number were internal medicine or family medicine physicians. Half of the counties in the United States had no buprenorphine prescribers during this period (Rosenblatt et al., 2015a).

Problem Statement

Because they save lives, medications for the treatment of OUD, such as buprenorphine, are recommended to be made available in all practice settings (National Academy of Medicine [NAM], 2019). There are over 6,000 hospitals in the United States (American Hospital Association, 2019), yet treatment of substance use disorders appears to be rarely offered during hospitalization (Naeger et al., 2016).

While pieces of buprenorphine programs have been described in the literature, there does not appear to be an in-depth description of the entire build and implementation process – especially in an institution which does not have an addiction medicine consultation service. In

this author's experience, most hospitals lack the presence of such a service. A scalable model to provide buprenorphine treatment in hospitals without formal addiction services is warranted.

Study Objective

To further analyze the issue of offering buprenorphine treatment in the hospital setting and contribute to this growing practice, a literature review will be completed to examine evidence-based practices of buprenorphine therapy and a case study will be performed to share the experience of how a single 220-bed academic hospital in central Texas promoted the importance of treatment and overcame the barriers mentioned above.

Research questions

- How did a single 220-bed academic institution in Texas implement an in-hospital buprenorphine treatment program?
 - a. What were the implementation barriers?
 - b. How were these barriers overcome?
 - c. How does interprofessionalism contribute to program effectiveness?

Population

In 2017, the primary academic hospital for adult non-pregnant patients in a 2-million person metropolitan area of Texas began working on a strategy to offer buprenorphine therapy for patients with a possible diagnosis of OUD admitted to the hospital for medical reasons. This interprofessional collaboration was led by a physician assistant and included a nurse, social worker, pharmacist, chaplain and incorporated physicians from varying disciplines including internal medicine, psychiatry, and palliative care. The group worked together to form a consultation service that assists hospital-based primary care teams to identify patients with OUD, start and maintain buprenorphine therapy during hospitalization, provide warm handoffs to outpatient addiction programs, and reduce institutional stigma regarding substance use disorders. The stakeholders of this program include patients with OUD, hospital-based clinicians, outpatient care providers, hospital administrators, payers, and policymakers. **Chapter 2: Scoping Literature Review**

Literature Review Preface

The overarching purpose of this paper is to discuss and analyze the impact of the opioid epidemic on hospital systems, and potential interventions these entities may implement to decrease morbidity and mortality, improve patient and staff satisfaction, and help patients on their journey to long-term recovery. This will be accomplished by first exploring the literature relevant to opioid use disorder treatment which will be followed by a case study specific to a single hospital's experience in this realm.

In the author's experience, integrating hospital-based solutions requires knowledge of the opioid epidemic including opioid-related epidemiology and pharmacokinetics of buprenorphine. Since long-term care is provided in the outpatient setting, an understanding of this environment is important as well. While basic knowledge was required to institute the single-center program for hospitalized patients described later, advocating for system-wide and state and national change to support patients with opioid use disorder during hospitalization requires a deeper understanding and appreciation of the many issues and technicalities promoting or hindering such progress. The following literature review seeks to illuminate these areas including the historical context of the opioid epidemic, basic opioid physiology, epidemiology, role of medications to treat opioid use disorder, importance of hospital-based treatment, and the many barriers to developing systems of care for patients with substance use disorders, including opioid use disorder.

History of the Opioid Epidemic

Opioids have been utilized across the world for centuries to treat a variety of medical symptoms ranging from cough suppression to pain management. As early as the 1850s, physician-prescribed opioid use was widespread throughout the United States. During the first part of the 20th century, improved medical technologies brought new forms of analgesia to the marketplace such as aspirin and the reliance on opioids (primarily morphine) began to subside. However, after World War II and subsequent international conflicts such as the Vietnam War, opioids were increasingly used by physicians to treat pain, while nonmedical heroin use also became more prevalent (Kolodny et al., 2015).

Initial reports and beliefs were that prescription opioids were unlikely to be addictive. Porter and Jick (1980) wrote to the editor of the *New England Journal of Medicine* that among 39,946 hospitalized patients who received opioids, only four had subsequent diagnoses of addiction. The authors conclude the one-paragraph letter by stating "the development of addiction is rare in medical patients with no history of addiction" (p. 123). Portenoy and Foley (1986) published an article in *Pain* describing 38 cases of patients who had been prescribed opioids for extended periods of time, some for greater than four years. The authors concluded this as "evidence that opioid medications can be safely and effectively prescribed to selected patients with relatively little risk of producing the maladaptive behaviors which define opioids abuse" (p. 184). However, the authors also noted that since a paucity of data existed at the time, such treatment should be "pursued cautiously", and additional long-term studies would be needed to evaluate the potential for opioid misuse. Despite the many weaknesses of the case series and the authors own concerns about external validity, the results were widely cited over the next several years as conclusive "evidence" of opioid safety (Kolodny et al., 2015). By 2017, the Porter and Jick letter had been cited 439 times in peer-reviewed literature as evidence that opioid-related addiction was rare (Leung et al., 2017).

Around the same time, an increasing focus on pain emerged within the medical community. In 1995, the American Pain Society (APS) launched the "Pain is the Fifth Vital Sign" campaign and promoted the notion that pain should be monitored and treated in a fashion similar to blood pressure (Deweerdt, 2019). In 1998, APS and the American Academy of Pain Medicine published a joint consensus statement stating in part "the undertreatment of pain in today's society is not justified" (Haddox et al., 1998, p. 102). While the authors write "it is imperative that this statement not be misconstrued as advocating the imprudent use of opioids" (p. 98), they also concluded the risk of addiction to opioids is low, occurrence of respiratory depression is rare, and physiologic tolerance is poorly studied and non-concerning. By 2000, the Department of Veterans Affairs promoted the "Pain is the Fifth Vital Sign" campaign and the Joint Commission included it as part of its new Pain Standards (Baker, 2017; Booss et al., 2000). Simultaneously, pharmaceutical companies began promoting opioid prescribing.

In the 1990s, Purdue Pharma started aggressively marketing OxyContin as a safe longterm treatment of chronic pain (Kolodny et al., 2015). At the time, the medical community was largely unaware of the addictive nature of opioids, and the physician spokespeople hired by Purdue downplayed the risks by citing the studies from Porter and Jick (1980) and Portenoy and Foley (1986). In the absence of known or popularized alternatives for the treatment of acute or chronic pain, opioid prescribing continued to rise as the focus on patient satisfaction increased in hospitals and private practices (Deweerdt, 2019). The heroin market was also rapidly evolving concurrently to the rise of prescription opioids. Together, these market forces resulted in larger quantities of illicit opioids available on the underground market at increasingly lower prices (Kolodny et al., 2015). See Figure 1 for a timeline of events leading up to the current opioid epidemic.

Three Waves of the Opioid Epidemic

The timeline of the opioid epidemic is often described in terms of the "three waves." The first wave began in the 1990s and was related primarily to prescription opioids (United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018b). During this time, opioid prescriptions increased by more than 300% (Adams & Giroir, 2019). Contrary to the earlier widely-cited reports, more recent evidence suggests that up to 12% of patients who are started on an opioid medication by their healthcare provider will develop an opioid use disorder (NIDA, 2019).

The second wave began in 2010 when the extended-release *OxyContin* was reformulated to deter its misuse. Unfortunately, this had an unintended consequence of driving people misusing primarily *OxyContin* to heroin (Cicero et al., 2012). The increase of opioid pill misuse during the first wave and the subsequent beginning of widespread heroin use in the second wave has been referred to as the "intertwined epidemics" (Unick et al., 2013).

The third wave began in 2013 and is marked by when heroin started to be adulterated with fentanyl, a synthetic (laboratory-made) opioid. By 2015, the number of overdose deaths related to heroin surpassed that of pills for the first time (Ciccarone, 2019). From 2013 to 2014, the number of specimens testing positive for fentanyl by law enforcement increased by 426%, which coincided with a 79% increase in overdose deaths linked to these synthetic opioids during the same period (Gladden et al., 2016). The third wave continues at the time of publication. See Figure 2 for a graphical interpretation of the three waves.

Ongoing Litigation

Healton et al. (2019) reports much of the opioid litigation to date has been led by state attorneys general. In March 2019, Oklahoma settled a \$270 million lawsuit against Purdue Pharma. In addition, an Oklahoma judge demanded Johnson and Johnson to pay \$572 million in damages related to their role in the opioid crisis. The judge outlined how such money should be spent within the state, which was immediately followed by rebuke from state legislators and the passing of a unanimous bill emphasizing their role in appropriations. In September 2019, Purdue Pharma announced a \$10 billion settlement with 2,000 government-related plaintiffs including federal stakeholders and 24 states. The company filed for bankruptcy shortly after. Some believe opioid settlements should be modeled after the \$206 billion tobacco settlement of the 1990s. However, less than 3% of these dollars were spent on tobacco prevention as expected.

Basic Opioid and Addiction Physiology

Opium is derived from poppy seeds and has been documented as early as 3400 BC. Opiates refer specifically to naturally occurring substances, primarily morphine and codeine. There are three primary physiologic receptors that are activated by opioids ("opioid receptors"): mu, kappa, and delta. The term "opioid" is used to describe substances that act at these receptors and may be natural or synthetic (such as fentanyl.) Much of the sought-after functions as well as adverse effects associated with opioids occur at the mu receptor including analgesia, respiratory depression, and sedation. Activation of the receptor initially results in pain relief but can quickly progress to decreased rate of breathing and death if opioids are misused in higher than clinically appropriate doses (Providers Clinical Support System [PCSS], 2018).

Full agonist pharmacotherapies completely activate the mu receptor. The extent to which this activation occurs is based on the concentration, potency, and amount of the drug

administered. Morphine, hydrocodone (Norco[®]), hydromorphone (Dilaudid[®]), fentanyl, methadone, and heroin are all examples of full agonist opioids. Partial agonists also activate the mu receptor, but to a lesser degree. An example is buprenorphine (Suboxone[®].) Antagonists attach to the mu receptor and prevent other medications (such as the full agonists mentioned previously) from binding to it. Examples include naloxone (Narcan[®]) and naltrexone (Vivitrol[®]) (Trescot et al., 2008).

Opioids of all types may lead to a sense of euphoria or "feeling high". Volkow et al. (2016) describe that not all patients who are introduced to opioids experience euphoria. For those that do, long-term use supports ongoing release of dopamine from the brain's reward pathway resulting in an increased desire to use opioids. At the same time, the area of the brain responsible for anxiety and fear becomes blunted. Thus, escalating use of opioids stimulates the desire to use more while dimming appreciation for potential consequences of ongoing use.

Of note, the complete physiology and neurobiochemistry of opioid-related analgesia and addiction is complex and beyond the scope of this paper.

Definitions of Opioid Use Disorder and Addiction

The *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders:* 5th Edition ("DSM 5") defines opioid use disorder (OUD) as a pattern of opioid use within 12 months that results in loss of control, physiologic changes, and consequences including missed obligations and medical problems (American Psychiatric Association, 2019). Specifically, a diagnosis of OUD must include at least two factors in a 12-month period such as unsuccessful efforts to reduce use and taking larger amount than intended. A complete list of criteria can be found in Figure 3.

Implications of Clinical Definitions

The DSM 5 was released in 2013, almost twenty years after DSM IV. The updated document contains significant changes within the addiction realm including OUD. Prior to DSM V, "substance abuse" and "substance dependence" were considered separate diagnoses. These are now collectively referred to as "substance use disorders". DSM 5 also includes the presence of cravings as a criterion for the disorder. In addition, OUD as a result of heroin and OUD as a result of prescription opioid pills are now considered separate diagnoses. These distinctions are important because they influence screening and treatment plans, as well as epidemiological reporting. For example, when DMS 5 criteria are applied as opposed to DMS IV criteria, the prevalence of OUD from 2002 to 2012 increases by 0.1% across the entire U.S. population, which could increase prevalence by tens of thousands (Glasheen et al., 2016; Hasin et al., 2013). This may have implications on public health policy and funding for clinical interventions.

There is also a distinction between addiction and dependence strictly from a physiologic perspective. Importantly, patients with a dependency to opioids do not necessarily have an addiction to opioids. The American Society of Addiction Medicine (2019) defines addiction as a:

Treatable, chronic medical disease involving complex interactions among brain circuits, genetics, the environment, and an individual's life experiences. People with addiction use substances or engage in behaviors that become compulsive and often continue despite harmful consequences. Prevention efforts and treatment approaches for addiction are generally as successful as those for other chronic diseases. (para. 1)

This updated definition was released to reflect addiction as a chronic disease of the brain and to acknowledge the scientific and policy advances that have resulted in increased opportunities for long-term remission and recovery. Addiction has also been referred to as "the 5 'C's" or "**c**hronic

disease with impaired **c**ontrol, **c**ompulsive use, **c**ontinued use despite harm, and **c**raving for the substance(s) to which the patient is addicted" (Heit, 2009, p. 19).

Physical dependence describes a physiologic state in which the sudden cessation and absence of a substance leads to a withdrawal syndrome. Tolerance is a reduced response to a substance after repeated exposure. Over time, tolerance results in the need for escalating doses of a substance to achieve the same effect (Herron & Brennan, 2015). Dependence and tolerance are expected physiologic outcomes of certain classes of medications, including opioids.

Epidemiology

Mortality from Opioid Overdoses

The opioid epidemic has resulted in an exponential increase in the number of unintentional deaths secondary to opioid poisoning¹. An average of 130 people die every day across the United States from an opioid overdose (United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018b). Opioid-related mortality throughout the country increased 22-fold between 1979 and 2015 (Alexander et al., 2018). From 2001 to 2016, deaths related to opioid overdoses increased by 345%. One of every five deaths for men 24 to 35 years old during this time were attributed to opioids (Gomes et al., 2018). Figure 4 shows opioid mortality by age over time. In 2016 alone, over 1.1 million total years of life were lost to opioid overdoses in the country and in 2017 over 47,000 individuals died from opioid poisoning (Gomes et al., 2018; NIDA, 2019).

Between 1959 and 2014, life expectancy in the United States increased year over year. However, life expectancy declined each year between 2014 and 2017, with much of this decline explained by opioid overdoses (Woolf & Schoomaker, 2019). In 2017, one of every six hearts

¹ Editorial note: This section contains a large amount of mortality data. The opioid epidemic has resulted in a staggering number of deaths. While presented here as scientific data, this paper would be amiss if the loss of individual life was not recognized. These deaths must not be reduced to numbers printed on paper.

donated for transplantation was a result of an overdose death, and in 11 states, one of every five donor hearts were a result of an overdose (Phillips et al., 2019). In contrast, less than 1% of donor hearts were related to overdoses in 2000.

Of the 3,142 counties in the United States, 24% are considered to have comparatively high rates of mortality secondary to opioid overdoses (Haffajee et al., 2019). Opioid overdoses secondary to prescription pills have affected the country relatively evenly, compared to heroin overdoses which have dominated in the northeast and Midwest (Ciccarone, 2019). Rural communities have higher odds of opioid misuse, which also occur at younger ages compared to urban areas. Mortality is higher in these areas as they are considered "treatment deserts for opioid misuse" (Palombi et al., 2018, p. 649).

The increase in overdose deaths related to opioids is a direct result of the rise of opioid misuse. From 2007 to 2016, over 37 million people reported having misused an opioid medication at least once and over two million individuals reported a dependency to opioids (Kreek et al., 2019). In 2017, 1.7 million people carried the diagnosis of OUD and over 652,000 individuals had an addiction specifically to heroin (NIDA, 2019). Of 2,916 patients with available toxicology records who died of an opioid overdose in Massachusetts between January 2013 and December 2015, 80% who had oxycodone in their system did not have a prescription for the medication (Walley et al., 2019). Figure 5 shows national mortality from opioid overdoses between 1999 and 2017.

In 2018, the number of deaths in the U.S. attributed to drug overdoses fell by 4.1%. While there were slightly fewer deaths related to heroin, deaths related to synthetic opioids such as fentanyl increased by 10% (United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). Approximately 96% of deaths from opioid overdoses are unintentional (Olfson et al., 2019).

Origin and Role of Heroin and Fentanyl

Fentanyl is produced entirely in a laboratory setting and, unlike heroin, requires no plant materials. The vast majority of illicit fentanyl in the United States is manufactured in China and arrives in the U.S. through packages shipped from internet sales and networks that traffic drugs from Mexico and Canada. Fentanyl arriving in the United States directly from China via mail is over 90% pure compared to fentanyl that is trafficked through Mexico or Canada, both of which have an average purity less than 10%; presumably the latter is adulterated before arriving in the U.S. to achieve greater profits (Drug Enforcement Agency [DEA], 2018). In 2016, 90% of heroin in the United States originated from Mexico. Overall, heroin and fentanyl have increased in potency and purity over time, in particular during the third wave which is associated with the stark increase of overdose-related mortality (Ciccarone, 2019).

However, the increase in mortality related to heroin overdoses cannot be linked entirely on the transition from heroin to heroin mixed with fentanyl. Unick and Ciccarone (2017) describe the robust introduction of fentanyl into the marketplace began in 2013, but heroin overdoses were already rising at that time in most parts of the country. The authors postulate one explanation is that since injecting drugs is a learned skill, as more individuals acquire this knowledge, the number of people able to act in an instructional role increases which ultimately spreads opioid misuse by injection. Another possibility suggested by the authors is that younger people who use heroin may have deeper and stronger opioid dependencies because of their exposure to prescription opioids before heroin, as opposed to their older counterparts whose entry to opioid misuse was strictly heroin decades prior. Heroin provides a more potent, less expensive, and easier-to-access alternative to opioid pills obtained by prescriptions through "doctor shopping", taken from family or friends, or purchased from the street (Ciccarone, 2019).

Impact of Opioid Overdoses on Hospitals

Hospitalizations related to opioid misuse increased more than 150% from 1993 to 2012 (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality [AHRQ], 2014). More than one in ten patients with OUD are readmitted to the hospital within 30 days of discharge (Merchant et al., 2020). Song (2017) found approximately 1.9 million hospitalizations occurred secondary to opioid misuse between 1993 and 2014. Figure 6 shows the trend of hospitalizations related to opioid poisonings. Patients in these hospitalizations are on average younger compared to patients hospitalized for other reasons (30 years old vs 48 years old), more likely to have Medicaid (40% vs 19%) or be uninsured (17% vs 5%), and live in areas of the nation in the lowest 25% of household income (32% vs 25%). Figure 7 shows opioid-related hospitalizations by insurer.

According to Song (2017), 20 deaths occurred for every 1,000 opioid-related hospital admissions in 2014 compared to 4.3 deaths for every 1,000 opioid-related admissions in 2000. Figure 8 shows the trend of in-hospital mortality from opioids compared to other causes. Notably, Song revealed the overall rate of hospitalization remained constant during this time with the mortality increase reflecting the potency of opioids in the marketplace, heroin and fentanyl in particular.

Song (2017) also found the majority of patients nationwide with Medicare who were hospitalized for opioid misuse were younger than 65, with nearly all Medicare beneficiaries in this group receiving Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI). A similar conclusion was reported by Peters, Durand, Monteiro, Dumenco, and George (2018) who found that hospitalizations in the U.S. related to opioid misuse among SSDI beneficiaries increased to 25% in 2013 from 12% in 1998. Hospitalizations related to heroin overdose increased more than 20% in most of the country from 2012 to 2014. In the South Atlantic and East South Central census regions, hospitalizations related to heroin overdose increased by 122% and 111%, respectively. Figure 9 shows the trend in hospital admissions related to opioid overdoses separated by prescription opioids and heroin and divided by geographic region.

Emergency departments (EDs) have an increasing role in treating patients with OUD. In 2017, a third of all opioid-related encounters in Indiana's EDs represented repeat visits for opioid-related reasons, compared to 9% in 2012 (Balio et al., 2020). Many patients hospitalized in the ED for opioid-related reasons die a short time after discharge. For example, among 11,557 patients seen in Massachusetts emergency departments for an opioid overdose between July 2011 and September 2015, 635 (5.5%) died within one year, 130 (1.1%) died within one month, and 29 (0.25%) died within two days (Weiner et al., 2019). Figure 10 shows the mortality rate in the first 30 days among patients discharged from Massachusetts' emergency departments.

Costs of the Opioid Epidemic

The economic impact of opioid misuse and opioid poisoning is astounding. The misuse of opioids costs the United States over \$75 billion annually when taking into account acute healthcare, drug rehabilitation, lost productivity, and the impact on the criminal justice system (Florence et al., 2016). By 2016, a total of \$504 billion had been spent on services related to OUD (DHHS, 2019). Overall, patients with OUD cost the healthcare system a minimum of eight times more than patients without the diagnosis (White et al., 2005).

The Society of Actuaries found the total economic burden from opioid misuse was over \$630 billion between 2015 and 2018. This estimate included \$200 billion on healthcare costs, \$253 billion on lost lifetime earnings secondary to premature death, \$39 billion on criminal justice, and over \$90 billion related to lost productivity (Davenport et al., 2019). Others estimate the opioid epidemic as a whole has cost upwards of \$2.5 trillion (Council of Economic Advisers, 2019). In a sample of 647 hospitals nationwide, opioid overdoses resulted in costs of \$1.94 billion with over 60% being paid for by public programs. When extrapolated to all hospitals nationwide, costs are estimated at \$11.3 billion annually, representing 1% of all hospital expenditures (Premier, 2019).

Infectious Complications of Intravenous Drug Use

There are numerous infectious complications associated with intravenous drug use including hepatitis C, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), skin and soft tissue infections, spinal abscesses, and sexually transmitted infections (PCSS, 2018). The infectious complications of OUD have risen so extensively that there are now calls for infectious disease specialists to sub-specialize in addiction medicine during fellowship training (Serota et al., 2019).

Prior to the opioid epidemic, many acute hepatitis C infections were a consequence of blood transfusions or contaminated equipment before implementation of today's screening technologies (Liang & Ward, 2018). Incidence of acute hepatitis C declined until 2009 when it began rising secondary to the increasing prevalence of intravenous drug use (United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019d; Zibbell et al., 2018). From 2004 to 2014, the incidence of acute hepatitis C infections increased by 133%. The increase was more dramatic for those 18 to 29 years old and 30 to 39 years old, who had increased incidence rates of 400% and 325%, respectively (Zibbell et al., 2018). Seventy-five percent of patients with acute hepatitis C are expected to develop chronic hepatitis C (Spearman et al., 2019). Chronic hepatitis C can develop into serious health complications for many patients including cirrhosis, hepatocellular

carcinoma, and decompensated liver disease - all which have high rates of mortality (Spearman et al., 2019).

The overall incidence of HIV related to intravenous drug use decreased from 40% in 1990 to 6% in 2015 (Dawson & Kates, 2018). However, there is concern this trend may reverse as the opioid epidemic continues (O'Hara, 2016). One in every ten new HIV diagnoses is now attributed to intravenous drug use (CDC, 2019c).

In January 2015, the Indiana State Department of Health began an investigation related to 11 new cases of HIV in a county of 4,200 people. The outbreak resulted from syringe-sharing among individuals injecting prescription oxymorphone. By April 2015, 135 people in the county were newly diagnosed with HIV (Conrad et al., 2015). Over 200 counties in 26 states are at risk for a similar outbreak (Van Handel et al., 2016). In addition, opioid misuse is associated with higher-risk sexual encounters such as unprotected sex, which increases the risk of transmitting hepatitis C, HIV, and other sexually transmitted infections (Zule et al., 2016).

Infective endocarditis is a potentially life-threatening infection of the heart. There are several etiologies for this infection including intravenous drug use where a syringe inserted through the skin introduces bacteria from its surface to the bloodstream. In some cases, the bacteria travels to the heart via the bloodstream where it grows on one of the heart's valves (Jameson et al., 2018).

Infective endocarditis secondary to drug use doubled across the United States from 2002 to 2016 (Kadri et al., 2019). The incidence is greater in certain parts of the country. For example, Pennsylvania experienced a 238% increase in cases of endocarditis related to intravenous drug use between 2013 and 2017 (Meisner et al., 2019). Compared to patients with endocarditis not associated with drug use, patients with OUD-related endocarditis are more likely to have

hepatitis C, cirrhosis, and HIV and are more likely to require valve surgery, have longer lengths of stay in the hospital, and have higher hospitalization costs (Kadri et al., 2019). Patients with endocarditis secondary to drug use have a mean age of 38 years compared to 70 years for patients with non-drug use related endocarditis (Kadri et al., 2019). Figure 11 shows the trend of endocarditis incidence rates for drug-related and non-drug-related infections.

Infectious complications of OUD have also increased utilization of expensive diagnostic tools. At a large urban hospital in Massachusetts from 2005 to 2015, the use of MRI to investigate back pain for patients with a history of intravenous drug use (IVDU) increased substantially from less than 0.1% to 0.9% (Almeida et al., 2019). A prior study showed 40% of patients in a single emergency room with history of IVDU had spinal infections on MRI (Colip et al., 2018). In Washington, cases of epidural spinal abscesses related to IVDU increased by more than 300% between 20012 and 2016 (Blecher et al., 2019).

Additional research is needed to investigate other infectious complications of OUD. For example, it has been suggested that opioid exposure increases the risk of community-acquired pneumonia (Edelman et al., 2019). In addition, patients with OUD admitted to the hospital for trauma may be more likely to develop pneumonia and superficial and organ space infections (Agrawal & Amos, 2017).

Opioid Use Disorder Among Pregnant Patients

Childbirth is another common hospital touch-point for patients with OUD. Rates of OUD noted during delivery hospitalization quadrupled between 1999 and 2014 (Haight et al., 2018). According to the, pregnant patients with OUD are at risk for numerous complications including preterm delivery, miscarriage, and delivering infants with low birth weight (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists [ACOG], 2019). ACOG further identifies potential infectious

disease exposures for the fetus including HIV, hepatitis C, and blood borne bacterial infections. They also note infants may be born with potentially severe withdrawal symptoms known as neonatal abstinence syndrome (NAS). Opioids are the leading substance use disorder for which patients seek treatment during pregnancy (Jumah, 2016).

The incidence of NAS throughout the United States increased over 425% between 2004 and 2014, resulting in one baby born with NAS in the country every 15 minutes (Jilani, 2019). In 2014, Medicaid paid for the care of 82% of all NAS cases at a cost of \$462 million. This cost represented 7% of all birth-related Medicaid expenditures (Winkelman et al., 2018). In 2016, NAS was documented in 6.7 of every 1,000 in-hospital births representing a total cost of \$573 million. Medicaid paid for 83% of these births (Strahan et al., 2019). The proportion of NAS cases in rural areas to total cases in the country increased from 13% in 2003 to 21% in 2012 (Villapiano et al., 2017).

Opioid Use Disorder in Criminal Justice

In 2016, there were over 4.5 million people on probation or parole in the United States (Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2018). Up to 80% of these individuals are thought to have a substance use disorder (Marlowe et al., 2016). Approximately 35% of all people in the United States who use heroin have been estimated to become incarcerated at some point (Boutwell et al., 2007). Between 22% and 34% of individuals who are seen in urban, suburban, and rural drug courts have a diagnosis of OUD (Marlowe et al., 2016). Over 60% of jail inmates in the United States meet criteria for drug use disorders and over 25% of inmates report a history of heroin or illicit opioid use. Six-percent of all inmates report actively using heroin or illicit opioids at the time of arrest (Bronson et al., 2017). For example, in North Carolina and Washington State,

inmates are 40 times and 13 times more likely to experience a death related to drug overdose within two weeks of release, respectively (Binswanger, 2019; Ranapurwala et al., 2018)

Racial Disparities of the Opioid Epidemic

From 1979 to 2015, opioid morality for White patients increased from 0.44 deaths per 100,000 people to 12 deaths per 100,000 people, or 10% annually (Alexander et al., 2018). Over the same time frame, opioid mortality for Black patients increased an average of 6% annually ultimately reaching 6.6 deaths per 100,000 people (Alexander et al., 2018). However, distinct trends are noted within the three epidemiologic waves of the opioid epidemic. Figure 12 shows trends in opioid-related mortality for White and Black people.

Alexander et al. (2018) reported opioid-related deaths were more common among Black people from 1979 to the mid-1990s, but the rate by which mortality increased was the same between Black and White people. This first wave was driven by heroin. During the second wave, from the mid-1990s to 2010, the authors describe mortality skyrocketed in the White community while remaining stable in the Black community. Much of the initial stark increase of opioid mortality for White people was related to prescription opioid pain medications (Paulozzi et al., 2006).

From 2010 to 2015, mortality increased by 30% in both racial groups and was driven by heroin, prescription opioids, and synthetic opioids (Alexander et al., 2018). From 2013 to 2017, the largest proportion of patients who died from opioid overdose were White; however opioid overdose deaths increased by over 60% among Black patients in this timeframe, the largest relative increase across all racial groups (Scholl et al., 2019). Of patients who died from an opioid overdose in 2017, 78% were White and 12% were Black (Keiser Family Foundation, 2019a).

Unick et al. (2013) showed hospital admissions for prescription opioid overdoses increased 750% for White patients between 1993 and 2009 compared to 330% for Black patients and 320% for Hispanic patients. During the same study period, admissions for heroin overdose steadily declined for Black people but increased for White people with the number of admissions for White patients surpassing that of Black patients for the first time in 2008.

The opioid epidemic has devastated American Indians more than any other racial group. From 1999 to 2015, mortality related to opioid overdoses increased in this group by over 500% (*Opioids in Indian Country - Beyond the Crisis to Healing the Community*, 2018). However, the number of opioid-related deaths in this community is likely even higher. From 1999 to 2011, 40% of death certificates for American Indians or Alaska Natives were incorrectly attributed to another race (Rothwell et al., 2016). When corrected in Washington State from 2013 to 2015, the number of opioid overdose deaths among American Indians increased by 40% (Joshi et al., 2018).

Several reasons for these racial disparities have been suggested. Despite the contribution of subjective pain scales in increasing the number of U.S. opioid prescriptions in the 1990s, biases within the medical community led to discriminatory practices by which Black patients received fewer opioid prescriptions (Om, 2018). For example, 31% of White patients who presented to an emergency department for a pain-related chief complaint between 1993 and 2005 received an opioid prescription, compared to 23% of Black and 24% of Hispanic patients presenting for the same reason (Pletcher et al., 2008). In an extensive systematic review including over 150 papers from 1990 to 2009, White patients were more likely to receive opioid therapy during hospitalization or opioid prescriptions for acute pain, chronic pain, or cancer pain (Anderson et al., 2009). White patients also received higher average daily opioid doses.

Opioid overdoses, in addition to suicide and liver disease secondary to alcohol, have contributed to the increase in midlife mortality of White people since 2000, particularly among those without college degrees. This is in contrast to decreasing mortality among Black people and Hispanic people in the same age group. These "deaths of despair" have been attributed to long-term cumulative disparities in specific geographic areas of the country such as Appalachia with specific challenges in labor, marriage, childhood and clinical outcomes (Case & Deaton, 2017).

Co-occurring Substance Use Disorders and Role of Occupation

While many patients have OUD as their sole substance use disorder diagnosis, some patients have co-occurring substance use and behavioral health diagnoses. Approximately one-third of patients with OUD admitted to the hospital have an additional substance use disorder (Merchant et al., 2020). In 2013 and 2014, patients in Maryland with co-occurring substance use disorders were six times more likely to die after a visit to the emergency room than those who used the ER for any other reason (Krawczyk et al., 2020). Among patients who died from opioid overdoses in Massachusetts, 83% had at least one additional substance on their post-mortem toxicology report (Barocas et al., 2019). Thirty-six percent of patients tested positive for cocaine. Just under half of patients in the sample had non-stimulant substances in addition to opioids. Of these, 18% tested positive for alcohol and 21% tested positive for benzodiazepines. Figure 13 shows the pooled results of this toxicology data.

Patients with specific occupations are also more at risk for opioid misuse. For example, construction workers and those employed in mines are more likely to use non-prescription opioids, marijuana, and cocaine (Ompad et al., 2019). Changes in local job markets may increase the risk of OUD. For instance, in U.S. counties reliant on manufacturing where an automotive
assembly plant had recently closed, mortality secondary to opioid overdose was 85% higher relative to manufacturing counties without such a workforce change (Venkataramani et al., 2019).

Epidemiologic Challenges of Opioid Use Disorder

The validity of opioid overdose mortality data may be limited. In many states, death certificates documenting the cause of death in a drug poisoning do not indicate the specific drug that resulted in the death. In some cases, county resources are insufficient to conduct thorough investigations such as costly autopsies or post-mortem toxicology tests. In other cases, the specific drugs that led to a death were known but were not entered into the electronic tracking system. Ruhm (2017) found when these factors were applied to 2014 CDC opioid mortality data, every state was likely to have higher mortality related to opioid misuse than what was originally reported. In some states this difference was stark. For example, Pennsylvania overdose deaths may have been underestimated by more than half. Nationally, opioid mortality rates may be underestimated by as much as 24%.

Boslett et al. (2020) evaluated over 630,000 cases of drug overdose decedents from the National Center for Health Statistics between 1999 and 2016. Of these, over 20% did not classify which primary drug led to the death. Using predictive modeling, the researchers attributed almost 100,000 additional deaths to opioids, representing a 28% increase in overall opioid deaths. In a prior study, the researchers found under-resourced counties were more likely to have deaths recorded with unclassified overdoses (Boslett et al., 2019).

From a hospital perspective, epidemiologic data start at the bedside. Clinicians document diagnoses and care plans, which are then coded by specialists. These codes are transmitted to local, state, and federal authorities and used for incidence and prevalence reporting. Jicha, Saxon,

Lofwall, & Fanucchi (2019) found "injection drug use" was documented in more than half of cases although the specific diagnosis was actually opioid use disorder. These cases were ultimately coded as general substance use disorders and not opioid use disorders. The implications of poor documentation and inaccurate coding in this patient population is poorly understood but is likely to have large public health consequences when deciding how to utilize resources.

Role of Treatment and Harm Reduction

The opioid epidemic has resulted in a myriad of policy changes at local, state, and federal levels. The vast majority of these efforts have focused on responsible and appropriate prescribing of opioids, while largely neglecting the role of treatment and the need to address the social conditions that often result in illicit drug use (Kertesz & Gordon, 2019). Policy and educational efforts over the past decade appear to be slowly reducing opioid prescription rates. However, this reduction may also be inadvertently increasing use of non-prescription opioids, such as heroin and fentanyl, as well as overdose death rates from these more potent opioids (Katz, 2017). By focusing only on appropriate prescribing, overdose deaths are expected to decrease by only 5% by the year 2025 (Chen et al., 2019). Therefore, these prevention efforts must be balanced with increased access to treatment for OUD and increasing use of harm reduction strategies.

The Institute for Healthcare Improvement (Botticelli et al., 2019) recommends five systemlevel strategies for responding to the opioid epidemic:

- 1. Screening for OUD.
- 2. Treating individuals with OUD.
- 3. Training stakeholders about OUD and how to reduce stigma.
- 4. Reducing harm related to substance use disorders as a whole.

5. Altering opioid prescribing practices to better balance benefits and risks.

Medications for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder

Medication-assisted treatment (MAT)² describes the approach of using specific pharmacologic therapies to treat OUD. Medication-assisted treatment improves patient mortality related to OUD, decreases the risk of life-threatening infections associated with intravenous drug use, increases the length of time spent actively participating in treatment, and decreases criminal activity related to illicit opioid use (Caldiero et al., 2006; Larochelle et al., 2018; Teesson et al., 2006). The goal of treatment is long-term recovery, defined as "a process of change through which people improve their health and wellness, live self-directed lives, and strive to reach their full potential" (SAMHSA, 2019a, Para 2). Yet some patients elect for a harm reduction approach, which will be discussed later.

Three Mainstay Medications

There are three FDA-approved medications for the treatment of OUD: buprenorphine, methadone, and naltrexone.

Buprenorphine. Buprenorphine is a partial agonist opioid. It attaches to the mu receptor and incompletely activates it. This unique property allows buprenorphine to control cravings and treat opioid withdrawal with a significantly lower risk of adverse effects such as respiratory depression and euphoria. Buprenorphine also has a ceiling effect. As the dose is increased, so is the therapeutic effect, but only to a certain limit. After that point, additional doses do not result in increased action or adverse effects (PCSS, 2018). Buprenorphine also has extremely strong

² There is ongoing discussion in the addiction medicine community about the appropriateness of the term "medication-assisted treatment" or "MAT." The term and its implications will be discussed later in this paper. However, given that the vast majority of the references cited throughout this paper use this term, "medication assisted treatment" is used throughout. It should be noted the recommended term for this type of treatment is likely to change in the near future.

affinity for the mu receptor. It binds more strongly to the receptor than most other opioids. Thus, if a patient uses illicit opioids while simultaneously using buprenorphine, those illicit opioids will have less effect (Orman & Keating, 2009).

It is possible, although uncommon, for buprenorphine to provide limited euphoria when used intravenously. Therefore, when used for the treatment of OUD, buprenorphine is typically prescribed as a combination product of buprenorphine and naloxone which is administered buccally or sublingually. If a patient uses the buprenorphine-naloxone product intravenously, the naloxone component blocks buprenorphine's ability to act on the brain's mu receptors and therefore limits, if not eliminates, euphoria. Buprenorphine monotherapy (buprenorphine without naloxone) for the treatment of OUD is primarily used only in pregnancy (PCSS, 2018).

Methadone. Methadone is a full agonist opioid. It completely binds to the mu receptor and fully activates it (PCSS, 2018). Much of the medication is stored in fat cells which results in an extended half-life compared to other opioids, as much as 60 hours. Methadone's full agonist activity contributes to its efficacy as a treatment for OUD, but also leads to its potentially dangerous adverse effect profile. Methadone used inappropriately can result in death (United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA], 2018b).

Buprenorphine and methadone are on the World Health Organization's list of essential medicines (Herget, 2005).

Naltrexone. Naltrexone is an antagonist at the mu receptor. It blocks the effects of illicit opioids and is thought to reduce cravings through remodeling of molecular neurobiology (SAMHSA, 2018b). The oral formulation of naltrexone is not recommended for the treatment of OUD secondary to poor treatment adherence (PCSS, 2018). Extended-release naltrexone administered as a monthly intramuscular injection has been shown to be as effective as

buprenorphine, however its high cost has resulted in limited clinical application (Lee et al., 2018).

Precipitated withdrawal and transitioning between treatments. Due its strong affinity for the mu opioid receptor, buprenorphine must be initiated at the appropriate time. A patient must be experiencing mild to moderate opioid withdrawal before buprenorphine is administered. If administered too early for a patient with otherwise frequent opioid exposure, existing opioids occupying the mu receptor will be immediately and fully displaced. This will result in a worse-than-normal withdrawal syndrome. While not considered directly dangerous for most people, patients are less likely to resume care with buprenorphine after experiencing a precipitated withdrawal. This side effect is uncommon and easily mitigated when buprenorphine is administered in appropriate clinical settings (PCSS, 2018).

Secondary to its long half-life, methadone must be tapered when discontinuation is desired. Transitioning from methadone to buprenorphine is more technically complicated. However, researchers have described cases of micro-dosing buprenorphine during hospitalization as a means to transition from methadone to maintenance buprenorphine (Klaire et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2020; Raheemullah & Lembke, 2019; Terasaki et al., 2019). Further study of micro-dosing is needed, in particular, in the outpatient setting.

Prescribing trends. In 2017, 518,155 patients were engaged in treatment of OUD using one of the three MAT medications (Kreek et al., 2019). Of these, 74% of patients were prescribed methadone, 22% buprenorphine, and 4% naltrexone. This represents an 18% increase in total patients receiving MAT compared to 2015. Buprenorphine prescribing increased 83% between 2015 and 2017, compared to 11% for methadone and 129% for naltrexone. However,

40

relative naltrexone prescribing is still very low, representing less than 25,000 patients (Kreek et al., 2019).

Overall efficacy. In its landmark document *Medications for Opioid Use Disorder Save Lives*, the National Academy of Medicine reported:

Medication-based treatment is effective across all treatment settings studied to date. Withholding or failing to have available all classes of FDA-approved medication for the treatment of opioid use disorder in any care or criminal justice setting is denying appropriate medical treatment. (National Academy of Medicine, 2019, p. S-3)

Wakeman et al. (2020) evaluated over 40,000 insured individuals with OUD between 2015 and 2017. Patients were engaged in one of six mutually exclusive treatment pathways including buprenorphine or methadone therapy, naltrexone therapy, inpatient detoxification, intensive behavioral health, non-intensive behavioral health, or no treatment. Among this cohort, treatment with buprenorphine or methadone resulted in a 76% reduction in opioid overdoses at three months and a 59% reduction at twelve months. Such treatment was also associated with a 32% and 26% reduction in acute care needs at three months and twelve months, respectively. Importantly, the authors found treatment with buprenorphine or methadone was superior to no treatment or treatment absent of these pharmacotherapies (Wakeman et al., 2020).

Buprenorphine Efficacy

Treatment of acute withdrawal. Symptoms of opioid withdrawal are widely recognized to include subjective and objectives factors including elevated pulse rate, diaphoresis, pupil size, irritability, gastrointestinal upset, runny nose, and gooseflesh skin. While the first opioid withdrawal scale was published by Kolb and Himmelsbach in 1938, this required close observation for over 24 hours to document clinical elements such as calorie intake. Today, the

severity of opioid withdrawal is measured by the Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale ("COWS scale") (Himmelsbach, 1942; Wesson & Ling, 2003). Until recently, patients experiencing acute opioid withdrawal were offered medically-assisted withdrawal, commonly referred to as detoxification ("detox"), or non-opioid pharmacotherapy used primarily as supportive treatment. These include clonidine for anxiety, loperamide for diarrhea, ondansetron for nausea and vomiting, and hydroxyzine for goosebumps and sweating, among others (PCSS, 2018).

Despite the use of adjunctive medications used in supportive treatment, studies have shown improved detoxification with buprenorphine. Ling et al. (2005) evaluated the effectiveness of buprenorphine versus clonidine across 344 patients in inpatient and outpatient treatment settings. Patients were placed on a two-week withdrawal protocol. At day 14, 77% of patients receiving buprenorphine from the inpatient setting were still engaged and providing opioid-negative urine drug screens, compared to 22% of those receiving clonidine. For the outpatient group, 29% of those receiving buprenorphine were still engaged compared to 5% of those prescribed clonidine (Ling et al., 2005).

Srivastava, Njoroge, & Sommer (2019) randomized patients in the emergency department to receive buprenorphine or clonidine to treat opioid withdrawal. Patients were provided a discharge prescription for the respective medication and referral to an outpatient addiction clinic. One month later, 62% of patients who received buprenorphine were still engaged in treatment, compared to 8% in the clonidine group. Patients receiving buprenorphine therapy have significantly lower cravings scores. Even at doses between 0.6mg and 1.2mg daily, today considered less efficacious for the treatment of OUD, buprenorphine is superior to clonidine in relieving many of the subjective and objective symptoms of opioid withdrawal (Nigam et al., 1993; PCSS, 2018). Maintenance treatment. For every two patients with OUD, only one needs to be treated with buprenorphine to prevent ongoing illicit opioid use (Raleigh, 2017). This is referred to as the "number needed to treat" ratio. In comparison, 44 patients need to be treated with aspirin to prevent one patient from having a myocardial infarction (Sanmuganathan, 2001). Thomas et al. (2014) performed a sweeping systematic review of studies between 1995 and 2012 focusing on buprenorphine maintenance therapy; the authors found the "evidence clearly shows that buprenorphine maintenance therapy has a positive impact compared with placebo on retention in treatment and illicit opioid use" (p. 11). Buprenorphine therapy is associated with reduced incidence of syringe sharing, intravenous drug use, and subsequent reductions in intravenous-drug-related HIV (Edelman et al., 2014; Sullivan et al., 2008).

Fudala et al. (2003) administered a multicenter, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of 326 patients to determine efficacy of buprenorphine for maintaining abstinence from illicit opioids and self-reported control of cravings. The trial was terminated early because of overwhelming evidence that buprenorphine was superior to placebo. Fiellin et al. (2008) followed 53 patients engaged in buprenorphine therapy for five years. Patient satisfaction with buprenorphine treatment had a mean score of 91%. Over 90% of the 1,100 urine drug screens performed during the study period revealed ongoing abstinence from illicit opioids.

Kakko, Svanborg, Kreek, & Heilig (2003) performed a placebo-controlled study in Sweden evaluating buprenorphine therapy for the treatment of OUD. The authors compared outcomes for twenty patients who received buprenorphine maintenance therapy with twenty patients who were provided buprenorphine detoxication for six days followed by placebo. The authors found 75% retention in the buprenorphine maintenance group vs 0% in the placebo group. Interestingly, all twenty of the control group participants left the study within the first three months due to positive urine drug screens. Four patients in the control group died during the treatment period versus none of the patients receiving buprenorphine (Kakko et al., 2003). Findings in other placebo-controlled studies further supported the use of buprenorphine to treat OUD in terms of treatment retention and negative urine drug screens (Ahmadi et al., 2004; Ling et al., 1998; Schottenfeld et al., 2008). Even dosing buprenorphine as low as 2mg daily was superior to placebo in maintaining patients in long-term treatment (Mattick, Breen, Kimber, & Davoli, 2014).

Home dosing. Initiation of buprenorphine therapy has historically taken place in the clinic setting, however initiation at home may becoming more common. In a study of 72 buprenorphine prescribers in New York in early 2016, 65% were providing home inductions (Kermack et al., 2017). Bell et al. (2007) found no difference in the number of days patients abstained from heroin, regardless of whether they participated in daily clinic dosing or unobserved home dosing with a weekly prescription. Patients were followed from buprenorphine initiation for a period of twelve weeks.

Buprenorphine in pregnancy. The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists recommends the use of buprenorphine during pregnancy for the treatment of OUD (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, 2019a). There is no known increased risk of birth defects with the use of buprenorphine in this setting (SAMHSA, 2018a).

Buprenorphine Treatment Retention

Facilitating ongoing buprenorphine treatment and how long such treatment should last are areas of ongoing research. In a sample of over 4,000 buprenorphine prescribers, 88% stated buprenorphine should be used indefinitely assuming ongoing patient benefit (Jones & McCance-Katz, 2019). In a sample of over 350 patients in Massachusetts engaged in buprenorphine therapy over five years, 40% remained in treatment for a full year (Shcherbakova et al., 2018). Among 650 patients started on buprenorphine and tapered after 12 weeks, less than 7% continued to abstain from illicit opioid use, suggesting longer treatment is better (Weiss, 2011). For most patients, recurrence of opioid misuse occurs within 30 days of treatment cessation. Higher buprenorphine maintenance doses may be associated with higher likelihood of recurrence, although higher buprenorphine doses likely signifies more severe opioid dependence in the first place (Bentzley et al., 2015).

Importantly, while sobriety is often the target goal of clinicians, providing periodical treatment also has benefit. Stein (2003) was one of the first researchers to show decreasing the frequency of intravenous drug use may have benefit, even if total abstinence is not achieved. In Rhode Island, utilization of emergency room services was followed among over 230 patients enrolled in either an opioid agonist treatment program or a syringe exchange program. A strong association was found between frequency of self-reported heroin injections and healthcare utilization. Patients in the syringe exchange program were more likely to visit the emergency department. However, when controlled for frequency of injections, the differences in healthcare utilization between the methadone treatment and syringe exchange cohorts became statistically non-significant (M. Stein, 2003).

Reasons for attrition. Tofighi et al. (2019) describe many of the reasons patients may stop treatment. Discontinuation of buprenorphine therapy may occur due to challenges entering treatment or paying for treatment. Other patients may discontinue treatment after being exposed to peers who are actively using substances during group therapy sessions. Some patients identify the "financialization" of their care as a reason they discontinue treatment; feeling as though maintenance buprenorphine treatment is primarily based on a profit motive of clinics. Other patients decide to taper themselves off of buprenorphine therapy and do so on their own more quickly than recommended. Patients may become frustrated with more frequent follow-up intervals after positive urine drug screens and may also face administrative discharges from buprenorphine programs. Some patients may not tolerate buprenorphine or may have better outcomes in the highly structured daily dosing environment of a methadone program. For example, Alford et al. (2011) describes a program where patients are started on buprenorphine therapy but transferred to a methadone program if three consecutive urine drug screens are positive for illicit opioids or if there is concern for medication misuse and a desire for daily observed medication administration.

Patients engaged in treatment sometimes continue to experience cravings and are often in close proximity to triggers such as widespread availability of heroin in their neighborhoods or home environments. Interacting with social networks associated with drug use also increases the risk for recurrence. Rigid treatment programs also inhibit access to employment opportunities and promote discontinuation (Truong et al., 2019). Co-occurring substance use disorders also increase the chance patients discontinue buprenorphine therapy. For example, patients with OUD co-occurring with methamphetamine use disorder are less likely to initiate treatment during hospitalization, are less likely to be retained in long-term treatment, and may have buprenorphine therapy stopped by clinicians secondary to non-opioid drug use. (Englander et al., 2019; Tsui et al., 2020).

Duration of treatment. There is limited data as to when tapering and ultimately discontinuing buprenorphine treatment should be done. However, doing so at an inappropriate time increases mortality and healthcare utilization (Sordo et al., 2017). Williams, Samples, Crystal, and Olfson (2019) evaluated post-treatment outcomes among almost 9,000 Medicare

patients between 2013 and 2017 who received buprenorphine therapy for at least 60 days. The sample was divided into four cohorts based on length of treatment retention: 6-9 months (46%), 9-12 months (27%), 12-15 months (17%), and 15-18 months (10%). Among all cohorts, the sixmonth period following treatment cessation was considered high-risk from the perspective of healthcare utilization. Within six months of treatment discontinuation, the average rate of emergency department visits was 45%, with each cohort having a greater than 10% chance of an inpatient admission. In each cohort, 5% of patients experienced an overdose within six months (Williams et al., 2019). These findings are summarized in Figure 14. Over 50% of buprenorphine prescribers in a study by MacDonald, Lamb, Thomas, and Khentigan (2016) reported a goal of patients stopping treatment at some point. Interestingly, the prescribers compared buprenorphine maintenance therapy to other behaviorally-related maintenance medications such as lithium. The latter is seldom discontinued once the treatment goal is achieved.

Connery and Weiss (2020) discuss how buprenorphine therapy itself is only one component of recovery. The degree to which patients are successful once the medication is tapered also relies on other components undertaken during recovery: lifestyle and identity changes, relational modifications, building personal and family connections, and addressing physical health. Unlike alcohol use disorders for which harm reduction strategies can be used to mitigate immediate risk during an acute recurrence of the disease (such as avoiding driving a vehicle), similar strategies cannot be used for OUD; patients cannot self-administer naloxone after an overdose (Connery & Weiss, 2020). However, as will be discussed later in this paper, harm reduction strategies improve outcomes over the extended course of addiction chronicity. In 2017, Scott Gottlieb, Commissioner of the Food and Drug Administration, "strengthened labeling for the MAT drug buprenorphine to emphasize that patients may require treatment indefinitely and should continue treatment for as long as they benefit and as long as the use of MAT contributes to their intended treatment goals" (Food and Drug Administration [FDA], 2017, para 2).

During hospitalization. Patients started on buprenorphine therapy during hospitalization may have lower rates of follow-up after discharge because those patients were not necessarily seeking treatment at the time they entered the hospital for a medical diagnosis. Such medical illness may take priority in the immediate post-discharge period over that of a substance use diagnosis. Retention in a post-hospital discharge program after the first few months may also require more interventions and wrap-around services than medication dispensing (Liebschutz et al., 2014).

Buprenorphine versus Methadone for Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder

In the hospital setting, patients provided detoxification with buprenorphine are more likely to complete a detoxification protocol than patients provided methadone (Blondell et al., 2007). Giacomuzzi et al. (2003) studied 53 patients over six months, 30 of which were treated with buprenorphine and 23 who were treated with methadone. Quality of life measures had no difference between the two groups. Patients prescribed buprenorphine were less likely to experience withdrawal symptoms and were less likely to use illicit opioids. Buprenorphine and methadone have been found to be equally efficacious in treating the psychoactive components of OUD including mood and anxiety disorders and other psychiatric syndromes (Maremmani et al., 2011). Many of the studies comparing methadone to buprenorphine called for doses of buprenorphine between 2mg and 11mg, in regimens other than daily dosing such as alternate-day dosing, and for short durations – all considered ineffective today (Kosten et al., 1993; Mattick et al., 2003; Pinto et al., 2010). Currently, optimal buprenorphine dosing is 16mg daily for most

48

patients for as long as benefit is received. This may be several years in some cases. (PCSS, 2018). Buprenorphine cannot be compared to methadone without taking these important factors into account.

Two Cochrane reviews of patients with OUD treated with 16mg or greater of buprenorphine showed similar outcomes compared to methadone (Mattick et al., 2014; Nielsen et al., 2016). In an analysis of private insurance pharmaceutical claims for almost 4,000 patients from 2005 to 2012, a median daily dose of 15.7mg resulted in a 41% decreased chance of psychiatric hospitalization and 23% reduction in total healthcare costs (Clay et al., 2014). Hser et al. (2016) followed almost 800 patients randomized to buprenorphine versus methadone over five years. Mortality rates were indifferent between the two groups, and patients receiving buprenorphine therapy reported using heroin an average of 1.4 more days per month compared to those receiving methadone treatment. However, the authors comment that improved systems infrastructure for buprenorphine therapy may improve treatment adherence.

Buprenorphine has greater efficacy in pregnancy compared to methadone. As a result of the Maternal Opioid Treatment: Human Experimental Research Study (MOTHER Study), Jones et al. (2010) discovered infants born to mothers being treated with buprenorphine had less severe neonatal abstinence syndrome. Figure 15 shows infants required less morphine treatment for symptom management, had shorter stays in the neonatal intensive care unit, and shorter overall hospital stays compared to infants born to mothers treated with methadone. The results were so stark the study was stopped early.

During incarceration, patients receiving buprenorphine are more likely to continue treatment during their time in jail and are more likely to enter opioid treatment after release than patients receiving methadone. Further, there does not appear to be a difference in postincarceration return to illicit opioid use, re-arrests, or re-incarceration for patients prescribed buprenorphine versus methadone (Magura et al., 2009; Moore et al., 2019).

As will be discussed later, the regulatory environment of buprenorphine may make it the ideal pharmacotherapy to treat OUD for many patients, especially considering the more stringent regulatory environment of methadone and similar comparative effectiveness.

Regulatory Environment

Drug Addiction Treatment Act of 2000. Passed in 1970, the Controlled Substances Act separates medications which can be purchased over-the-counter, referred to as "legend drugs", from medications which can only be obtained with a prescription from a qualified provider, referred to as "scheduled drugs" (DEA, n.d.-b). Prescription drugs are placed on lists ranging from Schedule V down to Schedule I based on how likely the drug is to be addictive compared with its appropriate medicinal use. Schedule V is considered to be the least addictive, whereas Schedule I is considered to be the most addictive and with the least medical benefit. Schedule I drugs are completely illegal and may never be produced, distributed, or prescribed in the United States. Heroin is a schedule I drug. Schedule II drugs include legal opioids, which may be prescribed by qualified providers. In most states, Schedule II drugs require additional compliance monitoring. Schedule III through Schedule V drugs still require a prescription but are less scrutinized than those on Schedule II. (DEA, n.d.-b).

The Narcotic Addict Treatment Act of 1974 prohibits the use of scheduled drugs to treat OUD outside of clinics specifically licensed by the federal government to do so. This law led to the proliferation of opioid treatment programs (OTPs), commonly referred to as "methadone clinics", throughout the rest of the century (Kleber, 2008). Once buprenorphine was developed and classified as a schedule III drug, it would have been restricted in a similar manner without the passage of additional legislation. In 2000, Republican Senator Orrin Hatch and Democratic senators Joe Biden and Carl Levin introduced the Drug Addiction Treatment Act (GovTrack, 2020b). The legislation specifically permits physicians to prescribe Schedule III through Schedule V medications for the treatment of OUD. Effectively, this permits buprenorphine, a Schedule III drug, to be prescribed for patients with OUD. To qualify, physicians must be boardcertified in addiction medicine, have participated in the original buprenorphine studies, or complete an 8-hour training course designed for physicians about safely prescribing buprenorphine (DEA, n.d.-a).

By increasing the number of prescribers able to treat OUD with buprenorphine, policymakers hoped that access to buprenorphine treatment would improve. The overall strategy was to supplement the low number of physicians who had addiction medicine board certification with primary care providers. Those clinicians who complete the eight-hour training receive a second DEA license number beginning with an X, and therefore the process has become known as obtaining an "x-waiver" (DEA, n.d.-a; SAMHSA, 2018).

Additional legislation. On July 22, 2016, President Barrack Obama signed the Comprehensive Addiction and Recovery Act (CARA) into law (Congress.gov, 2016). CARA provided the temporary legal authority for physician assistants (PAs) and advanced practice nurses (APNs) to prescribe buprenorphine for the treatment of OUD, however these practitioners were required to complete 24 hours of additional training compared to the eight hour training required of physicians (Gardner & Ashford, 2016). The Substance Use-Disorder Prevention That Promotes Opioid Recovery and Treatment for Patients and Community Act (SUPPORT for Patients and Communities Act) was signed into law by President Donald Trump on October 24, 2018, making permanent the ability of PAs and APNs to prescribe buprenorphine for the treatment of OUD (Congress.gov, 2018). The disparity in training hours between PAs and APNs and physicians remains.

Patient limits. The laws and regulations pertaining to the x-waiver restrict the number of patients a single prescriber may treat with buprenorphine for OUD at one time. Originally, prescribers could treat a maximum of 30 patients concurrently in the first year of having an x-waiver and then apply to the federal government to treat 100 patients followed by another application to treat 275 patients (DEA, n.d.-a). However, as of 2018, the SUPPORT Act allows prescribers to immediately prescribe buprenorphine for up to 100 patients in the first year. Yet, this is not done automatically. Prescribers must still apply for this increase after receiving the initial permission to treat 30 patients (Congress.gov, 2018).

Emergency department x-waiver exception. The emergency department has an explicit exception. Emergency medicine physicians are able to dispense buprenorphine for up to three days while a patient works to gain access to a treatment program. The patient is required to visit the ED each day during the three-day period (DEA, 2005).

Prescriber trends and current x-waiver landscape. As of April 2020, there are 85,042 practitioners who have completed the x-waiver training. Of these, 73% of practitioners can prescribe for only 30 patients concurrently compared to 100 or 275 concurrent patients for the remaining (SAMHSA, 2020). Again, any prescriber who is authorized to prescribe buprenorphine for 30 patients may also prescribe for 100 patients after completing a brief application process, which does not appear to be occurring for reasons described later. Fewer than 5% of eligible U.S. practitioners have an x-waiver (NEJM, 2018). As will be described shortly, many of those with an x-waiver also do not prescribe buprenorphine at all or at anywhere near the patient limit.

One of the primary goals of the x-waiver legislation was to increase utilization of buprenorphine in primary care. In Massachusetts, the majority of buprenorphine prescribers shortly after the DATA 2000 legislation was passed were in primary care (Walley et al., 2008). From 2006 to 2014, there was a 767% increase in ambulatory visits involving the prescribing of buprenorphine for OUD. This represents a 840% increase in visits with primary care and a 285% increase in visits with psychiatry (Wen et al., 2019). Figure 16 shows buprenorphine prescribing trends by specialty between 2006 and 2014. However, between October 2013 and October 2016 only 20% of patients with OUD seen in primary care received buprenorphine (Lapham et al., 2020).

Prior to December 2016, 23 million Americans lived in 1,436 counties without a buprenorphine prescriber. Between the passing of CARA in December 2016 and March 2019, there was a 111% increase in the total number of x-waivered providers in the United States. A majority of the increase (56%) in rural counties came from PAs and APNs (Barnett, Lee, & Frank, 2019). Scope of practice laws for PAs and APNs vary by state and are controversial (Diamond, 2016). Notably, treatment capacity for buprenorphine therapy for OUD was significantly higher in areas with full practice authority for PAs and APNs (Barnett et al., 2019). Figure 17 shows the growth of buprenorphine treatment capacity among nurse practitioners and PAs separated by scope of practice regulations.

There has been minimal uptake of the x-waiver within psychiatry and addiction medicine settings. Jones and McCance-Katz (2019) collected responses from 4,225 recently waivered providers in April of 2018. Less than 12% of respondents had a board certification in addiction psychiatry or addiction medicine. Seventy-six percent of respondents reported prescribing buprenorphine at least once for the treatment of OUD. Obtaining the waiver is only the first step.

To make an impact on the opioid epidemic, those who receive the x-waiver must still actively take steps to treat patients with OUD by prescribing buprenorphine. Limitations of the x-waiver system will be discussed later in this paper.

Between 2004 and 2011, the total dosing weight of buprenorphine prescribed in opioid treatment programs increased by over 2,300% (Stein et al., 2015). There were 71 treatment programs utilizing buprenorphine in 2004 compared to 348 by 2011. Importantly, this represents an uptake in buprenorphine prescribing specifically within opioid treatment programs. While this is likely beneficial, opioid treatment programs are addiction-specific practice settings entirely separate from the primary care setting. Despite this growth of buprenorphine treatment in the outpatient setting, the medication's use in hospitals may be far less.

Hospital-Based Treatment

Hospitalization may be an ideal opportunity to offer patients with OUD access to treatment. There are over 6,000 hospitals in the United States (American Hospital Association, 2019). The majority of patients with previous substance use before hospitalization will return to that behavior after discharge if treatment has not been initiated (Chutuape et al., 2001). Among patients using heroin who are only provided detoxification, 80% will return to illicit opioid use within 30 days (Chutuape et al., 2001). Buprenorphine induction in the hospital setting leads to increased completion of inpatient medical therapies and ultimate transition to outpatient substance use treatment (Trowbridge et al., 2017).

Inpatient Hospitalization

Relevance of treatment to hospitalization. Substance use disorders are prevalent among patients who present to the hospital and may have direct implications on overall care delivery. Of over 700 patients admitted to a Boston hospital, 17% had at least one substance use

diagnosis documented at discharge. During the 21-month study, patients with drug-related diagnoses were more likely to visit the ED and more likely to be readmitted within 30 days of discharge. Even when adjusted for age, sex, presence of depression, insurance type, homelessness, and Charlson score (index of co-morbidity severity), patients with drug use were 1.7 times more likely to be readmitted to the hospital (Walley et al., 2012).

Moreno et al. (2019) performed a retrospective analysis of readmission data among 470 patients with OUD who were admitted to Massachusetts General Hospital between October 2011 and September 2016. Overall, approximately 20% of patients were readmitted within 30 days and 32% of patients were readmitted within 90 days. Patients receiving buprenorphine therapy were 53% less likely to be readmitted within 30 days and 41% less likely to be readmitted within 90 days. In another study, patients who maintained buprenorphine therapy for one year were 70% less likely to be admitted to the hospital for any cause (Shcherbakova et al., 2018).

Despite evidence that providing access to substance use disorder treatment as part of hospitalization is clinically and administratively efficacious, such access is seldom afforded (Naeger et al., 2016). Of almost 37,000 privately-insured patients from 2011 to 2014 who presented to a hospital for an opioid-related reason, only 17% were engaged in outpatient substance use disorder treatment within 30 days of discharge; despite about 80% of patients having a physical health outpatient visit and 34% having a behavioral health visit within 90 days prior to hospitalization. In this study, engagement was defined as attending two follow-up treatment appointments within 30 days of discharge. Patients admitted for an opioid overdose had lower odds of being engaged in SUD treatment after discharge compared to other substance-related diagnoses such as alcohol use disorder (Naeger et al., 2016).

Efficacy of treatment initiation during hospitalization. Parran et al. (1994) were among the first to report using buprenorphine in the hospital setting. The researchers administered subcutaneous buprenorphine strictly to manage opioid withdrawal among 65 patients, 97% of whom reported favorable experience. However, all patients were then provided a rapid taper over six days as opposed to long-term treatment, which was not possible because the DATA 2000 regulations for buprenorphine maintenance did not occur until 2000.

Aszalos, McDuff, Weintraub, Montoya, and Schwartz (1999) reported efforts to initiate treatment of OUD during hospitalization. The authors were part of an inpatient consultation service specific to substance use disorders. Prior to launching their study, patients experiencing opioid withdrawal were provided methadone detoxification during hospitalization and referred to treatment at discharge. A majority of patients did not attend the follow-up appointment. Faced with increasing ED presentations and readmissions related to consequences of OUD, the health system funded an in-hospital ambulatory methadone treatment program. Over a 14-week period in 1997, 67 patients using heroin were referred to the methadone treatment program. All patients accepted. As a condition of entering the program, patients were required to visit the in-hospital ambulatory methadone treatment program to hospital discharge, and then report back the next day. After six months, 58% of patients were still engaged in the treatment program (Aszalos et al., 1999).

Shanahan, Beers, Alford, Brigandi, & Samet (2010) also initiated methadone therapy with the goal of long-term maintenance therapy as opposed to sole detoxification and withdrawal mitigation. Of 203 patients initiated on methadone from 2002 to 2005 at a single hospital, 82% presented to the follow-up clinic after discharge and 35% enrolled in long-term treatment. Of note, the program lacked enrollment guidelines, and patients were encouraged to present to the clinic regardless of their desire to continue methadone therapy. Moreover, urine drug screens were not required as part of treatment. Although this program was methadone (and not buprenorphine) focused, it demonstrated the utility of initiating treatment during acute hospitalization; the authors were among the first to describe hospitalization as a "reachable moment" to treat OUD (Shanahan et al., 2010).

Hospitalization is indeed a reachable and treatable moment for patients with OUD. Pollini, O'Toole, Ford, and Bigelow (2006) studied the evolution of readiness to change among 353 patients with substance use disorders over the course of inpatient hospitalization. Over three quarters of those patients had a diagnosis of OUD, and over 40% were admitted for an infectious process likely related to intravenous drug use. Sixty-eight percent of patients recognized substance use as a major reason for their hospitalization, and 72% reported treatment for drug use was important. On admission, 51% of patients were in the precontemplative stage for change, 33% were in the contemplative stage, and 16% were in the action stage. Forty-four percent of patients increased from precontemplation or contemplation to a higher level of change-readiness over the course of hospitalization. Predictors of improved readiness to change included concern that one might get sick again and need repeat hospitalization, concern about one's overall physical health, and being "tired of using" drugs (Pollini et al., 2006).

There are numerous examples in the literature of successfully initiating buprenorphine treatment during acute hospitalization. Suzuki et al. (2015) provided a case series of 47 patients with OUD who were treatment-naïve and initiated on buprenorphine during hospitalization in 2013 and 2014. None of the patients were seeking treatment at the time of hospital admission. In these cases, the psychiatry consultation service provided the support for medical staff related to buprenorphine induction and stabilization over the entire course of hospitalization. Attempts were made to identify outpatient buprenorphine prescribers and to secure an appointment before discharge. If an appointment was secured, the psychiatry service wrote a bridge prescription from discharge until the follow-up appointment. If an appointment was not scheduled, the psychiatrist wrote up to a four-week prescription with instructions for the patient to continue seeking a local buprenorphine prescriber. The duration of the outpatient prescription was determined subjectively by the psychiatrist based on several factors including stable housing, available support systems, and presence of acute or chronic pain. All 47 patients received a prescription for buprenorphine. Forty-seven percent of patients filled a buprenorphine prescription within two months, although it's unclear if those patients were filling the prescription from hospitalization or from an outpatient provider. Fifty-nine percent of patients who were referred to a specific clinic continued treatment after discharge compared to 39% of patients who were provided a prescription but no referral, however these differences were not statistically significant (Suzuki J et al., 2015).

Liebschutz et al. (2014) were the first to evaluate the efficacy of inpatient buprenorphine induction while following patients longitudinally at a hospital-affiliated outpatient treatment clinic. In their single-center study, 139 treatment-naïve patients with OUD were randomized into two groups: those provided detoxification with a buprenorphine taper (n=67) and those provided full buprenorphine initiation with linkage to treatment at discharge (n=72). Seventy-two percent of the patients in the linkage group entered outpatient treatment affiliated with the study hospital within six months of discharge compared to 12% of patients in the detoxification group. At six months after entry, 17% of patients in the linkage group were still engaged in such treatment compared to 3% of those in the detoxification group. Of note, an additional 15 patients in the detoxification group and three patients in the linkage group entered some form of treatment

during the study period (methadone, buprenorphine, or inpatient detoxification), but these patients sought care outside of the hospital system and their entry into treatment was documented by self-report in follow-up interviews. Thus, the overall rate of successful early post-discharge interventions during the study period may be considered 76% for the linkage group and 34% for the detoxification group. Patients in the linkage group had lower mean and median days of illicit opioid use per 30 days compared to the detoxification group (8 vs 14 and 4 vs 15, respectively) Liebschutz et al. (2014) explained. In a follow-up study, Lee, Liebschutz, Anderson, and Stein (2017) explored predictors of patients entering treatment after discharge. Patients with previous history of buprenorphine treatment were 3.5 times more likely to attend their first appointment and stay engaged in treatment for a longer period of time. A longer length of hospital stay was also associated with greater likelihood of entering treatment.

Trowbridge et al. (2017) evaluated 319 patients seen over 26 weeks as part of an addiction medicine consult service at a single study site. Seventy-eight percent of patients had a diagnosis of OUD. Buprenorphine therapy was started during hospitalization for 40 treatment-naïve patients. Of these patients, 39%, 27%, and 18% continued to receive treatment at one month, three months, and six months, respectively. The researchers could only closely follow patients who participated in the hospital's outpatient clinic and were aware of at least two additional patients engaged in treatment within 180 days. The authors noted their study built upon the research by Liebschutz et al. (2014), who had substantial funding for their study and access to research staff. These resources may have facilitated follow-up. However, Trowbridge et al. shared their "follow-up rates [being] similar shows that starting agonist therapy in-hospital and linking patients to on-going outpatient care is feasible in real world situations, not just well-controlled experiment settings" (p. 3).

Inpatient addiction medicine consultation. Addiction medicine consult services improve engagement in longitudinal care for patients with substance use disorders, improve patient experience during hospitalization, and likely reduce the total cost of in-hospital care (Englander et al., 2019; Hyshka et al., 2019; Priest et al., 2019; Priest & McCarty, 2019a, 2019b). The work by Trowbridge et al. (2017) is "real world", but it also reflects outcomes in the presence of a funded, staffed, and dedicated addiction medicine consultation service. While "hospitals have largely been overlooked as a setting ripe for the delivery of specialized addiction care" (Braithwaite & Nolan, 2019, p.252), such sub-specialist care is often cost-prohibitive. Yet, many aspects of addiction-related care may be delivered by primary care teams such as hospitalists and emergency medicine physicians. Some of these are described in Table 1.

Englander et al. (2018) described how Oregon Health and Science University launched the Improving Addiction Care Team (IMPACT) in 2015, an interprofessional addiction medicine consultation service that focuses on substance use disorders, including OUD and the prescribing of buprenorphine. Previously, hospital medicine practitioners felt ill-quipped to address substance use disorders, which adversely impacted patient care, created a volatile working environment, and led to staff burnout. Once IMPACT launched, providers felt the program "legitimized addiction as a treatable disease... and humanized care by treating withdrawal, directly communicating about SUD, and modeling compassionate care" (p. E3). Interestingly, after IMPACT implementation, one staff member commented the service became viewed as "the easy solution to everything, we look around say, boy, this looks hard let's call [the IMPACT Team]. We need the ability for IMPACT to build competence in the organization and not carry the whole load, but build all of our capabilities" (p. E3). *Treatment in the setting of related infections*. As noted previously, infections related to OUD are increasing at alarming rates. These infections may be treated in the hospital setting without addressing the underlying cause: opioid use disorder. For example, fewer than 10% of patients with a diagnosis of infective endocarditis secondary to injection drug use who were evaluated at a large academic tertiary care center in Boston were referred for MAT, despite its clear availability in the region (Rosenthal et al., 2016).

Referral to addiction-related treatment has been shown to reduce mortality for patients with infective endocarditis related to IV drug use (Rodger et al., 2018). Among 108 charts reviewed at the University of Kentucky HealthCare hospital of patients with OUD admitted between 2012 and 2015, 60% had endocarditis, 25% had osteomyelitis or septic arthritis, and 8% had a skin or soft tissue infection. Among the cohort, the primary care teams recommended counseling and cessation for 83% of patients – not MAT. Only 7% of discharge summaries mentioned pharmacotherapy for the treatment of OUD; however, no patients were provided direct referral or follow-up appointments pertaining to treatment of OUD (Jicha et al., 2019).

Emergency Department

The emergency department (ED) is a critical setting for initiating treatment of substance use disorders. A visit to the "emergency department represents a critical, time-sensitive point at which initiating lifesaving treatment is possible" (D'Onofrio, McCormack, & Hawk, 2018, p. 2489). D'Onofrio et al. (2015) conducted a randomized control trial of 329 patients with OUD at the Yale New Haven ED from April 2009 through June 2013. Patients were randomized to one of three groups: referral to an outpatient treatment program only (n=104), a Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment (SBIRT) intervention (n=111), and initiation of buprenorphine with referral to an outpatient clinic (n=114). In the buprenorphine group, patients were treated immediately in the ED if symptoms of withdrawal were observed. Otherwise, patients were provided buprenorphine for home-based initiation. Follow-up was arranged at a hospital-based primary care clinic for the first 10 weeks of treatment and then transferred to a community-based addiction clinic or tapered based on patient preference. After 30 days, 78% of patients provided buprenorphine in the ED were engaged in treatment, compared to 45% in the SBIRT group, and 37% in the referral-only group. In addition, only 11% of patients provided buprenorphine required subsequent inpatient addiction-related treatment, compared to 35% of patients in the SBIRT group and 37% in the referral-only group (D'Onofrio et al., 2015).

In a follow-up study, D'Onofrio et al. (2017) described outcomes among the same patient population after two, six, and twelve months. After two months, 74% of patients in the buprenorphine group were engaged in treatment compared to 53% in the SBIRT group and 47% in the referral group. However, after six and twelve months, the differences in treatment engagement between the two groups were not statistically significant. Of note, patients were engaged in the hospital-based clinic for the first ten weeks after discharge. After ten weeks, patients were transferred to other clinics. As such, the authors concluded the results at six and twelve months were attributed to variation in outpatient clinic engagement after the first ten weeks and not on reduced long-term efficacy of ED-initiated buprenorphine treatment (D'Onofrio et al., 2017).

Buprenorphine initiation is also feasible in community and rural emergency departments. One such hospital in rural New York enrolled 62 patients in buprenorphine treatment during an ED visit for opioid withdrawal (Edwards et al., 2020). Over 80% of patients attended the followup visit with 69% and 53% engaged in care at 30 and 90 days, respectively. Importantly, based on a retrospective chart review, even patients who are provided buprenorphine therapy for withdrawal symptoms and not ultimately engaged in a long-term treatment plan may be less likely to return to the ED for opioid-related diagnoses within 30 days compared to patients treated with traditional withdrawal medications such as clonidine (Berg et al., 2007). Further study is needed.

Kaucher et al. (2019) performed a retrospective analysis of patients provided ED-based buprenorphine inductions at Denver Health Medical Center between May 2017 and October 2018. During the study period, 807 patients were coded as having opioid withdrawal, "abuse", or dependence. Of these, 219 (27%) patients were initiated on buprenorphine therapy. Threequarters of patients attended their follow-up appointment and 49% were still engaged in treatment after 30 days. Just under 60% of ED inductions in this program were performed by physician assistants or nurse practitioners (Kaucher et al., 2019).

Hu, Snider-Adler, Nijmeh, and Pyle (2019) described a pilot program in four Canadian emergency departments over an eight-month period in 2017. During this period, 43 patients were provided up to 8mg of buprenorphine during a visit to the ED in addition to a next-day appointment at a "rapid access addiction clinic". Seventy-one percent of patients visited the ED in the 12 months prior to entering the study with 57% of the visits related to substance use. The authors found that 88% of patients with OUD were interested in starting buprenorphine during their visit to the ED with understanding this was on the condition of following-up at an addiction medicine clinic within 24 hours. Of these, 54% attended the initial appointment and 35% were still engaged in treatment at six months. Patients who remained in treatment were less likely to visit the ED during the study period for reasons related to OUD (Hu et al., 2019).

Jails and Prisons

Medication-assisted treatment has tremendous benefit for incarcerated populations and particular relevance for this paper as patients with acute medical problems may be temporarily transferred from the setting of incarceration to a nearby hospital (Huh et al., 2018). For example, a person with OUD who is arrested and placed in jail may soon experience severe opioid withdrawal or need a hospital-based intervention such as an incision and drainage of a deep skin and soft tissue infection. The immediate post-incarceration period is dangerous for patients with OUD secondary to the risk of use recurrence and overdose (Binswanger, 2019; Ranapurwala et al., 2018). Providing treatment of OUD during incarceration may be beneficial for quality of life such as reducing withdrawal and cravings and clinical outcomes upon release including reducing mortality. For such treatment to start during hospitalization, a jail or prison must have the ability to continue such a care plan after hospital discharge. Walsh and Long (2019) recommended offering buprenorphine for incarcerated patients as one of three main approaches necessary to overcome the opioid epidemic. Jail and prison-based opioid treatment programs, while rare, have been shown to be clinically effective and reduce recidivism. Marsden et al. (2017) identified over 15,000 patients with OUD released from 39 different prisons in England over a three-year period. Fifty-seven percent of patients were provided methadone or buprenorphine during incarceration. In the first 28 days after release, opioid agonist therapy provided during incarceration was associated with a 75% reduction in all-cause mortality and 85% reduction in mortality related to drug overdoses.

In the United States, patients who are referred for buprenorphine maintenance therapy after being released from incarceration have similar treatment retention rates compared to patients referred from the community (Lee et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2010). Over 90% of patients started on buprenorphine during incarceration in Puerto Rico were engaged in outpatient treatment within 30 days of release (Garcia et al., 2007). Re-arrest among patients in California with OUD treated with buprenorphine was less likely over a five-year observation period compared to patients treated with methadone (Evans et al., 2019). In exit interviews with patients randomized to methadone or buprenorphine at a New York City jail, over 90% of patients who participated in buprenorphine therapy reported an intention to enroll in a post-incarceration drug treatment program, compared to 44% of patients receiving methadone. Patients receiving methadone therapy were more likely to experience uncomfortable side effects. All of the inmates who received buprenorphine endorsed they would recommend the medication to others (Awgu et al., 2010). In a prior randomized study at the same facility, approximately half of patients randomized to buprenorphine therapy during incarceration reported to their first outpatient follow-up treatment appointment after release compared to 14% of patients randomized to methadone during incarceration (Magura et al., 2009). In a qualitative study of recently released inmates with OUD, the overall attitude towards buprenorphine was positive (Fox et al., 2015). However, patients expressed concern about having "forced detoxification" from previous methadone treatment during incarceration. As a result, some patients disfavored the use of a medication to treat OUD, but all felt buprenorphine would be a good treatment option to reduce the risk of re-incarceration (Fox et al., 2015). This study sheds light on the importance of having protocols in place not for only starting new treatment, but also for continuing and maintaining treatment for patients already engaged in a plan of care at the time of arrest (Fox et al., 2015).

Drug Cost and Cost Effectiveness

Drug cost. As of November 2019, the average wholesale price (AWP) of Suboxone® was \$10.27 per 8m-2mg sublingual film with a typical target daily dose of 16mg (UpToDate, 2019a). A generic formulation of Suboxone® was approved in June 2018 (FDA, 2018). Buprenorphine-naloxone generic sublingual films are available with an AWP between \$8.79 and \$9.23 (UpToDate, 2019a). The AWP of methadone solution is \$0.14 - \$0.63 per 10mg dose, with OUD typically treated between 80mg and 120mg daily (UpToDate, 2019b). The AWP of extended-release naltrexone for intramuscular injection is \$1,570.80 per monthly administration (UpToDate, 2019c).

Haffajee & Frank (2020) reported that Indivior, the manufacturer of Suboxone®, was accused in 2019 of manipulating various federal laws and regulations to inflate the price of its brand name medication, including when Suboxone® received orphan-drug status. This designation is awarded to pharmaceutical companies who petition the FDA to restrict generic formulations for a specific period of time to recoup costs of drug development for rare diseases. Suboxone® was initially awarded a 7-year orphan-drug period based on their application. This resulted in more than \$1 billion in profits which the company ultimately lost in a court settlement with the federal government. Generic drug manufacturers were also successful in petitioning the FDA to remove the orphan-drug status from Suboxone®. This may bring stability and lower prices to the buprenorphine market (Haffajee & Frank, 2020).

Medication pricing is a complex topic largely because the price of buprenorphine surpasses the price of methadone. Notably, while the medication cost is higher, buprenorphine treatment as a whole may be less expensive for healthcare systems than methadone, which may ultimately make it more affordable for patients. This potential cost savings is due to less stringent regulations, reduced cost of dispensing, fewer laboratory screening tests, and the overall decreased administrative burden of buprenorphine in the primary care setting versus operating an opioid treatment program for methadone (Clay et al., 2014; Ronquest et al., 2018; Rosenheck & Kosten, 2001).

Murphy et al. (2018) described buprenorphine as being less expensive than extendedrelease naltrexone (ERN.) The authors reported that ERN costs an average of \$5,317 more than buprenorphine over a 24-week period. The cost difference was largely driven by the washout period required for ERN initiation. As such, the increase in cost is not associated with an increase in quality of life or drug-free years. Roberts et al. (2018) reported the cost of a 30-day supply of buprenorphine stabilized among private insurers between 2003 and 2015. Out-ofpocket costs for patients decreased from \$67 to \$32. Importantly, this data did not include patients participating in public programs or the uninsured. Even for patients with private insurance, many have high deductible health plans. The median spending for a 30-day supply of buprenorphine in 2015 was \$335, which may prohibit many patients from participating in treatment.

Cost effectiveness. King, Sainski-Nguyen, and Bellows (2016) evaluated the costeffectiveness of buprenorphine versus methadone over one year in the United States data. On average, methadone delivered from a federally-regulated opioid treatment program cost \$450 more annually compared to buprenorphine administered in primary care. Schackman, Leff, Polsky, Moore, and Fiellin (2012) performed a cost-effectives analysis of buprenorphine in the primary care setting and incorporated key variables including medication cost, physician and nurse time, lab testing, and patient costs such as travel time and transportation cost. In their analysis, 24 months of buprenorphine therapy in a primary care setting cost \$7,700 dollars, a cost justified by its improved quality of life compared to no treatment (Schackman et al., 2012). Also, in the emergency department setting, buprenorphine therapy has been found to be cost-saving compared to direct referral and traditional "detoxification" medication regimens (Busch et al., 2017).

Hsu, Marsteller, Kachur, and Fingerhood (2019) evaluated outcomes of the Comprehensive Care Practice (CCP) in Baltimore, Maryland, a program which offers insight into a model where buprenorphine treatment is fully integrated into the primary care setting. The program provides primary care to patients with substance use disorders who have Medicaid. Patients receive care for diseases such as diabetes, hypertension, HIV, and hepatitis C while simultaneously receiving treatment for substance use disorder. All clinicians in the practice are able to deliver primary care and prescribe buprenorphine for OUD. The authors conducted a comparative effectiveness analysis among two patients groups: those who received buprenorphine at CCP and those who received buprenorphine care elsewhere in Maryland. In the control group, buprenorphine was typically prescribed by a sole practitioner in a primary care clinic – one with whom the patient did not have a primary care relationship, only a buprenorphine-prescribing relationship (Hsu et al., 2019).

Between 2008 and 2012, 131 patients receiving Medicaid participated in buprenorphine therapy at CCP compared to 867 patients receiving Medicaid in other Maryland clinics (Hsu et al., 2019). Treatment retention after six months was 79% in the CCP group and 61% in the non-CCP group. As expected, the CCP group had higher pharmaceutical expenditures on buprenorphine secondary to increased retention in treatment. However, the CCP group had fewer acute hospital stays, and when hospital stays occurred, they cost less on average. Importantly, the CCP group's total healthcare costs were \$4,554 lower than the non-CCP group. (Hsu et al., 2019).

Kessel, Castel, and Nemecek (2018) evaluated commercial insurance claims among patients with OUD. Among this population, 48 (7%) patients were provided a long-term buprenorphine care plan, 241 (37%) were provided buprenorphine detoxification services, and 359 (55%) were provided no MAT at all. Among those provided a long-term buprenorphine care plan, none required detoxification services within four months. In the same time frame, an 80% reduction in medical hospitalizations was noted. In comparison, 50% of patients provided only detoxification required another detoxification within four months, and only a 7% reduction in medical hospitalizations was achieved. As expected, total pharmacy costs for patients participating in a long-term buprenorphine care plan increased by 97%. However, total outpatient costs were reduced by 19% in this group compared to an increase of 24% among patients who received no OUD treatment (Kessel et al., 2018). In an Australian randomized study of 119 patients engaged in buprenorphine maintenance treatment, unobserved home dosing dispensed on a weekly basis cost 22% less than daily in-office dosing, and made no difference on clinical outcomes (Bell et al., 2007). In another Australian study, methadone and buprenorphine delivered in primary care settings were both found to be cost-effective (Harris et al., 2005). Premkumar, Grobman, Terplan, and Miller (2019) found buprenorphine to be more costeffective in treating mother-baby dyads during pregnancy compared to methadone or a detoxification program.

Cost research limitations. There is much variability and numerous limitations in the approaches used to study cost-effectiveness among patients with OUD. Such factors include the number of patients engaged in treatment, duration of time spent in treatment, number of disease

recurrences during the course of treatment, cost of individual doses, practice settings where the medications are administered, extent to which non-clinical economic criteria are included such as the impact on social service use and criminal justice expenditures, variable impact of OUD treatment on other co-occurring SUDs, outcomes of harm reduction programs in particular syringe exchange programs, perspectives incorporated (health system vs societal), models deployed (Markov, transmission dynamic, etc.), country of study, regulations around who can prescribe, socioeconomic factors, evolving prescriber and patient attitudes towards MAT, and available funding mechanisms for patients to receive treatment which often vary on a state and regional basis or availability of such treatment programs to begin with (Barnett et al., 2001; Connock et al., 2007; King et al., 2016; Rosenheck & Kosten, 2001; Schackman et al., 2012)

Perhaps most importantly, the cost effectiveness when buprenorphine is administered as a widespread, routine and standard component of primary care delivery has not been studied. There are also no cost-effectiveness analyses incorporating physician assistant and advanced practice nursing prescribing since the passage of CARA in 2016. Given how quickly the opioid epidemic has evolved, it is likely that results of the above-mentioned studies, many of which were based on data from earlier parts of the epidemic, would be different if performed today.

Barriers to Care for Patients with Opioid Use Disorder

Exploring barriers to MAT in the hospital and in the general medical community is an important step in providing treatment to all patients who will benefit. Numerous barriers exist to the widespread adoption of buprenorphine therapy by physicians. These include lack of awareness about buprenorphine, inadequate training around addiction and buprenorphine within medical schools or in continuing medical education, minimal or absent institutional support, challenges with care coordination, provider stigma for patients with OUD, perceived time

limitations, complex and insufficient reimbursement including time-intensive prior authorizations, inadequate access to recovery support services beyond pharmacotherapy and brief office-based counseling, unaffordable long-term treatment options for patients, inadequate clinical space, concern about diversion, and burdensome federal and state regulations which result in onerous work related to compliance (Andraka-Christou & Capone, 2018; Ashford et al., 2018; Haffajee et al., 2018; Jones & McCance-Katz, 2019; Kermack et al., 2017; Louie et al., 2019; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2020).

Nurse practitioners and physician assistants face similar barriers to that of physicians (Andrilla et al., 2019). In addition, the United States Government Accountability Office (2020) reports some pharmacies may choose not to stock or dispense buprenorphine and may treat patients OUD rudely. Transportation to clinic appointments and to pharmacies may also be limited for some patients. Many of the barriers to increasing buprenorphine access are summarized in Figure 18.

Flavin et al. (2020) assessed buprenorphine availability and characteristics among counties with the highest overdose death rates within ten states with the highest opioid mortality. The authors cold-called clinics based on the online SAMHSA Buprenorphine Practitioner Locator, which is one of the main recommended methods by which the federal government recommends patients identify buprenorphine treatment providers. Of approximately 500 buprenorphine providers listed, 60% could be reached, and less than 40% of the total actually offered buprenorphine (versus other therapies.) Of the 173 clinics offering buprenorphine, 25% did not accept insurance and only 63% accepted Medicaid. Wait time for an appointment ranged from 1 to 120 days with a mean wait of 17 days. Seventy-two percent of providers did not have
any appointments available and 38% of listings with phone numbers had incorrect numbers listed (Flavin et al., 2020).

Nutt (2013) postulated that many laypeople and policymakers misunderstand addiction because they have experimented with alcohol and drugs recreationally at some point in their lives. Their ability to cease at-will may reinforce the idea that those with substance use disorders and other forms of addiction can similarly and easily stop on their own. Rather, for patients with substance use disorder, addiction "is not a lifestyle choice, but an unrelenting compulsive behavior that blights their lives" (p. 494). Numerous barriers to buprenorphine exist even in Ohio, a state with the highest mortality from opioid overdoses, second only to Virginia (United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019b). Molfenter et al. (2019) studied the barriers among 18 Ohio policymakers responsible for creating and implementing substance use disorder policy and allocating public funds. Paying for buprenorphine therapy was an issue statewide prior to Ohio's Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act and subsequent establishment of coverage for outpatient buprenorphine therapy. The policy leaders noted that several treatment providers in the community felt prescribing buprenorphine was "giving a drug to an addict" or "replacing one drug for another" (p. 274), but this had improved over time because "once the client is on [buprenorphine], it becomes so much easier to treat them" (p. 275.) The county executives also expressed concern about diversion, although they believed that the risk of buprenorphine diversion stemmed almost entirely from for-profit drug treatment programs and not ones receiving public funds, the latter of which were required to follow more strict state and county guidelines and regulations (Molfenter et al., 2019).

Nutt (2013) postulated that many laypeople and policymakers misunderstand addiction because they have experimented with alcohol and drugs recreationally at some point in their lives. Their ability to cease at-will may reinforce the idea that those with substance use disorders and other forms of addiction can similarly and easily stop on their own. Rather, for patients with substance use disorder, addiction "is not a lifestyle choice, but an unrelenting compulsive behavior that blights their lives" (p. 494).

In a study shortly after DATA 2000 was passed, over 80% of general practice psychiatrists reported being uncomfortable prescribing buprenorphine in an office-based setting. Yet, only 40% of addiction psychiatrists felt similarly (West et al., 2004). Subsequently, researchers found those with board-certification in addiction medicine may be more accepting of prescribing buprenorphine in addition to practitioners in urban settings and those with previous experience working with patients who have an opioid use disorder; barriers to prescribing buprenorphine in primary care include concern of disrupting office workflows, personal competence, and inadequate availability of specialist support when needed (Becker & Fiellin, 2006). The deaths resulting from these barriers are the "inevitable result of treating addiction as a disease in a system that is not equipped to do so successfully, in a society that often pays mere lip service to the idea that people with substance use disorders need care instead of judgment" (Brown, 2020, p. 209).

Role of Stigma in Opioid Use Disorder

Nora Volkow, the Director of the National Institute on Drug Abuse writes "people working in health care should be made aware that stigmatizing people who are addicted to opioids or other drugs inflicts social pain that not only impedes the practice of medicine but also further entrenches the disorder" (Volkow, 2020, p. 1290). In a review of 51 articles of opioidrelated stigma, McCradden, Vasileva, Orchanian-Cheff, and Buchman (2019) discovered four main typologies of opioid-related stigma: self-stigma internalized by patients, stigma against methadone and buprenorphine treatment, stigma of opioid use related to chronic pain, and stigma existing within healthcare settings. Increased stigma is inversely associated with poor health outcomes by decreasing and delaying access to care (Biancarelli et al., 2019). Often due to stigma on the part of healthcare professionals, patients with OUD may defer seeking care for medical conditions until such circumstances are serious or life-threatening. Once treatment is sought, patients are likely to downplay their substance use history out of fear that revealing it will impact the quality of care received (Biancarelli et al., 2019).

Definition of stigma. The modern word "stigma" comes from the term "stizein", which was a mark burned onto the skin of slaves to signify their low place in the social hierarchy in ancient Greece (Link & Phelan, 2001). Jacobsson & Arboleda-Flórez (2002) described stigma as a:

Social construct whereby a distinguished mark of social disgrace is attached to others in order to identify and to devalue them. Thus, stigma and the process of stigmatization consist of two fundamental elements: the recognition of the differentiating 'mark' and the subsequent devaluation of the person. (p. 25)

Goffman (1963) defined stigma as "an attribute that links a person to an undesirable stereotype, leading other people to reduce the bearer from a whole and usual person to a tainted, discounted one" (p. 11). Stigmatization begins with stereotyping, or creating damaging and often inaccurate beliefs about a group (Corrigan & Nieweglowski, 2018). This most often occurs through labeling and language. Generally, stereotypes are unavoidable in societies and are often learned at an early age. The stereotype itself does not create marginalization. Rather, prejudice and ultimate discrimination does. Prejudice occurs when a stereotype leads to fear and shame generated by society, and internalized blame by those being prejudiced. Subsequent discrimination occurs

when these feelings lead to disparate opportunities such as decreased access to healthcare, unavailability of employment, and reduced ability to secure safe and affordable housing (Corrigan & Nieweglowski, 2018). Stereotypes include beliefs that individuals with substance use disorders are dangerous, hopeless, or dirty. These beliefs generate prejudice, or feelings such as fear, anger, or disgust which are ultimately translated to discrimination such as denial of healthcare, employment opportunities, and dehumanization (Nieweglowski et al., 2018). This is further explored in Table 2.

Self-stigma. Self-stigma occurs when patients with substance use disorders experience reduced self-efficacy stemming from perceived devaluation and discrimination. It results in the "why try effect" which greatly limits goal achievement and the ability to thrive in society (Corrigan & Rao, 2012). Internalized stigma on the part of patients with substance use disorders leads to decreased motivation to access treatment and a perception of minimal social supports. Such stigma also leads to increased levels of depression and anxiety (Akdağ et al., 2018). Figure 19 shows the model of self-stigma and how it translates into practice. When there is a lack of stigma in treatment programs, patients feel encouraged to adhere to care plans. Conversely, being identified as an "addict" leads to increased ostracism and results in pushing patients back towards drug cultures where they may feel more respected and engaged by peers (Crapanzano et al., 2018). Greater degrees of self-stigma result in extended stays in residential treatment programs, possibly due to heightened fears of life outside of these centers (Luoma et al., 2014). Self-stigma is associated with social withdrawal and isolation, reduced interpersonal communication, participation in fewer recreational activities, decreased employment, and diminished feelings of competence and independence (Can & Tanriverdi, 2015).

Language and labels. Patients labeled as "drug addicts" are more stigmatized by the general public compared to those experiencing an "opioid use disorder" (Goodyear et al., 2018). Unfortunately, "health care practitioners, and many lay people, refer to people with opioid use disorder as 'junkies'... Who would use similar terms about a patient with diabetes and an elevated hemoglobin A1C level?" (Olsen & Sharfstein, 2014, p. 1394). The term "substance abuser" and "opioid addict" are seen as strongly negative compared to "person with a substance use disorder" and "person with an opioid use disorder. The term "relapse" is also viewed negatively (Ashford et al., 2018).

A dichotomy exists between how patients speak about themselves and the external labels which may reinforce stigma. Pivovarova & Stein (2019) evaluated the language preferences of over 250 patients in a Massachusetts opioid treatment program. The term "addict" was the most used by patients when speaking about themselves or fellow patients. Slang such as "junkie" was used by less than 15% of patients. The preferred terms for patients to be called by clinical providers or the public was "person who uses drugs", "person with a heroin addiction", and "person with a heroin dependence". Ashford, Brown, McDaniel, & Curtis (2019) found similar results. Patients in recovery did not have a negative attitude towards the term "addict" and "substance abuser" whereas those employed in the health professions possessed a negative attitude towards these terms. In a follow-up study, Ashford, Brown, & Curtis (2019) found the term "substance abuser" and its alternative "person with a substance use disorder" both had negative association among those impacted by SUDs, but the latter was perceived more positively overall. Positive and negative terminology is summarized in Table 3.

Language choice in the medical record effects the care patients receive. Goddu et al. (2018) found residents and medical students who read stigmatizing language in the medical

record were less likely to prescribe medication for pain. Residents also had more negative attitudes compared to medical students, suggesting that stigma in medical culture serves as negative reinforcement over time, and could be related to repeated exposure of stigmatizing terminology in health records. Tension was also described when quotation marks were used to quote patients about their substance use. While some readers viewed this as empathetic, most felt it was a hidden signal regarding socioeconomic status or insincere histories (Goddu, Anna et al., 2018).

Medication Assisted Treatment. The term "medication assisted treatment" is widely used in healthcare, policy, and peer-reviewed literature. However, the term faces scrutiny. Robinson and Adinoff (2018) argue calling methadone, buprenorphine, and naltrexone "medicationassisted" therapy implies that pharmacotherapy might be secondary to some other sort of treatment, without promoting what that primary treatment might be. This may inadvertently reinforce the invalid idea that medication is secondary to strictly counseling or abstinence-only support. The American Society of Addiction Medicine National Practice Guidelines state that "it is unclear whether added psychosocial treatment improves patient outcomes… and are sometimes minimally needed" (Kampman & Comer, 2015, p. 366) for patients receiving treatment with methadone. There are mixed results for patients receiving treatment with buprenorphine. The guidelines further state that any psychosocial interventions are recommended concurrently with pharmacotherapy. Overall, the terms "medication-assisted recovery" and "long-term recovery" have significantly more positive association in relation to reduced stigma than "medication-assisted treatment" (Ashford et al., 2018).

Health professionals. Health professionals in general have a negative attitude toward patients with substance use disorders. Desire to work with this patient population is consistently

77

lower than other chronic diseases such as diabetes and other behavioral health diagnoses such as depression (van Boekel et al., 2013). Johansson and Wiklund-Gustin (2016) described a pattern of "multifaceted vigilance" among nurses, which acknowledges the perceived challenging nature of encountering patients with substance use disorders in the hospital. Nurses sometimes struggle with balancing the desire to build relationships with patients with the need to be attentive and watchful towards hospital policies and their own stigma towards this patient population. Nurses who work specifically in pain management describe patients with substance use disorders as "difficult" and "noncompliant" but also recognize the need for individual and holistic treatment (Morley et al., 2015).

Conscious and unconscious biases may create disparities among patients with OUD in regards to treatment of other chronic diseases. For example, patients undergoing consideration for liver transplants are often told to discontinue buprenorphine or methadone therapy before they can be listed, despite a lack of scientific evidence that such therapy is contraindicated and an abundance of evidence that discontinuing therapy early is risky (Wakeman et al., 2018). Patients may be denied repeat valve repair surgeries related to endocarditis, despite the ethics of such practice being called into question (Aultman et al., 2018). This approach be related to public reporting requirements of valve replacement which began in January 2013. These measures have led to improved quality but decreased access to valve replacement surgery for all patients, especially those with severe co-morbid conditions (Kimmel et al., 2019).

Stigma in pregnancy. Extensive stigma is felt by pregnant women with OUD in the prenatal and post-natal period (Howard, 2015). Mother's experienced reduced self-efficacy after delivery and shame regarding prolonged hospitalizations that are often required secondary to neonatal abstinence syndrome. As Howard et al. (2018) explained: Staff members attend to their infants less often, communicate less, and are more stringent in enforcing hospital rules because of their addiction histories... [the] perception of unequal treatment made mothers feel frustrated, anxious, and stressed... conversely, when staff members were not judgmental and treated the mothers as equals, mothers felt respected and empowered, and this greatly enhanced their confidence in caring for their infants" (p. 764).

Pregnant patients are often hesitant about buprenorphine therapy because of judgement and the potential for negative consequences. These patients often prefer detoxification, despite acknowledgement of increased fetal risk. Pregnant patients may feel that participating in buprenorphine therapy puts them at increased risk of punitive interactions with social services (Ostrach & Leiner, 2019). Nursing students feel particularly conflicted when caring for patients with OUD on maternity wards, with much of this conflict stemming from the attitudes expressed by clinical preceptors (Lewis & Jarvis, 2019).

Abstinence-based treatment. There are differences in ideology between those who support the use of MAT and those who support treatment and recovery without the use of medications. These opposing views have been described as "two warring factions" (Goodnough, 2018). The sentiment often shared is that when patients take a medication for the treatment of OUD, they are never truly abstinent or sober. Patients receiving buprenorphine therapy face such abstinence-only conversations from parents, friends, colleagues, and perhaps most importantly, clinical staff (Hadland et al., 2018). This view is often held within "abstinence-only", 12-step, and fellowship communities such as Narcotics Anonymous (NA) who feel that pharmacotherapy is "replacing one addiction for another." Narcotics Anonymous is structured around 12 principles referred to as the "Twelve Traditions of Narcotics Anonymous." Two of these principles conflict with the organization's opinion of MAT. Tradition number 3 states "the only requirement for membership is a desire to stop using." Tradition number 10 states "Narcotics Anonymous has no opinion on outside issues; hence the NA name ought never be drawn into public controversy" (Narcotics Anonymous, 1988). The program promotes itself as supporting only total abstinence, and while medications "may be valid" at certain times, they should be used with "extreme caution." White (2011) states NA's "philosophy of complete abstinence is rooted in the collective experience of its members that all past half measures resulted in pain and tragedy in spite of great and repeated assertions of personal will" (p. 12).

White (2011) argued that while abstinent-based therapy is a tenant of NA's national platform, the organization does not actively oppose MAT outside of its own organization. For example, NA does not promote anti-MAT campaigns or participate in lobbying activities for the purpose of decreasing access to MAT. Importantly, NA states that patients engaged in MAT are welcome to meetings. However, this policy exists at the national level and individual groups are permitted and encouraged to create their own local rules. Many choose to exclude those on MAT, and local chapters who allow patients on MAT often impart bias and promote a culture which incorporates anti-MAT views. White (2011) explains this stance is not because NA is "anti-MAT" but rather because the organization does not view MAT as being completely abstinent. Complete abstinence is a cornerstone of NA participation. However, this policy may alienate people who would likely benefit from the group's otherwise supportive environment. As Walsh and Long (2019) state, this arises:

From the misconception that FDA-approved medication is the same as uncontrolled illicit drug use; From the misconception that physical dependence (a physiological homeostatic process) is the same as an OUD; From the misconception that OUD is the same as all other substance use disorders rather than recognizing that a single lapse to illicit opioid use can lead to death, and, finally; From the misconception that OUD is a moral issue best treated by suffering rather than a life-threatening medical condition best treated by health practitioners with expertise and a toolkit of evidence-based treatments. (p. 3).

The root of NA's view on non-pharmacologic interventions stems from a similar philosophy in the very early days of its sister organization Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) (White, 2011). In the 1960s, Bob Dole, the lead investigator of the original clinical trials for methadone, was asked by Bill Wilson, the founder of AA, to join its board. In an editorial later, Dole (1991) recalled questioning AA executives about his involvement since his research was focused on pharmacotherapy and not abstinence. Executives insisted on his engagement since the "objectives were parallel – namely providing the best treatment available to sick persons" (p. 751). Dole commented that he joined the board because the AA founders "were acutely sensitive to the danger of the Fellowship being distorted by aggressive persons with dogmatic opinions" (p. 751). Just prior to Wilson's death, Dole recalled one of their final interactions:

At the last trustee meeting that we both attended, [Wilson] spoke to me of his deep concern for the alcoholics who are not reached by AA, and for those who enter and drop out and never return. Always the good shepherd, he was thinking about the many sheep who are lost in the dark world of alcoholism. He suggested that in my future research I should look for an analogue of methadone, a medicine that would relieve the alcoholic's sometimes irresistible craving and enable him to continue his progress in AA toward social and emotional recovery (p. 751)

These interactions from decades ago show an original acceptance to integrate pharmacotherapy into support groups, however such collaboration has dwindled over the years. While AA has expressed that it has no position on the use of medications, the issue remains controversial within NA (Alcoholics Anonymous, 2018). In an editorial addressing stigma toward MAT (not specifically by the fellowship community) entitled *Being Explicit About Decisions: Prescribe Medications for Opioid Use Disorder on the Basis of Proven Effectiveness, Not Beliefs*, Barocas and Saitz (2019) write:

We should evaluate treatment for opioid addiction as we do for other chronic medical diseases, by assessing efficacy, costs, risks, and the likelihood of success, and not on the basis of beliefs, which partly underlie regulations that restrict access. As with many other chronic disorders, OUD treatment comes in several forms and is often lifelong. Basing medical decisions on beliefs about medications does nothing to help the growing pool of those with OUD, who if untreated are likely to fall victim to an overdose (p. 2).

The scientific evidence supports MAT as a key component of a plan for treatment and success. As White (2011) states, "it is time to shed the fixation on methadone and buprenorphine and to begin to nest these medications within a rich service menu and vibrant recovery culture that can nurture the larger physical, cognitive, emotional, relational, and spiritual processes of long-term recovery" (p. 11).

Ambivalence toward MAT within local chapters continues (White, 2011). In its document *Narcotics Anonymous and Persons Receiving Medication-Assisted Treatment*, the organization recognizes Tradition 3, which requires the desire to stop using at the time of

meetings, and not abstinence. However, the document also promotes the idea that "cleanliness" may only be obtained through total abstinence. The document stresses "abstinence" and "membership" in NA are not synonymous, and people may attend meetings at various stages of long-term recovery (Narcotics Anonymous, 2016).

In response, new groups are forming which are inclusive of peer support and MAT. Krawczyk et al. (2018) describe one such group: the Ability, Inspiration, and Motivation (AIM) program. Established in 2010 as an alternative to fellowship groups which exclude pharmacotherapy for OUD, the goal of the program is "to promote respect, wellness and recovery through peer support and education by allowing participants to share their unique paths to recovery" (p. 406). AIM is comprised of three foundational elements. The environment is respectful of all patients seeking recovery and designed to reduce shame and secrecy around pharmacotherapy by increasing confidence and self-esteem. The program also incorporates a holistic approach to health. In addition to groups and counseling around substance use disorders, the program promotes healthy behavior around nutrition and chronic illnesses. Finally, spirituality, story-telling, and celebration are successful components from other existing groups that have been integrated into AIM.

Another example is Medication-Assisted Recovery Anonymous (MARA). Similar to other national fellowship organizations, MARA incorporates meetings that rely on a series of principles and milestones referred to as Twelve Traditions and Twelve Steps. However, the organization is comprised of "people who believe in the value of medication as a means to recovery" (MARA, 2019, para 4).

Addiction as a chronic illness. Calls for addiction to be treated as a chronic medical disease have existed for decades (Stein & Fleischman, 1998). Substance use disorders are akin to

other chronic diseases including diabetes, cancer, and heart disease because they are driven by genetic and environmental factors (NIDA, 2005). McLellan et al. (2000) argue that while patients with addiction often experience a recurrence of the disease and challenges adhering to the care plan, similar findings exist across other chronic diseases. For example, fewer than 60% of patients with diabetes and fewer than 40% of patients with hypertension or asthma fully adhere with the pharmacologic components of their care plans, and fewer than 30% of patients in these groups adhere with behavioral modifications such as diet and weight loss. This results in up to 50% of patients with diabetes and up to 70% with hypertension or asthma requiring additional medical care annually to regain control of symptoms. The "similarities in heritability, course, and particularly response to treatment raise the question of why medical treatments are not seen as appropriate or effective when applied to alcohol and drug dependence" (p. 1694). Figure 20 compares rates of disease recurrence among those with substance use disorders with other chronic medical conditions.

Discharges against medical advice. Patients with substance use disorders may leave against medical advice (AMA) because they are stigmatized by hospital staff, receive inadequate pain control, have insufficient management of withdrawal symptoms, or experience hospital restrictions (McNeil et al., 2014; Simon et al., 2019). In this author's experience, such clinical barriers are deeply rooted in institutional stigma, which ultimately results in AMA discharges. In a study of over 400,000 hospitalizations related to OUD, 13% of patients left the facility against medical advice (Merchant et al., 2020). The odds of leaving AMA are based on several factors including the type of substance use disorders (Table 4).

Of over 1,900 patients in Pennsylvania with drug use related infective endocarditis (DURE) between 2013 and 2017, 16% left the hospital AMA (Meisner et al., 2019). Of 202

patients treated for DURE in three Canadian acute care hospitals, 17% left the hospital AMA (Rodger et al., 2018). Among 108 patients admitted to the University of Kentucky HealthCare hospital with infectious complications of OUD including endocarditis and osteomyelitis, 14% left AMA. On inpatient medical wards "it is critical to optimize care in these settings to prevent AMA [discharges and] to successfully retain patients in treatment" (Lail & Fairbairn, 2018, p. 422).

General public. People with substance use disorders are often seen as reckless, unreliable, undeserving, and threatening, and they may be viewed as intense and hopeless individuals who are to blame for all of their psychosocial and medical issues (Nieweglowski et al., 2019). The public generally feels anger, pity, and dread when asked about individuals with substance use disorders and withholds opportunities from them (Nieweglowski et al., 2019). For many laypeople, substance use disorders are intimately linked to other alarming public health conditions such as HIV, hepatitis C, and driving under the influence – all of which are also stigmatized. Substance use disorders are considered by many to be a moral failing and a condition within the direct control of the person experiencing the illness (Livingston et al., 2012).

Kennedy-Hendricks et al. (2017) surveyed a national sample of over 1,000 adults regarding their attitudes towards patients with prescription-based OUD. Interestingly, 30% of the respondents identified as having direct experience with OUD through close friends, family members, or themselves. Over 75% of respondents felt individuals with OUD were to blame. The majority endorsed creating social distance from people with OUD and felt it was appropriate for employers to have discriminatory hiring practices. Of note, the responses from those with experience of OUD were more negative, in particular regarding self-discipline and hiring practices. In a nationally-representative sample of over 2,600 participants, Goodyear, Haass-Koffler, and Chavanne (2018) found that patients who experienced addiction after receiving an opioid from a friend were highly stigmatized compared to those who experienced addiction after receiving an opioid prescription from their doctor.

Livingston, Milne, Fang, and Amari (2012) describe stigmatizing attitudes of substance use disorders as being widespread, endorsed by popular culture, and embedded in federal, state, and local policies that criminalize, and ultimately marginalize those using substances. The authors stress that criminalization of substance use disorders leads to exclusionary processes that continue to widen the social divide between those with substance use disorders and those without. The authors conclude that "social processes and institutions that are created to control substance use may, in actuality, contribute to its continuance" (p. 40).

There appears to be less stigma in communities afflicted most by the opioid epidemic. For example, after the Virginia State Health Commissioner declared a public health emergency in November 2016, 80% of Virginians supported increasing availability of treatment centers and 70% supported residential housing for those in recovery, even if these resources were located in their own community (Cook & Worcman, 2019). This contradicts the philosophy known as "Not in My Back Yard" or (NIMBY) where communities generally support advancements for marginalized citizens such as those with substance use disorders, so long as such advancements do not occur in their own communities. This phenomenon is driven by deeply-rooted stigma (Furr-Holden et al., 2016).

Structural Racism

Much of the structural racism that exists in relation to systems of care for patients with substance use disorders is linked to the War on Drugs declared by President Nixon in the 1970s

(Santoro & Santoro, 2018). Policies mandated during this time criminalized the possession of cocaine and resulted in the mass incarceration of individuals from racial minority groups. Further, the media often portrayed dealers as individuals from Black and Latinx communities whereas White people were portrayed as "addicts" in need of help (Santoro & Santoro, 2018). This persistent messaging resulted in widespread misinformation and grave discrimination in minority communities (Hansen et al., 2016).

Compared to White patients, Black patients are less likely to receive opioid prescriptions for acute or chronic pain (Om, 2018; Pletcher et al., 2008). These findings were the basis of a *New York Times* article that sought to frame this discriminatory practice as being protective against opioid poisonings in non-White communities (Frakt & Monkovic, 2019). Khatri et al. (2019) followed this with an opinion piece stating, in part, that "calling racial bias protective is misguided and harmful" (para 3). The authors concluded that "racism in health care still exists and is by definition harmful, and to suggest otherwise will stop us from developing effective strategies to help all Americans struggling with addiction" (para 10).

It is possible that significantly more Black people have died from illicit opioids being covertly added to cocaine by dealers than has been reported (James & Jordan, 2018). Therefore, the narrow focus of attention and resources on OUD specifically, as opposed to substance use disorders as a whole including cocaine, further reduces access to care and likely contributes to disproportionate opioid mortality among Black people.

The national narrative around OUD among policymakers and the media has often been around opioid poisonings of middle and upper class White people (James & Jordan, 2018). This "marginalization of Black people is highly consistent with a pattern of framing addiction affecting people of color as a pathological shortcoming to be answered by militarized policing and involvement of the criminal justice system, in lieu of treatment" (James & Jordan, 2018, p. 404). In fact, White patients are 35 times more likely to receive treatment for OUD compared to patients of other racial groups (Lagisetty et al., 2019). The many facets of structural racism and marginalization of minority communities must be fully dismantled to provide appropriate, evidence-based, and effective care to all patients who may benefit from it.

X-Waiver as a Barrier and Reduced Access to a Buprenorphine Prescriber

There are two hypocrisies in the current regulatory environment pertaining to opioids: no special training or government-mandated certification is required to prescribe opioids, and the regulations of prescribing methadone or buprenorphine for the treatment of OUD do not apply when the *exact same* medications are prescribed for the treatment of chronic pain (Davis & Carr, 2019; Waters, 2019). Haffajee et al. (2019) reported of the 3,142 counties in the United States, 46% lack any provider able to prescribe any pharmacologic treatment for OUD. Over 70% of rural counties lack a treatment provider. Such disparate availability of buprenorphine is associated with increased mortality at the county level (Jones et al., 2018).

Licensed to treat vs actively treating. Increasing the number of providers who have the x-waiver does not necessarily translate to increased treatment access. In a "secret shopper" telephone survey, Beetham, Saloner, Wakeman, Gaye, and Barnett (2019) called 469 providers listed as having an x-waiver on the SAMHSA website across the six states with the highest burden of opioid overdoses. Of these providers, only 54% were accepting new appointments for patients receiving Medicaid funds. Overall, half were not accepting new patients or had an extended waitlist, regardless of insurance type.

Andrilla, Coulthard, and Larson (2017) surveyed over 1,500 physicians in rural areas registered with the DEA to prescribe buprenorphine. Overall, the most common cited reasons for

not incorporating buprenorphine therapy into daily practice were perceived time constraints, concern about medication diversion, and lack of access to additional behavioral health support services in rural areas. Prescribers also reported concern about attracting patients with substance use disorders to their practice. Almost one in five respondents also expressed concern about available office space and staff and one of every ten self-identified as having stigma towards patients with OUD (Andrilla et al., 2017). In a follow-up study, Andrilla, Moore, & Patterson (2019) found that retail pharmacies in rural areas may treat patients poorly when picking up buprenorphine prescriptions and some pharmacies refuse to stock the medication at all. Importantly, the authors also found that the "vast majority of family practice physicians reported that adding this service did not attract new drug users to their practice, instead, patients with substance use disorders were already in their practice and were simply not receiving the full level of care they needed" (p. 119).

In Washington State, less than 30% of physicians who participated in a x-waiver training went on to receive the official DEA certification and prescribe buprenorphine. The most common cited reason for not prescribing was the perceived need for additional wrap-around behavioral health services. Over 80% of the respondents were family medicine physicians (Hutchinson et al., 2014).

Patient limits. In addition to the x-waiver creating a limitation for providers who may prescribe buprenorphine for OUD, each x-waived provider is also limited by the number of patients they may treat concurrently. No other FDA-approved medication has such a restriction (Blum et al., 2016). Such patient limits may create unnecessary barriers to care, especially in rural areas where there may be a single prescriber available for an entire patient population (Waters, 2019). Notably, it took 18 years after the passage of DATA 2000 for the SUPPORT Act

in 2018 to increase the patient limit from 30 concurrently in the first year of having an x-waiver to 100 (National Association of State Alcohol and Drug Abuse Directors, 2019). However, the impact of increasing patient limits may be limited since most x-waived prescribers do not approach their patient limit.

Among over 3,000 buprenorphine prescribers from seven states with the highest number of x-waived providers, more than 20% treated 3 or less patients, and less than 10% treated more than 75 patients (Stein et al., 2016). The median monthly census was 13 patients. In a study of over 4,000 waivered providers from across the United States, Jones and McCance-Katz (2019) found among prescribers with a 30-patient limit, the mean monthly census was 10.8 patients with a median of six patients. Among prescribers with a 100-patient limit, the mean monthly census was 28.4 patients with a median of 25 patients. Finally, among prescribers with a 275-patient limit, the mean monthly census was 95.8 patients with a median of 90 patients.

X-waiver process. Over a decade after DATA 2000 was signed into law, only 2% of physicians in the country had obtained an x-waiver, and only 6% of this small number were internal medicine or family medicine physicians (Rosenblatt et al., 2015b). Over half of the country's counties had no physician with an x-waiver, with the majority of these being in rural areas, some of the hardest hit by the opioid crisis (Rosenblatt et al., 2015b). As such, there are now calls for state policy changes allowing pharmacists to prescribe buprenorphine (Crabtree et al., 2017).

The "x the x-waiver" campaign. There is a growing "x the x-waiver" movement to deregulate buprenorphine and allow providers to prescribe it like any other controlled substance. The Mainstreaming Addiction Treatment Act of 2019 (H.R. 2482) introduced in the U.S. House by Representative Paul Tonko (D-NY) in May 2019 would eliminate the need for an x-waiver to

prescribe buprenorphine, essentially deregulating the medication for the treatment of OUD (Tonko et al., 2019). As of April 2020, the bill has 109 co-sponsors, including 88 Democrats and Republicans (GovTrack, 2020a). A similar bill exists in the U.S. Senate introduced by U.S. Senator Margaret Hassan (D-NH). As of April 2020, it has four co-sponsors, including two Democrats and two republicans (GovTrack, 2020c).

Proponents argue that regulations are typically enacted to safeguard the general population, yet buprenorphine is safer than commonly prescribed opioids. The process of obtaining an x-waiver discourages new prescribers. Even when a prescriber is interested, it may be challenging for that prescriber to convince colleagues to also obtain the x-waiver. This may create dangerous gaps in care during periods of time when the prescriber is not available. The x-waiver process may reinforce stigma by creating a sense that buprenorphine treatment so unsafe or somehow risky that it requires such a specialized training. Deregulation may help integrate buprenorphine into the primary care setting (Fiscella et al., 2019; Fiscella & Wakeman, 2019; Woodruff et al., 2019). Buprenorphine has been found to be safe, effective, and with x-waiver elimination, potentially highly accessible (Berk, 2019).

The American Society of Addiction Medicine (Jarvis, 2019), American Medical Association (Madara, 2018), Society of General Internal Medicine (Bass, 2019), Society of Hospital Medicine (Frost, 2019), American Pharmacists association (Menighan, 2019), American College of Medical Toxicology and American College of Emergency Physicians (Marino et al., 2019), National Council for Behavioral Health (Ingoglia, 2019), and the PEW Charitable Trusts (Connolly, 2019) all support deregulating buprenorphine. Berk et al. (2019) argue that removing the x-waiver would increase utilization of buprenorphine treatment by hospital medicine providers. A letter signed by 39 state attorneys general calling for legislation to reverse the need for an x-waiver certification was sent to U.S. congressional leadership (Stein et al., 2019). The directors of 23 state health departments have also petitioned U.S. Health and Human Services to deregulate buprenorphine (Smith et al., 2019). While the directors noted legislative changes would be ideal, they also suggested a possible regulatory remedy. The "three-day emergency rule" which allows emergency medicine physicians to prescribe buprenorphine three days in a row without an x-waiver could be expanded to include all prescribers and the period of time increased to up to four weeks. This might provide an important bridge while patients find and enter long-term treatment.

Support for deregulating buprenorphine in the manner suggested by the pending federal legislation is not unanimous. Weimer, Tetrault, and Fiellin (2019) argue the x-waiver system is meant to supplement the often minimal and sometimes absent addiction medicine content within health professions curricula. As such, the regulation guarantees specific topics are taught in a standardized fashion across the nation. Expanding access without thought into mandated education or a plan for quality assurance may be detrimental. The authors propose numerous approaches to increasing access to buprenorphine within the current regulatory framework including modifying the topics of x-waiver training to be more practical and discipline-specific based on current evidence, compensating providers for their time to participate in the training, universally incorporating training regarding OUD treatment within all healthcare professions, limiting Drug Enforcement Agency oversight, creating mentorship programs, and expanding the number of addiction medicine fellowships (Weimer et al., 2019).

Davis and Carr (2019) described numerous other policy approaches to decreasing mortality related to OUD and increasing access to treatment. These include deregulating methadone, holdings jails and prisons accountable when MAT is not initiated or continued, expanding the number of drug courts which offer treatment rather than incarceration, increasing the number of addiction medicine residency positions paid for by the federal government, prohibiting skilled nursing facilities and recovery housing from refusing to administer MAT, and developing mechanisms for patients to secure housing and transportation (Andrilla, Moore, et al., 2019).

Roy and Stein (2019) call for making buprenorphine available without a prescription in emergency settings at all pharmacies across the United States. The authors wrote:

Historically, medications have been made available without a prescription when they are relatively safe and effective and the public can easily comprehend indications for their use. Buprenorphine meets these conditions. Confining treatment to the offices and business hours of the medical community limits the ability of patients to receive needed treatment. It is time to consider novel and potentially controversial solutions. (p. E1)

France as an example of buprenorphine deregulation. Fatseas and Auriacombe (2007) describe how buprenorphine became a successful treatment for OUD throughout France since being approved by the country's government in 1996. From the onset of this approval, buprenorphine could be prescribed by any physician including general practitioners, without any additional training. Prior to this, French patients with OUD were required to visit specialized centers, with only 15% to 30% of the 150,000 to 200,000 patients entering treatment. By 2003, 83,000 patients were being treated with buprenorphine, with 84% of treatment occurring in primary care. In part due to the introduction of widespread buprenorphine availability, opioid overdose deaths declined in France by 79% between 1995 and 1999 (Fatseas & Auriacombe, 2007).

The rapid growth of buprenorphine utilization in France for the treatment of OUD, and the positive patient-centered and healthcare system outcomes, is unseen elsewhere in the world. Of note, France offers universal health coverage (including addiction treatment) which the authors also believe contributed to the large adoption rate of buprenorphine in primary care. This approach of France to quickly expand access to treatment "raises questions about the value of tight regulations imposed by many countries throughout the world" (Auriacombe, Fatséas, Dubernet, Daulouède, & Tignol, 2004, p. S24). According to the European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (2019), France has led the European Union in providing access to pharmacologic treatment of OUD. In 2017, almost all French patients seeking access to such treatment were able to access it.

Health Professions Training

There is an overall lack of knowledge and education in the health professions related to substance use disorders (van Boekel et al., 2013). This absence of critical teaching may contribute to gaps in clinical care and stigma. Minimal training and limited exposure to addiction medicine is known to have resulted in a workforce gap (Thomas, 2019). Stigmatizing perceptions related to people with substance use and opioid use disorders are reinforced in medical education and increase during time spent in formal education, revealing the "hidden curriculum" of negative bias towards individuals with OUD (Ashford et al., 2018; Meltzer et al., 2013). Such "hidden curriculum" may even cause harm to trainees with a history of OUD (Lucey et al., 2019).

Resident physicians' stigmatization of patients with substance use disorder (SUD) has been demonstrated to increase during residency training. While specific training may improve overall attitudes towards opioid use disorder from baseline, residents continue to view OUD more harshly than other substance use disorders such as alcohol use disorder (Avery et al., 2019). For example, in a large Boston-based internal medicine residency program, more than one-third of residents received no formal education around addiction during medical school (Wakeman et al., 2013). Twenty-five percent of residents were not confident in their ability to diagnose a substance use disorder, and over 60% did not feel able to treat addiction. There was no difference in confidence across PGY years.

Fewer than 20% of internal medicine clerkships for medical students include content around medication-assisted treatment, and only 52% of clerkship directors find this content important (Ari et al., 2019). Among 476 internal medicine, family medicine, and psychiatry residency program directors surveyed in a national sample, 77% stated their trainees encountered patients with OUD on a frequent basis (Tesema et al., 2018). However, fewer than 25% reported spending more than 12 hours on curriculum related to addiction, only 36% provided infrastructure for clinical application of outpatient buprenorphine prescribing, and only one in four encouraged or required residents to obtain their x-waiver certification. The most common barrier identified to integrating OUD treatment into training was lack of local expertise and xwaivered faculty. As expected, residency programs with program directors supportive of medications for the treatment of OUD, or who had x-waivers themselves, were more likely to support clinical training for OUD treatment within their residency programs (Tesema et al., 2018).

Nursing students describe encounters of patients with OUD as distressing, awkward, overpowering, and uncomfortable (Lewis & Jarvis, 2019). Some identify lack of experience and education in screening patients for OUD and would avoid the topic altogether, relying on shift reports and medical documentation alone rather than direct interaction with the patient in relation

to opioid misuse. Others feel comfortable with screening but do not feel educated on how to move forward if it is felt a patient has OUD. A component of this discomfort is fear of appearing insulting or accusatory towards patients (Lewis & Jarvis, 2019).

Weiner (2018) notes the lack of formal education about SUDs within the health professions is rapidly changing. Over 85% of medical school curricula now incorporate education of OUD prevention and treatment and over 90% have held continuing education for faculty about how to best navigate the topic for students. Despite this, however, 97% of faculty have shared challenges in teaching or evaluating learning knowledge related to OUD.

The Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC, 2019) has several initiatives underway to improve teaching of OUD within undergraduate medical education. These initiatives include convening several national workshops and curricula development meetings, highlighting medical school curricula abundant in substance use disorder training, and administering grants for curricular redesign around OUD and stigma reduction. However, among dozens of advances featured by the AAMC, few describe strategies to increase awareness of treatment for OUD and x-waiver trainings (AAMC, 2019). The American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine [AACOM] is involved in similar efforts and also emphasize instruction in osteopathic manipulative medicine as an alternative to opioid medications for the treatment of chronic pain (American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine, 2019).

Ratycz, Papadimos, and Vanderbilt (2018) call for increasing access to simulation-based medical education around OUD. Case-based learning over two hours has been shown to increase resident comfort with treating opioid withdrawal (Simmons & Siegel, 2016). Brown University utilizes an interprofessional approach in a 4-hour dedicated timeframe including a patient panel, standardized patient lab, and case study incorporating students from medicine, nursing,

pharmacy, social work, and physical therapy (Monteiro et al., 2016). Among 514 interprofessional students who attended the patient panel featuring individuals in long-term recovery from OUD, 70% reported a more favorable attitude toward this patient population after hearing the patients' experiences (Dumenco et al., 2019). Brown University's medical students also engage in a multiple-year longitudinal curriculum that includes over 10 hours of lecture specifically about OUD and the management of chronic pain (McCance-Katz et al., 2017).

Starting in July 2019, all residency programs credentialed by the Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) are required to "provide instruction and experience in pain management if applicable for the specialty, including recognition of the signs of addiction" (ACGME, 2018, p. 23). Programs are expected to develop competencies to reduce incidence of addiction while appropriately treating pain, identifying addiction early, and learning how to navigate systems of care for addiction (Combes, 2019). With passage of the Substance Use Disorder Prevention that Promotes Opioid Recovery and Treatment (SUPPORT) Act of 2018, medical students who graduate from medical schools which include necessary educational components around buprenorphine prescribing may automatically receive their x-waiver without undergoing additional training (Shapiro et al., 2019).

The American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy has urged schools of pharmacy to increase education around appropriate opioid prescribing, empower pharmacists to engage in community outreach, and prepare pharmacy students to use life-saving interventions (Crabtree et al., 2017). The Council on Social Work Education (CSWE) has promoted the efforts of social work stakeholders in Massachusetts to develop a competency-based approach to training social work students about OUD (CSWE, 2018). Among these include the ability to assess a patient's risk for substance use disorder, coach patients about non-opioid treatments for chronic pain,

assist patients in navigating available support systems for long-term recovery, and recognize substance use disorder as a chronic disease along with appreciating how stigma creates barriers to care (Governor's Social Work Education Working Group on Substance Misuse, 2017).

Compton and Blacher (2019) provide a review of the opioid epidemic's impact on nursing curricula. The authors note:

The paucity of pain content in nursing curricula is accentuated by a lack of content on substance use disorders. The current state of addiction content in nursing curricula is inconsistent at best... Curricula on substance use-related content are less than optimum, and schools of nursing have been described as not keeping up with the increasing public health concerns related to substance use disorders. (p. 2)

The American Association of Colleges of Nursing has described a goal of all nursing programs to incorporate enhanced curricula to address the opioid epidemic (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2018). Curricula for registered nurses and advanced practice nurses regarding substance use disorders including OUD have been described (Finnell et al., 2019).

In 2018, the Physician Assistant Education Association (PAEA) launched an effort for its over 150 member programs designed to promote integration of the x-waiver training into PA program curricula (PAEA, 2018). Prior to launching the initiative, less than 3% of PA programs required the x-waiver training. After one year, 30% of programs require the x-waiver training for their students. An additional 30% were expected to implement the curriculum by May 2020 (Majewski, 2019). Physician Assistant programs are required to teach about the identification and treatment of substance use disorders (Accreditation Review Commission on Education for the Physician Assistant, 2018). With regard specifically to OUD, Lopes (2019) has stated "all PAs must become familiar with their diagnosis and management" (p.11).

Minimal Guidelines for Hospital-Based Treatment

Clinical and organizational practice guidelines have increased in prevalence over many decades as a way to improve quality, reduce costs, and preserve autonomy in medical decision-making (Weisz et al., 2007). The absence of extensive, meaningful, interprofessional and multidisciplinary guidelines on the hospital-based treatment of OUD is likely a barrier to widespread acceptance and adoption. Saitz (2019) writes:

Simply issuing an edict or guideline promulgating initiation of OUD treatment when it is identified in general hospital patients would seem to be akin to picking low hanging fruit. But it appears not to be the case... It is unacceptable to discharge a patient with insulin-requiring diabetes from an acute care hospital with no prescription for insulin and instead a referral to or phone number of a diabetes treatment program where the patient may be seen some weeks hence. It should be similarly unacceptable to discharge a patient with OUD from an acute care hospital without starting medication known to have efficacy for OUD (assuming the patient has not declined it), and with only a referral to an addiction treatment program (p. 84).

The Institute for Healthcare Improvement calls for the development of an "addiction consult service to engage patients during acute hospitalizations to provide screening for opioid use disorder, initiation of medications for opioid use disorder, brief behavioral interventions, counseling, and referrals to treatment" (Botticelli et al., 2019, p. 7) and also to "integrate addiction care into primary care and other care settings, where appropriate" (p. 8).

Bart et al. (2020) describe an evidence-based clinical decision support tool for OUD. While it is mainly designed for use in primary care, numerous components are applicable to the hospital setting. Elements are provided in Appendix 1. The process begins by utilizing the Tobacco, Alcohol, Prescription Medication, and Other Substance Use (TAPS) Tool for screening. In its validation study, McNeely et al. (2016) found the practitioner-administered tool screened positive for heroin use disorder with 78% sensitivity and 100% specificity and prescription opioid use disorder with 71% sensitivity and 99% specificity. A free online version called "myTAPS" is available at <u>http://www.drugabuse.gov/taps</u>. This online form was validated by Adam et al. (2019) who reported the tool was found easy to use by 98% of patients and completed within a median time of four minutes. A print version of the TAPS Tool is provided in Appendix 2.

If a TAPS screen is positive for opioid use disorder, the process described by Bart et al. (2020) continues with brief motivational counseling and determination of a patient's desire for change. The model provides separate pathways for patients who desire to cease opioid misuse, patients who would like no change in opioid use patterns, and patients ambivalent about change. The TAPS approach promotes shared decision-making and provides a clear context for evaluating, initiating, stabilizing, and maintaining buprenorphine therapy. It also calls for the ability to escalate care to an addiction medicine specialist when warranted. Finally, the model requires designating personnel to perform specific tasks including diagnosing OUD, assessing readiness for change, discussing treatment options, and ensuring follow-through with referrals when indicated, among others.

Other models provide financial incentive for hospitals to engage in treatment related work. For example, in 2018, Pennsylvania dedicated financial resources to hospitals that incorporated opioid stewardship into their operations (Kilaru et al., 2020). In the Opioid Hospital Quality Improvement Program, hospitals received an incentive payment from the state for implementing the following four areas: ED-initiation buprenorphine, handoff to community partners, referral of pregnant patients for treatment, and inpatient treatment initiation. Hospitals received \$193,000 for implementing all four components. Of 155 Pennsylvania hospitals evaluated in January 2019, 51% participated in all four pathways, 29% participated in fewer than four, and 20% did not participate in any (Kilaru et al., 2020).

Measurement. There is lack of consensus in the medical community about the best measure of success for prevention and treatment of OUD in the hospital setting or upon discharge. Much of the focus on existing measurement tools revolve around responsible prescribing practices. For example, the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) measures are used by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (National Committee for Quality Assurance, 2020b, 2020a). This system collects data on the number of patients prescribed high-dose opioids for greater than 15 days and patients who receive opioid prescriptions from multiple prescribers or fill them at multiple pharmacies. Few measurements evaluate OUD care across the continuum.

Houston Methodist Health System developed 19 metrics to evaluate their work on opioid stewardship (Rizk et al., 2019). These metrics are provided in Table 5. Williams et al. (2018) applied principles from other published substance use disorder metrics to develop a sevenmeasure "OUD Treatment Cascade." A summary of the cascade is shown in Figure 21. Samuels et al. (2019) created over one dozen measures specifically for the emergency department across three domains including primary prevention, harm reduction, and treatment. These are provided in Table 6. The Assessment of Recovery Capital has been validated to assess quality of life measures in substance use disorder as a whole and, thus, may have a role in predicting response to treatment (Groshkova et al., 2013; Sánchez et al., 2020). Unfortunately, there are no known tools to adequately measure quality of life over the course of treatment specifically for patients with OUD (Strada et al., 2017).

Post-acute settings. Ten-percent of patients hospitalized with OUD in 2012 were discharged to skilled nursing facilities or inpatient medical rehabilitation centers (Ronan & Herzig, 2016). Many of these facilities restrict or entirely prohibit access to buprenorphine or methadone (Bond, 2018; Pytell et al., 2019; Spencer, 2019). In these settings, patients with OUD may be protected under the Americans with Disabilities Act because "addiction may be considered a substantially limiting impairment" (United States Commission on Civil Rights, 2019).

Such restrictions prompted the Massachusetts Department of Health to publish guidelines for methadone and buprenorphine administration at long-term care facilities, stating such treatment "shall be continued" (Sheehan, 2016). Buprenorphine can be continued in the postacute setting just as any other home medication so long as a valid prescription from an x-waived providers exists from the patient's primary prescriber, the post-acute facility's medical director, or from the hospital as a bridge prescription (Pytell et al., 2019; Wakeman & Rich, 2017).

Inpatient addiction treatment. Inpatient addiction treatment centers may require patients to discontinue MAT prior to entering treatment (Cherkis, 2015; Seville et al., 2017). Huhn et al. (2020) evaluated over 230,000 admissions to residential treatment facilities nationally. The authors found MAT was used in 18% of admissions within states that expanded Medicaid and in only 2% of admissions in states that did not.

102

Sharfstein & Meisel (2019) describe this practice as an "unfortunate reality" of the opioid crisis and one which increases mortality and provides low-value care. The authors outline several potential remedies. Journalists and government websites have been raising awareness of the dangers of such facilities, but patients are unlikely to find these resources in moments of crisis. Accreditation agencies of rehabilitation facilities do not currently have protocols around MAT, however the American Society of Addiction Medicine will soon begin requiring residential treatment centers to offer MAT to receive voluntary certification. State and local governments could also revoke licenses of residential treatment centers that do not offer MAT. Such entities could also enact regulations promoting or requiring the use of MAT within residential treatment centers or to partner with treatment programs that can offer these medications. This has been the case in California and Massachusetts (California Department of Health Care Services, 2019; Massachusetts Department of Public Health, 2016).

Payers

The lack of reimbursement infrastructure for patients with substance use disorders has been recognized by the Alliance for Recovery-Centered Addiction Health Services (2018) who state:

Today's recovery services are delivered through a system often lacking alignment or integrated economic structures that incentivize long-term recovery... the human and economic cost for this fragmentation and inefficiency is unsustainable. A vacuum exists for both health systems and patients as to what is the 'gold standard' for an integrated, comprehensive medical and community response for addiction (p. 5).

The report provides a framework for the development of an addiction recovery medical home in the spirit of patient centered medical homes that have been promoted under the Affordable Care Act. A summary of this model is presented later in this paper.

Medicaid, Medicaid expansion and regulations. Medicaid participation is a predictor for patients not engaging in long-term buprenorphine care (Shcherbakova et al., 2018). Researchers attribute this to psychosocial circumstances that often accompany the lives of patients enrolled in Medicaid, rather than a direct association on buprenorphine therapy itself (Shcherbakova et al., 2018). Importantly, 25% of all patients in the United States with OUD are members of their respective state's Medicaid program (Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission, 2017).

States which expanded Medicaid had 10% fewer deaths related to opioid overdoses by the end of 2017 compared to states which did not expand Medicaid (Kravitz-Wirtz et al., 2020). Knudsen and Studts (2019) interviewed a nationally representative sample of 1,174 buprenorphine prescribers. Of these, only 52% accepted Medicaid, compared to 72% who accepted commercial insurance. Surprisingly, no association was found between these qualitative results and individual state implementation of Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act.

This is in contrast to the findings of Sharp et al. (2018), who found buprenorphine prescribing increased in all states from 2011 to 2016, but significantly more rapidly in states that expanded Medicaid. Interestingly, methadone prescribing declined in the same period, but declined more rapidly in states that expanded Medicaid. This suggests support of buprenorphine over methadone when improved reimbursement models are constructed. Among states that expanded Medicaid, Wen, Hockenberry, and Druss (2017) found a 70% increase in Medicaid-

covered buprenorphine prescriptions and a 50% increase in expenditures on buprenorphine from 2011 to 2014. This is summarized in Figure 22.

In 2017, the state of Virginia, which did not expand Medicaid, launched the Addiction and Recovery Treatment Services program to increase access to treatment for OUD. The program set the reimbursement rate for OUD treatment to that provided by commercial plans in the state. In the first 12 months, an additional 63% of total Medicaid members sought such treatment (Cunningham et al., 2018). Among pregnant Medicaid members with OUD, 18% sought treatment within the first year compared to 2% the year prior. There was also a 20% increase in the number of Medicaid patients receiving buprenorphine and a 25% reduction in emergency department visits for Medicaid patients with OUD (Cunningham et al., 2018; Lopez, 2018).

Prior authorizations. The prior authorization (prior auth) process is a barrier for the treatment of OUD. Historically, formulary restrictions including the prior auth process have been used to control spending and safeguard against inappropriate use of prescription medications. However, these restrictions are often associated with decreased medication adherence, poor clinical and patient-centered outcomes, and increased total healthcare costs (Park et al., 2017).

As of July 2019, nearly all Medicaid plans provide coverage for buprenorphine, however 80% of states require a prior auth before buprenorphine can be prescribed for the treatment of OUD (Weber & Gupta, 2019). Andrews et al. (2019) examined prior auth regulations for buprenorphine across all 50 states in relation to the availability of buprenorphine in addiction treatment programs that accepted Medicaid. In states where no prior auth was required, 42% of treatment programs offered buprenorphine. In states where annual limits were imposed on the total number of doses dispensed, but no prior auth existed, 26% of treatment programs offered

buprenorphine. In states that required a prior auth and had mandatory annual limitations, 13% of programs offered buprenorphine (Andrews et al., 2019).

Medicaid and commercial insurers may make advances based on policy put forth by Medicare. In 2017, 96% of Medicare Part D plans required a prior auth before a prescription for buprenorphine could be filled (Hartung et al., 2019). In April 2018, CMS announced it would no longer support insurance plans which require a prior auth for buprenorphine more than once annually under Medicare Part D (Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2018). Subsequently, by 2019, a prior auth was required in less than 1% of Medicare part D plans (Mark et al., 2019).

Mandatory counseling. Many Medicaid programs require patients to participate in psychosocial counseling as part of a buprenorphine maintenance program, despite evidence from a Cochrane review that such psychosocial support may not further improve outcomes including treatment retention and abstinence from opioids during the treatment period (Amato et al., 2011; Miller, 2018). Among over 650 patients randomized to buprenorphine therapy with or without counseling, there was no difference in outcomes among patients who received counseling as reflected by self-reported or urine-tested abstinence (Weiss, 2011). Among over 140 patients engaged in a primary care buprenorphine program and randomized to a 24-week course of physician-led medication management versus medication management with cognitive behavioral counseling, no difference was found in the rate of illicit opioid consumption based on data collected by self-report or urine toxicology (Fiellin et al., 2013). There was no difference in opioid negative drug screens or treatment retention among almost 50 patients with OUD and HIV randomized between 15-minute buprenorphine visits with a physician and 45-minute buprenorphine visits with a physician plus ongoing medication adherence counseling with a

nurse (Tetrault et al., 2012). In a study of over 200 patients randomized to buprenorphine medication management only or buprenorphine with different types of counseling for 16 weeks, and then followed for 52 weeks, counseling at the beginning of treatment did not result in decreased opioid use or improved retention the end of the year (Ling et al., 2013). The role of counseling throughout the buprenorphine care continuum requires further study as it is possible counseling has greater benefit once stability is achieved as part of program rooted in pharmacotherapy. Most comparative effectiveness studies appear to focus on the role of counseling early in treatment and not longitudinally.

Potential reimbursement model. The Addiction Recovery Medical Home (ARMH) proposed by the Alliance for Recovery-Centered Addiction Health Services [ARAHS] (2018) is an alternative payment model for the treatment of SUDs, including OUD. The model has been endorsed by numerous national organizations and includes five overarching elements: payment reform, enhancement of quality metrics, development of integrated care networks, coordination care within interprofessional teams, and long-term recovery plans. The model also defines three distinct phases of recovery: pre-recovery and stabilization, recovery initiation and active treatment, and community-based recovery management. Unlike many alternative payment models, the ARMH calls for retaining a fee-for-service components, but only for acute, prerecovery care. Most maintenance care under ARMH would be delivered in a capitated, episodic payment model that are connected to population-based severity indexes. Reimbursement would be increased based complexity of the SUD and co-occurring mental health disorders. To encourage participation a "stop-loss" measure would be included for providers to protect against perceived financial loss from higher-risk patients. There is a quality achievement payment for providers who achieve a specific percentage of the quality metrics (proposed as 75% in the
document.) Moreover, providers are eligible to receive a percentage of overall savings achieved throughout the continuum of care (ARAHS, 2018).

The model requires the development of integrated treatment networks which includes behavioral health and primary care interventions in the acute and outpatient settings as well as telemedicine. It also calls on hospitals to intentionally and actively seek patient enrollment during acute hospitalization. To accomplish the work of systematically treating SUDs, ARHM seeks an interprofessional approach to case which includes a peer recovery coach, care coordinator, primary care provider, and behavioral health specialist. Connecticut, Kentucky, North Carolina, Tennessee, Washington D.C., and Texas are currently implementing demonstration pilots of this innovative model (Valentino, 2019).

Outpatient Buprenorphine Capacity-Building

Developing widespread capacity for buprenorphine and OUD care in the community has been challenging, but much can be learned from systemwide implementations. For example, Croff et al. (2019) describe the process used to roll-out buprenorphine therapy to nine treatment centers in Oregon that previously did not incorporate pharmacotherapy into care plans. The authors conducted a qualitative analysis of 39 system leaders at the beginning and end of the sixmonth implementation process. The first step was moving towards a stakeholder consensus for all nine sites to offer buprenorphine therapy. Centers with strong and supportive medical leadership and prescribers with previous exposure to using pharmacotherapy in treating behavioral illness were noted to have an easier time with implementation. Apprehensive sites had medical leadership who felt buprenorphine was "the new methadone" (p. 334) and that patients with OUD may be disruptive to the rest of the practice. One center described an issue with incrementalism where half of the staff were engaged and the other half did not want to participate. However, after six months, the culture had shifted and the site leader noted that "staff has definitely accepted buprenorphine as part of the culture here. It's part of who we are and what we are" (p. 334). Although most site leaders were not concerned about service reimbursement, several were concerned about the cost of buprenorphine for the patient. One leader felt that 'if the insurance doesn't pay, 95% of the people or more are not interested in obtaining medicated assisted treatment" (p. 334). In response to these concerns, team leaders were formally trained on the "business case" of offering buprenorphine and responding to concerns from their colleagues.

When centers decided as a group to implement a buprenorphine program, they agreed to use the Plan-Do-Study-Act model of quality improvement. Some centers initially elected to have another site start the medication with local team members maintaining the medication afterwards. Some centers actively sought to build partnerships with local pharmaceutical representatives who could provide medication training to staff and also assist with building a network of additional sites across the state. Teams frequently reviewed metrics of importance, such as induction success rates, which they promoted internally to continue their push for positive change (Croff et al., 2019).

When the initial barriers were overcome and the initial implementation was deemed successful, the final categorical step identified by Croff et al. (2019) was normalizing buprenorphine therapy for the remainder of the system, a process the authors referred to as "routinizing". The risk of returning to a treatment environment void of buprenorphine appeared secondary to conflicting philosophies (albeit less so over time), staff attrition, patient variables such as adherence with medication protocols, an external factors including payer or regulatory factors. The centers worked together to keep each other on track, met regularly to discuss common pain points, and were empowered by executive leadership to adapt to needs as they developed. Clinical teams also became accountable for offering treatment as part of routine care. A site leader reported that "with accountability comes sustainability. The staff loves it. The patient feedback is phenomenal" (p. 336).

Diversion Concern

Diversion is a concern among providers eligible to prescribe buprenorphine for the treatment of OUD. However, the extent and root of this concern varies between prescribers with an x-waiver and those without. Kermack et al. (2017) describe that among over 70 New York buprenorphine prescribers, 91% felt that diversion was primarily a result of inadequate access to buprenorphine practices for patients experiencing OUD and opioid withdrawal. One-fifth of prescribers felt diverted buprenorphine worsens the epidemic or can be used to achieve euphoria in relatively opioid naïve patients. Conversely, among 74 physicians without an x-waiver surveyed in 2016, diversion was second only to concern about being overwhelmed with requests for buprenorphine therapy (Huhn & Dunn, 2017). In the same study, among 272 physicians with a waiver, only 10% expressed concern about diversion.

Diverted buprenorphine may reflect an environment with inadequate access to legitimate care. Among a national sample of 175 patients who used diverted buprenorphine, 79% reported use related to withdrawal prevention and 67% reported the desire to maintain abstinence (Cicero, Ellis, & Chilcoat, 2018). One-third of patients reported issues gaining access to a buprenorphine clinic while 81% of patients preferred to access buprenorphine through a legitimate source. Among 128 individuals from Rhode Island who used illicit opioids in 2016, 38% reported using diverted buprenorphine at least once (Carroll et al., 2018). Among these patients, 41% reported using the diverted medication to avoid withdrawal symptoms and 39% reported using to self-

treat OUD. Twelve-percent of patients reported attempting to achieve euphoria from the diverted medication. In an earlier study of 51 Rhode Island patients who used diverted buprenorphine, 74% used the medication to treat withdrawal and 66% used it to treat OUD (Bazazi et al., 2011). Among 602 individuals with histories of intravenous drug use in Baltimore, 72% reported using diverted buprenorphine to palliate withdrawal symptoms and half of these individuals used diverted buprenorphine for this purpose specifically while waiting to enter treatment (Genberg et al., 2015). Some patients are able to continue illicit buprenorphine therapy until they can enter a treatment program, although many describe symptoms of precipitated withdrawal from buprenorphine taken without appropriate medical instruction or supervision (Tofighi et al., 2019).

Barriers Specific to the Emergency Department

In emergency departments, clinical staff often need to complete the x-waiver training on their own time. This is a leading reason that some choose not to pursue the x-waiver (Lowenstein et al., 2019). D'Onofrio et al. (2018) outline several barriers to facilitating treatment of OUD in the emergency department setting including addiction being seen as a moral failing, perceived increased length of ED stay, concern for repeated ED admissions, and worry that patients will "flock" to the department seeking treatment. A summary of concerns regarding ED-based buprenorphine treatment and potential responses and solutions to such concerns are provided in Table 7. There is no evidence that these perceived barriers are a reality (NIDA, 2018). The Surgeon General and Director of the CDC have commented

Given the increasing number of Americans who need access to lifesaving addiction treatment, we believe all emergency medicine training programs should ensure their graduating residents are trained and equipped to treat patients with opioid use disorder. This includes identification of candidates and initiation of medications for opioid use disorder treatment. (Houry & Adams, 2019, p. 2).

In a mixed-methods single-center study at an academic hospital in Boston with a buprenorphine program, responses varied regarding appropriateness of ED-initiated buprenorphine. Of the 93 ED providers who participated, greater than half agreed buprenorphine should be administered as part of standard ED practice. Providers with greater than five years of experience were more likely to feel that buprenorphine was replacing one addiction with another. While most providers endorsed an overall standard of care limited to referral at the time of the study, many felt this was an ineffective approach with minimally positive outcomes. The majority felt that an ED-based buprenorphine program might be possible with adequate institutional backing, training, support staff, and assurance of follow-up clinic capacity after discharge (Im et al., 2018).

In a survey of 84 ED attending physicians and residents in two academic centers, 29% of respondents felt they could adequately connect patients with outpatient addiction-related care and 27% felt comfortable initiating or prescribing buprenorphine therapy (Lowenstein et al., 2019). Although fewer than one in five of the respondents had completed the x-waiver training, less than 60% of this group felt comfortable initiating buprenorphine and there was no difference in the comfort level for discharge planning in the x-waivered group compared to the non-waivered group. Some providers felt patients would not elect to start treatment or have social limitations. Others expressed concern about absence of easy-to-access electronic health record ordersets (Lowenstein et al., 2019).

Attitudes towards substance use disorder as whole by emergency department physicians may influence the work on a buprenorphine program. In a single-center survey of 50 emergency department physicians conducted by Mendiola, Galetto, and Fingerhood (2018), addressing substance use disorders had the lowest satisfaction score of all chronic medical illnesses assessed (such as diabetes and COPD). Less than 10% of the surveyed physicians found satisfaction in treating pain for patients with a substance use disorder, with over half responding affirmatively that "patients like this irritate me" (p. 133).

Barriers Specific to Pregnancy Women's Health

Saunders, Jarlenski, Levy, & Kozhimannil (2018) describe numerous barriers for women of reproductive age to receive access to opioid treatment in addition to stigma. Females of reproductive age with substance use disorders may see a psychiatrist for their behavioral health needs and therefore may not have contraception counseling or early pre-natal screening performed appropriately. Several states require mandatory reporting when a pregnant patient is suspected of having an opioid use disorder. This may result in newborns being removed from their mother. New moms often struggle to balance employment needs and childcare responsibilities with the time needed for treatment. Many of these programs do not allow children to be present (Saunders et al., 2018).

Increased access to buprenorphine prescribers who specifically treat pregnant patients is critical. For example, Louis et al. (2020) found that family medicine trained physicians who also care for pregnant patients, as part of their practice may treat ten times more pregnant patients with buprenorphine for OUD compared to obstetricians. This is likely attributed to residency training on the part of family medicine programs. Unfortunately, few family medicine residency programs appear to promote or offer the x-waiver curriculum. Of the over 600 residency programs who participated in the research, fifteen of the programs trained 25% of the family medicine physicians treating pregnant patients with buprenorphine for OUD (Louis et al., 2020).

There are significant barriers to opioid treatment even in some of the country's most disproportionately affected areas, such as Appalachia (Patrick et al., 2018). It can often be weeks until the first appointment for pregnant patients in this region. Outpatient buprenorphine prescribers are also less likely to treat pregnant patients, perhaps secondary to fear of lawsuits or lack of experience or training. Many of these providers also do not accept Medicaid, which is a primary form of insurance for pregnant patients with low incomes (Patrick et al., 2018). Fear of losing Medicaid coverage shortly after delivery is one reason patients prematurely discontinue buprenorphine therapy in the post-partum period (Ostrach & Leiner, 2019).

Barriers Specific to Jails and Prisons

Brezel, Powell, & Fox (2019) describe several factors limiting MAT from being provided in jails including stigma, perceived ineffectiveness of medications compared to non-agonist therapy, security and safety concerns, and the possibility of incarcerated patients lacking the ability to provide informed consent in part because of the sometimes strongarm nature of jail environments. The authors argue that providing MAT in jails is the ethically and morally appropriate practice especially taking into account beneficence, non-maleficence, patient autonomy, and positive impacts on public health.

In a survey of probation leaders across Illinois, Reichert & Gleicher (2019) found that 64% of the states' departments felt they had at least moderate barriers to providing buprenorphine. Most of these barriers involved inadequate medical and institutional knowledge, cost, and internal regulations prohibiting the use of pharmacotherapy to treat addiction. Over 75% of the leaders surveyed stated their department had received no or little formal training about buprenorphine or its role in the treatment of OUD. While over 70% of leaders endorsed willingness to setup a system for referring patients for buprenorphine, less than 40% could identify resources in their communities (Reichert & Gleicher, 2019).

Peer Recovery and Coaching

Peer recovery, coaching, and support "is the process of giving and receiving encouragement and assistance to achieve long-term recovery. Peers offer emotional support, share knowledge, teach skills, provide practical assistance, and connect people with resources, opportunities, communities of support, and other people" (SAMHSA, 2012, p. 6). Peer coaching reduces the rate and length of hospitalizations and ED visits, increases treatment retention, develops relationships with clinical staff, improves societal functioning and self-efficacy, reduces costs, decreases recurrence of OUD, reduces risk behavior associated with HIV and hepatitis C transmission, and improves the chances for long-term recovery (Reif et al., 2014; Tracy & Wallace, 2016; SAMHSA, 2012).

Generally, the implementation of peer recovery services requires organizational values, policies, practices, knowledge, attitudes, and supervisory infrastructure that support such a program (Gagne et al., 2018). These organizational characteristics are summarized in Table 8. Jack et al. (2018) describe expectations and boundary-setting among clinicians and coaches. These are provided in Table 9. Coaches strive to abide by professional core competencies. These include an orientation towards recovery, person-centered care, voluntary participation, relationship-focused interactions, and trauma-informed relationships (SAMHSA, 2015). Several organizations offer certifications based on these competencies (Connecticut Center For Recovery Training, 2019; International Association of Professional Recovery Coaches, 2019; International Certification and Reciprocity Consortium, 2019; National Association of Alcoholism Counselors and Trainers, 2019). Most states also have training programs and pathways to become certified and licensed to provide peer coaching services (Kaufman et al., 2014).

For example, over a two-month period in 2017, peer recovery coaches visited neighborhoods in Chicago considered to be "hot spots" for heroin use (Scott et al., 2018). The coaches worked with 70 individuals using heroin who were not engaged in treatment. Ninety-six percent of patients entered a methadone program by referral of the coach with 69% and 70% still engaged in treatment at 30-days and 60-days, respectively.

Inpatient medicine. The role of peer coaches in the hospital setting to support patients with OUD is relatively new and evolving (Englander, et al., 2019). Patients who receive direct counseling from a peer coach during hospitalization are less likely to leave against medical advice and more likely to enter treatment and maintain abstinence after discharge (Blondell et al., 2008). Among over 80 patients connected to Greenville Health System's Faces and Voices of Recovery (FAVOR) program after an unintentional overdose, 79% continued to follow with coaches after discharge (Carey et al., 2018).

Collins et al. (2019) performed a qualitative study of clinical providers, peer mentors, and patients in an inpatient hospital setting at Oregon Health and Science University. Patients described being able to access peers in the hospital setting as meaningful and the peers themselves as honest and relatable. Coaches were able to legitimize and vouch for the hospital's addiction medicine consultation service. Coaches were described as being uniquely able to translate the care plan for patients using words, frankness, and clarity specific to patients with longstanding substance use disorders. Peers were noted to be skilled at de-escalating crises and were believed to reduce discharges against medical advice. Coaches were described as being "cultural brokers" between the lives patients with substance use disorders have in the community and life within the walls of hospitals, that latter which may be perceived as chaotic, stigmatizing, and non-welcoming (Collins et al., 2019). A summary of peer coach effects on hospitalization for patients with substance use disorder can be found in Figure 23.

Emergency medicine. McGuire et al. (2020) collected qualitative data from 22 different ED-based peer recovery coaching programs in Indiana, Nevada, and New Jersey. Peers were typically located in the hospital during regular hours (although most often not housed directly in the ED) or were available through referral to an outside agency. There was one example of a telehealth program in Indiana. Administratively, none of the peers in any of the programs reported through ED management. Rather, peers were overseen within another hospital department or an outside agency. Most programs did not provide peers access to the electronic health record. Peers were notified of patients who may benefit by a designated person in the ED who could be a clinician, charge nurse, social worker or unit clerk. In one health system, an EHR improvement was being developed to request a peer referral through a pop-up reminder. Most programs required such a referral before a peer could see a patient at the bedside. All programs facilitated entry into MAT through an ED-initiated protocol or referral to outside agency, and all programs provided at least short-term follow-up after ED discharge to reduce barriers to MAT with many being empowered to solve transportation issues through organization-owned vehicles or public transportation vouchers (McGuire et al., 2020).

The New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene launched an ED-based peer recovery program in June 2017 (Welch et al., 2019). The program has multiple aims including naloxone distribution, reduction of social isolation, and referral to MAT. At the time of publication, the Relay program was live in six emergency rooms with plans to expand to 15 by 2020. Peer coaches engage patients with OUD in the ED and for 90-days post discharge on a 2448-hour, 30-day, 60-day, and 90-day basis. The coaches target patients who have experienced an overdose. Between June 2017 and December 2018, over 875 patients were enrolled in the program. Forty-seven percent of patients were reached within 24 to 48 hours after discharge,
36% at 30 days, 36% at 60 days, and 33% at 90 days. Sixty percent of patients received naloxone kits for the first time from the coaches and over 25% of patients were referred for substance use disorder treatment (Welch et al., 2019).

In a randomized control trial of over 1,150 patients with drug use disorders in Boston, patients who encountered a peer coach during a routine medical visit at a hospital-based outpatient clinic were more likely to abstain from heroin and cocaine at three and six months (Bernstein et al., 2005). In another randomized control trial evaluating the impact of peer coaching on syringe-sharing and transmission of hepatitis C (HVC) among over 400 people in New York City, Seattle, and Baltimore, a 26% reduction in distributive risk was found which was thought to reduce HCV transmission by 5% to 10% (Latka et al., 2008). Patients engaged in a community peer coaching program for five hours per week were less likely to be hospitalized over a three-year period than those without a coach. When hospitalization occurred among this cohort, fewer patients were re-hospitalized, and those who were spent greater time in the community without the need for acute interventions compared to those without a peer mentor (Min et al., 2007).

In Rhode Island, the AnchorED program was implemented to provide on-call certified peer recovery support to all of the state's ten Eds (Waye et al., 2019). Certification requires an individual be in long-term recovery for two or more years, have 500 hours of work experience, complete a 75-question multiple choice exam, and receive almost 50 hours of training. AnchordED coaches provide peer support, naloxone education and distribution (after a prescription is written by an ED prescriber), and facilitate transition to the Anchor Recovery Community Center or similar peer recovery programs in the state. Among almost 1,400 patients seen by the program in the ED from July 2016 to June 2017, more than 85% agreed to postdischarge follow-up with a peer recovery specialist and half agreed to referral to a communitybased intervention including MAT (Waye et al., 2019).

Peers and pregnancy. Fallin-Bennett et al. (2020) conducted focus groups of postpartum patients in a buprenorphine clinic with access to peer recovery coaches. Participants felt the presence of coaches facilitated their journey to recovery and increased their chance of success. Patients felt coaches should be authentic and supportive and desired coaches to hold them accountable for their actions. All patients valued peer coaches sharing their experience with substance use disorders. However, responses varied on the importance of such experiences being with the same substance or severity of the patients. The presence of peers was important in building trust with the medical community, and participants described this as being of particular benefit immediately after delivery while still in the hospital (Fallin-Bennett et al., 2020).

Barriers to peer recovery. There may be barriers to implementing peers in the hospital setting. Where hospital clinical staff may be apprehensive of or have strong feelings about substance use disorder, peers are empowered by their lived experience and engage in dialogue with patients based on this experience (Englander et al., 2019). Where hospital staff attempt not to share personal information, much of a peer's involvement is sharing such experience. Hospital staff may find a peer's acceptance of patient choices uncomfortable (Englander et al., 2019).

In a qualitative study of peer coaches in a primary care setting, Jack et al. (2018) found coaches felt their role was not clear at times. For example, patients would call coaches at night or on weekends and ask for help outside the coaches' scope. At other times coaches were asked to see patients with active suicidality or having a psychotic crisis, which were also outside the coaches' scope. Coaches felt like they were sometimes viewed as holding a "magic sobriety wand" (p. 311). Coaches also felt clinical staff were in conflict with evidence-based practice dictating a specific approach to patient care while ignoring the lived experience of the coach. While initially asked to dress in business casual attire, coaches moved towards dressing in jeans in an effort to be more relatable to patients (Jack et al., 2018). Given the necessity for peers to self-identify as being in long-term recovery, they may in turn perceive stigma from clinical staff similar to that of patients with substance use disorders. One concern is "the use and misuse of recovery language when identifying a peer as a person in recovery can pose a challenge, especially if staff members focus more on the person's recovery and less on his/her collegial role" (SAMHSA, 2012, p. 12).

Harm Reduction

The Harm Reduction Coalition (2019) defines harm reduction as "a set of practical strategies and ideas aimed at reducing negative consequences associated with drug use" (para. 1). Principles of harm reduction include:

Understanding for better and or worse that licit and illicit drug use is part of our world and chooses to work to minimize its harmful effects rather than simply ignore or condemn them... acknowledging that some ways of using drugs are clearly safer than others... [and] establishing that quality of individual and community life and well-being– not necessarily cessation of all drug use–as the criteria for successful interventions and policies (para. 3).

By definition, harm reduction refers to efforts to reduce the risk of harm among people who continue to use substances; abstinence is not a goal of harm reduction (Lenton & Single, 1998). Kiluk et al. (2019) noted that much of the research related to the treatment of OUD rely on mortality as a primary end-point, or frequency of use as surrogate for the same. The authors argue this is different from studies on alcohol use disorders, many of which include nonabstinence-based end-points focused on quality of life. The authors called for increased research and interventions focusing on societal functioning. Ray et al. (2019) advocate for measures and approaches that sufficiently share if patients "get their life back" (p. 114) as is done in research, policy, and clinical approaches related to mood and anxiety disorders.

Sharma et al. (2017) described potential harm reduction efforts specifically in the hospital setting. Decreasing stigma is a foundational approach to reducing harm in the acute care setting. Strategies include promoting appropriate patient-centered language and involving individuals with lived experience in care delivery and as part of administrative committees. Providing clean syringes at discharge for patients at risk of continued intravenous drug use likely reduces harm yet is controversial and violates laws and regulations in many parts of the United States. Hospitals should develop a standard of care for how to approach a discharge against medical advice to avoid practice variability and poor follow-up. Similar policy development should occur for optimal use and discontinuation of peripherally inserted central venous catheter (PICC) lines. The use of treatment contracts should be closely considered as there is a lack of evidence to support their use and they can "detract from building trust in a clinical relationship when experienced as paternalistic and legalistic and may contribute to stigmatization" (p. 3). Supervised injection sites and areas for observed cigarette smoking is also suggested (Sharma et al., 2017).

Burris et al. (2020) reported the first supervised injection site in the United States was planned to open in Philadelphia. Backed by the city's mayor, the Safehouse program would provide a space where individuals with OUD could consume substances in the presence of trained staff capable of reversing possible overdoses. However, the U.S. Attorney filed suit stating that such programs violate the Controlled Substance Act (CSA) which states it is illegal to manage or control a space for unlawfully using a controlled substance. In October 2019, a federal district judge found in favor of the city and stated the program was not in violation of the CSA. This decision is currently under appeal (Burris et al., 2020). While further litigation is likely, this case is an important step towards adopting an evidence-based practice which exists in numerous other countries (Potier et al., 2014).

Naloxone. One particular harm reduction approach that has far-reaching effects in hospitals and the outpatient setting is the distribution and accessibility of naloxone. Naloxone (Narcan®) is a mu receptor antagonist (NIDA, 2017). The medication binds to the opioid receptor quickly displaces existing opioids while preventing new opioid molecules from binding to the site. Naloxone immediately reverses the effects of opioids and is the primary antidote for an opioid overdose (NIDA, 2017). Naloxone distribution programs lead to decreased mortality. Over 104,000 naloxone doses were administered by EMS nationwide in 2016, compared to 36,933 administrations in 2012 (Cash et al., 2018). In a 30-month period starting in July 2013, EMS administered naloxone to 12,192 patients. Eighty-four percent of patients were alive after one year (Weiner et al., 2017). Moreover, non-medical bystanders provided appropriate training are likely to administer the medication in the event of a witnessed overdose (Clark et al., 2014). Prescribing naloxone for appropriate patients is recommended by the World Health Organization (2014), the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (2019), and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2018b).

Barriers. Despite the proven efficacy of naloxone to reduce mortality from opioid overdoses, it is rarely prescribed and dispensed. Lin et al. (2019) evaluated naloxone-related claims in a large U.S. insurance database from 2013 to 2017. The authors found that less than 2% of patients with an overdose related to opioids were provided naloxone. Of over 44,000 patients with OUD, less than 2% were provided naloxone. Of note, this reflects naloxone dispensed at the pharmacy. It's likely the number of prescriptions is higher compared to the number of patients who pick up the medication from the pharmacy. In one ED-based program, 26% of patients who were given a prescription for naloxone had the prescription filled at the pharmacy and only 18% of patients picked up the prescription once filled (Verdier et al., 2019).

Nonetheless, access to naloxone in this high-risk population is minimal. For example, among over 370 patients using intravenous drugs, less than half received naloxone over a six month period (Allen et al., 2019). In a survey of 84 ED prescribers across two academic settings, less than 40% reported they had prescribed naloxone for patients discharging from the ED in the previous three months (Lowenstein et al., 2019). The CDC (2019a) estimates that 9 million more prescriptions for naloxone could have been written in 2018 for patient at high risk for an opioid overdose. While the total number of naloxone prescriptions doubled from 2017 to 2018, there is still only one naloxone prescription written for every 70 high-risk opioid prescriptions, not including patients using non-prescription opioids.

Inpatient medicine. Ninety-percent of internal medicine residents in a Baltimore-based program expressed a willingness to prescribe naloxone (Wilson et al., 2016). However, only 15% of residents did so despite a perception among 79% of residents that they cared for patients who would have benefited. In an urban academic hospital in New York City, a pilot consultation service was established specifically for naloxone distribution (Wilson et al., 2016). Between

April 2016 and January 2018, 142 patients were engaged in naloxone education based on criteria including OUD, high doses of prescription opioids, opioid use concurrent with benzodiazepines or alcohol, hospitalization for opioid overdose, home medications that include methadone or buprenorphine, recent incarceration, or patient request (Castillo et al., 2018). Sixty-seven percent of those patients were provided education and naloxone kits prior to discharge. However, 20% of patients declined to participate, although of those, 11 already had a naloxone kit.

Among over 70 multidisciplinary stakeholders in an academic health system in California, the most widely cited barriers to prescribing naloxone included time constraints (33%), lack of patient desire (26%), unaffordability (24%), and lack of prescriber familiarity (24%.) However, one in five respondents felt there were no barriers. Over 65% of prescribers reported no formal training in naloxone indication or benefit. The presence of a system-wide guideline facilitated naloxone prescribing, but only 36% of respondents knew the guideline existed (Martino et al., 2020).

Emergency Medicine. An Australian qualitative study of emergency physicians and pharmacists evaluated perspectives of providing take-home naloxone. While 75% of participants felt naloxone was life-saving, the cohort identified several barriers (Holland et al., 2019). Some providers felt naloxone increases risky behavior by encouraging "irresponsible" behavior. Others felt the practice might be wasteful as there was a perception patient who experienced naloxoneinduced withdrawal would never want to experience it again and would therefore not administer the naloxone. Identifying which patients would benefit from the treatment was also challenging in addition to finding time to provide appropriate counseling and instruction (Holland et al., 2019). A systematic review of over 2,200 naloxone-related articles by Gunn et al. (2018) found only five papers that described outcomes from ED-based naloxone distribution programs. The authors report that patients are willing to accept take-home naloxone but adoption by prescribers in the ED has been low. Several implementation considerations are suggested. Staff need to be identified for counseling and patient education. These may include social workers, counselors, trainees, advanced practice providers, physicians, pharmacists, or nurses, among others. Further integration within the electronic health record including order sets and notifications for patients at high-risk of an overdose would be helpful (Gunn et al., 2018). Among over 400 patients who received take-home naloxone in a Boston ED, 16% reported using naloxone to reverse an opioid overdose after discharge. Importantly, the response rate in the retrospective study was only 12% and the authors estimated the number of times naloxone was used to save a life to be higher (Dwyer et al., 2015).

Jails and Prisons. Horton et al. (2017) performed a systematic review of 19 articles pertaining to naloxone distribution programs in the jail and prison setting at time of release. Among those who were incarcerated and engaged in an opioid treatment program after release, a minimum of one-third across all studies evaluated had experienced an overdose at some point and over 70% had witnessed an overdose at least once. Over 70% of former inmates indicated a desire for further training and take-home naloxone. Among prison leadership, it was unclear who would benefit from naloxone and how to practically administer a distribution program. Further research is needed about the implementation and outcomes of jail and prison-based naloxone distribution programs Horton et al. (2017).

Legal Environment and Naloxone Access Laws. One approach to increasing patient access to naloxone in the community has been through state-level Naloxone Access Laws

(NALs). These legislative remedies have several components which vary by state (Network for Public Health Law, 2016). Some include the ability for a patient to receive naloxone without an individual prescription by authorizing pharmacists to prescribe the medication or making it available over-the-counter. Some laws eliminate liability on the part of the prescriber and others create a Good Samaritan clause where bystanders cannot be held liable from administering the medication. All 50 states have enacted some form of a NAL. Lambdin et al. (2018) found NALs incorporating immunity for prescribers, dispensers, and laypeople were all independently associated with increased odds of a naloxone distribution program existing within a given county. These laws have been associated with a 15% decreased in opioid-related mortality (McClellan et al., 2018).

Cost. Hufford and Burke (2018) report that in the 1980s, a gram of heroin cost \$2,220. Today, a gram of heroin costs 80% less. Over a decade ago, naloxone cost \$1 per dose. Today, the nasal spray costs \$150 and the auto-injector costs \$4,500. Naloxone distribution in underserved areas continues to be "scandalously underfunded" secondary to cost (Davis & Carr, 2017). However, naloxone distribution is cost-effective. Townsend et al. (2020) performed a cost-effectiveness analysis and mortality projection when naloxone is distributed to laypeople, police officers and fighters, and emergency medical personnel - or in any combination of these groups. When naloxone distribution is maximized across these groups, opioid mortality may be reduced by over 20%. All models were shown to be cost-effective, with the greatest costeffectiveness found when all distribution channels are incorporated. If only a single group could be targeted, distribution of naloxone to laypeople would be more cost-effective than the remaining groups (Townsend et al., 2020).

Further Considerations

While the focus of the preceding literature review has been on treatment and harm reduction, there are additional aspects of the opioid epidemic which must also be addressed.

Opioid Prescribing and Acute versus Chronic Pain

The CDC published its first opioid prescribing guidelines in 2016 (Dowell et al., 2016). The organization defined chronic pain as pain lasting greater than three months. Cancer and endof-life care was excluded from the recommendations. There are 12 total guidelines divided across three categories: determination of when opioids are appropriate for chronic pain, dosage and duration of care, and addressing potential harms of opioid use. The guidelines are provided in Figure 24. Included in these guidelines is the recommendation to carefully select patients who will be receiving greater than 50 morphine milligram equivalents (MME) per day and to avoid escalating therapy to greater than 90 MME per day. Citing that opioid treatment for acute pain often leads to chronic opioid prescribing, the guidelines call for opioid prescriptions for acute issues be written for no more than seven days. Also, opioid regimens should be tapered after three months if the benefits no longer outweigh the risks (Dowell et al., 2016).

The guidelines were met with significant controversy from the medical community. Wegrzyn et al. (2018) argue the guidelines were based on too narrow of a literature review and the conclusions were not patient-centered, disallowed clinicians from practicing with discretion, and stripped patients of their autonomy. Juurlink (2018) highlights that while there are several limitations to the guidelines, they also provide a framework for discussions around safe opioid prescribing that did not previously exist. A later consensus panel also agreed with the spirit of the guidelines to improve safe prescribing but also called on the healthcare community to "avoid misinterpreting the guideline by insisting on opioid reduction or cessation in pain conditions or treatment settings where opioid use may still be warranted" (Kroenke et al., 2019, p. 734). In an editorial supporting the CDC guidelines, Ballantyne et al. (2018) concluded:

We do not know the best ways to negotiate the transformation of evidence-based guidelines into practice and policy. While physicians and scientists cannot be held responsible for every unintended consequence of their recommendations, consequences can sometimes be anticipated and addressed as part of the guideline-making process. The CDC will need to reassess and adjust recommendations as experience and new research information becomes available (p. 948.)

In December 2018, the Human Rights Watch issued a report calling on the federal government to revise the guidelines so patients with chronic pain are not forced to taper high doses of opioids (Human Rights Watch, 2018). In March 2019, a group of over 300 practitioners including many who practice in pain management sent a letter to the CDC asking for clarification and review of the prescribing guidelines (Health Professionals for Patients in Pain, 2019). In a separate paper, several of the letter's authors expressed concern the guidelines were being inappropriately interpreted by insurance companies, regulators, and individual healthcare organizations resulting in pain and suffering among patients with chronic pain (Kertesz & Gordon, 2019).

In April 2019, the director of the CDC issued a statement to the letter's authors stating forced tapering is inconsistent with the goals of the guidelines (Redfield, 2019). That same month the FDA issued a Drug Safety Communication stating

Rapid discontinuation can result in uncontrolled pain or withdrawal symptoms. In turn, these symptoms can lead patients to seek other sources of opioid pain medicines, which may be confused with drug-seeking for abuse. Patients may attempt to treat their pain or

withdrawal symptoms with illicit opioids, such as heroin, and other substances... Health care professionals should not abruptly discontinue opioids in a patient who is physically dependent. (FDA, 2019a, para. 3)

In June 2019, the authors of the original CDC guidelines issued a statement in the *New England Journal of Medicine* stating that many of the recommendations had been misinterpreted and inappropriately applied in ways that were likely causing harm to patients with chronic pain (Dowell et al., 2019). The authors discussed eliminating forced tapering, removing hard MME limits, and not dismissing patients from clinics. Importantly, patients prescribed chronic opioids who have those prescriptions abruptly stopped are at high-risk for subsequent overdose or suicide (Oliva et al., 2020). Being prescribed opioids chronically for longer periods of time is correlated with increased risk.

There are many non-opioid approaches to analgesia including acetaminophen, aspirin, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, antidepressants, and anti-seizure medications. Numbing agents such as lidocaine patches can be applied topically and regional anesthetics may be used as well (Finnerup, 2019). The National Institute of Health is currently investing \$945 million across dozens of studies to determine additional non-opioid approaches to management of acute and chronic pain (National Institutes of Health, 2019).

Discontinuing chronic opioid therapy is a delicate decision that may result in death secondary to illicit opioid use if not performed appropriately. For example, among 572 patients engaged in long-term opioid therapy in a chronic pain clinic from 2010 to 2015, 60% discontinued opioid therapy during the study period with 77% of discontinuations initiated by the prescriber. Twenty-one percent of patients died during the study period with 5% of total deaths confirmed to be an opioid overdose (J. R. James et al., 2019).

There have been calls to use buprenorphine as a treatment option for patients with prescription opioid dependencies which may not otherwise strictly qualify as an OUD (Chou et al., 2019). Doing so currently would be considered an off-label use and implications of using buprenorphine in this setting without an x-waiver is unclear (Chou et al., 2019). In a pharmaceutical industry-funded review article and consensus statement, Webster et al. (2020) argue buprenorphine should be more widely adopted for chronic analgesia over full-agonist opioids given its better safety profile. The authors conclude "buprenorphine's classification as a partial mu-opioid receptor agonist should not be clinically translated to mean partial analgesic efficacy" (p. 1).

Prevention such as PDMPs

Modern Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs (PDMPs) date back to 1939 when California started the first continuously functioning program in the country (Green et al., 2012). In 1990, Oklahoma became the first state to require electronic transmission of high-risk prescription data to its PDMP. Every state except Missouri has a PDMP, each state relies on technologically advanced data warehouses (PDMP Training and Technical Assistance Center, 2018). Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs are viewed primarily as a tool to reduce "doctor shopping", the process by which a patient procures large amounts of legal opioids from several providers for personal use, diverting to another individual for free, or selling for a profit (Green et al., 2012). Bao et al. (2016) evaluated over 25,000 office visits related to pain management in 24 states that had implemented a PDMP between 2001 and 2010. The authors found a reduction in opioid prescribing in addition to pain medication overall. Prescriptions for schedule II opioids were reduced by over 30%.

Gabay (2015) shares several areas of deficiencies in PDMPs including poor data collection, ineffective use of data, lack of data sharing across state lines, and minimal use of information by law enforcement. Most states do not require reporting of cash payments or documenting the party picking up the prescription. Most PDMPs have a lag-time in reporting data to users, although it's unclear if this delay is clinically significant. The absence of interstate collaboration results in prescriptions being easily filled across state lines. This is particularly important for communities located near state borders (Gabay, 2015). Fishman (2011) writes of similar concern that the actual impact of PDMPs cannot be recognized until "technological solutions that offer data reliability, security, uniformity, and compatibility across states line" (p. 845) are implemented. Fink et al. (2018) write of unintended consequences of PDMP programs. In a review of 17 published studies evaluating patient-centered outcomes after implementation, the authors found multiple examples of a statistically significant increase in the amount overdose deaths related to heroin. While PDMPs are related to an overall decrease in the general number of opioids prescribed and administered within state populations, an unanticipated outcome is that this lack of access to legal opioids may push patients to seek heroin. The authors argue efforts to increase utilization of PDMPs must be met with additional resources for the treatment of patients with OUD (Fink et al., 2018).

Telemedicine

There are several barriers to growing telehealth for OUD. The Ryan Haight Act of 2008 requires physicians perform an in-person exam before prescribing a controlled substance (Huskamp et al., 2018). This can be avoided if a patient is in a hospital or clinic appropriately registered with the Drug Enforcement Agency. In addition, the SUPPORT for Patients and Communities Act passed in 2018 specifically allows for the in-person exam to be waived when

prescribing buprenorphine and also allows the patient to be located at any site including their home, but the DEA has not yet released rules on how to implement this legislation (Huskamp et al., 2018).

The Ryan Haight Act also provides an exception for individuals being treated by federal agencies (Rubin, 2019). As such, the Indian Health Service (2018) now permits appropriately licensed practitioners to initiate buprenorphine therapy via telemedicine without first performing a physical exam. Despite potential advances being made at the federal level, there is great variation in telemedicine law at the state level (Pepin et al., 2019). Some states have passed laws allowing for buprenorphine to be prescribe via telemedicine without a physical exam such as Indiana, Ohio, and West Virginia (Yang et al., 2018).

Among commercially insured patients from 2010 to 2017, telemedicine encounters for SUD-related diagnoses grew from 0.62 visits per 1,000 people to 3.05 visits per 1,000 people. However, telehealth for SUDs represented less than 2% of all telehealth visits during this period, was disproportionately found in urban areas, and was most often used to complement in-person SUD treatment (Huskamp et al., 2018). Among over 175 patients in Maryland treated in a buprenorphine-based telemedicine program in a transitional housing unit, 98% continued at one week, 91% at one month, 73% at two months, and 57% at three months (Weintraub et al., 2018). In a retrospective study of a West Virginia opioid treatment program, there was no statistical difference in rates of disease recurrence or retention among 100 patients, however the sample size was likely not large enough per power analysis (Zheng et al., 2017). Nonetheless, a large gap in research exists for the use of telemedicine to address OUD. There are no known powered randomized controlled trials of the overall efficacy of MAT delivered via telehealth or the physical setting of the interaction such as a clinic versus a patient's home. Further research is

132

also needed into patient and provider satisfaction while engaged in telehealth for OUD (Lin et al., 2019).

Literature Review Limitations

There are limitations to the literature review that should be considered:

- 1) The opioid epidemic is complex. The intention of the previous literature review was to illuminate areas of the opioid epidemic based on questions, feedback, and conversations the author participated in when implementing a single-center solution in the three years preceding this document's development. The review is targeted based on this experience and does not touch upon all of the many facets of the opioid epidemic.
- 2) One such exclusion is the limited review or discussion regarding "prevention" or ways in which to avoid the increase in incidence and prevalence of opioid use disorder. Perhaps the most common is responsible and appropriate opioid prescribing. Such research, while vital, is beyond the main objectives of this paper, which focuses on overlapping but quite different topics: treatment of opioid use disorder, reduction of stigma towards patients with opioid use disorder, and harm reduction efforts related to intravenous drug use.
- 3) The program described as part of the case study relies in large part on buprenorphine, a medication approved by the Food and Drug Administration to treat opioid use disorder. Another such medication is methadone. However, because of the regulatory environment and access issues related to methadone, the program described does not directly incorporate the medication. This is in contrast to other programs in the literature. Therefore, in light of the programmatic focus on buprenorphine, the literature review

focused primarily on buprenorphine, which is not necessarily intended to dissuade the use of methadone.

4) Contributions to the literature regarding the opioid epidemic are rapidly emerging. In fact, of the over 525 references cited in this paper, 39% were published in 2019 or 2020, and 67% between 2017 and 2020. It should be noted that this literature review covered publications made available up to April 1, 2020. The review also did not include content regarding the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on access to care for patients with OUD.

Chapter 3: Methods

Methods

Study Objective

To further analyze the issue of offering treatment of OUD in the hospital setting and contribute to the growing literature in this area, a single-embedded case study will be performed to share the experience of how a single 220-bed academic hospital in central Texas promoted the importance of treatment and overcame the barriers mentioned above. While elements of programs have been described in the literature, there does not appear to be a case study describing the entire build and implementation process, especially in an institution that does not have an addiction medicine consultation service. Because most hospitals in the nation lack the presence of such a service, sharing how one hospital accomplished the goal of treating OUD and reducing stigma may present a more useful and scalable model for other health systems.

Research Question

What are the successful components and barriers of an in-hospital buprenorphine program?

Study Design

A case study design will be used. Albright, Howard-Pitney, Roberts, and Zicarelli (1998) explained that a case study should be used to intensely analyze a specific program with the mission of revealing in depth experiences. This method is particularly helpful when a program is unique, exists in a different setting than currently described in the literature, or has a unique outcome. Case studies provide an opportunity to share a complete, multifaceted picture of what has taken place.

Data Sources

The primary data source will be in-person key informant interviews of program stakeholders. The purpose of these interviews will be to understand the stakeholders' perspectives on the decision-making process and challenges. The semi-structured interviews will take place approximately 18 months after the program began. Respondents will be purposefully selected to represent program leadership from academia, the hospital network, outpatient clinics, clinicians, and payers. Interview protocols will cover the history and context of the program development, goals, strategies for developing and implementing the program, as well as barriers and facilitators to adoption. To ensure construct validity, secondary data documents such as policies and meeting minutes will be used to triangulate interview findings and provide additional details on the programmatic activities and processes (Yin, 2003). Finally, quantitative program data will be used to describe outcomes, such as the number of patients treated and outpatient engagement.

Data Collection

Interviews will be prioritized for impact to the overall project and interviewees availability. It is anticipated that each interview will take no more than 60 minutes. Each interview will be recorded on two separate devices. Interviews will continue until the saturation of themes has been reached and no new relevant information is revealed. Those interviewed will be 18 years of age or older and have clinical or administrative responsibility related to opioid use disorder. Participants will have direct engagement in the hospital-based opioid treatment program described in the case study and will hold professional degrees including physician, nurse, social worker, and chaplain. The goal of the interviews is to reveal overall understandings of the role of medications for the treatment of OUD in the hospital setting, barriers to providing such medications during hospitalization, how such barriers may be overcome, and how interprofessional health care contributes to the program's effectiveness. The interview questions are provided in Appendix 3. This study has been approved as exempt by the University of Texas at Austin Institutional Review Board.

Data Analysis

The study will use a generalized inductive approach, which provides a systematic process to analyze the raw qualitative data to develop concepts and themes (Thomas, 2006). Inductive approaches are well suited to understand the program content, context, and procedures (Sofaer, 1999; Sofaer, 2002). Transcripts will be read to develop inductive codes to capture emerging themes (Thomas, 2006). The principal investigator will assign codes in addition to the chair of the dissertation committee. Disputes will be resolved by the remaining three committee members. This process will continue until no new themes emerge. The procedure allows for investigators to efficiently decipher the relevant data to answer specific research inquiries and to identify relationships between themes and similarities and differences across participants (Thomas, 2006). Descriptive statistics will be used to describe the program evaluation metrics.

To ensure confidentiality, the attribution of quotes are aggregated to three categories, which describe the respondent role in the program. Citations regarding specific demographic information of the single site have been de-identified. In the following, the respondent category *prescriber* includes all internal medicine, psychiatric, and palliative care physicians in addition to an advanced practice nurse. The respondent category *clinical team member* includes the team nurse, pharmacist, social worker, and chaplain. The respondent category *leadership* refers to an executive leader.

Chapter 4: Case Study and Early Results

The following descriptive elements of the program are based on a review of 4,608 computer files from program inception and a review of 9,465 emails between November 2017 and December 2019 and key informant interviews. A total of eleven stakeholder interviews were conducted. Interviewee characteristics are provided in Table 10.

Practice Setting and Organizational Stakeholders

The case study takes place in Texas between October 2017 and December 2019. With a population of over 1.25 million people, the County is also among the top ten fastest growing in the United States. The Research University is at the heart of the community. Academic Medical Center (AMC) is a 220-bed hospital in the center of downtown. It is the primary teaching hospital for the Medical School and employs hundreds of trainees as part of graduate medical education. Academic Medical Center is the main safety net facility for adult patients in the region. While it is affiliated with the Medical School from educational and research perspectives, it is owned and operated by one of the largest not-for-profit hospital systems in the nation.

Primary Care Practice is the largest system of Federally Qualified Health Centers in the county. The organization has 27 offices, which includes primary, specialty, and sub-specialty care. In 2019, Primary Care Practice provided over 375,000 appointments to over 100,000 patients. Another important outpatient entity is Behavioral Health Practice, which serves as the Local Mental Health and Intellectual and Developmental Disability Authority. The organization has over 45 offices in the county and served almost 28,000 patients in 2019. Finally, Main Health is a public entity of the county charged with providing access to affordable healthcare for residents. Main Health is a regional payer and responsible for administering the Clinical Access Program (CAP), which will be discussed shortly.

In 2017, Primary Care Practice and Behavioral Health Practice, with funding from Main Health, launched the Opioid Treatment Clinic (OTC). The pilot program is designed to bring primary care and behavioral health under one roof specifically for patients with opioid use disorder. As a central component to its wraparound services, the clinic provides buprenorphine initiation and maintenance therapy in addition to counseling and social services. The program is designed as a "hub and spoke" model (Clark-Madison et al., 2018). In such a model, patients who are clinically complex or not already engaged in buprenorphine therapy enter the system directly at OTC (the "hub") where buprenorphine-related and social services might be more intense as compared to a satellite clinic where there may be additional focus on primary care in addition to buprenorphine maintenance (the "spoke"). Both hub and spoke sites have prescribers who have completed the x-waiver training and have experience with buprenorphine. In 2017, only the OTC existed. At time of publication, there are two operational spoke sites with another expected to launch in 2020. Notably, creating a spoke site often means integrating buprenorphine therapy into already existing primary care practices and workflow (Clark-Madison et al., 2018).

Texas Opioid Use Disorder Statistics

In 2018, over 1,400 Texans died from opioid poisonings (NIDA, 2020). In 2017, there were over 131 inpatient stays per 100,000 population resulting from opioid poisonings (AHRQ, 2020). Over 90% of people living in Texas who need treatment for illicit drug do not receive it (amfAR, 2020). The CDC has identified Texas as a state with a statistically significant increase in opioid overdose death rates (CDC, 2018a).

The City Public Health Department urged policymakers to be more proactive by providing treatment for patients with OUD (De-identified1, 2018). When the program described here was first conceptualized in 2017, the County reported that 2.3 deaths per 100,000 residents

were attributed to opioids. In 2012, over \$2 million was spent on emergency medical services (EMS) related to OUD (De-identified2, 2017). Just under 600 deaths in the County were attributed to opioids between 2006 and 2016 (De-identified3, 2018). More recently, in an 18-month period beginning July 2018, there were 490 opioid poisonings reported to EMS of which 83% required transport to the hospital and 67% required resuscitation in the field with naloxone (De-identified4, personal communication, January 9, 2020). This data does not take into account patients with OUD who do not require emergent intervention, or who are not engaged in outpatient treatment. It is also subject to the limitations of death certificate data discussed previously. Only 15 of the over 250 counties in Texas have access to a medical examiner (Price, 2019). While this represents the majority of the Texas population, over 40% of Texans live in counties without a medical examiner (Karacostas, 2017).

County Payer System for Underinsured and Uninsured Patients

According to Dunkelberg (2017), approximately 4.5 million Texans participate in the state's Medicaid program. Over 75% of participants are children who receive coverage through the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP). Texas has among the strictest eligibility criteria for Medicaid in the nation and is second only to Alabama in terms of lowest enrollment. Adults in Texas independently qualify only if they have a minor child and earn less than 15% of the federal poverty level (Norris, 2019). Over 750,000 adults in Texas are in the "coverage gap" where they are ineligible for Medicaid and tax credits for Marketplace coverage (Garfield & Orgera, 2020; Keiser Family Foundation, 2019b). As such, "most low-income uninsured adults will not qualify for Medicaid in Texas today" (Dunkelberg, 2017, p. 3).

In the County, Main Health provides care to residents over age 21 who are up to 200% of the federal poverty level. The goal is to ensure affordable health care for those who are underinsured or uninsured. The program also provides care to those experiencing homelessness and undocumented immigrants. Funding for CAP is provided through local property tax revenues in addition to certain state and federal programs. Main Health does not own clinics or hospitals but rather works closely with hospitals such as Academic Medical Center and clinics such as Primary Care Practice to provide care delivery.

Central to this case study is the absence of Medicaid expansion in Texas under the Affordable Care Act. As discussed previously, such expansion has been associated with increased access to treatment for opioid use disorder. As the primary safety-net hospital in the county, Academic Medical Center sees a large proportion of underinsured and uninsured patients with OUD who participate in the Clinical Access Program and require hospitalization.

Concept Development

In 2017, this author was engaged in discussions about changing his full-time clinical focus from hospital medicine to palliative care. A significant component to the practice of effective palliative medicine is an understanding of chronic pain, which often appropriately revolves around ongoing opioid analgesia. While researching the use of opioids for acute and chronic pain, it became apparent that some patients engaged in opioid therapy may develop an opioid use disorder.

Around the same time, the American Academy of Physician Assistants hosted an onlinebased *ask the expert* session on the topic of addiction medicine, which the author joined. One participant asked for insight about the connection between opioid analgesia used in the clinical setting and the development of opioid use disorder. The expert suggested participation in the buprenorphine x-waiver program, not necessarily to prescribe buprenorphine for OUD but
because the x-waiver curriculum also included information about current epidemiology and pathophysiology of opioid addiction.

In October 2017, the author (a physician assistant) began the 24-hour x-waiver curriculum. Concurrently, the Society of Hospital Medicine began promoting a webinar about the hospital-based treatment of OUD using buprenorphine. The webinar was part of a larger program called Support Hospital Opioid Use Treatment (SHOUT) at the University of California San Francisco. The SHOUT group had received funding to assist California hospitals in developing policies and clinical capacity for initiating buprenorphine during hospitalization. Participation in the webinar combined with engagement in the x-waiver training sparked the initial interest in learning more about how such a program might have an impact at Academic Medical Center. Moreover, a \$5,000 grant sponsored by the National Institute on Drug Abuse through the National Institute of Health was being offered by the Physician Assistant Foundation to support implementation of PA-led behavioral health projects.

These early events raised important questions about the current state of opioid use disorder treatment at Academic Medical Center and began an exploration into why Academic Medical Center should initiate buprenorphine therapy for patients.

Recognition of the Opportunity to Treat OUD

Document reviews and interviews revealed that early recognition of the opportunity to treat OUD in the hospital was rooted in appreciating hospitalization as a reachable moment for patients with OUD, treating OUD may positively impact metrics that evaluate hospital performance, and supporting patients with OUD being an appropriate action for patients, clinicians, and the institution.

144

Reachable moment

A formative component of the team was recognizing that hospitalization was a reachable moment for addressing substance use disorders. Although some patients presented to the hospital specifically for the treatment of withdrawal, others presented for sequalae of intravenous drug use. Some patients who presented to the hospital may have not otherwise sought care for OUD in the community. Hospitalization may evoke a desire for change among some patients with OUD.

It's sort of a come-to-the-mountain-top experience. You've got their attention; what teachers call a teachable moment. They're thinking, "Oh my God, what am I doing with my life?" You've got the opportunity to kind of open that door. If you had something, you could kind of step through that door with them right then. You really might make some headway. -Leadership

The patients we reach aren't necessarily coming to the hospital because of their opioid use disorder. They're coming to the hospital because they have skin and soft tissue infections or other complications of their use and they know that their opioid use has caused them bodily harm. That's one of the diagnosing principles of a use disorder... The patients that come to the ED and come to the hospital are suffering from the consequences of their use. -Prescriber

If they're here in the hospital and it's bad enough to where they have to be admitted and have a serious heart infection or huge abscess, I think that's when maybe contemplation of change happens, it's kind of a good moment. -Clinical Team Member

Common Hospital Metrics

It was recognized that objective measures used to evaluate hospital performance may be negatively impacted by unaddressed and untreated substance use disorders in the hospital setting. These measures include discharges against medical advice (AMA), in-hospital mortality, and readmissions. Such metrics may be improved for patients with OUD when buprenorphine is offered as the standard of care for hospitalized patients.

[Not offering buprenorphine therapy] is a missed opportunity for the hospital system as well. Maybe this time they're just being admitted for a cellulitis but maybe next time it's a six-week admission for endocarditis. -Clinical Team Member

The patients that possibly would have been dismissed or left AMA within their first day or two because they would have not gotten sufficient pain control now stay. They would have had a lot of disastrous outcomes. They have gotten good care. They've been able to stay in the hospital and they've had a resource to stop using and be connected with [the outpatient clinic]. -Clinical Team Member

I think clinicians that treat a lot of patients could find themselves treating the same patients over and over. And that's always frustrating. -Leadership

People come in with a horrible vegetative valve and they need IV antibiotics for six weeks and they leave AMA because they need that narcotic. To me, addiction and opioid use disorder, is a life limiting illness. -Prescriber

Support of Patients with OUD

According to some interviewees, offering treatment of OUD during acute hospitalization supported patients with OUD in an environment that may have otherwise been divisive and degrading for this patient population.

Throughout the hospital, it seems that since now there is something we can do, we view them more as patients and not as problems. We don't say that we can't offer them anything and they just need to help themselves. -Prescriber

Opioid use disorder is isolating and dehumanizing. Part of my work is bringing back the humanity and reminding patients they are human, that they matter, that they have emotions, that they have experiences and all of those are valid and important. -Clinical Team Member

Social and Institutional Responsibility

One interviewee expressed that the medical community contributed to the opioid epidemic and therefore, the medical community needed to be part of the solution.

I'd say at least eight out of ten began their opioid use disorder journey with prescribed drugs from medical professionals. It's not high school kids going out, getting drunk, getting high and then deciding to try heroin. Eight out of ten for me have been started on Vicodin or Oxy for a sprained ankle or something. It was something prescribed. And I feel like we have a responsibility to help because this is partly our problem. -Prescriber

Early Discovery – First Thirty Days

The initial part of the discovery process was dedicated to evaluating if offering buprenorphine therapy for hospitalized patients at AMC was necessary and feasible. This involved early stakeholder engagement in the inpatient and outpatient setting, requests for internal data, and building an understanding of systems-based practice for patients with OUD in the county.

Initial Stakeholder Meeting

An initial meeting of inpatient and outpatient stakeholders was held in November 2017. Attendees included the author, the chief of psychiatry, the lead of the behavior health social work program, the chief quality officer, the chief medical officer, the head of the hospital-based retail pharmacy, and clinical and administrative leadership from the OTC. At the time of this meeting, the OTC had 11 patients enrolled in outpatient treatment. Problem statement. The group agreed on the following problem statement:

During the past 10 months, 275 patients at AMC were evaluated by the behavioral health social workers and documented to carry a diagnosis of opioid use disorders. Some of these patients would have benefited from induction of suboxone therapy while in the inpatient setting.

Intervention statement. The group also agreed on an intervention statement: Pilot an interprofessional and multidisciplinary buprenorphine induction program with the goal of initiating treatment and facilitating community follow-up for 50 patients in a twelve-month period.

Mission statement. Finally, the group agreed on an overall mission statement: To be an interprofessional and multidisciplinary group that works to screen appropriate patients for buprenorphine induction, assists in the starting of this treatment while patients are hospitalized, facilitates linkage with an outpatient maintenance clinic, and provides institutional education in an effort to reduce stigma and raise awareness about opioid use disorders.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for patient participation were agreed upon. These somewhat restrictive criteria were based on unfamiliarity with buprenorphine at that time as well as to mirror the criteria of the OTC. However, the group planned to reassess the criteria at regular intervals as the inpatient group gained comfort with what was perceived to be a potentially complex process and medication. The initial criteria are provided in Figure 26.

Initial goals. A set of milestones were agreed on by the group and are provided in Figure 27.

Executive Support

Several respondents felt that obtaining executive support as part of the initial buildout was critical. In this context, executive support meant backing of the program and its volunteers within the hospital's hierarchy at the managerial level and also among senior leadership.

While the volunteer spirit is amazing, I think things like that can lose momentum without some institutional willpower and support behind it. -Prescriber

My department has been supportive of me doing the work as long as I am able to do it. My current supervisor is also very supportive and really wants me to go above and beyond as I'm able, which is really good. You want to feel like you can devote your time to something and not be bogged down by the day to day things. Because this is important too, and I think it deserves attention. - Clinical Team Member

It was important to find key stakeholders in different parts of the hospital, most importantly in the C suite. And not just identifying them, but developing good relationships with them and making sure they fully understand the scope of what we were trying to accomplish. -Prescriber

One interviewee felt that equally important was maintaining the support of executives and leadership as the program grew and ensuring all stakeholders were recognized for their departments' contributions.

I think some of my managers have hoped that maybe [my department] would get more recognition for this at times for their contributions... The line of communication was very open to begin with, but maybe wasn't maintained as well as administration would have liked. -Clinical Team Member

Interprofessionalism

The interprofessional aspects of the team were paramount from inception, according to those interviewed. Learning the viewpoints of the various engaged disciplines based on individual professional experience helped develop and legitimize the program while also working to obtain buy-in. Consequently, patient care benefited by interprofessional care delivery.

You cannot have a program without it being interdisciplinary. It would just be horrible. It wouldn't be a successful program. It so enriches the way that you practice. You're a much, much better provider. So I just think you cannot do it without that aspect. -Prescriber

Having an interprofessional team where we are engaging social workers, case managers, the chaplain, pharmacy - multiple provider groups. We're able to disseminate a larger message of what this practice change could look like in the hospital. And be able to continue pushing that forward, that message. I think that's absolutely necessary... It's huge. If you really want to disseminate an idea, you really have to hit the hospital from multiple angles. We have trusted individuals from each profession that then have colleagues that look at that person for information. People trust those who are their peers... There have been many meetings where I feel like an idea is thrown out and that idea maybe wasn't necessarily the right thing for the team to do, but because the idea was thrown out there, it ends up as if it was a lump of coal at the beginning then pressure of everyone talking about it turns it into a diamond; mainly because we have a think-tank of multiple perspectives that have weighed in on that. -Prescriber

You really need to have a team of people that can pull up a chair and talk with that patient at some length and you need to have a bunch of people that are really on the same page. So if the patient really gets the feeling that they're surrounded by a whole team that you know, all works together and really cares about them, that they're sort of embedded in a therapeutic community. I don't see it really working any other way than as a very interprofessional endeavor. -Leadership I think each of us has brought a new perspective to the table. Those sort of conversations into our core group has been really helpful and really enlightening ... people coming from different backgrounds. That has been crucial to making this program a success. -Clinical Team Member

Professionally it's been amazing. I've never worked with an interdisciplinary group in this manner that is so dedicated and it's so diverse in terms of we have psych, we have PAs, we have nurses, pharmacists, social workers, chaplains, you know, MDs, palliative, I mean we, we pretty much touched, you know, just about everything. -Clinical Team Member

Outpatient Collaboration

A clear need in the very early stages of planning the program was establishing relationships in the outpatient settings with clinicians and prescribers who could take over buprenorphine maintenance care after discharge. A clinical executive from Primary Care Practice was asked if any prescribers in the organization had an x-waiver, to which the executive responded "*what is an x-waiver?*" This response may have reflected the lack of buprenorphinerelated knowledge in the medical community at that time.

A message was also sent to the Chief Medical Officer of Main Health who responded with an introduction to the program administrators of the "MAT pilot". Unbeknown to those in the hospital setting, the Opioid Treatment Clinic (OTC) pilot project had been started and a mutually beneficial relationship could potentially be struck. The hospital needed an outpatient clinical partner where CAP was accepted as a form of payment, and the OTC, which was designed for patients with CAP funding, needed referral sources to justify their pilot.

Care coordination. Facilitating relationships early-on with the OTC helped ensure that patients would have access to care after discharge and played a vital role in the program's success.

I think you just have to be really flexible, especially with all the different insurances and all the different patients. I think being very committed to navigating the health care insurance and MAT treatment. Patients really trust what we're saying. When I say I work with the [OTC to arrange follow-up], they really do believe that whoever they meet on the other side is going to be worth their while. It's going to be a positive experience, not like a judgmental negative kind. -Clinical Team Member

It's really important to start conversations with an outpatient treatment facility early on. Because really, we may be doing patients a disservice if we start them on buprenorphine in the hospital without having a place for them to go to continue their prescriptions. -Prescriber

We set them up with outpatient services, so we don't just take care of them in the hospital. We try to get them to the next step where they can have continued sobriety. -Clinical Team Member

I think what will become inevitable is that the use of buprenorphine in medical hospitals will be routine and standard of care within the next five to ten years. We're just trying to push it forward faster in our hospital system because we have a place to send patients once they leave so they can continue their care. -Prescriber

While working to ensure outpatient follow-up was seen as important, some respondents commented that the program still had efficacy even if a patient did not follow-up at the clinic after discharge.

Whether they make it to [the outpatient clinic] is neither really here nor there. It's important, but the fact is that they have a resource that is there to help, to be on their side, and to make a difference when they're mentally prepared to try to stop and they're not going at it alone. -Clinical Team Member Even when patients aren't interested in Suboxone, if you meet them in a nonjudgmental patientcentered fashion, you're planting a seed to try to help them move forward towards sobriety. And so every single case, whether they get on Suboxone or not, whether they start methadone or not, whether they get any treatment at all or not, is just an opportunity to help that patient move forward towards sobriety, better health, etc. etc. -Prescriber

I know there have been at least two patients that we've seen who have said at the time "I don't want to do it" and left, but who came back and eventually have been initiated onto buprenorphine successfully. I think we plant seeds, not everybody's ready for sobriety at the same time. - Prescriber

Avoiding Redundancy

The clinical group recognized certain aspects of care that would normally occur in the outpatient setting would now occur in the hospital setting. For example, laboratory studies done as part of an initial visit to an outpatient clinic would likely now be done in the hospital. To strengthen the collaboration with the outpatient clinic and to reduce waste and increase value, the team decided to build the hospital-based intake process to be in parallel as much as possible with the outpatient clinic. In particular, this meant ensuring appropriate labs were done before buprenorphine initiation in the hospital, and that the outpatient clinic would receive pertinent information such as substance use history and treatment history. Agreed upon lab studies are shown in Figure 28, and the hospital-based treatment initiation history form is available in Figure 29.

Inpatient Needs Evaluation

Through data analysis conducted at the time of program inception, it was discovered that from October 2015 through September 2017, over 2,240 patients admitted to AMC carried a diagnosis of a substance use disorder, and over 100 patients had an opioid use disorder and were deemed candidates for methadone or buprenorphine treatment. From October 2016 through September 2017, over 270 admitted patients carried a diagnosis of opioid dependency. Those data was based on consultations performed by a team of behavioral health social workers who provided care at that time under Delivery System Reform Incentive Payment (DSRIP) funding.

The data at that time had limitations since the behavioral health social workers only evaluated certain patients based on strict criteria including positive urine drug screens and direct consultation requests, and the social workers did not include patients on the trauma service. It was considered highly likely that the true number of patients with OUD who were appropriate for MAT was higher. Shortly after the data were shared in November 2017, the behavioral health social work program was discontinued, thus leaving a potential gap in care for patients with substance use disorders.

After reviewing the data and briefly discussing the general concept of offering buprenorphine therapy in the hospital with the Chief of the Psychiatry Service, the authored draft an email to the Chief Medical Officer (CMO) who was asked to be an executive sponsor. In this role, the CMO would support the effort from a senior leadership perspective. This request was granted.

Inpatient / Outpatient Pharmacy Needs and Bridge Prescriptions

From an inpatient perspective, part of the early discover process was determining which formulations of buprenorphine were available in the hospital system's formulary and if the inpatient pharmacy regularly stocked the medication. Buprenorphine sublingual films and buccal tabs were found to be on the formulary and stocked in the hospital. Ideally, the outpatient appointment would be arranged for the day immediately following hospital discharge. Yet it was clear this would not always be possible since many treatment programs saw new patients only on certain days of the week and rarely on weekends. An important part of this hospital-based buprenorphine program was the ability for the patient to continue receiving buprenorphine treatment from the time of hospital discharge until the time of outpatient follow-up appointment. Therefore, it was determined early in discovery that patients would need to be provided with a "bridge prescription" of buprenorphine.

From an outpatient perspective, assurances were needed that patients would be able to obtain the medication from retail pharmacies. This included brief phone calls to random local retail pharmacies to confirm they stocked the medication. The hospital also had a retail pharmacy located in the main lobby. For patients with CAP, the preference was to send prescriptions to the hospital-based retail pharmacy since the pharmacy's staff is intimately familiar with the CAP program. Therefore, any issues with discharge prescriptions would be quickly forwarded to the prescribing inpatient teams.

Charity medication. A review of the CAP formulary showed that buprenorphine was available for outpatient prescribing. However, further analysis revealed that in order for buprenorphine to be dispensed for patients with CAP, the medication would need to be picked up at a single central pharmacy near the OTC. Also, it would need to be prescribed by a provider credentialled by the Primary Care Practice system. These two factors made it impossible to prescribe bridge therapy for patients with CAP at the time of hospital discharge for pickup at outside retail pharmacies.

The only alternative would be to request Academic Medical Center pay for the discharge medication as part of the inpatient treatment pilot. At the time, the hospital-based retail pharmacy

had a 340B designation for discounted pharmaceuticals. This meant an 8mg sublingual film cost \$7.93 each. A funding request was made assuming a maximum daily dose of 24mg for up to 10 days, or a maximum of \$237.90 per patient. It was noted that the OTC appointment would be made prior to discharge so only the exact amount of medication needed would be prescribed and dispensed, and that most patients would likely not require 24mg daily. The business case was that bridge buprenorphine would likely cost far less than a readmission for OUD-related reasons. The request was reviewed and approved by the Director of Case Management and the Chief Medical Officer.

Building the Inpatient Team

The importance of providing interprofessional care was noted early on by the stakeholder group. An email was sent to the nurse managers of the five acute care areas asking if any bedsides nurses were interested in joining the volunteer group, in particular among those with interest in public health or opioid use disorder. The director of case management was contacted for recommendations of a bedside social worker. The pharmacy department also employed a pharmacist who learned about the work and expressed interest in participating. With little recruitment efforts needed, the initial clinical launch team included the chief of psychiatry, internal medicine resident, acute care nurse, intensive care unit nurse, intensive care unit social worker, pharmacist, palliative care advanced practice nurse, and the author (an internal medicine PA). This team became known internally as the "Core Team".

Volunteerism and team-building. A large part of obtaining long-term and ongoing buy-in was instilling and building on a sense of volunteerism driven by passion and teambuilding. When staff and clinicians saw the dedication of the volunteer team, such observations furthered encouraged curiosity and encouraged adoption as reflected in the following comments. I think one of the biggest things that helps with buy-in is seeing the drive of the people that are on the team. I think it's obviously a volunteer driven program at the moment, but I also think that really speaks volumes to the type of program that it is. It creates a lot of potential for other people to gauge their own interests. Then people start to see the benefits of this therapy, especially among nursing staff and the other staff on the floor. We're actually being accepted and offering treatment that can potentially change our patients' quality of life. Seeing all of that I think creates a lot of buy-in in other avenues. That in and of itself has created buy-in in the hospital infrastructure because looking at things like readmissions and other actual tangible outcomes, which are showing improvement, creates financial buy in. -Prescriber

[Team members] have come in on their days off for some of these meetings. People have taken time out of their lunch breaks. People have made time in their workday. -Clinical Team Member

The majority of this work is really passion-oriented and there are a lot of people in our profession with personal experience with substance use or with loved ones who have endured a substance use disorder. So I think that tapping - it's not necessarily tapping into or taking advantage of that experience - but there are certain people that have a heart for patients that are undergoing troubles with substance use. You'd be surprised at how many people volunteer because of that passion. -Prescriber

Although volunteerism was a cornerstone of the program, it was also seen as a potential weakness. Volunteers who are otherwise busy members of clinical care teams may have limited time to spend on extra clinical work.

I think with any program that is made up 100% of full-time workers who are volunteering for this job, it's difficult to always ensure someone from the team is available and able to help patients that need help. -Prescriber

Having a more standardized approach and having more experienced providers would be helpful. I think we rely on our one or two providers who are very experienced and we've learned a ton from them. We've made progress in that area. But as we expand our pool of providers, we get less experienced people. And that's good - the benefits of that outweigh the downsides. But I think it's an issue. -Physician

Having enough providers was a barrier at one point. We were getting a lot of consults and [our providers] were oftentimes busy with their own services. -Clinical Team Member

We're all doing this volunteer and so I think that hinders our ability to respond as quickly as we could. - Clinical Team Member

Consultation service. The group agreed that the ideal approach to kickstarting buprenorphine initiation in the hospital was to have a group of dedicated providers who had developed subject matter expertise and could be relied upon to start the medication for interested patients. As primary teams recognized a patient may have a diagnosis of OUD, the volunteer team would be consulted. At that point, the volunteer team would provide education to bedside providers, initiate buprenorphine, write discharge bridge buprenorphine prescriptions and ensure linkage to outpatient treatment. In hindsight, this general model of the program may have contributed to its success early on, but it may also have represented a barrier to hospital-wide adoption of buprenorphine therapy, especially among prescribers.

I think just knowing that you can call [the program] inherently shifts the culture towards a culture of more understanding and more meeting patients where they are and offering them help in their time of need. We've been incredibly nimble on the front lines in terms of adapting our workflow to make sure patients are being seen every time we get a consult. -Prescriber

Just ping [the program] and then we'll take it from there and work with the primary team on if the patient needs us or not. That's been an integral part of making it successful and easy to accept consults and keeps us fast on our feet so we can go see people quickly when they're struggling with withdrawal. I think the takeaway for other hospitals systems is you actually don't need that many people. It's helpful to have some anchoring members who have some comfort in it, some expertise. -Prescriber

There are important disadvantages to highlight in using this model. The consultation model makes it challenging if not impossible to have 24/7 coverage, which is particularly important if a patient is actively withdrawing from opioids during the evening hours. Also, having a consultation service may work against the goal of clinicians learning more about buprenorphine on their own.

If you're so used to just calling someone to get your answer or calling the social worker or calling [the program] or whoever, then you don't have much motivation to learn yourself unless you really care about the patients also. But if you think someone else is handling it, then why would you do extra work? -Clinical Team Member

We're not always here every single day of the week. So that's been kind of a gap in service. We're not available 24/7. We have gotten consults in the middle of the night, there's not necessarily someone to just jump in and see somebody. -Prescriber

Sometimes I feel like it's a little bit like "Oh, just call [the program]. They will take care of it". Sometimes it feels like we've done too good of a job. And so on those patients who can be quite challenging, people just sometimes feel like they want somebody else to take care of it. -Prescriber One way I've tried to approach it is when I was the [hospital triage physician]. It was busy and I got a consult from a plastics surgery provider who said "This patient uses heroin, can you consult?" It took me a while to explain "It's busy. I'm the only person in-house because it's 8:00 PM. I need you to do a basic history, get a sense of what they want and do they want Suboxone and I'm happy to order and walk through that." But they were just kind of like "well, it's just heroin, can't you just see them?" In some ways, I get it. You want to be able to do the consulting and higher-level work. But, if you call renal, you shouldn't just say the creatinine is 1.5 - fix it. Then again, I recognize renal gets those consults all of the time. -Prescriber

I think I still struggle with how we make the transition from this robust B-Team to now transitioning to having primary providers take over the care of it. -Prescriber

There are some valid concerns that unless you work with this patient population and unless you've been trained in motivational interviewing and being a receptive listener, you probably aren't going to connect as well with these patients. And there are some people that just have that innately and there's some people that need to be taught. I do think it is a teachable skill, but just letting people cut loose with these patients and treat opioid use disorder on their own. I have a lot of questions regarding how effective teams will be, but I also think that it's a very important step forward that all providers should feel like they have the tools to speak to patients in this way. -Prescriber

Alternatives to a consultative model were offered. One model would have been to serve as consultative experts over the phone, but for primary teams to be charged with placing the orders, counseling patients, and only utilizing the program for additional input when necessary. Another model offered was encouraging certain disciplines to be more hands-on and other disciplines would receive a higher degree of interventions from the team. For example, internal medicine practitioners might be encouraged to counsel patients and initiate buprenorphine on their own with support of the team, while general surgery practitioners might call and ask for the intervention to be completed fully by the team instead. There was also recognition that for the most part, the majority of the team's work could be accomplished by the vast majority of practitioners in the hospital with professional development. Ultimately, interviewees recalled selecting the consultation service model for ease of early adoption.

If you had a model where it was even just a phone consult: "Oh, okay, well what does the patient say?... Well, this is what you should do..." and have the primary team write the orders and follow up and then call us with issues. That ultimately probably might've been a more effective way to reach that goal [of widespread education], but I also think it would've taken longer. We certainly wouldn't be where we are right now. But, in the meantime, would we have lost support for the program initially and lost the benefits of cultural change and stigma reduction that we have from having had the B-Team? I think those would be the tensions, the things that you would have to weigh, but it's definitely an interesting model to think about. -Prescriber

Step two is really getting all providers to do this and providing a little bit of a higher-level consultant, a consultative expertise rather than doing all the evaluations. But I think that's been step two, step three all along. -Prescriber

I think general surgery is always going to have challenges with trying to do this themselves. This is seen more as a chronic medical disease and typically they're not starting patients on new blood pressure medications, where an internal medicine team may start new medications for chronic diseases. I think this will always remain a chronic disease that's outside some specialties' comfort zone of managing. I think it's going to be hard to remove the consult service from teams like that. But for internal medicine, we've become a barrier to managing these patient on their own. -Clinical Team Member When you first start, everyone's like "who are you", "we don't need you", and you're begging for business. Now we're at the stage where people are like "we love you". People say "We can't live without you and we can't do what you do." But, it's like, actually 90% of what I do, you can actually do. -Prescriber

Our grand vision is to be a very hands-off team. Our hope is that our residents in the hospital and attending providers in the hospital are okay taking the reins on starting buprenorphine for every patient that could potentially benefit from it. -Prescriber

Ideally, we would hand this off to everyone to where we're the backup so to speak. We want to empower the rest of the medical staff to start these inductions on their own and start having these conversations with the patients on their own. And to use as a resource. - Clinical Team Member

Seed Funding

After the initial meeting, an application was submitted for the NIDA Mentored Outreach Award in Mental Health, which was subsequently presented to the team. This provided \$5,000 to be used towards educational material development and printing, refreshments for meetings, and a stipend for clinical mentorship. It also provided an opportunity to legitimize the effort by stating it had received a grant which was connected to the National Institutes of Health. The proposal agreed upon by the stakeholder group and used to apply for the award is provided in Appendix 4.

Team name

Once it was decided that the overall model would establish a consultation service, the stakeholder group suggested forming a team name. It was felt that giving the team a formal name would help with branding of the effort and normalization of hospital-based buprenorphine therapy. Initially, the group agreed on the name Opioid Agonist Support Team (OAST). At a subsequent meeting, it was suggested to add "the" to the beginning of the phrase so it would

become catchier with the acronym TOAST. However, one content expert emailed to "please consider renaming the group. 'TOAST' in reference to OUD patients suggests something negative (i.e. You're toast. -- you're dead)."

After discussion, the group agreed to rename the program "the suboxone squad". However, this name was quickly recognized by external reviewers as being potentially stigmatizing given the war on drugs and "militarizing" of drug-related policy. The group decided to rename the program "the suboxone team", which also raised potential issues as this would be referring to a pharmaceutical brand name. Finally, the group decided on calling the program "the buprenorphine team" or "B-Team" for short. It was felt this name was clear and direct without the risk of stigmatization. The team also felt that naming it the "B-Team" would offer creative branding opportunities since some people may think of "being on the A-Team".

People Experiencing Homelessness

During early discussion about coordinating outpatient care, one stakeholder expressed in an email:

There may need to be some provisions made for individuals that are homeless because I don't know that sending them from the hospital with extra doses of medication will be the best idea, since they have no way to store it, it could get stolen or sold – just a thought.

After much deliberation, the stakeholder group decided that bridge medication would not be in sufficient enough quantities to warrant concern, and the benefit of unintentionally diverted buprenorphine outweighed the risk.

Incubator Session

About a month after the initial stakeholder meeting, the proposal was presented to the Medical School Incubator. The Incubator was a monthly program where academic medical leadership gather to provide feedback about quality and process improvement programs and scholarly products. The brief presentation delivered is provided in Appendix 5. The group offered several suggestions to improve the initial proposal as summarized in the presentation.

Patient Selection

One of the main topics of conversation was deciding on who would screen admitted patients for opioid use disorder, and which tool they would use to do so. There were several suggestions of who could screen patients including the admitting resident, bedside nurse, social worker, or pharmacy students. At that time, screening was perceived to be a potentially time intensive process. However, no validated OUD screening tool for hospital-based use was identified, and the group focused on a self-reporting process by the patient as part of the admission or history; or an overt admitting diagnosis was recognized by the primary team as stemming from intravenous drug use such as skin and soft tissue infections.

Electronic Communication

How hospital-based care teams would communicate with the group of buprenorphine prescribers was also discussed. Pagers were in the process of being phased out of the institution at the time of discovery. The team felt that it was important to communicate that patient information should not be shared over standardized text messages. However, the hospital system was also in the process of extensively building out and increasing utilization of TigerText, a secure texting platform. The software was accessible on personal or hospital-owned smart phones by all care teams in the hospital including physicians, trainees, nurses, social workers, and pharmacists. In addition, the software featured a "broadcast" option that allowed the creation of a group that could be texted. The team decided that an effective way to be notified of a new patient who may benefit from buprenorphine therapy would be by creating a broadcast group that would message the entire team when a message was sent by any individual in the institution. Order sets were created to facilitate easy ordering and the communication software provided for quick and direct exchanges.

Luckily, we have TigerText. I don't know if it will be as easy for some other systems to develop a way for team members to communicate or how to consult their B team program. This platform was easy for us. - Clinical Team Member

Because we have TigerText and because we opened up the process - a typical medical provider consult comes only from doctors for the most part. We still get the blessing of the doctor part of the team, but anybody on the care team can bring a patient to our attention. Since TigerText is such an easy and commonly used technology, we'll get consults from a chaplain, social worker, nurse, trauma counselor - whoever just happened to notice. They get us immediately on board. We reached out to the primary team and pretty quickly, in real time, we're able to see people rapidly. I think it's because TigerText breaks down barriers and communication. -Prescriber

Revenue Cycle

Billing was also addressed during the discovery period. During initial conversations, the primary prescribers who would be the individuals ordering buprenorphine in the hospital included an internal medicine PA, palliative care advanced practice nurse, and the hospital's Chief of Psychiatry services. The team felt strongly that buprenorphine should be the standard of care for patients with OUD. The example was often used that a patient with severe diabetes would always be provided extensive education during hospitalization and a discharge prescription for insulin. Since buprenorphine was a similar evidence-based medication to treat OUD, the team felt that it should be offered as a routine part of care by those caring directly for patients. Under these circumstances, separate billing for buprenorphine-specific services would not be required since the services would be provided by the primary team as part of the overall hospitalization. However, in the absence of primary teams counseling patients and ordering buprenorphine, the psychiatrist and palliative care advanced practice nurse would be seeing patients specifically and only for OUD. From a billing perspective, this would be done in a consulting role. In addition, both practitioners were professionally evaluated at least in part by relative value units (RVUs), further supporting the need to bill for professional services when prescribers were acting in this consultant role. As a result, the author volunteered his clinical time as part of the non-RVU-based internal medicine service, whereas the team psychiatrist and advanced practice nurse billed for their time in a traditional fee-for-service model.

I think it's important to keep billing mind unless you have doctors that are just straight salary and their RVUs don't matter. I think it benefits them. Instead of it being just completely, sort of, pro bono, it adds an incentive where you're seeing these patients and it's counting for all the work that you do in general. When they pay attention to your numbers and being able to count these "as your part of your numbers", the work that you do and the way you benefit the hospital, it's helpful. Whether it's billing or some other way probably wouldn't make that much of a difference. - Prescriber

I've never heard anybody voicing a concern that this program is not paying for itself. I don't think it's the kind of thing you'd necessarily expect it to pay for itself. I think it's one of those things that falls in the category of it's just the right thing to do. If you could help people get off a habituating drug, particularly when there's so many people that have his issue, then I think it's just the right thing to do. I guess in a purely for-profit situation, there could theoretically be some concerns about it. I would think in a for-profit institution that had to answer its shareholders there might be less enthusiasm for a program like this than there is at our safety net hospital. But, you know, fortunately I've never had to test that. -Leadership

The biggest medication factor I think was making sure that we could provide the medication upon discharge. And I think that is going to be a frequent barrier of other programs. Luckily our hospital has the affiliation with our own outpatient pharmacy and we received the approval to provide a short supply of medication to these patients upon discharge. But again, I think if other sites don't have that, there's a lot of Patient Assistance Program 30-day free cards. - Clinical Team Member

Importance of Outpatient Follow-Up

The importance of having established relationships with outpatient clinics who are able to assume care for patients who are initiated on buprenorphine during hospitalization became apparent during the discovery process. One of the team members, influenced by the internal discussions of potentially starting to offer buprenorphine, was asked to see a patient as part of the regular daily workflow. The prescriber felt the patient was a good candidate for buprenorphine and the patient agreed. Following protocols from the literature, although not yet approved by hospital administration or the stakeholder group, the prescriber-initiated buprenorphine for the patient who responded well to treatment.

However, the relationship with the OTC was not yet formalized, and the process for transitioning to outpatient care was unconfirmed. When the time came for hospital discharge a few days later, the process for establishing care at the outpatient clinic was unclear, and no prescriber in the hospital had an x-waiver yet. This forced the outpatient clinic to alter the clinic

schedule to ensure same-day follow-up for the patient. The OTC director subsequently messaged:

Please do not perform any further inpatient inductions with the expectation of a discharge to [our clinic] until we have a clear and functional process in place. It puts the patient at risk for significant adverse outcomes. Was there any communication with the outpatient service prior to induction? I'm concerned.

This illuminated the importance of outpatient relationships for patients who desire buprenorphine maintenance therapy and emphasized the importance of close communication with the OTC. After this occurred, the project team reinforced its commitment to ongoing exchanges with the OTC.

Reason for Admission

As the team discussed the possibility of starting buprenorphine in the hospital internally, the larger stakeholder group began mentioning the idea of the hospital-based work to some of their constituents in the outpatient setting. This resulted in the author receiving emails over the course of the planning process from interested healthcare professionals in the community. Some of those emails asked about admitting a patient or client to the hospital specifically for the treatment of OUD. It needed to be communicated on several occasions that buprenorphine initiations were only being offered to patients who were admitted for a medical diagnosis other than opioid withdrawal. It was stressed that the program would not supplement the unfortunate dearth of clinics in the community that could offer medically assisted withdrawal to uninsured patients, and to do so would be against federal regulations. Rather, initiation of long-term maintenance therapy would be made available only for patients who presented to the hospital with OUD as a secondary diagnosis.

Learning from Others

There was a recognized knowledge gap among the clinical workgroup early. While the chief of psychiatry had utilized buprenorphine previously, none of the group members had used the medication as part of a hospital-based treatment approach or algorithm. The group divided the work for a literature search of hospital-based OUD treatment work. Ten papers were discovered (referenced previously), and the corresponding authors of the studies were emailed asking for time on the phone to discuss their process for beginning similar work at their institution. Four authors responded and participated in brief meetings. The interview guide for these short meetings is available in Figure 30. Brief memos collected from these meetings were incorporated into workflow development for the team.

Length of Stay Requirement

As the process for starting buprenorphine was discussed, one of the criteria developed based on initial research was that patients with an anticipated length of stay less than 72 hours would not be started on the medication. In these early stages of process development, it was felt that longer time spent in the hospital would yield more effective initiations. As one outpatient subject matter expert wrote "48h is not long enough for inductions in many cases. Safer to use 72h window." However, the group also recognized that some patients with OUD may only be admitted to the hospital for short periods of time – much less than 72 hours. The chief medical officer was asked if patients could be kept in the hospital for one additional day beyond what their medical diagnoses may dictate otherwise. This request was denied, and therefore, part of the initial criteria became that patients' anticipated stay on the hospitalist service be at least 72 hours.

Developing the Process

Service Line

Deciding which service lines would have access to the program was a key decision. Since the group was made of volunteers, it was felt that limiting the scope to specific areas of the hospital would be ideal. Therefore, for patients to receive buprenorphine therapy, it was originally decided that patients had to be admitted to the internal medicine. This meant buprenorphine was not available from the volunteer consult service for patients being cared for by the emergency department or general surgery service, among others.

Initiation Algorithm

There was significant discussion about the creation and implementation of an institutionspecific buprenorphine initiation algorithm. As part of the process of developing the algorithm, the team discovered that the Clinical Opioid Withdrawal Scale (COWS) assessment would need to be a paper form outside of the electronic health record. All paper forms were required to be approved by a hospital network "forms committee", which ultimately took several months for final authorization. A barcode was then created to ensure proper scanning into the electronic health record after patient discharge. The algorithm is provided in Appendix 6, and the final COWS form is available in Appendix 7.

Nursing role. The initial planning stages called for nursing staff to perform the COWS assessment every hour. This plan received substantial negative feedback from nursing leadership. There was typically one nurse for every four to five patients on the acute care floors. This ratio meant that following an algorithm that called for assessment every hour would not be possible. It was also hospital policy that patients requiring nursing assessments more frequently than every four hours had to be transferred to the intensive care unit. Transferring patients to the ICU for

buprenorphine initiation would be costly, prohibitive to general hospital workflows, and not clinically indicated otherwise. After careful discussion with nursing leadership, including the Director of Acute Care Nursing, it was agreed that nurses would be permitted to do the COWS assessment every two hours for three to four COWS cycles on the first day of initiation.

Nursing policy. During the initial discussions, bedside nurses raised concerns about policy that would allow them to administer buprenorphine based on the algorithm. In the absence of specific policy, some nurses felt they were putting themselves at increased liability. This was further vetted by nursing leadership who responded in an email communication:

Having policies in place is a generally good idea when an organization wants something to do be done a certain way every single time (e.g. removal of a central line) however, polices that are written about medication administration or treatment of specific conditions generally aren't able to take into consideration the nuances that individual patients have with their specific treatment needs. Policies don't lend themselves to this nuance and any time you're practicing outside the policy, you put yourself at risk. It's possible that we could write a guideline that is specific to treatment of patient experiencing opioid withdrawal but, even then, I would like to know about any specific gaps that have been identified which would likely help determine what would needed; either a guideline for use only at [Academic Medical Center] which is written to allow for some discretion in treatment, some formalized education on treatment of opioid withdrawal, or some updates to the orders that provide more thorough instruction on how

to administer Suboxone, side effects to monitor for, and when to notify the clinician. In subsequent meetings it was decided that buprenorphine-specific policies were not required and such policy would hinder ongoing progress. Rather, nursing education occurred as part of the annual nursing fair or just-in-time training at the time of a buprenorphine initiation would be sufficient

Discussion with outpatient clinic. During the vetting process, the OTC suggested it would be helpful to have a screening and approval process in place before buprenorphine initiation. The clinic was concerned about potential scenarios where the hospital-based team might initiate a patient on the medication and request follow-up, but the clinic may come to the conclusion that the patient was not actually appropriate. This would create several issues if the patient was already engaged in treatment through the hospital but now had nowhere to follow-up as an outpatient. This had already occurred once in the development process as mentioned earlier. Clinic leadership messaged via email:

Initial screening will allow us to identify clients that may require a pre-induction conversation between prescribers. I doubt that will be necessary for most clients, but there are certain conditions that typically illicit concern, and further inquiry. In an effort to be mindful and intentional of people's time, the initial screening will provide an opportunity to request more information/communication, only when applicable. Additionally, it is very helpful for scheduling purposes, to be aware of upcoming appointments that need to be prioritized, for a smooth transition of care. As we discussed previously, a conversation between physicians, post-induction, would be optimal, but we

have had successful transfers without that, in the case that scheduling does not permit. Therefore, it was initially agreed that all patients would be reviewed with the outpatient clinical medical director before inpatient initiation and before discharge. However, after careful consideration of how this process would be practically implemented during busy clinical days, it was decided to move forward with these conversations being optional. **Processing mapping exercise.** To further visualize and agree upon the process of buprenorphine initiation by each team member's and profession's role, a process mapping exercise was conducted. This was led by an individual with experience in facilitating group discussion. Process mapping occurred over approximately two hours and also served as a teambuilding exercise. The initial process map is shown in Appendix 8. A brief summary of the team is provided in Figure 31.

Electronic Health Record Order Sets

The creation of ordersets required hospital approval at regional and national levels. The team felt strongly that that prescribers would be more likely to initiate buprenorphine if an automated order process existed in the electronic health record. Since a traditional orderset could not be established in a timely manner, the team built one themselves and saved it in a folder under the nursing director. This folder was then made available to any staff member with access to the electronic health record. This workaround allowed for an alternative method of accessing a group of automated orders. The orders follow the algorithm. These are available in Figures 32 – 35. As two interviewees stated:

We also had to develop a standardized way to approach patients without a [nationally-approved] orderset. So we made our own with a bunch of favorite ordersets. -Clinical Team Member

Getting the orderset built into the computer system, into the EHR, I think would have been helpful from the beginning. It may require a little bit less education of staff. If they could just easily access everything, directly on the computer. That's about 99% of where we, from a nursing perspective, do our work. -Clinical Team Member

Education

General Education

Providing widespread education was discussed as being key to any institutional change, including introduction of a new medication and reducing stigma of specific patient population. This was accomplished through patient stories, word of mouth, department meetings, and oneon-one "just in time" trainings. The local recovery community was also engaged for advice on how to message OUD, its treatment, and harm reduction to hospital-based practitioners.

We did a lot of word of mouth and organized a lot of small education groups within different aspects of the hospital with administration, the social work team, the pharmacy team, and the new residents every year. We slowly built awareness. And then as patients came in we showed and educated. -Clinical Team Member

I think at the end of the day that was really helpful to be in person instead of rather than just sending out an email to overcome those misconceptions and stigma. So we got out of there and performed our presentation in front of so many groups and tried to answer questions. -Clinical Team Member

The educational efforts included going to different departments and telling them what we were doing, working with administration, having some successes, and reaching out to the community particularly engaging people in the recovery treatment community was really helpful. -Prescriber

I did the primary assessment for a patient down in the [observation unit] who ended up being a candidate for buprenorphine and the nurse practitioners down in the unit, I remember that they said some things that were a little, I guess made my hairs stand a little bit, like talking about how "I don't know if there's anything we can do for this guy." "He's been here X amount of times and yeah, he's an addict and I don't know if he's ready for help." I remember spending a lot of time talking with those providers and kinda telling them more about what buprenorphine is and they

had never heard of the drug. They had heard of the B-Team, but that was the only reason why they had heard of it. And so talking them through the pharmacodynamics of the medicine and that it's safe, it seems like that really opened the door for them to think differently about these patients. And the patient ended up being started on buprenorphine later that day. -Prescriber

One of our greatest successes is that we weren't complacent with getting a couple patients here and there. We kind of kept pushing the envelope and encouraging the entire hospital to be involved and educated on opioid use disorder as well as the stigma around it. -Clinical Team Member

However, striking a balance between clinical education and stigma reduction ultimately proved important. There may already be a perception by some providers that treating OUD with buprenorphine is complicated or high-risk. Providing extensive and in-depth repeated education may inadvertently bolster this belief by unintentionally reinforcing that such a high degree of education is needed for buprenorphine initiation, harm reduction, or stigma elimination.

There was some level of complexity that was developed early on within our program that in some ways helped from an education standpoint, but also created a little bit of a barrier by increasing the complexity of what it requires to start buprenorphine in some cases. Over time, part of it is just our staff: medicine, nursing, pharmacy in general are more familiar with buprenorphine. And so even despite any complexities of initiation or titration and that sort of thing it no longer is as, as big of an issue. But I think early on the creation of certain protocols though necessary and in some ways useful also could be seen as a hindrance of this and may be more complicated than it seems. -Prescriber

I think the educational tools for providers, nurses, staff, the development of the B-Team intranet website with all of those tools easily available to all employees was important. The messaging on the floors, all of the different educational tools I think were important to the rollout and success. Similarly, lectures with residents, faculty, nursing staff, pharmacy staff, things like that. I think were critically important. As with many, many projects, the first time you engage in a positive outcome it's easy to build on that. But getting to that first positive outcome is the big challenge. And so starting small, starting with identifying a single patient and initiating buprenorphine earlier rather than later. And then developing sort of strategies as you learn about sort of things that need to need to be developed along the way is probably a good approach that doesn't stifle or slow down the process too much. You could take six months developing all the educational tools, literature, lectures, series, all of that. Or you could start initiating buprenorphine on patients that are in the hospital and continue to develop those tools over time with orientation towards your specific patient population. -Prescriber

As part of the funding provided by the National Institute on Drug Abuse, the team was able to contract with an academic entity specialized in health communication. This team of researchers with extensive experience in graphic design and health communication worked with the team to create flyers for institution-wide education. These flyers were distributed at department meetings, internal presentations, and lectures. They were also attached to the walls of nursing break rooms and staff bathrooms. The flyer is shown in Appendix 9. It is important to develop a plan for educating the institution about buprenorphine itself. For nursing staff, comparing the overall algorithm to that of alcohol withdrawal was helpful. Ensuring there was a support system for physicians and nurses to ask questions or receive clarifications was also helpful. References were developed to support clinical workflows, and a clear differentiation was made between buprenorphine and methadone.

The cows is so similar to the CIWA scale as far as how you do it. So just by saying, "it's just like a CIWA" helped to make sure nurses, nursing managers, the CNO of the hospital more comfortable. -Prescriber

Another barrier as a provider would be not feeling comfortable with all the little wrinkles that come up. But, with two experienced clinicians, I felt like I had someone I could go to. -Prescriber

I think a big thing too is people are scared of buprenorphine because they think it's methadone. -Clinical Team Member

Internal website. The team built an internal website to serve as a central digital hub for information related to buprenorphine therapy and hospital-specific protocols and policies.

Screenshots are available in Appendix 10.

The B-team internet site - that has been integral. -Prescriber

Stigma Reduction

Stigma against patients with OUD was appreciated as a barrier to treatment during hospitalization. Clinicians at the bedside and administrators may have initially stigmatized substance use disorders to the extent that treating OUD during hospitalization was seen as unimportant or ineffective.

I think our biggest impact was changing attitudes about these patients. A big part of stigma reduction has been role modeling. Being enthusiastic about treating these patients and treating them with respect. I think that has been really, really important in changing behavior and attitudes. -Prescriber

I think there's a whole lot of people out there, even my wonderful colleagues and colleagues across the world who still believe addiction is just a matter of willpower and you know. They still put a bad person as opposed to a bad disease framework around it. And I think that's a problem. -Prescriber

We had a big barrier in the hospital in terms of providers and staff stigmatizing patients and not wanting to deal with. These patients were thought of as being difficult and as bringing issues onto themselves through their behavior and substance use issues. I think that carried over to not just providers but also to administration thinking these aren't desirable patients, and we don't want to deal with these patients. -Prescriber

Stigma may limit a provider's willingness to work with patients who have OUD as there may be a certain degree of perceived skill or knowledge needed to do so appropriately or effectively.

When I think back to the first couple of people I was nervous. I was scared. I was afraid I wouldn't be able to convey that I was nonjudgmental of their opiate use disorder. That I understood that they were caught in this terrible addiction. That I understood and wanted to help them. I think sometimes patients feel judged and that leads to them leaving. And I think I was afraid that it felt like the pressure was on to prove that I really did care and I really did want to help. And then once they agreed, then it's really important to get a history. And that history is very different from when did you last get your tetanus shot? This is intense history. It gets into what kind of stressors in their life have they that led to them wanting to hide in addiction, hide in opiates. It's very intense. I mean it's rare that a patient doesn't cry, for example, during a consultation. It's an intense emotional journey that you agree to take on with your patient and then help them get through it. The actual administration of the drug and evaluating it and tweaking the dose and all of that - that's the easy part. I think the more difficult part is making the connection and proving to the patient that you really do get what's going on with them and that you care about them and that you're going to be there for them. -Prescriber

Institutional education about appropriate language may have improved stigma by expanding knowledge and improving attitudes among clinical providers. Further, educating clinicians about buprenorphine may have subsequently opened the door to having difficult conversations about stigma and substance use disorders that otherwise would not have occurred.

We really hit the ground running with holding talks or education sessions. We participated in the nursing education fair. We worked in groups with all the new residents coming in and talking about stigma surrounding the disease... Talking about addiction and letting people know that addiction can happen to anyone. It doesn't have to be a homeless patient that comes in. It can be me. It can be your mom. It can be your brother. It can be your sister. The more we talk about it the better we do reducing stigma. -Clinical Team Member

We've reduced stigma throughout the hospital and I would say we've reduced stigma throughout the hospital system by setting an example. Like many providers, I didn't think there was a lot we could do in the hospital setting for these patients. And once we started to have these initial conversations, I realized that there was an evidence-based treatment that was accessible to me as a clinician in the hospital. Word of mouth has spread and staff now realize that they are not just limited to managing withdrawal and promoting abstinence. - Clinical Team Member

I still sometimes hear "Oh, he's just a drug abuser" or "Oh, he's an addict." But the degree at which I hear that is much lower as compared to before. I feel like because my co-residents now know that there's something, we can offer these patients, that they feel able to provide assistance as opposed to feeling like the patient is just an addict, just a junkie, doing it to themselves and there's nothing we can do. -Prescriber

I think we've done a lot of education about using the right terminology, not being judgmental, and really coming at patients from an aspect of caring and wanting to help. I think a lot of these patients have preconceived notions of how hospitals will treat them based on how they have been treated in the past. They're going to be on guard and they're going to be looking at how that provider is talking to them. They're going to judge us too. And if they judge us wrong, they might say no thank you or they might leave AMA. -Clinical Team Member
Nurse Education

As discussed previously, nursing staff was recognized as key participants requiring training regarding buprenorphine initiation. Nurses were responsible for performing the COWS assessment and administering the medication per order in the electronic health record.

The hospital hosted a twice annual "nursing fair" to accomplish widespread instruction on new or updated topics relevant to nursing care. Attendance was required of all bedside nurses throughout the institution. The team requested a booth at the fair, which was approved by the director of nursing education. Brief education, less than five minutes, was required by all acute care nurses about buprenorphine initiation and the COWS assessment. The education was optional for critical care and emergency department nurses.

The core team also arranged for brief three-to-five minute presentations at nursing huddles which took place at the beginning of each shift. These short information sessions took place on a rotating schedule during the first few weeks of the program's launch. At each of the information sessions and trainings, the nurse information sheet was shared and is available in Appendix 11. A significant amount of time was invested early on in educating nurses about the COWS assessment and buprenorphine protocol. However, once a critical mass of nurses received this education, those with experience were able to train others on their unit.

Every time I see a new patient, I always ask the nurse, "do you know what a COWS is?" "Have you checked out the B team page?" More often than not they're like, "Oh yeah, I totally read all that." Or "Oh yeah, I'm good." But that was obviously a lot of work on the front end to have a lot of information out there and available to help people feel comfortable with this sort of change of how they were caring for patients in the hospital. -Prescriber

The biggest barrier was working with individual nurses who hadn't used the protocol before. Walking them through [the protocol] was a barrier. -Prescriber I think we reached enough staff in the beginning by doing the nurse education fair and really showing them the nursing COWS assessment, showing them where to access it on the intranet. Because we reached so many nurses in the beginning, every floor in our hospital has at least a handful of nurses that are familiar with the program. When we have a newer nurse or someone that may not be familiar with the program, generally there's someone there that is like, "Oh, I've done that. I've done that three or four times already. Like it's easy. Let me show you." - Clinical Team Member

Nurse empowerment. Nursing staff were empowered to advocate for patients with OUD and promote treatment and harm reduction principles. This was seen as a cornerstone of program success. By treating withdrawal in the hospital setting, some patients may have become more adherent with the plan of care. Further, bedside nurses may be the first member of the care team to recognize a patient has OUD.

I think a lot of it is just keeping nursing engaged. They have the power to reach out to us or to reach out to their primary medical team. It sometimes is missed in the H&P that this patient may have opioid use disorder. The patient doesn't want to divulge it at that time for whatever reason. -Clinical Team Member

The nurse's usually the first one who sees opioid withdrawal and says "Uh oh. For the first time in two days of being in the hospital, [the patient] just said they use heroin." -Psych

We really empowered nurses. I think that could be something that other sites easily missed, but nurses were the source of a lot of our referrals. So I think getting nursing staff engaged is really important. - Clinical Team Member

I think the nurses are uniformly enthusiastic. It makes their job so much easier and it's super helpful. Caring for patients on buprenorphine is so much easier. -Prescriber

Attending and Resident Education

Internal medicine residents were engaged and trained as part of the educational process. This included attending noon conferences and presenting OUD-based morning report cases. Lectures were adapted from slide decks available from the Support Hospital Opioid Use Treatment (SHOUT) program. These trainings were led by the internal medicine resident on the Core Team. Attending physician and resident education may have also led to increased overall participation from clinical staff. In particular as an academic center, teaching evidence-based treatment of OUD to trainees was considered relevant, and those residents may have influenced their supervising attendings in some cases.

The other area where it's been incredibly rich is that we're a teaching hospital. These cases are very focused and are rich in both kind of clinical teaching of how to use buprenorphine, but also in how to interview patients without judgment and to really engage in full patient-centered care. I think that has been really fantastic. -Prescriber

It's important to get resident and student involvement so that treating opioid use disorders really becomes part of the learning environment. People will carry that with them for the rest of their careers. -Prescriber

Especially as a teaching institution, a really great way to do it is to train all the residents because then there's pressure from below. And that way you get some of the grumpy older providers who are never going to change to do it. -Prescriber

I was in training not so long ago and I feel like I can still somewhat relate to what it's like to be a resident in training. There was no formalized training on addiction or substance use disorders, nor was it a core focus of training. It was a very rampant issue in the community. We all volunteered some of our additional time outside of residency to work in these clinics or work on

needle exchange vans. But it was never structured in any way. When it comes to substance use disorders, there's a little bit of a disconnect because the way that it works for us is that they consult the B team and the B team assumes the responsibility for that care and provides the appropriate recommendations for treatment. I think it would be great and highly beneficial for the residents to be an active part of that process. They can learn a lot more about their patients and the stressors and the life situations that have brought to brought them to where they are. That can provide a lot of insight and build a lot of empathy which can then drive their interest in enhancing this care. Thankfully we have something wonderful that has shown great outcomes that we can utilize and is available to us. So I think it gives them a potential to have an active role, feel like they're participating and making a difference potentially for these patients, especially the ones that they see repeatedly for conditions that are associated with their substance use disorders. -Prescriber

Pharmacist Education

The pharmacy department hosted a one-hour in-service training about buprenorphine led by the Core Team's pharmacist. The slides were provided by the Support Hospital Opioid Use Treatment (SHOUT) program. In addition, the team pharmacist authored a memorandum for the pharmacy department about the new program and utilization of buprenorphine based on the Situation Background Assessment Recommendations (SBAR) method. The pharmacist education document is provided in Appendix 12 and the SBAR is provided in Appendix 13.

Institutional Education

In addition to building awareness of indications for buprenorphine and its clinical applications, the team recognized the need to start fundamentally shifting culture away from a detoxification-only mentality to a treatment and harm reduction mentality. By speaking about buprenorphine, the team felt it would be possible to open doors for additional productive conversations about the treatment of patients with OUD. Therefore, several non-clinical presentations were arranged as follows.

Medical executive committee. The Medical Executive Committee (MEC) was charged with creating clinically-oriented policy across the hospital. The monthly meetings were comprised of division chiefs across all service lines in addition to key hospital administrators such as the president, chief medical officer, and chief nursing officer. Presentation slides are provided in Appendix 14.

All-hands meeting. The "All Hands" meeting was a quarterly event at the medical school in a large auditorium with representatives and leaders from numerous departments and divisions across the institution. The meeting was primarily an opportunity for the dean to share important news and developments from around the school. In addition, there were usually two to three five-minute presentations from groups with innovative initiatives or programs. The core team was asked to present at one of the meetings. The brief address is provided in Appendix 15.

Process Improvement Council. Interprofessionalism was incorporated as a cornerstone of the program from the beginning. The Process Improvement Council was a quarterly meeting of interprofessional stakeholders from the acute care areas of the hospital. Nursing is well represented at this meeting in addition to attending physicians and residents. The presentation given at this meeting is provided in Appendix 16.

X-waiver training. The team advocated for an x-waiver training for the regional prescriber community around the time of the program's launch. The training was offered free of charge through the federally funded Provider Clinical Support Systems. The institution offered space and PCSS arranged for a trainer, processed registrations, and provided handouts and

continuing medical education. Several local organizations such as the local medical society agreed to promote the event.

A substantial amount of work went into delineating the different between ordering buprenorphine as part of hospitalization and prescribing buprenorphine for the treatment of OUD at discharge so that a patient could pick up the medication from a retail pharmacy. It was a common misunderstanding by clinicians, pharmacists, and administrators that any provider incorporating buprenorphine into their care plan needed to have an x-waiver, whereas only those prescribing buprenorphine at the time of discharge to be filled at a retail pharmacy needed to have the x-waiver.

We had to overcome the misconception that you cannot start Suboxone in the hospital setting without an x-waiver. Working with the pharmacist and the medical staff to overcome that was important. In the outpatient setting, there's been all sorts of confusion with the [hospital-based retail pharmacy] around who has an X waiver and things like that. They were very hesitant at first, but I think talking to them again really helped a lot. One thing that's been a real barrier as you know, is mid-levels have had a lot of trouble prescribing. I know that's been hard for a least two to set up. So those sorts of regulatory barriers have definitely been a challenge. - Clinical Team Member

Open Forum

Early on in the program's development and initiation, the team hosted a one-hour "open forum" for community stakeholders to engage and ask questions. This dialogue provided an opportunity for decision-makers who did not have a daily operational role in hospital or community-based OUD treatment to offer feedback and build a better understanding of the program's mission and goal. Approximately 30 leaders from the community attended the event.

Local Area Opioid Workgroup

At the county level, a group met frequently to discuss initiatives, policies, and programs in the region to benefit patients with OUD. The team was asked to present at this meeting, which was attended by individuals whose daily role was to provide care for this patient population.

Building Momentum

Witnessing Efficacy

Buy-in and momentum was built as care teams in the hospital began to observe the efficacy of buprenorphine therapy during hospitalization.

Seeing the efficacy of treatment had a huge impact on people. It's like "Oh, this isn't hopeless. I've always thought this is hopeless, but this isn't hopeless. There is treatment for this and it actually works." And I think when people see it work, it makes a big impact. -Prescriber

Sharing Impact

The initial program launch was scheduled for July 2018. However, in June of the same year, an opportunity presented to initiate buprenorphine for a patient with OUD who was admitted for endocarditis. The patient expressed a desire to leave the hospital against medical advice secondary to uncontrolled opioid withdrawal. After discussion with the patient and chief medical officer, the patient was started on buprenorphine therapy. By the next morning, the patient was feeling well and was cooperative and adherent with the plan of care. He completed six weeks of hospitalization without any further issues and attended his follow-up appointment at the OTC. The outpatient case manager wrote shortly after:

I wanted to share with you all that during the assessment, he became quite emotional, started crying to the point where he could not talk (not just tearful), and expressed a lot of gratitude for everything you all have provided there, for him. He acknowledged that he was so relieved to not have been kicked out after having been caught using in the hospital, but more importantly, it really seemed to be about his feelings, and almost disbelief, that "they actually really care about me." It was kind of heartbreaking, but very awesome that you all have made such an impact.

This message was shared widely with the internal stakeholder group in addition to the narrative provided in Appendix 15. In particular, among nurses and social workers, the story of a successful buprenorphine initiation and the positive impact of that initiation on a patient's hospital course was shared across the institution. As more bedside staff learned of the story, demand for buprenorphine consultations slowly increased.

Continual Improvement

The group met on a regular and continual basis in an effort to quickly assess the program's roll-out and need for improvement. These meetings were performed in the spirit of the Institute for Healthcare Improvement's Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) model of continuous improvement (Institute for Healthcare Improvement, 2020). In the beginning, the group had a standing weekly meeting to evaluate progress from items identified the week before. A single area for change or improvement was discussed and then quickly implemented. Several enhancements were made to the program based on this model. For example, the process by which the team received consultation requests was transformed over the course of the first several weeks of the program. Initially, only the primary care team (resident or attending physician) could request buprenorphine initiation. However, the program soon recognized that nurses and social workers were often recognizing OUD more quickly than the primary teams. Through the improvement meetings, a new process was created where nurses or social workers requested the services of the team. After the first two months, meetings were changed to twice

monthly and eventually once monthly with an additional but optional second meeting monthly if needed.

Another change was altering the exclusion criteria for patient participation. Ultimately, any patient who would benefit from buprenorphine therapy was seen by the team. The only criteria were that patients must have been age 18 or older and have met diagnostic criteria for OUD. Interestingly, as the inpatient team eliminated inclusion criteria over time, the OTC did the same in parallel.

I recall sitting in on several meetings at [the OTC] speaking with their staff and getting a bit discouraged at the limited eligibility criteria that they had for their program... And that they really would want patients that we refer to them to fall in that eligibility criteria and had originally included things stable housing and no comorbid physical or addiction illnesses... but at the beginning they just wanted to make sure that they had capacity to accept all these patients and understandably so because really without having another outpatient clinic to send these patients to our program wouldn't be feasible. -Prescriber

Community Engagement

Part of the team's overall promotional strategy was to contribute to the national conversation about opioid treatment through non-peer reviewed publication such as blog posts. This would serve two purposes: to share the work with others who may be interested in starting something similar in their hospital and to take those publications and share them internally as a way to encourage institutional adoption. For example, by having an article published by a professional medical society, legitimacy could be added to the local effort. In addition, the team engaged with local media to generate stories in the local press about the importance of hospital-based substance use disorder treatment and transitions from the hospital to the community at discharge.

Resulting challenges. Information about the program spread in the community within two groups: clinical providers and patients. The primary local newspaper ran a story about the program on the front of the Sunday edition. This generated interest from patients who were left with the impression that they could present to the emergency department and receive buprenorphine therapy. Within 24 hours, hospital executives received messages of concern that "several patients" had visited the ED for this purpose and had to be sent away since the program did not have any services in the emergency department. Upon further review and discussion with ED leadership who were on duty during that time period, it appeared that three patients had asked for treatment based on the article during the 24-hour period. Administration was initially left with the impression that many patients had "flocked" to the ED for this service, but this was resolved when objective information was shared. While buprenorphine was not available in the emergency department, social workers were empowered with resources to make available for interested patients.

One concern of administration from the inception of the program was that as more people in the community learned about the program, there would be increased interest in patients with OUD receiving care specifically at the single hospital. Prior to the program's launch, administrators believed that patients with OUD were somewhat distributed across the city's hospitals. However, by offering a program tailored for this patient population at a single hospital, it was felt that patients may preferentially choose that hospital for their OUD-related care. The resulting disproportionate increase in OUD care at Academic Medical Center would potentially pose two issues: Reimbursement for medical services related to OUD for patients who were underinsured and uninsured was complex and presumably expensive for the institution as a result, and the perception that patient's with OUD were disruptive and challenging and therefore would attract more cases of OUD, which may be detrimental to the care experience for neighboring patients and employee satisfaction.

As the program continued to grow, the hospital was indeed sometimes sought out specifically for its OUD-related program. Patients asked to be transported by ambulance to the hospital for treatment of medical complications of OUD. It was common for patients to mention access to buprenorphine and reduced stigma as primary reasons for this. However, some patients also asked to be transferred to the hospital after already being admitted to another facility within the same hospital network, or at another local hospital in a separate system altogether. Because interfacility transfers require physician approval, the team sometimes received phone calls from other facilities asking for patients to be transferred because the originating facility did not have the "capability" of offering buprenorphine therapy, and therefore a transfer was felt to be appropriate for reasons related to a "higher level of care." Counseling and recommendations were provided to these outside physicians. In particular, it was repeatedly messaged that no special capability or training was required to initiate buprenorphine therapy in the hospital and that the team was happy to provide support from a distance.

In addition, frequent communication with administration was necessary to ensure satisfaction that patients would not be transferred to the hospital specifically and solely for buprenorphine initiation. However, there were three instances where patients with endocarditis who required six weeks of intravenous antibiotics left another hospital against medical advice, arrived at Academic Medical Center's emergency department, and were subsequently admitted to complete long-term therapy. Had the program not been in existence, this likely would not have occurred. In addition, two of these cases were likely facilitated unofficially by paramedics who had strong relationships with patients and who knew about the program. However, as a result of these transfers, patients were able to access holistic hospital-based treatment.

Lastly, the team began receiving phone calls and emails from community-based providers asking if patients could be admitted to the hospital for medically assisted withdrawal. Over a period of several months, inquiries from paramedics and other community providers were met with careful and intentional counseling and education about the role of the program and the absolute need for patients to be admitted for a medical diagnosis other than OUD itself. Much of this education centered around the laws and regulations of opioid treatment programs, and the importance of recognizing the hospital would not have such a designation.

The patients were already coming to the hospital anyway. Before starting the program, we were still seeing patients who use heroin or use other drugs and they were probably just going in and going out. - Clinical Team Member

I think there's good word of mouth in the community about our program. That hasn't led to an increase seeing patients with OUD. If anything, I think we're more effectively able to treat the patients we were already seeing... We've definitely run into barriers with administration being fearful of the program causing increases in our patient population seeking treatment. It was important to overcome that stigma and help them realize that we were only treating patients who were already admitted to the hospital. -PharmD

It never occurred to me "wait a minute, we're going to be attracting opioid abusers here that we wouldn't otherwise get" I just assumed we were getting them already. We already had them. - Prescriber

It just hasn't happened. I think we can make predictions about what phenomenon may or may not happen, but the data tells a clearer story. -Clinical Team Member

However, there was recognition that "flocking" might be a possibility at other institutions. This would be mitigated by buprenorphine initiation being standard of care at all hospitals in a region.

People go to the hospital where they know they can get the care that they need. Frequently that's the hospital closest to them. For example, if you have substandard cardiac care at one hospital versus another hospital then patients might prefer the hospital with better cardiac care. I would argue the same for OUD. -Prescriber

There might be a challenge for the one hospital that does it initially. Once the word gets out that there's a group of people at our hospital that care about me as an addicted person, will care about my friends, will take good care of me without judgment and help me - there is a risk of patients flooding to our doors wanting help and that's wonderful on one hand, but that's not the main mission of our hospital. It's not the mission of administration. So it needs to be offered everywhere. And it's just not yet. -Prescriber

Early Results and Outcomes

In the first twelve months of the program, 122 adult hospitalized patients were referred to the team. Of those, 50 patients were eligible to receive buprenorphine therapy and all were initiated on the medication. There were several reasons the other 72 patients did not receive buprenorphine therapy. These included disinterest by the patient, short length of stay, prior engagement in methadone treatment, not meeting diagnostic criteria of OUD, or severe comorbid illness (Figure 36). Of the 50 patients initiated on therapy, 45 were referred to the outpatient clinic. Five patients were discharged to a skilled nursing facility, correctional facility, or left the hospital against medical advice (Figure 37). Of the 45 patients who were referred to the outpatient clinic, 60% attended the one-week appointment, and 14% were still engaged in care at 6 months (Figure 38). Patients who engage in outpatient treatment tend to stay in outpatient

treatment. Of the 27 patients who made their 1-week appointment, 63% made their one-month appointment. Of those 17 patients, 35% made their three-month appointment, and of those six, half made their six-month appointment (Figure 39). There was an average of 5.75 buprenorphine orders per month in the year prior to the starting the program, and an average of 28.75 orders per month in the year following the program's launch (Figure 40).

Perceived Patient Response

As a result of the program, patients may feel supported and respected in the hospital setting, which may be different from experiences they have had in other institutions.

I think patients are really happy to have someone respect where they're at and understand that this is not easy. Being in the hospital is not easy. They're scared of the unknown. But, I think they feel really welcomed. They feel trusting of people who are understanding of what they're going through and able to direct them in a path. It's probably going to set them up for success more than other interactions with providers or hospitals that they've had before. I think patients seem really future-oriented. - Clinical Team Member

I was just blown away with how surprised a patient was that a program like ours exists and his feelings of gratitude were just immense. The fact that he even said that people on the streets, people using drugs now know about our program because it's made such an impact on his life and the lives of other friends that he had had. I just find that for lack of better words, I'm left in awe, that just the simplicity of offering patients' treatment in the hospital setting could have such a profound ripple effect as that. And could give people hope in a disease process that otherwise is mainly full of despair and anxiety and a lack of self-confidence. -Prescriber

Just having someone come in who treats them with respect and wants to hear about their experiences in an authentic, real way. A non-voyeuristic way. Just wanting to listen and hear. That alone is a real huge seismic shift for many of our patients. And then being offered treatment is great. I think some of the patients that have given the most positive responses have been those who buprenorphine is not going to work. But just the fact that we're there and want to talk to them about their substance abuse and want to listen to them and want to hear them. It makes a difference. -Prescriber

I think most of the patients we talk to about [buprenorphine] are kind of exuberant that we actually have a program addressing it. That there's someone on their side. That we want to do what we can to take care of them. That they have options. That they don't have to worry about going into withdrawal in the hospital. That there is a possibility of a way that seems manageable or at least semi manageable to stop using. I've really just gotten a lot of really positive feedback from patients. -Clinical Team Member

Patients who have been involved in the program are nothing short of thankful for even being given the opportunity and for not being treated how they have been treated in the past at other hospitals. They aren't judged. They are spoken to in a manner that we understand this addiction and that we want to help them. We're not here to judge them. We want to offer them the opportunity to take the next step. -Clinical Team Member

I've seen a culture shift among physicians, leadership, and on the floor among nursing staff - they feel supported. They feel like they're some expertise about how to answer some of these tough questions. -Clinical Team Member

Perceived Impact on Organizational Culture

Overall, initiating buprenorphine as part of acute hospitalization appeared to have resulted in a perceived improvement of organizational culture around OUD treatment and stigma of substance use disorders. This was accomplished by sharing patient stories, recognizing OUD is a medical disease with physiologic characteristics, and a realization for many healthcare workers that there are systems of care and treatments available to help patients with OUD.

Find cases you know, people that came in that were really having a hard time, ones that are willing to tell their testimonial, just have some vignettes that would talk about somebody's life that you turned around in their own words. I wasn't really a believer that docs and nurses needed that. But, I'm seeing it really does seem to influence people. They need sometimes see an actual human face on a program like this. -Leadership

Our cultural change really depended upon telling patient stories, mainly because people don't really connect with numbers, but the stories just tend to resonate... That was a huge tool that we used to leverage that cultural change. That opened the doors for us to enter different service lines and also just get the support of our nurses and doctors in the hospital... Time and time again, we hear these incredible stories and honestly that's where the power is in this program. -Prescriber

A huge success has been the change in how all the other hospital workers see the B team, how they see people with opiate use disorder. People are realizing it's the drug, not the person. The drug causes the behavior. -Prescriber

I feel like the nursing staff has been so receptive. At first we needed some of that stigma reduction and education. There was a lot of hesitancy. And I think a lot of providers and nurses now feel like we have a tool now to help these patients. They don't feel so helpless at the bedside. Before where there were very minimal resources. Now we have a whole team of people that can help them and teach them and can help them treat the underlying disease. -Clinical Team Member

It's clear that our hospital treats folks with opioid use disorder differently and better than others. -Prescriber I've had tons of positive comments [from staff]. "Thank God you're here." "I'm so glad you're taking care of him or her." "She's so different today than yesterday." "I can't believe what a difference." He's being so agreeable to wound care." "I'm so glad that he's not in pain anymore." I mean, really positive comments. -Prescriber

I've spoken with at least 10 nurses that have told me how much their patient changed in the course of just a few hours after getting inducted on Suboxone and how they went from this kind of aggressive "I'm going to leave AMA" taking up all of the nurses time, calling the provider, trying to convince the patients to stay. I think the nurses have also started to recognize that they're doing something good for this patient. They're not just improving their shift or work experience, but they're really helping this person if they stay the entire course of their medical treatment. - Clinical Team Member

I think there's more of an understanding that this disease isn't just someone's moral failing and that it's not just their decision to continue to use, that there's a lot more at play socially and biochemically. This medicine helps patients stabilize their brains so that they can get the help they need and make the changes in life that they want to make. -Prescriber

B-Team perceptions of OUD. Team members expressed that participation on the team influenced their perceptions of patients with opioid and substance use disorders. Judgmental and stigmatizing attitudes improved, as did appreciation for appropriate and thorough history-taking.

I used to say "Oh, of course I'm open minded and nonjudgmental about treating patients with substance use and opiate use disorder." But, you know, looking back on it now, I think I was judgmental. -Prescriber

Just taking a substance use history, I had never been taught to do that long list of questions and really dive deep into people's use and where it came from and what they've been through. I

thought I was doing a good job by asking "have you ever been sober and what's the longest you've been sober?" Most providers don't even do that. -Prescriber

I definitely stigmatized this population in the past and now I am ashamed of how I would approach these patients. I just didn't think there was a lot that could be done and I just didn't have a lot of faith in I guess recovery. Which now just feels so bitter and terrible coming out of my mouth. - Clinical Team Member

It really has impacted me in terms of giving more humanity to patients; seeing them as people and not patients... it's really impacted me in the way that I practice medicine. Just remembering there's a story behind every person and how they ended up where they are. And just a lot of times the most important thing you can do is just ask, tell, ask. -Prescriber

Personally I would say that it has allowed me to engage with my patients in conversations that I sometimes shy away from due to due to various reasons whether it's time constraints or some other pressure related constraints but knowing that this is a treatment strategy that I'm actively trying to engage in pushes me to sort of say that I have a professional role to engage in some of these conversations, I think just from a purely personal standpoint is helpful. This is very gratifying. -Prescriber

Implementation Themes and Messages

Overall, three main themes were revealed in analysis. Early and ongoing engagement with a diverse group of internal and external interprofessional and multidisciplinary clinicians and administrators was key to success. A thoughtful and careful approach was needed to educate all members of the care team about the role and efficacy of buprenorphine for the treatment of OUD and how the medication can be initiated from a workflow perspective. Educating staff about buprenorphine contributed to shifting culture, raising awareness, and promoting important conversations about systems-based practice for hospitalized patients with OUD and reducing stigma. Finally, an initial approach to buprenorphine care delivery needs to be adopted, such as a consultation service, with special attention to the pros and cons of that process and the ability to engage in frequent evaluation and adaptation.

In addition, several consistent messages were shared with stakeholders and were evident in the documentation reviewed for this paper. This content was the foundation of much of the communication about buprenorphine and the program, and was shared widely with stakeholders. These messages include information about the clinical efficacy of buprenorphine, regulatory environment, and systems-based practice. Opportunities to engage in discussions about buprenorphine were actively sought, which may have led to additional conversation about appropriate care and management of OUD. The salient points are provided in Figure 41.

What's Next?

Several interviewees commented that they felt other hospitals in the country should have a similar program, and that treating opioid use disorder during hospitalization should be the standard of care. Action should be taken to increase health equity for access to substance use disorder treatment programs. Further education is needed to continue instilling empathy among hospital-based clinicians and staff.

The program alleviates human misery and human suffering and treats our patients. It's very patient centric. And I think wherever you are, doesn't matter what hospital you're at. There's so much opiate problems in the United States and so much of it is orders of magnitude more potent than it used to be. Being able to tell that story really resonates with people and it would be compelling in any hospital. -Prescriber

I think this is something that should be in every hospital in the United States, every hospital in the world. I truly believe that. Positive evidence-based treatment should be offered to all hospitalized patients who have a comorbidity of OUD or come in primarily with an overdose. -Prescriber

The medicine part is easy. The complex social needs, provider alignment, and making sure the meds are filled with pharmacy. That gets complicated quickly. Dealing with poverty, trauma, and poor coping behaviors. That's real hard. -Prescriber

Other hospitals absolutely need to start this. It is standard of care and if you don't have a program like this in place, you are under treating your patients. You're not doing a good job taking care of your patients. -Prescriber

There's definitely opportunity in fore fronting conversations around the intersection of health equity and quality improvement as it specifically relates to substance use disorders or opioid use disorders. How to think about strategically developing a program with an equity framework. I think that's something that we're engaging in now and it has been some part of the conversation I think in the past, but could be more robust in many ways of trying to understand public policy, institutional racism, structural racism, the history of health system development over the course of the last several decades really, and how that specifically effected the epidemic of opioid use disorders and also other substance use disorders that the development of certain stigmas over time. -Prescriber

I think people are scared and timid of all the things our patients have been through. They don't know how to convey that they care about them. They may feel it's not what they signed up for something. People just aren't comfortable with what we do all the time. - Clinical Team Member Chapter 5: Discussion and Lessons Learned

Treating opioid use disorder during hospitalization with buprenorphine among other interventions has been well described in the literature (Englander, Dobbertin, et al., 2019; Liebschutz et al., 2014; Suzuki J et al., 2015; Trowbridge et al., 2017). The case study presented is unique to the literature as the program described is managed by a team of volunteers already present within the walls of the hospital. As described, the development of a volunteer-based program to treat hospitalized patients with OUD with buprenorphine while reducing stigma of OUD is feasible, even with limited resources including the absence of an addiction medicine consultation service and absence of Medicaid expansion. The following facilitators and barriers were identified for the creation and implementation of the program. These descriptions may be beneficial for other institutions.

First, recognition across stakeholder groups that hospitalization is a reachable moment for patients to begin their journey to recovery is important. Where many hospitals may view substance use disorders as a diagnosis strictly managed in the outpatient setting, this program intentionally addresses in-hospital OUD treatment in parallel to medical treatment with positive outcomes. Such work is likely to improve hospital-based metrics such as mortality, readmissions, patient experience, and staff satisfaction. Interprofessionalism is paramount to a successful program of addressing opioid use disorder in the hospital setting. No one discipline is capable of understanding and impacting the many facets and issues surrounding opioid use disorder. Volunteerism may facilitate and accelerate this work early on through mutual interest, dedication, and teamwork. However, over time, relying on volunteers to conduct clinical work in addition to their regular daily responsibilities presents challenges. In addition, depending on the number of volunteers, it is likely that coverage gaps will exist in particular during overnight hours and weekends.

Similarly, establishing a consultation service model likely facilitates adoption of OUD treatment and harm reduction, but presents challenges later on. A consultation service seems to raise a large amount of awareness while only providing minimal to moderate education for non-team members. While this may achieve the goal of increasing buprenorphine utilization and appears to reduce stigma, it is unlikely that many non-team members will learn enough to manage buprenorphine on their own. The ease of relying on a consultation service may limit complete clinical adoption at the level of individual practitioners.

Having an accessible outpatient clinical partner facilitates stakeholder engagement as does executive support. There may be times when administrators become cautious of the work particularly around patients presenting to the emergency department specifically seeking treatment of OUD. However, potential issues can be mitigated with increased frequency and depth of program communications and updates.

An in-hospital retail pharmacy may facilitate launch of a program since patients can obtain buprenorphine bridge prescriptions before leaving the hospital and because the inpatient team has familiarity with the pharmacists. However, a barrier may be that not all insurance is accepted at the pharmacy. In this instance, the hospital may choose to pay for the bridge prescription to facilitate patient follow-up.

Overall, the largest barrier is lack of education around OUD treatment and harm reduction among hospital clinicians, staff, and administrations in addition to stigma. Also, even in the early days of a program, volunteers may have a learning curve around clinical and systems-based practice. Some volunteers may recognize their own stigmatizing bias early on, which can improve with increased education and work at the bedside. Access to a network of content and addiction medicine experts in the early phases of such a program is critical. Further discussion is provided by the themes outlined previously.

Theme 1: Early and ongoing engagement with a diverse group of internal and external interprofessional and multidisciplinary clinicians and administrators is key to success. Outpatient Clinical Partnerships

Meeting the goal of assisting patients to start or continue their journey to recovery required strong, intentional, and meaningful connection to an outpatient clinic. The Opioid Treatment Clinic provided an opportunity for patients to seamlessly establish OUD-related care including buprenorphine after discharge. The relationship with the OTC, which was not owned by or formally affiliated with Academic Medical Center, exemplifies the significant relationships that should exist between hospitals and community clinics in addressing substance use disorders. From a revenue cycle perspective, such relationships are also mutually beneficial as the hospital could serve as an important referral source to community clinics. Further, in the case of buprenorphine, much of the treatment cost may occur earlier in the continuum of care when the burden of counseling, medication management, and laboratory testing is higher. These services are often provided in the hospital as a regular part of medical admissions related to OUD. Thus, forging hospital-community relationships may reduce total cost associated with buprenorphine care for patients who interact with the hospital system.

Interprofessional and Multidisciplinary Care Delivery

Assembling a team of stakeholders with varying perspectives and trainings was pivotal to success. The team included nurses, physicians, social workers, pharmacists, chaplains, and a physician assistant representing internal medicine, psychiatry, and palliative medicine. This engagement provided for transparency, maximal knowledge transfer, and critical collaboration. For example, the initial roll-out plan was planned to be physician-focused, but as time progressed, the team more fully recognized the role of nurses and social workers in recognizing OUD, often long before physicians. As such, nurses and social workers ultimately became the primary champions and drivers of patient referrals to the inpatient program.

Executive and Leadership Support

Ongoing support from executive and department leadership was pivotal in success of the program. The Chief Medical Officer and Chief Nursing Officer promoted institutional change and provided support around issues such as provisioning buprenorphine bridge prescriptions at no cost to patients and facilitating widespread physician and nursing education. Department leaders also supported individual team members and assisted with gathering feedback and highlighting patient success stories.

Continuous Improvement

Establishing a plan for regular program analysis and adjustments as necessary was critical. The team initially met weekly for the first two months and then began to spread the intervals over time, ultimately agreeing to meet once monthly. The vast majority of process improvements for the team originated in these meetings.

Theme 2: A thoughtful and careful approach is needed to educate all members of the care team about the role and efficacy of buprenorphine for the treatment of OUD and how the medication can be initiated from a workflow perspective.

Sub-theme 2A: Stigma of opioid use disorder in the hospital setting is pervasive. Educating staff about buprenorphine contribute to shifting culture, raising awareness, and promoting important conversations about systems-based practice for hospitalized patients with OUD.

Caution with High-Volume Education

There appears to be risk in providing "excessive" education and creating excessive structure around buprenorphine therapy. The use of buprenorphine for the treatment of OUD is perceived by some to be complicated, likely in part because of the eight-hour x-waiver training. The course perpetuates an idea that buprenorphine is a risky or potentially dangerous medication. Providing extensive clinical support educational campaigns, lectures, and just-in-time training may reinforce these inaccurate notions.

Opioid Use Disorder Specific

The program represented a specific intervention for a targeted patient population. It was not an addiction medicine consult service. However, in the absence of such a service, the team was seen as a possible conduit for addiction related care and resources for primary care teams. It was not uncommon early on for the team to be consulted for perceived diagnoses of OUD, which turned out to be other substance use disorders. The team occasionally received questions specifically asking if buprenorphine could be used for substance use disorders other than OUD.

Appropriate Admissions and Transfers

There was concern among administrators that a disproportionate number of patients would "flock" to the emergency department seeking buprenorphine therapy. This did not occur. When an article appeared about the program in a local Sunday newspaper, a few patients visited the ED in the following 48 hours seeking treatment. Those patients were referred to the OTC. Otherwise, there were no examples where patients presented to the ED specifically seeking buprenorphine treatment. However, there were examples where patients with medical sequalae of OUD such as endocarditis left another hospital against medical advice and arrived at Academic Medical Center. This was facilitated by emergency services personnel in two cases. These transfer cases occurred infrequently, but they likely represent a major gap of in-hospital opioid treatment services elsewhere in the region. After careful and intentional education to the community that patients cannot be admitted solely for medically assisted withdrawal with buprenorphine, those patient presentations and inappropriate transfers ceased. In addition, education with community practitioners was needed to solidify that Academic Medical Center was not a traditional opioid treatment program and patients had to be admitted for medical care. However, these scenarios represent a foundational issue. Buprenorphine for the treatment of OUD should be the standard of care for any hospitalized patient who might benefit, thus eliminating the desire or perceived need to transfer care.

Institutional and Practitioner Naivety

Institutional and practitioner naivety around OUD and buprenorphine existed. This is likely a combination of widespread stigma of patients with OUD in society and healthcare, in addition to a historical dearth of OUD-related curricula in health professions. As such, numerous assumptions were made early in the development of the program, and programmatic decisions occurred because of those assumptions. For example, initially there were extensive enrollment criteria for inpatient buprenorphine initiation. Those were mostly eliminated later and a patient need only be over age 18 and have a diagnosis of OUD to receive treatment. The team had also worked out a robust handoff arrangement with the outpatient clinic based on the presumption that buprenorphine and patients with OUD were complex. As the program grew, less communication existed between the hospital and the clinic at the time of discharge to the point where appointments were confirmed, and the clinic obtained the remaining information from clinical documentation. Ultimately, improved clinical processes and workflows reflected a deeper understanding of and appreciation for buprenorphine therapy. In another example, patients were initially required to have an anticipated length of stay of 72 hours because it was thought that period of time would be needed to accomplish a meaningful buprenorphine-based intervention. In reality, such interventions can be accomplished in less than 24 hours and are often done same-day in the outpatient setting. Finally, nursing staff asking for specific hospitalapproved policy around buprenorphine therapy also expressed early discomfort with the medication, which was resolved with bedside experience and without the need for new written policies. Even among all the team members, buprenorphine was initially thought to be more complex than it ultimately proved to be. Further, stigmatizing language was used in the original internal promotional materials. These have since been revamped based on lessons learned as shown in Appendix 17.

Theme 3: An initial approach to buprenorphine care delivery needs to be adopted (such as a consultation service) with special attention to the pros and cons of that process and the

ability to engage in frequent evaluation and adaptation.

Meeting as a team early and regularly in the process contributed to success. Developing a process map and determining group consensus around a problem statement, intervention statement, mission statement, and list of milestones was helpful.

Consultation Service Model

The team felt that a consultation service was the most appropriate and effective way to introduce buprenorphine in the hospital setting, especially considering the high degree of stigmatization of patients with OUD. The consultation team was responsible for protocol development, bedside education, buprenorphine initiation, linkage to treatment, and institutional stigma reduction. However, the team was staffed by a group of enthusiastic volunteers which represented a significant weakness in the program structure from a clinical perspective. Patients admitted during overnight hours or on the weekends may have had a delay in receiving buprenorphine therapy since the B-Team was perceived as the only individuals capable of starting the medication. Also, while a consultation model appears to have been highly effective at building awareness and general knowledge, it has not yet influenced non-team attending physicians or residents to initiate buprenorphine on their own.

Using the TigerText secure texting platform played a critical role in quickly and easily communicating protected health information among team members and those requesting consultations. Unfortunately, the true power of leveraging information technology was limited based on institutional regulations and policies around modifications to the electronic medical record. While the team was able to build an electronic order set, this was done in a non-traditional way that made it harder for non-team members to access.

Limitations

While this study represents one method of initiating buprenorphine therapy for hospitalized patients without the presence of an addiction medicine consultation service, there are aspects that limit its external validity. The hospital focused on in this paper is the central academic medical center in an urban hub. Although addiction medicine specialists were not available, several other resources were readily available to help launch the program including a robust consult liaison psychiatry program. In addition, although most of the team were volunteers doing this work in addition to their normal clinical duties, the team psychiatrist was able to bill professional fees for services rendered. At certain times, no volunteer members were available and the team psychiatrist was able to still visit with patients. Institutions without an inhouse psychiatry consult liaison service may find larger gaps in coverage. Moreover, part way through the development of this program, the author was provided administrative time to lead further clinical integration of the program. In addition, being in an urban environment increased the likelihood of buprenorphine prescribers being available to refer patients to at discharge. In this case, a robust publicly funded outpatient pilot program to support patients engaged in buprenorphine therapy was developed in parallel. In other regions, in particular rural areas, absence of buprenorphine prescribers in the community may reduce feasibility of in-hospital buprenorphine initiation. Nonetheless, as demonstrated here, hospitals may play a role in advocating for change in their communities. Finally, for patients with insufficient insurance, the hospital system agreed to pay for bridge buprenorphine prescriptions until outpatient follow-up.

Internal validity is limited by the subjects interviewed and document review conducted. Only those with direct and intimate knowledge of the program's launch were interviewed. With the exception of the executive leader, those individuals self-selected to be part of the team; thus, there may be inherent selection bias towards this type of clinical work in the interview responses. In addition, not all team members who participated in the launch of the program were interviewed, although saturation was reached across the themes identified. Further, the documents reviewed included only those saved by the author, which likely does not represent all documents or messages generated since the inception of the program.

The Future

The team will soon be training internal medicine residents about the clinical aspects of buprenorphine specific to hospitalization in addition to motivational interviewing and counseling. Following this, residents will be expected to initiate buprenorphine and counsel patients on their own, with the team following closely for additional support and bridge prescriptions. The team is also planning a renewed focus on naloxone distribution including a standing order for the rescue medication. Patients will be able to receive naloxone at the time bridge buprenorphine is picked up. In addition, peer recovery will be integrated into the inpatient wards.

Importantly, the work detailed in this paper represents a targeted intervention for a specific diagnosis. The program is not an addiction medicine consultation service. The team does not counsel patients, conduct clinical education, or provide resources for substance use disorders other than opioid use disorder. However, the initial work around opioid use disorder has illuminated the many gaps in care for patients with substance use disorders as a whole. As a result, there are ongoing conversations within the Medical School, Academic Medical Center, and Clinical Access Program about expanding addiction-related services in the hospital and the community. Expanding capacity to provide meaningful care for hospitalized patients with any substance use disorder is critical, and would further solidify hospitalization as an important touchpoint and reachable moment.

Conclusion

Hospital systems have a critical role in managing and treating opioid use disorder. Despite starkly elevated and increasing opioid poisoning mortality and morbidity related to intravenous drug use over the last decade, few U.S. hospitals engage in treating opioid use disorder and integrating harm reduction strategies. Such evidence-based and cost-effective interventions may reduce mortality and readmissions, and improve patient experience and provider satisfaction. A dedicated group of interprofessional hospital-based healthcare professionals working in a consultative model is one feasible method of increasing access to lifesaving treatment and harm reduction for patients with opioid use disorder. Such interventions should be the standard of care in every hospital across the United States.

References

- Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education. (2018). Common program requirements. https://www.acgme.org/Portals/0/PFAssets/ProgramRequirements/CPRResidency2019.p df
- Accreditation Review Commission on Education for the Physician Assistant. (2018). *Accreditation standards for physician assistant education*. http://www.arc-pa.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/06/Standards-4th-Ed-March-2018.pdf
- Adam, A., Schwartz, R. P., Wu, L.-T., Subramaniam, G., Laska, E., Sharma, G., Mili, S., & McNeely, J. (2019). Electronic self-administered screening for substance use in adult primary care patients: Feasibility and acceptability of the tobacco, alcohol, prescription medication, and other substance use (myTAPS) screening tool. *Addiction Science & Clinical Practice*, *14*(1), 39. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-019-0167-z
- Adams, J. M., & Giroir, B. P. (2019). Opioid prescribing trends and the physician's role in responding to the public health crisis. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *179*(4), 476–478. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.7934
- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (2014). *Hospital inpatient utilization related to opioid overuse among adults, 1993—2012: Statistical brief #177.* Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP). https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb177-Hospitalizations-for-Opioid-Overuse.jsp.
- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (2020). *Opioid hospital use map—HCUP fast stats*. https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/faststats/OpioidUseMap?setting=IP

- Agrawal, V., & Amos, J. D. (2017). The association between illicit drug use and infectious complications among trauma patients. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*, 36(3), 447–450. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-016-2815-5
- Ahmadi, J., Babaee-Beigi, M., Alishahi, M., Maany, I., & Hidari, T. (2004). Twelve-month maintenance treatment of opium-dependent patients. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 26(1), 61–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0740-5472(03)00141-7
- Akdağ, E. M., Kotan, V. O., Kose, S., Tıkır, B., Aydemir, M. Ç., Okay, İ. T., Göka, E., &
 Özkaya, G. (2018). The relationship between internalized stigma and treatment
 motivation, perceived social support, depression and anxiety levels in opioid use disorder. *Psychiatry and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 28(4), 394–401.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/24750573.2018.1478190
- Albright, A., Howard-Pitney, B., Roberts, S., & Zicarelli, J. (1998). *Tell your story: Guidelines for preparing an evaluation report*. California Department of Health Services.
- Alcoholics Anonymous. (2018). *The A.A. member—Medications and other drugs*. https://www.aa.org/assets/en_US/p-11_aamembersMedDrug.pdf
- Alexander, M. J., Kiang, M. V., & Barbieri, M. (2018). Trends in Black and White Opioid Mortality in the United States, 1979–2015. *Epidemiology*, 29(5), 707–715. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.00000000000858

Alford, D. P., LaBelle, C. T., Kretsch, N., Bergeron, A., Winter, M., Botticelli, M., & Samet, J. H. (2011). Collaborative care of opioid-addicted patients in primary care using buprenorphine: Five-year experience. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *171*(5). https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2010.541 Allen, S. T., White, R. H., O'Rourke, A., Grieb, S. M., Kilkenny, M. E., & Sherman, S. G.
(2019). Take-home naloxone possession among people who inject drugs in rural West
Virginia. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 204, 107581.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107581

- Alliance for Recovery-Centered Addiction Health Services, C. (2018). Addiction Recovery Medical Home—Alternative payment model: Incentivizing recovery. Not relapse. https://www.incentivizerecovery.org/
- Almeida, R. R., Glover, M., Mercaldo, S. F., López, D. B., Tso, D. K., Raja, A. S., Lev, M. H., & Flores, E. J. (2019). Temporal trends in imaging utilization for suspected substance use disorder in an academic emergency radiology department. *Journal of the American College of Radiology*, *16*(10), 1440–1446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2019.03.013
- Amato, L., Minozzi, S., Davoli, M., & Vecchi, S. (2011). Psychosocial combined with agonist maintenance treatments versus agonist maintenance treatments alone for treatment of opioid dependence. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*.

https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004147.pub4

- American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (2018). *AACN's reponse: The opioid epidemic*. https://www.aacnnursing.org/Portals/42/Policy/PDF/AACN-Opioids.pdf
- American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine. (2019). *Tackling the opioid epidemic*. https://www.aacom.org/reports-programs-initiatives/aacom-initiatives/tacklingthe-opioid-epidemic
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. (2019a). *Opioid use and opioid use disorder in pregnancy*. https://www.acog.org/Clinical-Guidance-and-

Publications/Committee-Opinions/Committee-on-Obstetric-Practice/Opioid-Use-and-

Opioid-Use-Disorder-in-Pregnancy

American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. (2019b). *Opioid use disorder in pregnancy*. https://www.acog.org/About-ACOG/ACOG-Districts/District-II/Opioid-Use-Disorder-in-Pregnancy?IsMobileSet=false

American Hospital Association. (2019). Fast facts on U.S. hospitals.

https://www.aha.org/statistics/fast-facts-us-hospitals

American Psychiatric Association. (2019). Opioid use disorder.

https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/addiction/opioid-use-disorder/opioid-use-disorder

American Society of Addiction Medicine. (2019). *Definition of addiction*. https://www.asam.org/resources/definition-of-addiction

amfAR. (2020). Opioid & Health Indicators Database. https://opioid.amfar.org/TX

- Anderson, K. O., Green, C. R., & Payne, R. (2009). Racial and ethnic disparities in pain: Causes and consequences of unequal care. *The Journal of Pain*, *10*(12), 1187–1204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2009.10.002
- Andraka-Christou, B., & Capone, M. J. (2018). A qualitative study comparing physician-reported barriers to treating addiction using buprenorphine and extended-release naltrexone in U.S. office-based practices. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, *54*, 9–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2017.11.021
- Andrews, C. M., Abraham, A. J., Grogan, C. M., Westlake, M. A., Pollack, H. A., & Friedmann,P. D. (2019). Impact of medicaid restrictions on availability of buprenorphine in

addiction treatment programs. *American Journal of Public Health*, *109*(3), 434–436. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304856

- Andrilla, C. H. A., Coulthard, C., & Larson, E. H. (2017). Barriers rural physicians face prescribing buprenorphine for opioid use disorder. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, *15*(4), 359–362. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.2099
- Andrilla, C. H. A., Jones, K. C., & Patterson, D. G. (2019). Prescribing practices of nurse practitioners and physician assistants waivered to prescribe buprenorphine and the barriers they experience prescribing buprenorphine. *The Journal of Rural Health*, jrh.12404. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12404
- Andrilla, C. H. A., Moore, T. E., & Patterson, D. G. (2019). Overcoming barriers to prescribing buprenorphine for the treatment of opioid use disorder: Recommendations from rural physicians. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 35(1), 113–121. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12328
- Ari, M., Kisielewski, M., Osman, N. Y., Szauter, K., Packer, C. D., & Pincavage, A. T. (2019). Teaching safe opioid prescribing during the opioid epidemic: Results of the 2018 Clerkship Directors in internal medicine survey. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 34(12), 2812–2817. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-05203-3
- Ashford, R., Brown, A., & Curtis, B. (2018). Substance use, recovery, and linguistics: The impact of word choice on explicit and implicit bias. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 189, 131–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.05.005
- Ashford, R. D., Brown, A. M., & Curtis, B. (2018). Systemic barriers in substance use disorder treatment: A prospective qualitative study of professionals in the field. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 189, 62–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.04.033
- Ashford, R. D., Brown, A. M., & Curtis, B. (2019). "Abusing addiction": Our language still isn't good enough. Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly, 37(2), 257–272. https://doi.org/10.1080/07347324.2018.1513777
- Ashford, R. D., Brown, A. M., McDaniel, J., & Curtis, B. (2019). Biased labels: An experimental study of language and stigma among individuals in recovery and health professionals.
 Substance Use & Misuse, 54(8), 1376–1384.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2019.1581221

- Association of American Medical Colleges. (n.d.). *Responding to the Opioid Epidemic Through Medical Education*. Retrieved October 1, 2018, from https://news.aamc.org/medicaleducation/article/responding-opioid-epidemic-through-medical-educati/
- Association of American Medical Colleges. (2019). *How academic medicine is addressing the opioid epidemic*. https://aamc-

black.global.ssl.fastly.net/production/media/filer_public/63/58/63583515-1d17-45ef-8ba8-e6e327e46928/opioids_-

_how_academic_medicine_is_addressing_the_opioid_epidemic_-_20190222.pdf

- Aszalos, R., McDuff, D. R., Weintraub, E., Montoya, I., & Schwartz, R. (1999). Engaging hospitalized heroin-dependent patients into substance abuse treatment. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *17*(1–2), 149–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0740-5472(98)00075-0
- Aultman, J. M., Peshel, E., Harfouche, C., & Firstenberg, M. S. (2018). The ethics in repeat heart valve replacement surgery. In M. S. Firstenberg (Ed.), *Advanced Concepts in Endocarditis*. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.76844

- Auriacombe, M., Fatséas, M., Dubernet, J., Daulouède, J.-P., & Tignol, J. (2004). French field experience with buprenorphine. *American Journal on Addictions*, 13(s1), S17–S28. https://doi.org/10.1080/10550490490440780
- Avery, J., Knoepflmacher, D., Mauer, E., Kast, K. A., Greiner, M., Avery, J., & Penzner, J. B. (2019). Improvement in residents' attitudes toward individuals with substance use disorders following an online training module on stigma. *HSS Journal*, 15(1), 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11420-018-9643-3
- Awgu, E., Magura, S., & Rosenblum, A. (2010). Heroin-dependent inmates' experiences with buprenorphine or methadone maintenance. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 42(3), 339– 346. https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.2010.10400696
- Baker, D. (2017). The Joint Commission's pain standards: Origins and evolution. https://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/6/Pain_Std_History_Web_Version_05122017. pdf
- Balio, C. P., Wiley, K. K., Greene, M. S., & Vest, J. R. (2020). Opioid-related emergency department encounters: Patient, encounter, and community characteristics associated with repeated encounters. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, S0196064419314374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2019.12.005
- Ballantyne, J. C., Murinova, N., & Krashin, D. L. (2018). Opioid guidelines are a necessary response to the opioid crisis. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 103(6), 946–949. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.1063
- Bao Y, Pan Y, Taylor A, Radakrishnan S, Luo F, Pincus HA, & Schackman BR. (2016).Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs Are Associated With Sustained Reductions In

Opioid Prescribing By Physicians. *Health Affairs (Project Hope)*, *35*(6), 1045–1051. MEDLINE.

- Barnett, M. L., Lee, D., & Frank, R. G. (2019). In rural areas, buprenorphine waiver adoption since 2017 driven by nurse practitioners and physician assistants. *Health Affairs*, 38(12), 2048–2056. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.00859
- Barnett, P. G., Zaric, G. S., & Brandeau, M. L. (2001). The cost-effectiveness of buprenorphine maintenance therapy for opiate addiction in the United States. *Addiction*, 96(9), 1267– 1278. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2001.96912676.x
- Barocas, J. A., & Saitz, R. (2019). Being explicit about decisions: Prescribe medications for opioid use disorder on the basis of proven effectiveness, not beliefs. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 170(2), 127. https://doi.org/10.7326/M18-3293
- Barocas, J. A., Wang, J., Marshall, B. D. L., LaRochelle, M. R., Bettano, A., Bernson, D., Beckwith, C. G., Linas, B. P., & Walley, A. Y. (2019). Sociodemographic factors and social determinants associated with toxicology confirmed polysubstance opioid-related deaths. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 200, 59–63.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.03.014

- Bart, G. B., Saxon, A., Fiellin, D. A., McNeely, J., Muench, J. P., Shanahan, C. W., Huntley, K., & Gore-Langton, R. E. (2020). Developing a clinical decision support for opioid use disorders: A NIDA center for the clinical trials network working group report. *Addiction Science & Clinical Practice*, *15*(1), 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-020-0180-2
- Bass, E. (2019). RE: The Mainstreaming Addiction Treatment Act (H.R. 2482). Society of General Internal Medicine. https://www.sgim.org/File

Library/SGIM/Communities/Advocacy/Legislative Endorsements/Mainstreaming-Addiction-Treatment-Act-Support-Letter---House.pdf

- Bazazi, A. R., Yokell, M., Fu, J. J., Rich, J. D., & Zaller, N. D. (2011). Illicit use of buprenorphine/naloxone among injecting and noninjecting opioid users. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 5(3), 175–180. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.0b013e3182034e31
- Becker, W. C., & Fiellin, D. A. (2006). Provider satisfaction with office-based treatment of opioid dependence: A systematic review. *Substance Abuse*, 26(1), 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1300/J465v26n01_02
- Beetham, T., Saloner, B., Wakeman, S. E., Gaye, M., & Barnett, M. L. (2019). Access to officebased buprenorphine treatment in areas with high rates of opioid-related mortality: An audit study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 171(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.7326/M18-3457
- Bell, J., Shanahan, M., Mutch, C., Rea, F., Ryan, A., Batey, R., Dunlop, A., & Winstock, A. (2007). A randomized trial of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of observed versus unobserved administration of buprenorphine-naloxone for heroin dependence. *Addiction*, *102*(12), 1899–1907. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2007.01979.x
- Bentzley, B. S., Barth, K. S., Back, S. E., & Book, S. W. (2015). Discontinuation of buprenorphine maintenance therapy: Perspectives and outcomes. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 52, 48–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2014.12.011
- Berg, M. L., Idrees, U., Ding, R., Nesbit, S. A., Liang, H. K., & McCarthy, M. L. (2007). Evaluation of the use of buprenorphine for opioid withdrawal in an emergency department. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 86(2–3), 239–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2006.06.014

- Berk, J. (2019). *To help providers fight the opioid epidemic, "x the x waiver."* Health Affairs. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20190301.79453/full/
- Berk, J., Rogers, K. M., Wilson, D. J., Thakrar, A., & Feldman, L. (2019). Missed opportunities for treatment of opioid use disorder in the hospital setting: Updating an outdated policy. *Journal of Hospital Medicine*, 2019-12-18 ONLINE FIRST. https://doi.org/10.12788/jhm.3352
- Bernstein, J., Bernstein, E., Tassiopoulos, K., Heeren, T., Levenson, S., & Hingson, R. (2005).
 Brief motivational intervention at a clinic visit reduces cocaine and heroin use. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 77(1), 49–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2004.07.006
- Biancarelli, D. L., Biello, K. B., Childs, E., Drainoni, M., Salhaney, P., Edeza, A., Mimiaga, M.
 J., Saitz, R., & Bazzi, A. R. (2019). Strategies used by people who inject drugs to avoid stigma in healthcare settings. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *198*, 80–86.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.01.037
- Binswanger, I. A. (2019). Opioid use disorder and incarceration—Hope for ensuring the continuity of treatment. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 380(13), 1193–1195. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1900069
- Blecher, R., Yilmaz, E., Ishak, B., Drazin, D., Oskouian, R. J., & Chapman, J. R. (2019). Recent increase in the rate of spinal infections may be related to growing substance-use disorder in the State of Washington: Wide population-based analysis of the Comprehensive Hospital Abstract Reporting System database. *SPINE*, *44*(4), 291–297. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.00000000002819
- Blondell, R. D., Smith, S. J., Servoss, T. J., DeVaul, S. K., & Simons, R. L. (2007).Buprenorphine and methadone: A comparison of patient completion rates during

inpatient detoxification. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, 26(2), 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1300/J069v26n02_02

- Blondell R.D., Behrens T., Smith S.J., Greene B.J., & Servoss T.J. (2008). Peer support during inpatient detoxification and aftercare outcomes. *Addictive Disorders and Their Treatment*, 7(2), 77–86. WorldCat.org. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADT.0b013e31804eff1b
- Blum, K., Gold, M., Clark, H. W., Dushaj, K., & Badgaiyan, R. D. (2016). Should the United States government repeal restrictions on buprenorphine/naloxone treatment? *Substance Use & Misuse*, *51*(12), 1674–1679. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2016.1200097
- Bond, A. (2018, April 17). Nursing homes routinely refuse people on addiction treatment. *STAT*. https://www.statnews.com/2018/04/17/nursing-homes-addiction-treatment/
- Booss, J., Drake, A., Kerns, R., Ryan, B., & Wasse, L. (2000). Pain as the 5th Vital Sign Toolkit.
 Department of Veteran Affairs.
 https://www.va.gov/PAINMANAGEMENT/docs/Pain_As_the_5th_Vital_Sign_Toolkit.
 pdf
- Boslett, A. J., Denham, A., & Hill, E. L. (2020). Using contributing causes of death improves prediction of opioid involvement in unclassified drug overdoses in US death records. *Addiction*. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14943
- Boslett, A. J., Denham, A., Hill, E. L., & Adams, M. C. B. (2019). Unclassified drug overdose deaths in the opioid crisis: Emerging patterns of inequity. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 26(8–9), 767–777.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocz050

Botticelli, M., Gottlieb, M., & Laderman, M. (2019). *Effective strategies for hospitals responding to the opioid crisis*. Institute for Healthcare Improvement.

http://www.ihi.org/resources/Pages/Publications/Effective-Strategies-for-Hospitals-Responding-to-Opioid-Crisis.aspx

- Boutwell, A. E., Nijhawan, A., Zaller, N., & Rich, J. D. (2007). Arrested on heroin: A national opportunity. *Journal of Opioid Management*, *3*(6), 328–332. PubMed.
- Braithwaite, V., & Nolan, S. (2019). Hospital-based addiction medicine healthcare providers: High demand, short supply. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, *13*(4), 251–252. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.00000000000488
- Brezel, E. R., Powell, T., & Fox, A. D. (2019). An ethical analysis of medication treatment for opioid use disorder (MOUD) for persons who are incarcerated. *Substance Abuse*, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2019.1695706
- Brico, E. (2017, October 4). *12-step meetings should stop shunning medication-assisted therapy*. STAT. https://www.statnews.com/2017/10/04/medication-assisted-therapy-12-step/
- Bronson, J., Stroop, J., Zimmer, S., & Berzofsky, M. (2017). Drug use, dependence, and abuse among state prisoners and jail inmates, 2007-2009. 27.
- Bureau of Justice Statistics. (2018). *Probation and parole in the United States, 2016 summary*. https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/ppus16_sum.pdf
- Burris, S., Anderson, E. D., Davis, C. S., & Beletsky, L. (2020). Toward healthy drug policy in the United States—The case of safehouse. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(1), 4–5. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1913448
- Busch, S. H., Fiellin, D. A., Chawarski, M. C., Owens, P. H., Pantalon, M. V., Hawk, K., Bernstein, S. L., O'Connor, P. G., & D'Onofrio, G. (2017). Cost-effectiveness of emergency department-initiated treatment for opioid dependence. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 112(11), 2002–2010. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13900

- Caldiero, R., Parran, T., Adelman, C., & Piche, B. (2006). Inpatient initiation of buprenorphine maintenance vs. Detoxification: Can retention of opioid-dependent patients in outpatient counseling be improved? *The American Journal on Addictions*, 15(1), 1–7. MEDLINE.
- California Department of Health Care Services. (2019). Assembly Bill (AB) 3162 and Senate Bill (SB) 992.

https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/provgovpart/Documents/AB_3162_SB_992_FAQ_2.19.pdf

- Can, G., & Tanrıverdi, D. (2015). Social functioning and internalized stigma in individuals diagnosed with substance use disorder. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 29(6), 441–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2015.07.008
- Carey, C. W., Jones, R., Yarborough, H., Kahler, Z., Moschella, P., & Lommel, K. M. (2018). 366 peer-to-peer addiction counseling initiated in the emergency department leads to high initial opioid recovery rates. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 72(4), S143–S144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2018.08.371

Carroll, J. J., Rich, J. D., & Green, T. C. (2018). The more things change:
 Buprenorphine/naloxone diversion continues while treatment remains inaccessible.
 Journal of Addiction Medicine, 12(6), 459–465.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.00000000000436

- Caruso Brown, A. E. (2020). Treating addiction as a terminal disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *382*(3), 207–209. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1909298
- Case, A., & Deaton, A. (2017). Mortality and morbidity in the 21st century. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 2017(1), 397–476. https://doi.org/10.1353/eca.2017.0005
- Cash, R. E., Kinsman, J., Crowe, R. P., Rivard, M. K., Faul, M., & Panchal, A. R. (2018). Naloxone administration frequency during emergency medical service events United

States, 2012–2016. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 67(31), 850–853. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6731a2

- Castillo, F., Jakubowski, A., Pappas, A., Silvera, R., Isaacsohn, L., Masyukova, M., Scalise, D., Agerwala, S., Cunningham, C., & Bachhuber, M. (2018). Description and evaluation of an academic hospital naloxone distribution pilot program. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 109, 94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.03.034
- CDC. (2017). *Understanding the Epidemic*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/epidemic/index.html
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2018). Announcement of calendar year 2019 Medicare advantage capitation rates and Medicare Advantage and Part D payment policies and final call letter. https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Health-Plans/MedicareAdvtgSpecRateStats/Downloads/Announcement2019.pdf
- Chen, Q., Larochelle, M. R., Weaver, D. T., Lietz, A. P., Mueller, P. P., Mercaldo, S., Wakeman,
 S. E., Freedberg, K. A., Raphel, T. J., Knudsen, A. B., Pandharipande, P. V., &
 Chhatwal, J. (2019). Prevention of prescription opioid misuse and projected overdose
 deaths in the United States. *JAMA Network Open*, 2(2), e187621–e187621.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.7621
- Cherkis, J. (2015, January 28). Dying to be free: There's a treatment for heroin addiction that actually works. *Huffington Post*. https://projects.huffingtonpost.com/projects/dying-to-be-free-heroin-treatment
- Chou, R., Ballantyne, J., & Lembke, A. (2019). Rethinking opioid dose tapering, prescription opioid dependence, and indications for buprenorphine. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *171*(6), 427. https://doi.org/10.7326/M19-1488

- Chutuape, M. A., Jasinski, D. R., Fingerhood, M. I., & Stitzer, M. L. (2001). One-, three-, and six-month outcomes after brief inpatient opioid detoxification. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 27(1), 19–44.
- Ciccarone, D. (2019). The triple wave epidemic: Supply and demand drivers of the US opioid overdose crisis. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 71, 183–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.01.010
- Cicero, T., Ellis, M., & Surratt, H. (2012). Effect of abuse-deterrent formulation of Oxycontin. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 367(2), 187–189. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc1204141
- Cicero, T. J., Ellis, M. S., & Chilcoat, H. D. (2018). Understanding the use of diverted buprenorphine. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 193, 117–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.09.007
- Clark, A. K., Wilder, C. M., & Winstanley, E. L. (2014). A systematic review of community opioid overdose prevention and naloxone distribution programs. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 8(3), 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.00000000000034
- Clark-Madison, M., Fri., Aug. 31, & 2018. (2018, August 31). A medication-assisted therapy to treat opioid abuse. https://www.austinchronicle.com/news/2018-08-31/to-the-mat/
- Clay, E., Khemiri, A., Ruby, J., Aballéa, S., & Zah, V. (2014). A studies-based private insurance budget impact analysis of buprenorphine / naloxone film and tablet formulations. *Value in Health*, *17*(3), A213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2014.03.1245
- Colip, C. G., Lotfi, M., Buch, K., Holalkere, N., & Setty, B. N. (2018). Emergent spinal MRI in IVDU patients presenting with back pain: Do we need an MRI in every case? *Emergency Radiology*, 25(3), 247–256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10140-017-1572-9

Collins, D., Alla, J., Nicolaidis, C., Gregg, J., Gullickson, D. J., Patten, A., & Englander, H. (2019). "If it wasn't for him, i wouldn't have talked to them": Qualitative study of addiction peer mentorship in the hospital. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-05311-0

- Combes, J. (2019, July). *Opioid use disorder*. https://www.acgme.org/What-We-Do/Initiatives/Opioid-Use-Disorder
- Compton, P., & Blacher, S. (2019). Nursing education in the midst of the opioid crisis. *Pain Management Nursing*, S1524904219300256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmn.2019.06.006
- Congress.gov. (2016). S.524—Comprehensive Addiction and Recovery Act of 2016. https://www.congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/senate-bill/524
- Congress.gov. (2018, October 24). H.R.6 115th Congress (2017-2018): SUPPORT for Patients and Communities Act [Webpage]. https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/housebill/6
- Connecticut Center For Recovery Training. (2019). CCAR. https://addictionrecoverytraining.org/
- Connery, H. S., & Weiss, R. D. (2020). Discontinuing buprenorphine treatment of opioid use disorder: What do we (not) know? *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 177(2), 104–106. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19121245
- Connock, M., Juarez-Garcia, A., Jowett, S., Frew, E., Liu, Z., Taylor, R., Fry-Smith, A., Day, E., Lintzeris, N., Roberts, T., Burls, A., & Taylor, R. (2007). Methadone and buprenorphine for the management of opioid dependence: A systematic review and economic evaluation. *Health Technology Assessment*, *11*(9). https://doi.org/10.3310/hta11090

Connolly, E. (2019). *Letter supporting H.R. 2482*. The PEW Charitable Trusts. https://www.pewtrusts.org/-/media/assets/2019/12/pew-ltr-to-support-matact_house_dec-2019.pdf

- Conrad, C., Bradley, H., Broz, D., Buddha, S., Chapman, E., Galang, R., Hillman, D., Hon, J., Hoover, K., Patel, M., Perez, A., Peters, P., & Pontones, P. (2015). *Community outbreak* of HIV infection linked to injection drug use of oxymorphone. CDC. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6416a4.htm
- Cook, A. K., & Worcman, N. (2019). Confronting the opioid epidemic: Public opinion toward the expansion of treatment services in Virginia. *Health & Justice*, 7(1), 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-019-0095-8
- Corrigan, P. W., & Nieweglowski, K. (2018). Stigma and the public health agenda for the opioid crisis in America. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 59, 44–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2018.06.015
- Corrigan, P. W., & Rao, D. (2012). On the self-stigma of mental illness: Stages, disclosure, and strategies for change. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 57(8), 464–469. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371205700804
- Council of Economic Advisers. (2019). *The full cost of the opioid crisis:* \$2.5 *trillion over four years*. https://www.whitehouse.gov/articles/full-cost-opioid-crisis-2-5-trillion-four-years/
- Crabtree, B., Bootman, J. L., Boyle, C. J., Chase, P., Piascik, P., & Maine, L. L. (2017). Aligning the AACP strategic engagement agenda with key federal priorities in health: Report of the 2016-17 Argus Commission. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 81(8), S15. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpeS15

- Crapanzano, K., Hammarlund, R., Ahmad, B., Hunsinger, N., & Kullar, R. (2018). The association between perceived stigma and substance use disorder treatment outcomes: A review. Substance Abuse and Rehabilitation, Volume 10, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.2147/SAR.S183252
- Croff, R., Hoffman, K., Alanis-Hirsch, K., Ford, J., McCarty, D., & Schmidt, L. (2019).
 Overcoming barriers to adopting and implementing pharmacotherapy: The medication research partnership. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, *46*(2), 330–339. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-018-9616-9
- CSWE. (2018). ATTC resources and Twitter chat on opioid use disorders. https://www.cswe.org/News/General-News-Archives/ATTC-Resources-and-Twitter-Chat-on-Opioid-Use
- Cunningham, P., Barnes, A., Sheng, Y., Walker, L., Saunders, H., Brooks, M., & Tong, S.
 (2018). Addiction and recovery treatment services: An evaluation report prepared for the Virginia Department of Medical Assistance Services. http://www.dmas.virginia.gov/files/links/1625/ARTS%20oneyear%20report%20(08.09.2018).pdf
- Davenport, S., Weaver, A., & Caverly, M. (2019). *Economic impact of non-medical opioid use in the United States*. 93.
- Davis, C., & Carr, D. (2017). Naloxone affordability measures needed. *Journal of the American Pharmacists Association*, 57(6), 740–741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.japh.2017.06.001
- Davis, C. S., & Carr, D. H. (2019). Legal and policy changes urgently needed to increase access to opioid agonist therapy in the United States. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 73, 42–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.07.006

Dawson, L., & Kates, J. (2018, March 27). *HIV and the opioid epidemic: Five key points*. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. https://www.kff.org/hivaids/issue-brief/hiv-and-theopioid-epidemic-5-key-points/

De-identified1. (2018, April 18). County data 2006-2016. Citation De-Identified. URL withheld

De-identified2. (2017). Medication-Assisted Treatment program proposal.

- De-identified3. (2018, April 17). Drug overdoses and opioid use in county. URL withheld
- De-identified4. (2020, January 9). Opioid Overdose Data [Personal communication].

Deweerdt, S. (2019). The natural history of an epidemic. *Nature*, 573, S10–S12.

- Diamond, D. (2016, June). Scope of practice: How can we expand access to care? *Politico*. https://politi.co/2BCDfMo
- Dole, V. P. (1991). Addiction as a public health problem. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, *15*(5), 749–752. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.1991.tb00592.x
- D'Onofrio, G., Chawarski, M. C., O'Connor, P. G., Pantalon, M. V., Busch, S. H., Owens, P. H., Hawk, K., Bernstein, S. L., & Fiellin, D. A. (2017). Emergency department-initiated buprenorphine for opioid dependence with continuation in primary care: Outcomes during and after intervention. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *32*(6), 660–666. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-017-3993-2
- D'Onofrio, G., McCormack, R. P., & Hawk, K. (2018). Emergency departments—A 24/7/365 option for combating the opioid crisis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 379(26), 2487–2490. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1811988
- D'Onofrio, G., O'Connor, P. G., Pantalon, M. V., Chawarski, M. C., Busch, S. H., Owens, P. H., Bernstein, S. L., & Fiellin, D. A. (2015). Emergency department–initiated

buprenorphine/naloxone treatment for opioid dependence: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*, *313*(16), 1636. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.3474

Dowell, D., Haegerich, T., & Chou, R. (2016). CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain—United States, 2016. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/rr/rr6501e1.htm

Dowell, D., Haegerich, T., & Chou, R. (2019). No shortcuts to safer opioid prescribing. New England Journal of Medicine, 380(24), 2285–2287. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1904190

- Dumenco, L., Monteiro, K., Collins, S., Stewart, C., Berkowitz, L., Flanigan, T., Rich, J., & George, P. (2019). A qualitative analysis of interprofessional students' perceptions toward patients with opioid use disorder after a patient panel experience. *Substance Abuse*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2018.1546262
- Dunkelberg, A. (2017). *Texas Medicaid Data for office of Senator John Cornyn*. https://everytexan.org/images/2017_06_27_CPPP_Texas_Medicaid_Data.pdf
- Dwyer, K., Walley, A., Langlois, B., Mitchell, P., Nelson, K., Cromwell, J., & Bernstein, E. (2015). Opioid education and nasal naloxone rescue kits in the emergency department. *Western Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 16(3), 381–384. https://doi.org/10.5811/westjem.2015.2.24909
- Edelman, E. J., Chantarat, T., Caffrey, S., Chaudhry, A., O'Connor, P. G., Weiss, L., Fiellin, D.
 A., & Fiellin, L. E. (2014). The impact of buprenorphine/naloxone treatment on HIV risk behaviors among HIV-infected, opioid-dependent patients. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *139*, 79–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.03.006

Edelman, E. J., Gordon, K. S., Crothers, K., Akgün, K., Bryant, K. J., Becker, W. C., Gaither, J. R., Gibert, C. L., Gordon, A. J., Marshall, B. D. L., Rodriguez-Barradas, M. C., Samet, J. H., Justice, A. C., Tate, J. P., & Fiellin, D. A. (2019). Association of prescribed opioids with increased risk of community-acquired pneumonia among patients with and without HIV. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *179*(3), 297.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.6101

- Edwards, F. J., Wicelinski, R., Gallagher, N., McKinzie, A., White, R., & Domingos, A. (2020). Treating opioid withdrawal with buprenorphine in a community hospital emergency department: An outreach program. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 75(1), 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2019.08.420
- Englander, H., Collins, D., Perry, S. P., Rabinowitz, M., Phoutrides, E., & Nicolaidis, C. (2018).
 "We've learned it's a medical illness, not a moral choice": Qualitative study of the effects of a multicomponent addiction intervention on hospital providers' attitudes and experiences. *Journal of Hospital Medicine*, *13*(11), 752–758. https://doi.org/10.12788/jhm.2993
- Englander, H., Dobbertin, K., Lind, B. K., Nicolaidis, C., Graven, P., Dorfman, C., & Korthuis,
 P. T. (2019). Inpatient addiction medicine consultation and post-hospital substance use
 disorder treatment engagement: A propensity-matched analysis. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-05251-9
- Englander, H., Gregg, J., Gullickson, J., Cochran-Dumas, O., Colasurdo, C., Alla, J., Collins, D.,
 & Nicolaidis, C. (2019). Recommendations for integrating peer mentors in hospital-based addiction care. *Substance Abuse*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2019.1635968

Englander, H., King, C., Nicolaidis, C., Collins, D., Patten, A., Gregg, J., & Korthuis, P. T. (2019). Predictors of opioid and alcohol pharmacotherapy initiation at hospital discharge among patients seen by an inpatient addiction consult service: *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 1. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.000000000000011

European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. (2019). *European drug report: Trends and developments 2019*. Publications Office of the European Union. http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/11364/20191724_TDAT19001E NN_PDF.pdf

- Evans, E. A., Zhu, Y., Yoo, C., Huang, D., & Hser, Y. (2019). Criminal justice outcomes over 5 years after randomization to buprenorphine-naloxone or methadone treatment for opioid use disorder. *Addiction*, 114(8), 1396–1404. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14620
- Fallin-Bennett, A., Elswick, A., & Ashford, K. (2020). Peer support specialists and perinatal opioid use disorder: Someone that's been there, lived it, seen it. *Addictive Behaviors*, 102, 106204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.106204
- Fatseas, M., & Auriacombe, M. (2007). Why buprenorphine is so successful in treating opiate addiction in France. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 9(5), 358–364. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-007-0046-2
- Fiellin, D. A., Barry, D. T., Sullivan, L. E., Cutter, C. J., Moore, B. A., O'Connor, P. G., & Schottenfeld, R. S. (2013). A randomized trial of cognitive behavioral therapy in primary care-based buprenorphine. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *126*(1), 74.e11-74.e17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2012.07.005
- Fiellin, D. A., Moore, B. A., Sullivan, L. E., Becker, W. C., Pantalon, M. V., Chawarski, M. C., Barry, D. T., O'Connor, P. G., & Schottenfeld, R. S. (2008). Long-term treatment with

buprenorphine/naloxone in primary care: Results at 2–5 years. *American Journal on Addictions*, *17*(2), 116–120. https://doi.org/10.1080/10550490701860971

- Fink, D. S. M., Schleimer, J. P. B., Sarvet, A. M., Grover, K. K. B., Delcher, C. P., Castillo-Carniglia, A. P., Kim, J. H. P., Rivera-Aguirre, A. E. M., Henry, S. G. M., Martins, S. S. M., PhD, & Cerdá, M. D. (2018). Association Between Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs and Nonfatal and Fatal Drug Overdoses: A Systematic Review. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *168*(11), 783–790. WorldCat.org.
- Finnell, D. S., Tierney, M., & Mitchell, A. M. (2019). Nursing: Addressing substance use in the 21st century. *Substance Abuse*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2019.1674240
- Finnerup, N. B. (2019). Nonnarcotic methods of pain management. New England Journal of Medicine, 380(25), 2440–2448. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1807061
- Fiscella, K., & Wakeman, S. (2019). Let all doctors prescribe buprenorphine for opioid use disorder. STAT News. https://www.statnews.com/2019/03/12/deregulate-buprenophineprescribing/
- Fiscella, K., Wakeman, S. E., & Beletsky, L. (2019). Buprenorphine deregulation and mainstreaming treatment for opioid use disorder: X the x waiver. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 76(3), 229. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.3685
- Fishman SM. (2011). Prescription drug monitoring programs serve a vital clinical need. Pain Medicine (Malden, Mass.), 12(6), 845. MEDLINE.
- Flavin, L., Malowney, M., Patel, N. A., Alpert, M. D., Cheng, E., Noy, G., Samuelson, S., Sreshta, N., & Boyd, J. W. (2020). Availability of buprenorphine treatment in the 10 states with the highest drug overdose death rates in the United States. 26(1), 6.

- Florence, C. S., Zhou, C., Luo, F., & Xu, L. (2016). The economic burden of prescription opioid overdose, abuse, and dependence in the United States. *Medical Care*, 54(10), 901–906. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.000000000000625
- Fox, A. D., Maradiaga, J., Weiss, L., Sanchez, J., Starrels, J. L., & Cunningham, C. O. (2015). Release from incarceration, relapse to opioid use and the potential for buprenorphine maintenance treatment: A qualitative study of the perceptions of former inmates with opioid use disorder. *Addiction Science & Clinical Practice*, 10(1), 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-014-0023-0
- Frakt, A., & Monkovic, T. (2019). A 'rare case where racial biases' protected African-Americans. *The New York Times*, 4.
- Frost, C. (2019). Letter supporting HR 2482. Society of Hospital Medicine. https://www.hospitalmedicine.org/globalassets/policy-and-advocacy/letters-topolicymakers-pdf/5.29.19_mainstreamingaddictiontreatment_shm_support_2019-2020.pdf
- Fudala, P. J., Williford, W. O., Collins, J., Raisch, D., Goldsmith, R. J., McNicholas, L., &
 Tusel, D. (2003). Office-based treatment of opiate addiction with a sublingual-tablet
 formulation of buprenorphine and naloxone. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 10.
- Furr-Holden, C. D. M., Milam, A. J., Nesoff, E. D., Johnson, R. M., Fakunle, D. O., Jennings, J. M., & Thorpe, R. J. (2016). Not in my back yard: A comparative analysis of crime around publicly funded drug treatment centers, liquor stores, convenience stores, and corner stores in one mid-Atlantic city. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 77(1), 17–24. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2016.77.17

- Gabay, M. (2015). Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs. *Hospital Pharmacy*, 50(4), 277–278.WorldCat.org.
- Gagne, C. A., Finch, W. L., Myrick, K. J., & Davis, L. M. (2018). Peer workers in the behavioral and integrated health workforce: Opportunities and future directions. *American Journal* of Preventive Medicine, 54(6), S258–S266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.03.010
- Garcia, C. A., Correa, G. C., Viver, A. D. H., Kinlock, T. W., Gordon, M. S., Avila, C. A., Reyes, I. C., & Schwartz, R. P. (2007). Buprenorphine-naloxone treatment for pre-release opioid-dependent inmates in Puerto Rico. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 1(3), 126–132. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.0b013e31814b8880
- Gardner, J., & Ashford, R. (2016). *CARA history and breakdown*. Hazelden Betty Ford Foundation. https://www.hazeldenbettyford.org/articles/gardner/cara-history-andbreakdown
- Garfield, R., & Orgera, K. (2020, January 14). The coverage gap: Uninsured poor adults in states that do not expand Medicaid. *KFF*. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/the-coverage-gap-uninsured-poor-adults-in-states-that-do-not-expand-medicaid/
- Genberg, B. L., Astemborski, J., Vlahov, D., Kirk, G. D., & Mehta, S. H. (2015). Incarceration and injection drug use in Baltimore, Maryland: Incarceration and injection drug use. *Addiction*, 110(7), 1152–1159. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.12938
- Giacomuzzi, S. M., Riemer, Y., Ertl, M., Kemmler, G., Rossler, H., Hinterhuber, H., & Kurz, M. (2003). Buprenorphine versus methadone maintenance treatment in an ambulant setting:
 A health-related quality of life assessment. *Addiction*, *98*(5), 693–702. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2003.00352.x

- Gladden, R. M., Martinez, P., & Seth, P. (2016). Fentanyl law enforcement submissions and increases in synthetic opioid–involved overdose deaths—27 states, 2013–2014. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 65(33), 837–843. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6533a2
- Glasheen, C., Batts, K., Karg, R., & Hunter, D. (2016). Impact of the DSM-IV to DSM-5 changes on the national survey on drug use and health. SAMHSA. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUH-DSM5ImpactAdultMI-2016.pdf
- Goddu, Anna, O'Conor, Katie, Lanzkron, Sophie, Saheed, Mustapha, Saha, Somnath, Peek,
 Monica, Haywood, Carlton, & Beach, Mary. (2018). Do words matter? Stigmatizing
 language and the transmission of bias in the medical record. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 1–7. WorldCat.org. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-017-4289-2
- Goffman, E. (1963). *Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity* (2nd ed.). Simon & Schuster.
- Gomes, T., Tadrous, M., Mamdani, M. M., Paterson, J. M., & Juurlink, D. N. (2018). The burden of opioid-related mortality in the United States. *JAMA Network Open*, 1(2), e180217– e180217. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.0217
- Goodnough, A. (2018). In rehab, 'two warring factions': Abstinence vs. Medication. *The New York Times*, A1.
- Goodyear, K., Haass-Koffler, C. L., & Chavanne, D. (2018). Opioid use and stigma: The role of gender, language and precipitating events. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 185, 339–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.12.037
- Governor's Social Work Education Working Group on Substance Misuse. (2017). Social work education core principles for the prevention and management of substance misuse.

https://www.mass.gov/files/documents/2017/10/06/Social%20Work%20Core%20Princip les%20Draft%2010-4-17.pdf

- GovTrack. (2020a). *Details for H.R. 2482: Mainstreaming Addiction Treatment Act of 2019*. GovTrack.Us. https://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/116/hr2482/details
- GovTrack. (2020b). *Details for H.R. 2634: Drug Addiction Treatment Act of 2000*. GovTrack.Us. https://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/106/hr2634
- GovTrack. (2020c). *Details for S. 2074: Mainstreaming Addiction Treatment Act of 2019*. GovTrack.Us. https://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/116/s2074/details
- Green, T. C., Mann, M. R., Bowman, S. E., Zaller, N., Soto, X., Gadea, J., Cordy, C., Kelly, P., & Friedmann, P. D. (2012). How Does Use of a Prescription Monitoring Program Change Medical Practice? *Pain Medicine*, *13*(10), 1314–1323. WorldCat.org.
- Groshkova, T., Best, D., & White, W. (2013). The Assessment of Recovery Capital: Properties and psychometrics of a measure of addiction recovery strengths. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 32(2), 187–194. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-3362.2012.00489.x
- Gunn, A., Smothers, Z., Schramm-Sapyta, N., Freiermuth, C., MacEachern, M., & Muzyk, A.
 (2018). The emergency department as an opportunity for naloxone distribution. *Western Journal of Emergency Medicine*, *19*(6), 1036–1042.
 https://doi.org/10.5811/westjem.2018.8.38829

Haddox, D., Joranson, D., Angarola, R., Brady, A., Carr, D., Blonksy, R., Burchiel, K., Gitlin, M., Midcap, M., Payne, R., Simon, D., Vaswleuan, S., Wilson, P., & Portnenoy, R. (1998). The use of opioids for the treatment of chronic pain. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Care in Pain & Symptom Control*, 6(1), 97–102. https://doi.org/10.1300/J088v06n01_08

- Hadland, S. E., Park, T. W., & Bagley, S. M. (2018). Stigma associated with medication treatment for young adults with opioid use disorder: A case series. *Addiction Science & Clinical Practice*, 13(1), 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-018-0116-2
- Haffajee, R. L., Bohnert, A. S. B., & Lagisetty, P. A. (2018). Policy pathways to address provider workforce barriers to buprenorphine treatment. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 54(6), S230–S242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2017.12.022
- Haffajee, R. L., & Frank, R. G. (2020). Abuses of FDA degulatory procedures—The case of Suboxone. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(6), 496–498. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1906680
- Haffajee, R. L., Lin, L. A., Bohnert, A. S. B., & Goldstick, J. E. (2019). Characteristics of us counties with high opioid overdose mortality and low capacity to deliver medications for opioid use disorder. *JAMA Network Open*, 2(6), e196373. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.6373
- Haight, S. C., Ko, J., Tong, V., Bohm, M., & Callaghan, W. (2018). Opioid Use Disorder
 Documented at Delivery Hospitalization—United States, 1999–2014. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 67. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6731a1
- Hansen, H., Siegel, C., Wanderling, J., & DiRocco, D. (2016). Buprenorphine and methadone treatment for opioid dependence by income, ethnicity and race of neighborhoods in New York City. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *164*, 14–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.03.028

Hardy, B. (2020, January 9). *CHP Opioid Overdose Data* [Personal communication].
Harm Reduction Coalition. (2019). *Principles of harm reduction*. Harm Reduction Coalition. https://harmreduction.org/about-us/principles-of-harm-reduction/

- Harris, A. H., Gospodarevskaya, E., & Ritter, A. J. (2005). A randomised trial of the cost effectiveness of buprenorphine as an alternative to methadone maintenance treatment for heroin dependence in a primary care setting. *PharmacoEconomics*, 23(1), 77–91. https://doi.org/10.2165/00019053-200523010-00007
- Hartung, D. M., Johnston, K., Geddes, J., Leichtling, G., Priest, K. C., & Korthuis, P. T. (2019).
 Buprenorphine coverage in the Medicare Part D program for 2007 to 2018. *JAMA*, *321*(6), 607. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.20391
- Hasin, D. S., O'Brien, C. P., Auriacombe, M., Borges, G., Bucholz, K., Budney, A., Compton,
 W. M., Crowley, T., Ling, W., Petry, N. M., Schuckit, M., & Grant, B. F. (2013). DSM-5
 criteria for substance use disorders: Recommendations and rationale. *American Journal* of Psychiatry, 170(8), 834–851. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.12060782
- Hassamal, S., Goldenberg, M., Ishak, W., Haglund, M., Miotto, K., & Danovitch, I. (2017a).
 Overcoming barriers to initiating medication-assisted treatment for heroin use disorder in a general medical hospital: A case report and narrative literature review. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice*, 23(3), 221–229. WorldCat.org.
- Hassamal, S., Goldenberg, M., Ishak, W., Haglund, M., Miotto, K., & Danovitch, I. (2017b).
 Overcoming Barriers to Initiating Medication-assisted Treatment for Heroin Use
 Disorder in a General Medical Hospital: A Case Report and Narrative Literature Review. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice*, 23(3), 221–229. WorldCat.org.
- Health Professionals for Patients in Pain. (2019). *Professionals call on the CDC to address misapplication of its guideline on opioids for chronic pain through public clarification and impact evaluation*.

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1RzQDSppUKhjiAsEmhW2WbTXlP5V8vJ4M_vB PQLKhK_8/edit

- Healton, C., Pack, R., & Galea, S. (2019). The opioid crisis, corporate responsibility, and lessons from the tobacco master settlement agreement. *JAMA*, 322(21), 2071. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.17144
- Heit, H. A. (2009). Addiction, physical dependence, and tolerance: Precise definitions to help clinicians evaluate and treat chronic pain patients. *Journal of Pain & Palliative Care Pharmacotherapy*, *17*(1), 15–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/J354v17n01_03
- Herget, G. (2005). Methadone and buprenorphine added to the WHO list of essential medicines. *HIV AIDS Policy Law Review*, *10*(3), 23–24.
- Herron, A. J., & Brennan, T. (2015). *The ASAM essentials of addiction medicine* (Second edition., Vol. 1–1). Wolters Kluwer; WorldCat.org. http://site.ebrary.com/id/11291952
- Himmelsbach, C. K. (1942). Clinical studies of drug addiction: Physical dependence, withdrawal, and recovery. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 69(5), 766. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1942.00200170048004
- Holland, T. J., Penm, J., Dinh, M., Aran, S., & Chaar, B. (2019). Emergency department physicians' and pharmacists' perspectives on take-home naloxone: ED perspective on take-home naloxone. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, *38*(2), 169–176. https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.12894
- Hoots, B., Xu, L., Kariisa, M., Wilson, N., Rudd, R., Scholl, L., Schieber, L., & Seth, P. (2018).
 2018 annual surveillance report of drug-related risks and outcomes. Centers for Disease
 Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/pdf/pubs/2018-cdc-drugsurveillance-report.pdf

- Horton, M., McDonald, R., Green, T. C., Nielsen, S., Strang, J., Degenhardt, L., & Larney, S. (2017). A mapping review of take-home naloxone for people released from correctional settings. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 46, 7–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2017.05.015
- Houry, D., & Adams, J. (2019). Emergency physicians and opioid overdoses: A call to aid.
 Annals of Emergency Medicine, 74(3), 436–438.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2019.07.020
- Howard, H. (2015). Reducing stigma: Lessons from opioid-dependent women. Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions, 15(4), 418–438. https://doi.org/10.1080/1533256X.2015.1091003
- Howard, M., Wachman, E., Levesque, E. M., Schiff, D. M., Kistin, C. J., & Parker, M. G.
 (2018). The joys and frustrations of breastfeeding and rooming-in among mothers with opioid use disorder: A qualitative study. *Hospital Pediatrics*, 8(12), 761–768. https://doi.org/10.1542/hpeds.2018-0116
- Hser, Y., Evans, E., Huang, D., Weiss, R., Saxon, A., Carroll, K. M., Woody, G., Liu, D.,
 Wakim, P., Matthews, A. G., Hatch-Maillette, M., Jelstrom, E., Wiest, K., McLaughlin,
 P., & Ling, W. (2016). Long-term outcomes after randomization to
 buprenorphine/naloxone versus methadone in a multi-site trial. *Addiction*, *111*(4), 695–705. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13238
- Hsu, Y.-J., Marsteller, J. A., Kachur, S. G., & Fingerhood, M. I. (2019). Integration of buprenorphine treatment with primary care: Comparative effectiveness on retention, utilization, and cost. *Population Health Management*, 22(4), 292–299. https://doi.org/10.1089/pop.2018.0163

- Hu, T., Snider-Adler, M., Nijmeh, L., & Pyle, A. (2019). Buprenorphine/naloxone induction in a Canadian emergency department with rapid access to community-based addictions providers. *CJEM*, 21(4), 492–498. https://doi.org/10.1017/cem.2019.24
- Hufford, M., & Burke, D. S. (2018, November 8). The costs of heroin and naloxone: A tragic snapshot of the opioid crisis. *STAT News*, 5.
- Huh, K., Boucher, A., McGaffey, F., McKillop, M., & Schiff, M. (2018). State prisons and the delivery of hospital care. PEW Charitable Trusts. https://www.pewtrusts.org/-/media/assets/2018/07/prisons-and-hospital-care_report.pdf
- Huhn, A. S., & Dunn, K. E. (2017). Why aren't physicians prescribing more buprenorphine? Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 78, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2017.04.005
- Huhn, A. S., Hobelmann, J. G., Strickland, J. C., Oyler, G. A., Bergeria, C. L., Umbricht, A., & Dunn, K. E. (2020). Differences in availability and use of medications for opioid use disorder in residential treatment settings in the United States. *JAMA Network Open*, *3*(2), e1920843. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.20843
- Human Rights Watch. (2018). "Not allowed to be compassionate" chronic pain, the overdose crisis, and unintended harms in the us.

https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/report_pdf/hhr1218_web.pdf

Huskamp, H. A., Riedel, L. E., Barry, C. L., & Busch, A. B. (2018). Coverage of medications that treat opioid use disorder and opioids for pain management in marketplace plans. *Medical Care*, 56(6), 505–509. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.00000000000918

- Hutchinson, E., Catlin, M., Andrilla, C. H. A., Baldwin, L.-M., & Rosenblatt, R. A. (2014).
 Barriers to primary care physicians prescribing buprenorphine. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, *12*(2), 128–133. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1595
- Hyshka, E., Morris, H., Anderson-Baron, J., Nixon, L., Dong, K., & Salvalaggio, G. (2019).
 Patient perspectives on a harm reduction-oriented addiction medicine consultation team implemented in a large acute care hospital. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 204, 107523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.06.025
- Im, D. D., Chary, A., Condella, A., Vongsachang, H., Carlson, L., Vogel, L., Martin, A., Kunzler, N., Weiner, S., & Samuels-Kalow, M. (2018). Emergency providers' attitudes towards opioid use disorder and emergency department-initiated buprenorphine treatment: A mixed-methods study. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 72(4), S52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2018.08.126
- Indian Health Service. (2018, November 1). IHS announces a new policy to expand access to medication assisted treatment in remote locations. Newsroom. https://www.ihs.gov/newsroom/ihs-blog/november2018/ihs-announces-a-new-policy-toexpand-access-to-medication-assisted-treatment-in-remote-locations/
- Ingoglia, C. (2019). *Letter to U.S. Representative Paul Tonko*. National Council for Behavioral Health. https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Tonko_Lttr-of-Support_Mainstreaming-Addiction-Treatment-Act.pdf

Institute for Healthcare Improvement. (2020). Science of improvement. http://www.ihi.org:80/about/Pages/ScienceofImprovement.aspx

Integral Care. (2020). About us. https://integralcare.org/en/about-us/

- International Association of Professional Recovery Coaches. (2019). *Recovery Coach Training*. https://www.recoverycoachtraining.com/
- International Certification and Reciprocity Consortium. (2019). *IC&RC*. https://internationalcredentialing.org/

Jack, H. E., Oller, D., Kelly, J., Magidson, J. F., & Wakeman, S. E. (2018). Addressing substance use disorder in primary care: The role, integration, and impact of recovery coaches. *Substance Abuse*, *39*(3), 307–314. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2017.1389802

- Jacobsson, L., & Arboleda-Flórez, J. (2002). The roots of stigmatization. *World Psychiatry*, *1*(1), 25–26.
- James, J. R., Scott, J. M., Klein, J. W., Jackson, S., McKinney, C., Novack, M., Chew, L., & Merrill, J. O. (2019). Mortality after discontinuation of primary care–based chronic opioid therapy for pain: A retrospective cohort study. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 34(12), 2749–2755. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-05301-2
- James, K., & Jordan, A. (2018). The opioid crisis in black communities. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 46(2), 404–421. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110518782949
- Jameson, J. L., Kasper, D. L., Fauci, A. S., Hauser, S. L., Longo, D. L., Loscalzo, J., & Harrison, T. R. (2018). *Harrison's principles of internal medicine* (Twentieth edition /, Vol. 1–1 online resource : illustrations.). McGraw-Hill Education; WorldCat.org. http://accessmedicine.mhmedical.com/book.aspx?bookid=2129
- Jarvis, M. (2019). Testimony at the bipartisan opioid task force roundtable, "Third wave of the opioid epidemic: Fentanyl and synthetics." https://www.asam.org/docs/default-source/advocacy/final-oral-margaret-jarvis-testimony-bipartisan-heroin-task-force-(7).pdf

- Jicha, C., Saxon, D., Lofwall, M. R., & Fanucchi, L. C. (2019). Substance use disorder assessment, diagnosis, and management for patients hospitalized with severe infections due to injection drug use. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 13(1), 69–74. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.00000000000454
- Jilani, S. M. (2019). Evaluation of state-mandated reporting of neonatal abstinence syndrome— Six states, 2013–2017. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 68. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6801a2
- Johansson, L., & Wiklund-Gustin, L. (2016). The multifaceted vigilance—Nurses' experiences of caring encounters with patients suffering from substance use disorder. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 30(2), 303–311. https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12244
- Jones, C. M., & McCance-Katz, E. F. (2019). Characteristics and prescribing practices of clinicians recently waivered to prescribe buprenorphine for the treatment of opioid use disorder: Buprenorphine prescribing practices. *Addiction*, 114(3), 471–482. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14436
- Jones, C. W., Christman, Z., Smith, C. M., Safferman, M. R., Salzman, M., Baston, K., & Haroz, R. (2018). Comparison between buprenorphine provider availability and opioid deaths among US counties. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 93, 19–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2018.07.008
- Jones, H. E., Stine, S. M., O'Grady, K. E., & Fischer, G. (2010). Neonatal abstinence syndrome after methadone or buprenorphine exposure. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 363(24), 12.
- Joshi, S., Weiser, T., & Warren-Mears, V. (2018). Drug, opioid-involved, and heroin-involved overdose deaths among American Indians and Alaska Natives—Washington, 1999–2015.

MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 67(50), 1384–1387. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6750a2

- Jumah, N. A. (2016). Rural, pregnant, and opioid dependent: A systematic review. Substance Abuse: Research and Treatment, 10s1, SART.S34547. https://doi.org/10.4137/SART.S34547
- Juurlink, D. N. (2018). Critiquing the cdc opioid guideline: Some light from the heat. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, *103*(6), 966–968. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.1061
- Kadri, A. N., Wilner, B., Hernandez, A. V., Nakhoul, G., Chahine, J., Griffin, B., Pettersson, G., Grimm, R., Navia, J., Gordon, S., Kapadia, S. R., & Harb, S. C. (2019). Geographic trends, patient characteristics, and outcomes of infective endocarditis associated with drug abuse in the United States from 2002 to 2016. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 8(19). https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.119.012969
- Kakko, J., Svanborg, K. D., Kreek, M. J., & Heilig, M. (2003). 1-year retention and social function after buprenorphine-assisted relapse prevention treatment for heroin dependence in Sweden: A randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *The Lancet*, *361*(9358), 662–668. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12600-1
- Kampman, K., & Comer. (2015). The ASAM national practice guideline for the use of medications in the treatment of addiction involving opioid use.
 https://www.asam.org/resources/guidelines-and-consensus-documents/npg
- Karacostas, C. (2017, November 17). Bad data obscures scale of opioid epidemic. *The Daily Texas*, 1.

- Katz, J. (2017, October 26). You draw it: Just how bad is the drug overdose epidemic? New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/04/14/upshot/drug-overdose-epidemicyou-draw-it.html
- Kaucher, K. A., Caruso, E. H., Sungar, G., Gawenus, L., Hurlbut, K., Sanchez, D. C., & Broderick, K. (2019). Evaluation of an emergency department buprenorphine induction and medication-assisted treatment referral program. *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*, S0735675719305030. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2019.158373
- Kaufman, L., Brooks, W., Steinley-Bumgarner, M., & Stevens-Manser, S. (2014). Peer specialist training and certification programs. University of Texas at Austin Center for Social Work Research. http://sites.utexas.edu/mental-health-institute/files/2014/07/Peer-Specialist-Training-and-Certification-Programs-A-National-Overview-2014-Update.pdf
- Keiser Family Foundation. (2019a). *Opioid overdose deaths by race / ethnicity*. https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/opioid-overdose-deaths-by-raceethnicity/
- Keiser Family Foundation. (2019b). *Medicaid in Texas*. http://files.kff.org/attachment/fact-sheetmedicaid-state-TX
- Kennedy-Hendricks, A., Barry, C. L., Gollust, S. E., Ensminger, M. E., Chisolm, M. S., & McGinty, E. E. (2017). Social stigma toward persons with prescription opioid use disorder: Associations with public support for punitive and public health–oriented policies. *Psychiatric Services*, 68(5), 462–469. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201600056
- Kermack, A., Flannery, M., Tofighi, B., McNeely, J., & Lee, J. D. (2017). Buprenorphine prescribing practice trends and attitudes among New York providers. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 74, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2016.10.005

- Kertesz, S. G., & Gordon, A. J. (2019). A crisis of opioids and the limits of prescription control: United States: Opioids and the limits of prescription control. *Addiction*, 114(1), 169–180. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14394
- Kessel, J. B., Castel, L. D., & Nemecek, D. A. (2018). Clinical and cost outcomes of buprenorphine treatment in a commercial benefit plan population. *American Journal of Pharmacy Benefits*, 10(1), 84–89.
- Khatri, U., Aronowitz, S., & South, E. (2019, December 26). The opioid crisis shows why racism in health care is always harmful, never 'protective' 1 Opinion. *Inquirer*. https://www.inquirer.com/health/expert-opinions/opioid-crisis-racism-healthcare-buprenorphine-20191223.html
- Kilaru, A. S., Perrone, J., Kelley, D., Siegel, S., Lubitz, S. F., Mitra, N., & Meisel, Z. F. (2020).
 Participation in a hospital incentive program for follow-up treatment for opioid use disorder. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(1), e1918511.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.18511
- Kiluk, B. D., Fitzmaurice, G. M., Strain, E. C., & Weiss, R. D. (2019). What defines a clinically meaningful outcome in the treatment of substance use disorders: Reductions in direct consequences of drug use or improvement in overall functioning? *Addiction*, *114*(1), 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14289
- Kimmel, S. D., Walley, A. Y., Linas, B. P., Kalesan, B., Awtry, E., Dobrilovic, N., White, L., & LaRochelle, M. (2019). Effect of publicly reported aortic valve surgery outcomes on valve surgery in injection drug– and non–injection drug–associated endocarditis. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, ciz834. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciz834

King, J. B., Sainski-Nguyen, A. M., & Bellows, B. K. (2016). Office-based buprenorphine versus clinic-based methadone: A cost-effectiveness analysis. *Journal of Pain & Palliative Care Pharmacotherapy*, 30(1), 55–65. https://doi.org/10.3109/15360288.2015.1135847

Klaire, S., Zivanovic, R., Barbic, S. P., Sandhu, R., Mathew, N., & Azar, P. (2019). Rapid microinduction of buprenorphine/naloxone for opioid use disorder in an inpatient setting: A case series. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 28(4), 262–265. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12869

- Kleber, H. D. (2008). Methadone maintenance four decades later. *JAMA*, *300*(19), 2303. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2008.648
- Knudsen, H. K., & Studts, J. L. (2019). Physicians as mediators of health policy: Acceptance of medicaid in the context of buprenorphine treatment. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, 46(1), 151–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-018-9629-4
- Kolodny, A., Courtwright, D. T., Hwang, C. S., Kreiner, P., Eadie, J. L., Clark, T. W., & Alexander, G. C. (2015). The prescription opioid and heroin crisis: A public health approach to an epidemic of addiction. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *36*(1), 559–574. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031914-122957
- Kosten, T., Schottenfeld, R., Ziedonis, D., & Falcioni, J. (1993). Buprenorphine versus methadone maintenance for opioid dependence. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, *181*(6), 358–364.
- Kravitz-Wirtz, N., Davis, C. S., Ponicki, W. R., Rivera-Aguirre, A., Marshall, B. D. L., Martins,S. S., & Cerdá, M. (2020). Association of Medicaid expansion with opioid overdose

mortality in the United States. JAMA Network Open, 3(1), e1919066.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.19066

- Krawczyk, N., Eisenberg, M., Schneider, K. E., Richards, T. M., Lyons, B. C., Jackson, K., Ferris, L., Weiner, J. P., & Saloner, B. (2020). Predictors of overdose death among highrisk emergency department patients with substance-related encounters: A data linkage cohort study. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 75(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2019.07.014
- Krawczyk, N., Negron, T., Nieto, M., Agus, D., & Fingerhood, M. I. (2018). Overcoming medication stigma in peer recovery: A new paradigm. *Substance Abuse*, *39*(4), 404–409. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2018.1439798
- Kreek, M. J., Reed, B., & Butelman, E. R. (2019). Current status of opioid addiction treatment and related preclinical research. *Science Advances*, 5(10), eaax9140. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aax9140
- Kroenke, K., Alford, D. P., Argoff, C., Canlas, B., Covington, E., Frank, J. W., Haake, K. J.,
 Hanling, S., Hooten, W. M., Kertesz, S. G., Kravitz, R. L., Krebs, E. E., Stanos, S. P., &
 Sullivan, M. (2019). Challenges with implementing the centers for disease control and
 prevention opioid guideline: A consensus panel report. *Pain Medicine*, 20(4), 724–735.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pny307
- Lagisetty, P. A., Ross, R., Bohnert, A., Clay, M., & Maust, D. T. (2019). Buprenorphine treatment divide by race/ethnicity and payment. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 76(9), 979. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.0876

- Lail, P., & Fairbairn, N. (2018). Patients with substance use disorders leaving against medical advice: Strategies for improvement. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 12(6), 421–423. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.00000000000432
- Lambdin, B. H., Davis, C. S., Wheeler, E., Tueller, S., & Kral, A. H. (2018). Naloxone laws facilitate the establishment of overdose education and naloxone distribution programs in the United States. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 188, 370–376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.04.004
- Lapham, G., Boudreau, D. M., Johnson, E. A., Bobb, J. F., Matthews, A. G., McCormack, J.,
 Liu, D., Samet, J. H., Saxon, A. J., Campbell, C. I., Glass, J. E., Rossom, R. C., Murphy,
 M. T., Binswanger, I. A., Yarborough, B. J. H., & Bradley, K. A. (2020). Prevalence and
 treatment of opioid use disorders among primary care patients in six health systems. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 207, 107732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107732
- Larochelle, M., Bernson, D., & Land, T. (2018). Medication for opioid use disorder after nonfatal opioid overdose and association with mortality: A cohort study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.7326/M17-3107
- Latka, M. H., Hagan, H., Kapadia, F., Golub, E. T., Bonner, S., Campbell, J. V., Coady, M. H., Garfein, R. S., Pu, M., Thomas, D. L., Thiel, T. K., & Strathdee, S. A. (2008). A randomized intervention trial to reduce the lending of used injection equipment among injection drug users infected with hepatitis c. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98(5), 853–861. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2007.113415
- Lee, C., Liebschutz, J. M., Anderson, B. J., & Stein, M. D. (2017). Hospitalized opioiddependent patients: Exploring predictors of buprenorphine treatment entry and retention
after discharge. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 26(7), 667–672. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12533

- Lee, D. S., Hann, J. E., Klaire, S. S., Nikoo, M., Negraeff, M. D., & Rezazadeh-Azar, P. (2020). Rapid induction of buprenorphine/naloxone for chronic pain using a microdosing regimen: A case report. A & A Practice, 14(2), 44–47. https://doi.org/10.1213/XAA.00000000001138
- Lee, J. D., Grossman, E., Truncali, A., Rotrosen, J., Rosenblum, A., Magura, S., & Gourevitch, M. N. (2012). Buprenorphine-naloxone maintenance following release from jail. *Substance Abuse*, 33(1), 40–47. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2011.620475
- Lee, J. D., Nunes, E. V., Novo, P., Bachrach, K., Bailey, G. L., Bhatt, S., Farkas, S., Fishman, M., Gauthier, P., Hodgkins, C. C., King, J., Lindblad, R., Liu, D., Matthews, A. G., May, J., Peavy, K. M., Ross, S., Salazar, D., Schkolnik, P., ... Rotrosen, J. (2018).
 Comparative effectiveness of extended-release naltrexone versus buprenorphine-naloxone for opioid relapse prevention: A multicentre, open-label, randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, *391*(10118), 309–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32812-X
- Lenton, S., & Single, E. (1998). The definition of harm reduction. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, *17*(2), 213–219. https://doi.org/10.1080/09595239800187011
- Leung, P. T. M., Macdonald, E. M., Stanbrook, M. B., Dhalla, I. A., & Juurlink, D. N. (2017). A 1980 letter on the risk of opioid addiction. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376(22), 2194–2195. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc1700150
- Lewis, L. F., & Jarvis, L. (2019). Undergraduate nursing students' experiences and attitudes towards working with patients with opioid use disorder in the clinical setting: A

qualitative content analysis. *Nurse Education Today*, 73, 17–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.11.001

- Liang, T. J., & Ward, J. W. (2018). Hepatitis C in injection-drug users: A hidden danger of the opioid epidemic. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 378(13), 1169–1171. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1716871
- Liebschutz, J., Crooks, D., Tsui, J., Herman, D., Anderson, B., Stein, M., Meshesha, L., & Meshesha L.Z. (2014). Buprenorphine treatment for hospitalized, opioid-dependent patients: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *174*(8), 1369–1376. WorldCat.org.
- Lin, L. (Allison), Brummett, C. M., Waljee, J. F., Englesbe, M. J., Gunaseelan, V., & Bohnert,
 A. S. B. (2019). Association of opioid overdose risk factors and naloxone prescribing in
 U.S. adults. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-05423-7
- Lin, L., Casteel, D., Shigekawa, E., Weyrich, M. S., Roby, D. H., & McMenamin, S. B. (2019). Telemedicine-delivered treatment interventions for substance use disorders: A systematic review. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 101, 38–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2019.03.007
- Ling, W., Amass, L., Shoptaw, S., Annon, J. J., Hillhouse, M., Babcock, D., Brigham, G., Harrer, J., Reid, M., Muir, J., Buchan, B., Orr, D., Woody, G., Krejci, J., Ziedonis, D., & the Buprenorphine Study Protocol Group. (2005). A multi-center randomized trial of buprenorphine-naloxone versus clonidine for opioid, detoxification: Findings from the National Institute on Drug Abuse Clinical Trials Network. *Addiction*, *100*(8), 1090–1100. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2005.01154.x

- Ling, W., Charuvastra, C., Collins, J. F., Batki, S., Brown, L. S., Kintaudi, P., Wesson, D. R., Mcnicholas, L., Tusel, D. J., Malkerneker, U., Renner, J. A., Santos, E., Casadonte, P., Fye, C., Stine, S., Wang, R. I. H., & Segal, D. (1998). Buprenorphine maintenance treatment of opiate dependence: A multicenter, randomized clinical trial. *Addiction*, 93(4), 475–486. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.1998.9344753.x
- Ling, W., Hillhouse, M., Ang, A., Jenkins, J., & Fahey, J. (2013). Comparison of behavioral treatment conditions in buprenorphine maintenance: Behavioral treatment and buprenorphine. *Addiction*, 108(10), 1788–1798. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.12266
- Link, B. G., & Phelan, J. C. (2001). Conceptualizing stigma. Annual Review of Sociology, 27(1), 363–385. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.363
- Livingston, J. D., Milne, T., Fang, M. L., & Amari, E. (2012). The effectiveness of interventions for reducing stigma related to substance use disorders: A systematic review. *Addiction*, 107(1), 39–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03601.x
- Lopes, J. E. (2019). Treating patients with opioid use disorder. *Journal of the American Academy* of Physician Assistants, 32(10), 10–11.

https://doi.org/10.1097/01.JAA.0000580564.02464.00

Lopez, G. (2018, May 10). We really do have a solution to the opioid epidemic—And one state is showing it works. Vox. https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2018/5/10/17256572/opioid-epidemic-virginia-medicaid-expansion-arts

Louie, D. L., Assefa, M. T., & McGovern, M. P. (2019). Attitudes of primary care physicians toward prescribing buprenorphine: A narrative review. *BMC Family Practice*, 20(1), 157. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-019-1047-z

- Louis, J. St., Eden, A. R., Morgan, Z. J., Barreto, T. W., Peterson, L. E., & Phillips, R. L. (2020).
 Maternity care and buprenorphine prescribing in new family physicians. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, *18*(2), 156–158. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.2504
- Lowenstein, M., Kilaru, A., Perrone, J., Hemmons, J., Abdel-Rahman, D., Meisel, Z. F., & Delgado, M. K. (2019). Barriers and facilitators for emergency department initiation of buprenorphine: A physician survey. *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 37(9), 1787–1790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2019.02.025
- Lucey, C. R., Jones, L., & Eastburn, A. (2019). A lethal hidden curriculum—Death of a medical student from opioid use disorder. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 381(9), 793–795. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1901537
- Luoma, J. B., Kulesza, M., Hayes, S. C., Kohlenberg, B., & Larimer, M. (2014). Stigma predicts residential treatment length for substance use disorder. *The American Journal of Drug* and Alcohol Abuse, 40(3), 206–212. https://doi.org/10.3109/00952990.2014.901337
- MacDonald, K., Lamb, K., Thomas, M. L., & Khentigan, W. (2016). Buprenorphine maintenance treatment of opiate dependence: Correlations between prescriber beliefs and practices. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 51(1), 85–90.

https://doi.org/10.3109/10826084.2015.1089905

Madara, J. (2018). Letter to Senate Finance Committee Chairman Hatch and Ranking Member
Wyden. American Medical Association. https://searchlf.amaassn.org/undefined/documentDownload?uri=/unstructured/binary/letter/LETTERS/2018-2-16-AMA-Opioid-Recommendations-Ltr-SFC-02-16-18.pdf

Magura, S., Lee, J. D., Hershberger, J., Joseph, H., Marsch, L., Shropshire, C., & Rosenblum, A. (2009). Buprenorphine and methadone maintenance in jail and post-release: A

randomized clinical trial. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 99(1–3), 222–230.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2008.08.006

Majewski, C. (2019, June 19). Assessing a year of successes and challenges: PAEA's MAT initiative. *Physician Assistant Education Association*. https://paeaonline.org/assessing-a-year-of-successes-and-challenges-paeas-mat-initiative/

MARA. (2019). Medication-Assisted Recovery Anonymous. https://www.mara-international.org/

- Maremmani, A., Rovai, L., Pani, P., Pacini, M., Lamanna, F., Rugani, F., Schiavi, E., Dell'Osso,
 L., & Maremmani, I. (2011). Do methadone and buprenorphine have the same impact on psychopathological symptoms of heroin addicts? *Annals of General Psychiatry*, *10*(1), 17. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-859X-10-17
- Marino, R., Perrone, J., Nelson, L. S., Wiegand, T. J., Schwarz, E. S., Wax, P. M., & Stolbach,
 A. I. (2019). ACMT position statement: Remove the waiver requirement for prescribing buprenorphine for opioid use disorder. *Journal of Medical Toxicology*, *15*(4), 307–309. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13181-019-00728-9
- Mark, T. L., Parish, W., & Zarkin, G. A. (2019). Association between Medicare and FDA policies and prior authorization requirements for buprenorphine products in Medicare Part D plans. *JAMA*, 322(2), 166. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.6581
- Marlowe, D., Hardin, C., & Fox, C. (2016). *Painting the current picture*. National Drug Court Institute. https://www.ndci.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/Painting-the-Current-Picture-2016.pdf
- Marsden, J., Stillwell, G., Jones, H., Cooper, A., Eastwood, B., Farrell, M., Lowden, T., Maddalena, N., Metcalfe, C., Shaw, J., & Hickman, M. (2017). Does exposure to opioid substitution treatment in prison reduce the risk of death after release? A national

prospective observational study in England. *Addiction*, *112*(8), 1408–1418. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13779

- Martino, J. G., Smith, S. R., Rafie, S., Rafie, S., & Marienfeld, C. (2020). Physician and pharmacist: Attitudes, facilitators, and barriers to prescribing naloxone for home rescue. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 29(1), 65–72. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12982
- Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2016). *Standards of care*. https://www.mass.gov/files/documents/2016/10/my/bsas-standards-of-care.pdf
- Mattick, R., Ali, R., White, J. M., O'Brien, S., Wolk, S., & Danz, C. (2003). Buprenorphine versus methadone maintenance therapy: A randomized double-blind trial with 405 opioid-dependent patients. *Addiction*, 98(4), 441–452. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2003.00335.x
- Mattick, R. P., Breen, C., Kimber, J., & Davoli, M. (2014). Buprenorphine maintenance versus placebo or methadone maintenance for opioid dependence. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD002207.pub4
- McCance-Katz, E. F., George, P., Scott, N. A., Dollase, R., Tunkel, A. R., & McDonald, J.
 (2017). Access to treatment for opioid use disorders: Medical student preparation. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 26(4), 316–318. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12550
- McClellan, C., Lambdin, B. H., Ali, M. M., Mutter, R., Davis, C. S., Wheeler, E., Pemberton,
 M., & Kral, A. H. (2018). Opioid-overdose laws association with opioid use and
 overdose mortality. *Addictive Behaviors*, 86, 90–95.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.03.014

- McCradden, M. D., Vasileva, D., Orchanian-Cheff, A., & Buchman, D. Z. (2019). Ambiguous identities of drugs and people: A scoping review of opioid-related stigma. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 74, 205–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.10.005
- McGuire, A. B., Powell, K. G., Treitler, P. C., Wagner, K. D., Smith, K. P., Cooperman, N., Robinson, L., Carter, J., Ray, B., & Watson, D. P. (2020). Emergency department-based peer support for opioid use disorder: Emergent functions and forms. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 108, 82–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2019.06.013
- McLellan, A. T., Lewis, D. C., O'Brien, C. P., & Kleber, H. D. (2000). Drug dependence, a chronic medical illness: Implications for treatment, insurance, and outcomes evaluation. *JAMA*, 284(13), 1689–1695. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.284.13.1689
- McNeely, J., Wu, L.-T., Subramaniam, G., Sharma, G., Cathers, L. A., Svikis, D., Sleiter, L.,
 Russell, L., Nordeck, C., Sharma, A., O'Grady, K. E., Bouk, L. B., Cushing, C., King, J.,
 Wahle, A., & Schwartz, R. P. (2016). Performance of the Tobacco, Alcohol, Prescription
 medication, and other Substance use (taps) tool for substance use screening in primary
 care patients. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *165*(10), 690. https://doi.org/10.7326/M16-0317
- McNeil, R., Small, W., Wood, E., & Kerr, T. (2014). Hospitals as a 'risk environment': An ethno-epidemiological study of voluntary and involuntary discharge from hospital against medical advice among people who inject drugs. *Social Science & Medicine*, *105*, 59–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.01.010
- Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. (2017). *Report to Congress on Medicaid and CHIP June 2017.* 152.

Meisner, J. A., Anesi, J., Chen, X., & Grande, D. (2019). Changes in infective endocarditis admissions in Pennsylvania during the opioid epidemic. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, ciz1038. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciz1038

Meltzer, E. C., Suppes, A., Burns, S., Shuman, A., Orfanos, A., Sturiano, C. V., Charney, P., & Fins, J. J. (2013). Stigmatization of substance use disorders among internal medicine residents. *Substance Abuse*, *34*(4), 356–362.
https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2013.815143

- Mendiola, C. K., Galetto, G., & Fingerhood, M. (2018). An exploration of emergency physicians' attitudes toward patients with substance use disorder. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 12(2), 132–135. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.00000000000377
- Menighan, T. (2019). *RE: Mainstreaming Addiction Treatment Act of 2019 (H.R. 2482 / S. 2074)*. American Pharmacists Association.

https://www.pharmacist.com/sites/default/files/audience/Maintreaming Addiction - Letter of Support FINAL.pdf

- Merchant, E., Burke, D., Shaw, L., Tookes, H., Patil, D., Barocas, J. A., & Wurcel, A. G. (2020).
 Hospitalization outcomes of people who use drugs: One size does not fit all. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *112*, 23–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2020.01.010
- Miller, N. (2018). A comprehensive listing of what states cover for substance use disorder, including medications. 71.
- Min, S.-Y., Whitecraft, J., Rothbard, A. B., & Salzer, M. S. (2007). Peer support for persons with co-occurring disorders and community tenure: A survival analysis. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 30(3), 207–213. https://doi.org/10.2975/30.3.2007.207.213

- Mohlman, M., Tanzman, B., Finison, K., Jones, C., & Jones C. (2016). Impact of medicationassisted treatment for opioid addiction on Medicaid expenditures and health services utilization rates in Vermont. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 67, 9–14. MEDLINE. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2016.05.002
- Molfenter, T., Fitzgerald, M., Jacobson, N., McCarty, D., Quanbeck, A., & Zehner, M. (2019).
 Barriers to buprenorphine expansion in Ohio: A time-elapsed qualitative study. *Journal* of Psychoactive Drugs, 51(3), 272–279. https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.2019.1566583
- Monteiro, K., Dumenco, L., Collins, S., Bratberg, J., MacDonnell, C., Jacobsen, A., Dollase, R., & George, P. (2016). Substance use disorder training workshop for future interprofessional health care providers. *MedEdPORTAL Publications*, 13. https://doi.org/10.15766/mep_2374-8265.10576
- Moore, K. E., Roberts, W., Reid, H. H., Smith, K. M. Z., Oberleitner, L. M. S., & McKee, S. A. (2019). Effectiveness of medication assisted treatment for opioid use in prison and jail settings: A meta-analysis and systematic review. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 99, 32–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2018.12.003
- Moreno JL, Wakeman SE, Duprey MS, Roberts RJ, Jacobson JS, & Devlin JW. (2019).
 Predictors for 30-Day and 90-Day Hospital Readmission Among Patients With Opioid
 Use Disorder. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*. MEDLINE.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.00000000000499
- Morley, G., Briggs, E., & Chumbley, G. (2015). Nurses' experiences of patients with substanceuse disorder in pain: A phenomenological study. *Pain Management Nursing*, 16(5), 701– 711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmn.2015.03.005

Murphy, S. M., McCollister, K. E., Leff, J. A., Yang, X., Jeng, P. J., Lee, J. D., Nunes, E. V., Novo, P., Rotrosen, J., & Schackman, B. R. (2018). Cost-effectiveness of buprenorphine– naloxone versus extended-release naltrexone to prevent opioid relapse. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.7326/M18-0227

Naeger, S., Mutter, R., Ali, M. M., Mark, T., & Hughey, L. (2016). Post-discharge treatment engagement among patients with an opioid-use disorder. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 69, 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2016.07.004

Narcotics Anonymous. (1988). The Twelve Traditions of NA.

https://www.na.org/admin/include/spaw2/uploads/pdf/litfiles/us_english/misc/Twelve Traditions.pdf

Narcotics Anonymous. (2016). Narcotics anonymous and persons receiving medication-assisted treatment.

https://www.na.org/admin/include/spaw2/uploads/pdf/pr/2306_NA_PRMAT_1021.pdf

- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2020). *Opportunities to improve* opioid use disorder and infectious disease services: Integrating responses to a dual epidemic. National Academies Press. https://www.nap.edu/catalog/25626
- National Academy of Medicine. (2019). *Medications for opioid use disorder save lives*. National Academies Press. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK538936/
- National Association of Alcoholism Counselors and Trainers. (2019). National certified peer recovery support specialist. https://www.naadac.org/ncprss
- National Association of State Alcohol and Drug Abuse Directors. (2019). *Buprenorphine patient limits: History and overview*. https://nasadad.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/01/Buprenorphine-Patient-Limits-1.pdf

- National Committee for Quality Assurance. (2020a). Use of Opioids at High Dosage. NCQA. https://www.ncqa.org/hedis/measures/use-of-opioids-at-high-dosage/
- National Committee for Quality Assurance. (2020b). Use of Opioids from Multiple Providers.
- NCQA. https://www.ncqa.org/hedis/measures/use-of-opioids-from-multiple-providers/ National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2005). *Drug abuse and addiction: One of America's most challenging public health problems*. https://archives.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugabuse-addiction-one-americas-most-challenging-public-health-problems/addictionchronic-disease
- National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2017, March). *Naloxone for opioid overdose: Life-saving science*. https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/naloxone-opioid-overdose-life-saving-science
- National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2018, September 11). *Frequently asked questions about EDinitiated buprenorphine*. https://www.drugabuse.gov/nidamed-medical-healthprofessionals/initiating-buprenorphine-treatment-in-emergency-department/frequentlyasked-questions-about-ed-initiated-buprenorphine
- National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2019, January). *Opioid overdose crisis*. https://www.drugabuse.gov/drugs-abuse/opioids/opioid-overdose-crisis
- National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2020, April 3). *Texas: Opioid-Involved Deaths and Related Harms*. National Institute on Drug Abuse. https://www.drugabuse.gov/drugtopics/opioids/opioid-summaries-by-state/texas-opioid-involved-deaths-related-harms
- National Institutes of Health. (2019, September 25). *NIH funds* \$945 million in research to tackle the national opioid crisis through NIH HEAL Initiative. https://www.nih.gov/news-

events/news-releases/nih-funds-945-million-research-tackle-national-opioid-crisisthrough-nih-heal-initiative

- NEJM. (2018, August). *Growing ranks of advanced practice clinicians, NPs and PAs.* NEJM Catalyst. https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMp1801869
- Network for Public Health Law. (2016). Legal interventions to reduce overdose mortality: Naloxone access and overdose good samaritan laws.
- Nielsen, S., Larance, B., Degenhardt, L., Gowing, L., Kehler, C., & Lintzeris, N. (2016). Opioid agonist treatment for pharmaceutical opioid dependent people. *Cochrane Database Systematic Review*, 9(5). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD011117.pub2.
- Nieweglowski, K., Corrigan, P. W., Tyas, T., Tooley, A., Dubke, R., Lara, J., Washington, L., Sayer, J., Sheehan, L., & The Addiction Stigma Research Team. (2018). Exploring the public stigma of substance use disorder through community-based participatory research. *Addiction Research & Theory*, 26(4), 323–329.

https://doi.org/10.1080/16066359.2017.1409890

- Nieweglowski, K., Dubke, R., Mulfinger, N., Sheehan, L., & Corrigan, P. W. (2019).
 Understanding the factor structure of the public stigma of substance use disorder. *Addiction Research & Theory*, 27(2), 156–161.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/16066359.2018.1474205
- Nigam, A. K., Ray, R., & Tripathi, B. M. (1993). Buprenorphine in opiate withdrawal: A comparison with clonidine. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 10(4), 391–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/0740-5472(93)90024-V
- Norris, L. (2019, January 10). *Texas and the ACA's Medicaid expansion: Eligibility, enrollment and benefits*. Healthinsurance.Org. https://www.healthinsurance.org/texas-medicaid/

- Nutt, D. (2013). Addiction: Lifestyle choice or medical diagnosis? *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, *19*(3), 493–496. https://doi.org/10.1111/jep.12045
- Olfson, M., Rossen, L. M., Wall, M. M., Houry, D., & Blanco, C. (2019). Trends in intentional and unintentional opioid overdose deaths in the united states, 2000-2017. *JAMA*, 322(23), 2340. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.16566
- Oliva, E. M., Bowe, T., Manhapra, A., Kertesz, S., Hah, J. M., Henderson, P., Robinson, A., Paik, M., Sandbrink, F., Gordon, A. J., & Trafton, J. A. (2020). Associations between stopping prescriptions for opioids, length of opioid treatment, and overdose or suicide deaths in U.S. veterans: Observational evaluation. *BMJ*, m283. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m283
- Olsen, Y., & Sharfstein, J. M. (2014). Confronting the stigma of opioid use disorder—And its treatment. *JAMA*, *311*(14), 1393. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.2147
- Om, A. (2018). The opioid crisis in black and white: The role of race in our nation's recent drug epidemic. *Journal of Public Health*, 40(4), e614–e615. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdy103
- Ompad, D. C., Gershon, R. R., Sandh, S., Acosta, P., & Palamar, J. J. (2019). Construction trade and extraction workers: A population at high risk for drug use in the United States, 2005–2014. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 107640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107640

Orman, J. S., & Keating, G. M. (2009). Spotlight on buprenorphine/naloxone in the treatment of opioid dependencey. *CNS Drugs*, 4.

- Ostrach, B., & Leiner, C. (2019). "I didn't want to be on suboxone at first..." Ambivalence in perinatal substance use treatment. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 13(4), 264–271. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.000000000000491
- O'Hara, K. M. (2016). Advancing HIV prevention amidst an opioid epidemic in the United States: *Journal of the American Academy of Physician Assistants*, 29(2), 12–14. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.JAA.0000476226.17012.ba
- PAEA. (2018). MAT waiver training initiative. *Physician Assistant Education Association*. https://paeaonline.org/mat-waiver-training-initiative/
- Palombi, L. C., St Hill, C. A., Lipsky, M. S., Swanoski, M. T., & Lutfiyya, M. N. (2018). A scoping review of opioid misuse in the rural United States. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 28(9), 641–652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2018.05.008
- Park, Y., Raza, S., George, A., Agrawal, R., & Ko, J. (2017). The effect of formulary restrictions on patient and payer outcomes: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Managed Care & Specialty Pharmacy*, 23(8), 893–901. https://doi.org/10.18553/jmcp.2017.23.8.893
- Parran, T., Adelman, C., & Jasinski, D. (1994). A buprenorphine stabilization and rapid-taper protocol for the detoxification of opioid-dependent patients. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 3(4), 306–313.
- Patrick, S. W., Buntin, M. B., Martin, P. R., Scott, T. A., Dupont, W., Richards, M., & Cooper, W. O. (2018). Barriers to accessing treatment for pregnant women with opioid use disorder in Appalachian states. *Substance Abuse*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2018.1488336

Paulozzi, L. J., Budnitz, D. S., & Xi, Y. (2006). Increasing deaths from opioid analgesics in the United States. *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 15(9), 618–627. https://doi.org/10.1002/pds.1276

PDMP Training and Technical Assistance Center. (2018). *History of prescription drug monitoring programs*. http://www.pdmpassist.org/pdf/PDMP_admin/TAG_History_PDMPs_final_20180314.pd f

- Pepin, D., Hulkower, R., & McCord, R. F. (2019). How are telehealth laws intersecting with laws addressing the opioid overdose epidemic? *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 1. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.000000000001036
- Peters, J. L., Durand, W. M., Monteiro, K. A., Dumenco, L., & George, P. (2018). Opioid overdose hospitalizations among Medicare-disability beneficiaries. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, *31*(6), 881–896.
 https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2018.06.180152
- Phillips, K. G., Ranganath, N. K., Malas, J., Lonze, B. E., Gidea, C. G., Smith, D. E., Kon, Z. N., Reyentovich, A., & Moazami, N. (2019). Impact of the opioid epidemic on heart transplantation: Donor characteristics and organ discard. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*, *108*(4), 1133–1139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2019.03.076

Pinto, H., Maskrey, V., Swift, L., Rumball, D., Wagle, A., & Holland, R. (2010). The SUMMIT Trial: A field comparison of buprenorphine versus methadone maintenance treatment. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 39(4), 340–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2010.07.009

- Pivovarova, E., & Stein, M. D. (2019). In their own words: Language preferences of individuals who use heroin. *Addiction*, 114(10), 1785–1790. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14699
- Pletcher, M. J., Kertesz, S. G., Kohn, M. A., & Gonzales, R. (2008). Trends in opioid prescribing by race/ethnicity for patients seeking care in U.S. emergency departments. *JAMA*, 299(1). https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2007.64
- Pollini, R. A., O'Toole, T. P., Ford, D., & Bigelow, G. (2006). Does this patient really want treatment? Factors associated with baseline and evolving readiness for change among hospitalized substance using adults interested in treatment. *Addictive Behaviors*, *31*(10), 1904–1918. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2006.01.003
- Portenoy, R. K., & Foley, K. M. (1986). Chronic use of opioid analgesics in non-malignant pain: Report of 38 cases. *Pain*, 25(2), 171–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(86)90091-6
- Porter, J., & Jick, H. (1980). Addiction rare in patients treated with narcotics. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 302(2), 123.
- Potier, C., Laprévote, V., Dubois-Arber, F., Cottencin, O., & Rolland, B. (2014). Supervised injection services: What has been demonstrated? *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *145*, 48–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.10.012
- Premier. (2019). Opioid overdoses costing U.S. hospitals an estimated \$11 billion annually. https://www.premierinc.com/newsroom/press-releases/opioid-overdoses-costing-u-shospitals-an-estimated-11-billion-annually

Premkumar, A., Grobman, W. A., Terplan, M., & Miller, E. S. (2019). Methadone, buprenorphine, or detoxification for management of perinatal opioid use disorder: A costeffectiveness analysis. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *134*(5), 921–931. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.00000000003503 Price, S. (2019, June). What's Killing Texans? https://www.texmed.org/Template.aspx?id=50655

- Priest, K. C., Englander, H., & McCarty, D. (2019). "Now hospital leaders are paying attention": A qualitative study of internal and external factors influencing addiction consult services. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, S0740547219304994. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2019.12.003
- Priest, K. C., & McCarty, D. (2019a). Role of the hospital in the 21st century opioid overdose epidemic: The addiction medicine consult service. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 13(2), 104–112. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.000000000000496
- Priest, K. C., & McCarty, D. (2019b). Making the business case for an addiction medicine consult service: A qualitative analysis. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 822. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4670-4
- Providers Clinical Support System. (2018). *MAT waiver eligibility training*. American Academy of Addiction Psychiatry.
- Pytell, J. D., Sharfstein, J. M., & Olsen, Y. (2019). Facilitating methadone use in hospitals and skilled nursing facilities. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.5731
- Raheemullah, A., & Lembke, A. (2019). Buprenorphine induction without opioid withdrawal: A case series of 15 opioid-dependent inpatients induced on buprenorphine using microdoses of transdermal buprenorphine. *American Journal of Therapeutics*, 1–7.
- Raleigh, M. F. (2017). Buprenorphine maintenance vs. Placebo for opioid dependence. American Family Physician, 95(5). https://www.aafp.org/afp/2017/0301/od1.html
- Ranapurwala, S. I., Shanahan, M. E., Alexandridis, A. A., Proescholdbell, S. K., Naumann, R.B., Edwards, D., & Marshall, S. W. (2018). Opioid overdose mortality among former

North Carolina inmates: 2000–2015. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(9), 1207–1213. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304514

- Ratycz, M. C., Papadimos, T. J., & Vanderbilt, A. A. (2018). Addressing the growing opioid and heroin abuse epidemic: A call for medical school curricula. *Medical Education Online*, 23(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/10872981.2018.1466574
- Ray, L. A., Lim, A. C., & Shoptaw, S. (2019). What defines a clinically meaningful outcome in the treatment of substance use disorders: 'Getting your life back.' *Addiction*, *114*(1), 18– 20. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14455
- Redfield, R. (2019). *Response to letter*. https://img1.wsimg.com/blobby/go/3d70257f-a143-4a5bb9df-f7d265df0d3d/downloads/Alford Final .pdf?ver=1554957603807
- Reichert, J., & Gleicher, L. (2019). Probation clients' barriers to access and use of opioid use disorder medications. *Health & Justice*, 7(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-019-0089-6
- Reif, S., Braude, L., Lyman, D. R., Dougherty, R. H., Daniels, A. S., Ghose, S. S., Salim, O., & Delphin-Rittmon, M. E. (2014). Peer recovery support for individuals with substance use disorders: Assessing the evidence. *Psychiatric Services*, 65(7), 853–861. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201400047
- Rizk, E., Swan, J. T., Cheon, O., Colavecchia, A. C., Bui, L. N., Kash, B. A., Chokshi, S. P., Chen, H., Johnson, M. L., Liebl, M. G., & Fink, E. (2019). Quality indicators to measure the effect of opioid stewardship interventions in hospital and emergency department settings. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 76(4), 225–235. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajhp/zxy042

- Roberts, A. W., Saloner, B., & Dusetzina, S. B. (2018). Buprenorphine use and spending for opioid use disorder treatment: Trends from 2003 to 2015. *Psychiatric Services*, 69(7), 832–835. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201700315
- Robinson, S. M., & Adinoff, B. (2018). The mixed message behind "Medication-Assisted Treatment" for substance use disorder. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 44(2), 147–150. https://doi.org/10.1080/00952990.2017.1362419
- Rodger, L., Glockler-Lauf, S. D., Shojaei, E., Sherazi, A., Hallam, B., Koivu, S., Gupta, K.,
 Hosseini-Moghaddam, S. M., & Silverman, M. (2018). Clinical characteristics and
 factors associated with mortality in first-episode infective endocarditis among persons
 who inject drugs. *JAMA Network Open*, 1(7), e185220.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.5220
- Ronan, M. V., & Herzig, S. J. (2016). Hospitalizations related to opioid abuse/dependence and associated serious infections increased sharply, 2002–12. *Health Affairs*, 35(5), 832–837. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1424
- Ronquest, N., Willson, T., Montejano, L., Nadipelli, V., & Wollschlaeger, B. (2018).
 Relationship between buprenorphine adherence and relapse, health care utilization and costs in privately and publicly insured patients with opioid use disorder. *Substance Abuse and Rehabilitation, Volume 9*, 59–78. https://doi.org/10.2147/SAR.S150253
- Rosenblatt, R. A., Andrilla, C. H. A., Catlin, M., & Larson, E. H. (2015a). Geographic and specialty distribution of U.S. physicians trained to treat opioid use disorder. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 13(1), 23–26. PMC. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1735

- Rosenblatt, R. A., Andrilla, C. H. A., Catlin, M., & Larson, E. H. (2015b). Geographic and Specialty Distribution of US Physicians Trained to Treat Opioid Use Disorder. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 13(1), 23–26. PMC. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1735
- Rosenheck, R., & Kosten, T. (2001). Buprenorphine for opiate addiction: Potential economic impact. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 63(3), 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0376-8716(00)00214-3
- Rosenthal, E. S., Karchmer, A. W., Theisen-Toupal, J., Castillo, R. A., & Rowley, C. F. (2016).
 Suboptimal Addiction Interventions for Patients Hospitalized with Injection Drug Use-Associated Infective Endocarditis. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *129*(5), 481–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2015.09.024
- Rothwell, C. J., Madans, J. H., Atkinson, D., & Ni, H. (2016). *The validity of race and hispanicorigin reporting on death certificates in the United States: An update*. National Center for Health Statistics. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr_02/sr02_172.pdf
- Roy, P. J., & Stein, M. D. (2019). Offering emergency buprenorphine without a prescription. JAMA, 322(6), 501. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.8309
- Rubin, R. (2019). Using telemedicine to treat opioid use disorder in rural areas. *JAMA*, *322*(11), 1029. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.12574
- Ruhm, C. J. (2017). Geographic variation in opioid and heroin involved drug poisoning mortality rates. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 53(6), 745–753. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2017.06.009
- Saitz, R. (2019). Treatment for opioid addiction must be offered in general hospitals: But how? *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 13(2), 83–84. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.0000000000000501

- Samuels, E. A., D'Onofrio, G., Huntley, K., Levin, S., Schuur, J. D., Bart, G., Hawk, K., Tai, B., Campbell, C. I., & Venkatesh, A. K. (2019). A quality framework for emergency department treatment of opioid use disorder. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 73(3), 237– 247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2018.08.439
- Sánchez, J., Sahker, E., & Arndt, S. (2020). The Assessment of Recovery Capital (ARC) predicts substance abuse treatment completion. *Addictive Behaviors*, *102*, 106189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.106189
- Sanmuganathan, P. S. (2001). Aspirin for primary prevention of coronary heart disease: Safety and absolute benefit related to coronary risk derived from meta-analysis of randomised trials. *Heart*, 85(3), 265–271. https://doi.org/10.1136/heart.85.3.265
- Santoro, T. N., & Santoro, J. D. (2018). Racial bias in the us opioid epidemic: A review of the history of systemic bias and implications for care. *Cureus*.

https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.3733

- Saunders, J. B., Jarlenski, M. P., Levy, R., & Kozhimannil, K. B. (2018). Federal and state policy efforts to address maternal opioid misuse: Gaps and challenges. *Women's Health Issues*, 28(2), 130–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2017.10.011
- Schackman, B. R., Leff, J. A., Polsky, D., Moore, B. A., & Fiellin, D. A. (2012). Costeffectiveness of long-term outpatient buprenorphine-naloxone treatment for opioid dependence in primary care. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 27(6), 669–676. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-011-1962-8
- Scholl, L., Seth, P., Kariisa, M., Wilson, N., & Baldwin, G. (2019). Drug and opioid-involved overdose deaths—United States, 2013–2017. 67, 9.

- Schottenfeld, R. S., Chawarski, M. C., & Mazlan, M. (2008). Maintenance treatment with buprenorphine and naltrexone for heroin dependence in Malaysia: A randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. *The Lancet*, *371*(9631), 2192–2200. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60954-X
- Scott, C. K., Grella, C. E., Nicholson, L., & Dennis, M. L. (2018). Opioid recovery initiation:
 Pilot test of a peer outreach and modified recovery management checkup intervention for out-of-treatment opioid users. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 86, 30–35.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2017.12.007
- Serota, D. P., Barocas, J. A., & Springer, S. A. (2019). Infectious complications of addiction: A call for a new subspecialty within infectious diseases. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, ciz804. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciz804
- Seville, L., Schecter, A., & Rappleye, H. (2017, June 25). Florida's billion-dollar drug treatment industry is plagued by overdoses, fraud. *NBC News*.
 https://www.nbcnews.com/feature/megyn-kelly/florida-s-billion-dollar-drug-treatment-industry-plagued-overdoses-fraud-n773376
- Shanahan, C. W., Beers, D., Alford, D. P., Brigandi, E., & Samet, J. H. (2010). A transitional opioid program to engage hospitalized drug users. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 25(8), 803–808. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-010-1311-3
- Shapiro, A., Villarroel, L. R., & George, P. (2019). A call to maximize impact of the Support for Patients and Communities Act through standard inclusion of opioid use disorder treatment curricula in medical schools. *Advances in Medical Education and Practice*, 10, 581–583. https://doi.org/10.2147/AMEP.S205946

- Sharfstein, J. M., & Meisel, Z. (2019). JAMA Forum: Low-value treatment for opioid addiction: What is to be done? *JAMA*, 3.
- Sharma, M., Lamba, W., Cauderella, A., Guimond, T. H., & Bayoumi, A. M. (2017). Harm reduction in hospitals. *Harm Reduction Journal*, 14(1), 32. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-017-0163-0
- Sharp, A., Jones, A., Sherwood, J., Kutsa, O., Honermann, B., & Millett, G. (2018). Impact of medicaid expansion on access to opioid analgesic medications and medication-assisted treatment. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(5), 642–648. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304338
- Shcherbakova, N., Tereso, G., Spain, J., & Roose, R. J. (2018). Treatment persistence among insured patients newly starting buprenorphine/naloxone for opioid use disorder. *Annals of*

Pharmacotherapy, 52(5), 405–414. https://doi.org/10.1177/1060028017751913

- Sheehan, E. (2016, November 15). Circular letter: DHCQ 16-11-662 Admission of residents on medication assisted treatment for opioid use disorder. Mass.Gov. https://www.mass.gov/circular-letter/circular-letter-dhcq-16-11-662-admission-ofresidents-on-medication-assisted
- Simmons, R., & Siegel, J. (2016). Introduction to HIV and addiction medicine for residents: Integrated case-based learning. *MedEdPORTAL Publications*, 12. https://doi.org/10.15766/mep_2374-8265.10375
- Simon, R., Snow, R., & Wakeman, S. (2019). Understanding why patients with substance use disorders leave the hospital against medical advice: A qualitative study. *Substance Abuse*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2019.1671942

- Smith, N., Smith, K., Pino, R., Rattay, K., Nesbitt, L., Anderson, B., Shaw-Tulloch, E., Box, K., Gee, R., & Neall, R. (2019). Letter to U.S. Health and Human Services Secretary Alex Azar. https://www.health.ny.gov/press/docs/action_needed.pdf
- Sofaer, S. (1999). Qualitative methods: What are they and why use them? *Health Services Research*, *34*(5 Pt 2), 1101–1118.
- Sofaer, Shoshanna. (2002). Qualitative research methods. *International Journal of Health Care Quality*, *14*, 329–336.
- Song, Z. (2017). Mortality quadrupled among opioid-driven hospitalizations, notably within lower-income and disabled white populations. *Health Affairs*, 36(12), 2054–2061. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0689
- Sordo, L., Barrio, G., Bravo, M. J., Indave, B. I., Degenhardt, L., Wiessing, L., Ferri, M., & Pastor-Barriuso, R. (2017). Mortality risk during and after opioid substitution treatment:
 Systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *BMJ*, j1550.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j1550
- Spearman, C. W., Dusheiko, G. M., Hellard, M., & Sonderup, M. (2019). Hepatitis C. *The Lancet*, *394*(10207), 1451–1466. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32320-7
- Spencer, S. (2019, November 24). For patients with addiction, nursing home care still has gaps. *Telegram.* https://www.telegram.com/news/20191124/for-patients-with-addictionnursing-home-care-still-has-gaps
- Srivastava, A., Kahan, M., Njoroge, I., & Sommer, L. (2019). Buprenorphine in the emergency department: Randomized clinical controlled trial of clonidine versus buprenorphine for the treatment of opioid withdrawal. *Canadian Family Physician*, 65, 214–220.

- Stein, B. D., Pacula, R. L., Gordon, A. J., Burns, R. M., Leslie, D. L., Sorbero, M. J., Bauhoff, S., Mandell, T. W., & Dick, A. W. (2015). Where is buprenorphine dispensed to treat opioid use disorders? The role of private offices, opioid treatment programs, and substance abuse treatment facilities in urban and rural counties: where is buprenorphine dispensed to treat opioid use disorders? *Milbank Quarterly*, *93*(3), 561–583. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12137
- Stein, B., Sorbero, M., Dick, A. W., Pacula, R. L., Burns, R. M., & Gordon, A. J. (2016).
 Physician capacity to treat opioid use disorder with buprenorphine-assisted treatment. *JAMA*, *316*(11), 1211. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.10542
- Stein, G., & Fleischman, A. (1998). Addiction Treatment: Promoting a medical approach to substance use. *Journal of Urban Health*, 75(3), 558–583.
- Stein, J., Hunter, M., Clarkson, K., Rutledge, L., Becerra, X., Weiser, P., Tong, W., & Jennings, K. (2019). *Letter to congressional leadership*.

https://www.naag.org/assets/redesign/files/sign-on-letter/Final Letter - Federal Barriers to Treatment.pdf

- Stein, M. (2003). Injection frequency mediates health service use among persons with a history of drug injection. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 70(2), 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0376-8716(02)00344-7
- Strada, L., Vanderplasschen, W., Buchholz, A., Schulte, B., Muller, A. E., Verthein, U., & Reimer, J. (2017). Measuring quality of life in opioid-dependent people: A systematic review of assessment instruments. *Quality of Life Research*, 26(12), 3187–3200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-017-1674-6

- Strahan, A. E., Guy, G. P., Bohm, M., Frey, M., & Ko, J. Y. (2019). Neonatal abstinence syndrome incidence and health care costs in the United States, 2016. JAMA Pediatrics. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.4791
- Sullivan, L. E., Moore, B. A., Chawarski, M. C., Pantalon, M. V., Barry, D., O'Connor, P. G., Schottenfeld, R. S., & Fiellin, D. A. (2008). Buprenorphine/naloxone treatment in primary care is associated with decreased human immunodeficiency virus risk behaviors. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 35(1), 87–92.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2007.08.004

- Suzuki J, DeVido J, Kalra I, Mittal L, Shah S, Zinser J, & Weiss RD. (2015). Initiating
 buprenorphine treatment for hospitalized patients with opioid dependence: A case series.
 The American Journal on Addictions, 24(1), 10–14. MEDLINE.
- Teesson, M., Ross, J., Darke, S., Lynskey, M., Ali, R., Ritter, A., & Cooke, R. (2006). One year outcomes for heroin dependence: Findings from the Australian Treatment Outcome Study (ATOS). *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 83(2), 174–180. WorldCat.org. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2005.11.009
- Terasaki, D., Smith, C., & Calcaterra, S. L. (2019). Transitioning hospitalized patients with opioid use disorder from methadone to buprenorphine without a period of opioid abstinence using a microdosing protocol. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy*, 39(10), 1023–1029. https://doi.org/10.1002/phar.2313
- Tesema, L., Marshall, J., Hathaway, R., Pham, C., Clarke, C., Bergeron, G., Yeh, J., Soliman,M., & McCormick, D. (2018). Training in office-based opioid treatment withbuprenorphine in US residency programs: A national survey of residency program

directors. Substance Abuse, 39(4), 434-440.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2018.1449047

Tetrault, J. M., Moore, B. A., Barry, D. T., O'Connor, P. G., Schottenfeld, R., Fiellin, D. A., & Fiellin, L. E. (2012). Brief versus extended counseling along with buprenorphine/naloxone for HIV-infected opioid dependent patients. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 43(4), 433–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2012.07.011

Texas Association of Counties. (2017). *Travis County Profile*. http://www.txcip.org/tac/census/profile.php?FIPS=48453

Thomas, C. P. (2019). Addressing workforce needs for medication treatment of opioid use disorder. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 13(1), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.00000000000442

- Thomas, C. P., Fullerton, C. A., Kim, M., Montejano, L., Lyman, D. R., Dougherty, R. H.,
 Daniels, A. S., Ghose, S. S., & Delphin-Rittmon, M. E. (2014). Medication-Assisted
 Treatment with buprenorphine: Assessing the evidence. *Psychiatric Services*, 65(2), 158–170. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201300256
- Thomas, D. R. (2006). A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 27(2), 237–246. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214005283748

Ti, L., & Ti, L. (2015). Leaving the hospital against medical advice among people who use illicit drugs: A systematic review. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105(12), 2587.
WorldCat.org. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2015.302885a

Opioids in Indian Country—Beyond the crisis to healing the community, United States Senate, 100 (2018) (testimony of Michael Toedt).

https://www.indian.senate.gov/sites/default/files/documents/CHRG-115shrg32784.pdf

- Tofighi, B., Williams, A. R., Chemi, C., Suhail-Sindhu, S., Dickson, V., & Lee, J. D. (2019).
 Patient barriers and facilitators to medications for opioid use disorder in primary care. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2019.1653324
- Tonko, R. P., Delgado, A., Lujan, B. R., Budd, T., Stefanik, E., & Turner, M. (2019). *The Mainstreaming Addiction Treatment (MAT) Act.* 1.
- Townsend, T., Blostein, F., Doan, T., Madson-Olson, S., Galecki, P., & Hutton, D. W. (2020). Cost-effectiveness analysis of alternative naloxone distribution strategies: First responder and lay distribution in the United States. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 75, 102536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.07.031
- Tracy, K., & Wallace, S. (2016). Benefits of peer support groups in the treatment of addiction. Substance Abuse and Rehabilitation, Volume 7, 143–154. https://doi.org/10.2147/SAR.S81535
- Trescot, A., Datta, S., Lee, M., & Hansen, H. (2008). Opioid pharmacology. *Pain Physician*, *11*(2 Suppl), 133–153. MEDLINE.
- Trowbridge, P., Weinstein, Z. M., Kerensky, T., Roy, P., Regan, D., Samet, J. H., & Walley, A.
 Y. (2017). Addiction consultation services—Linking hospitalized patients to outpatient addiction treatment. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 79, 1–5. WorldCat.org.
- Truong, C., Krawczyk, N., Dejman, M., Marshall-Shah, S., Tormohlen, K., Agus, D., & Bass, J. (2019). Challenges on the road to recovery: Exploring attitudes and experiences of clients

in a community-based buprenorphine program in Baltimore City. *Addictive Behaviors*, 93, 14–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.01.020

- Tsui, J. I., Mayfield, J., Speaker, E. C., Yakup, S., Ries, R., Funai, H., Leroux, B. G., & Merrill,
 J. O. (2020). Association between methamphetamine use and retention among patients
 with opioid use disorders treated with buprenorphine. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *109*, 80–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2019.10.005
- Unick, G. J., & Ciccarone, D. (2017). US regional and demographic differences in prescription opioid and heroin-related overdose hospitalizations. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 46, 112–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2017.06.003
- Unick, G. J., Rosenblum, D., Mars, S., & Ciccarone, D. (2013). Intertwined epidemics: National demographic trends in hospitalizations for heroin- and opioid-related overdoses, 1993–2009. *PLoS ONE*, 8(2), e54496. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054496
- United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018a, August 8). *Drug overdose death data*. https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/data/statedeaths.html

United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018b, December 19).

Understanding the epidemic. https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/epidemic/index.html

- United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019a). *Still not enough naloxone where it's most needed*. https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2019/p0806-naloxone.html
- United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019b, January 10). *Drug overdose mortality by state*.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/pressroom/sosmap/drug_poisoning_mortality/drug_poisoning. htm United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019c, March 18). Addressing the infectious disease consequences of the U.S. opioid crisis.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchhstp/budget/infographics/opioids.html

United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019d). Viral hepatitis surveillance,

2017.

https://www.cdc.gov/hepatitis/statistics/2017surveillance/pdfs/2017HepSurveillanceRpt.p

United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020, January 29). Drug overdose deaths in the United States, 1999–2018.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db356.htm

- United States Commission on Civil Rights. (2019). *Chapter 4: Substance Abuse under the ADA*. https://www.usccr.gov/pubs/ada/ch4.htm
- United States Department of Health and Human Services. (2018a). *What is the U.S. opioid epidemic?* Health and Human Services. https://www.hhs.gov/opioids/about-theepidemic/index.html
- United States Department of Health and Human Services. (2019, September). *What is the U.S. Opioid Epidemic?* [Text]. HHS.Gov. https://www.hhs.gov/opioids/about-theepidemic/index.html

United States Department of Health and Human Services, A. S. for P. (2018b, December 19). *HHS recommends prescribing or co-prescribing naloxone to patients at high risk for an opioid overdose* [Text]. HHS.Gov. https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2018/12/19/hhsrecommends-prescribing-or-co-prescribing-naloxone-to-patients-at-high-risk-for-anopioid-overdose.html United States Drug Enforcement Agency. (n.d.-a). *DEA requirements for DATA waived physicians*. Retrieved July 5, 2018, from https://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/pubs/docs/dwp_buprenorphine.htm

United States Drug Enforcement Agency. (n.d.-b). *Drug scheduling*. https://www.dea.gov/druginfo/ds.shtml

United States Drug Enforcement Agency. (2005, June 23). PART 1306—Section 1306.07 Administering or dispensing of narcotic drugs.

https://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/21cfr/cfr/1306/1306_07.htm

United States Drug Enforcement Agency. (2018). 2018 National Drug Threat Assessment. https://www.dea.gov/sites/default/files/2018-11/DIR-032-18 2018 NDTA final low resolution.pdf

United States Food and Drug Administration. (2017). *Statement from FDA Commissioner Scott Gottlieb, M.D., on the agency's continued efforts to promote the safe adoption of medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction.* https://www.fda.gov/newsevents/press-announcements/statement-fda-commissioner-scott-gottlieb-md-agencyscontinued-efforts-promote-safe-adoption

- United States Food and Drug Administration. (2018). FDA approves first generic versions of Suboxone sublingual film. https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fdaapproves-first-generic-versions-suboxone-sublingual-film-which-may-increase-accesstreatment
- United States Food and Drug Administration. (2019a). FDA identifies harm reported from sudden discontinuation of opioid pain medicines and requires label changes to guide prescribers on gradual, individualized tapering. *FDA*. http://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-

safety-and-availability/fda-identifies-harm-reported-sudden-discontinuation-opioid-painmedicines-and-requires-label-changes

- United States Food and Drug Administration, O. of the. (2019b, September 20). *Statement on continued efforts to increase availability of all forms of naloxone to help reduce opioid overdose deaths*. FDA. http://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/statementcontinued-efforts-increase-availability-all-forms-naloxone-help-reduce-opioid-overdose
- United States Government Accountability Office. (2020). Barriers to Medicaid beneficiaries' access to treatment medications. https://www.gao.gov/products/D21302
- United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Equipping behavioral health systems and authorities to promote peer specialist and peer recovery coaching services.
 - https://www.naadac.org/assets/2416/samsha_2012_expert_panel_meeting_report_-_equipping_behavioral_health.pdf
- United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2015). *Core competencies for peer workers in behavioral health services*. https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/programs_campaigns/brss_tacs/core-

competencies_508_12_13_18.pdf

- United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2016). *Buprenorphine*. SAMHSA. https://www.samhsa.gov/medication-assistedtreatment/treatment/buprenorphine
- United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2018a). *Clinical guidance for treating pregnant and parenting women with opioid use disorder and their infants*. https://store.samhsa.gov/shin/content/SMA18-5054/SMA18-5054.pdf

United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2018b). *Tip 63: Medications for opioid use disorder: For healthcare and addiction professionals, policymakers, patients, and families.* https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK535269/

 United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2018c). Quality for Nurse Practitioners (NPs) and Physician Assistants (PAs) waiver.
 https://www.samhsa.gov/programs-campaigns/medication-assisted-treatment/trainingmaterials-resources/qualify-np-pa-waivers

- United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2019). *Recovery* and recovery support. https://www.samhsa.gov/find-help/recovery
- United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2020, April). *Practitioner and Program Data* [Text]. https://www.samhsa.gov/medication-assistedtreatment/training-materials-resources/practitioner-program-data
- UpToDate. (2019a). *Buprenorphine and naloxone drug information*. Lexicomp. http://www.uptodate.com
- UpToDate. (2019b). Methadone drug information. Lexicomp. http://www.uptodate.com
- UpToDate. (2019c). Naltrexone drug information. Lexicomp. http://www.uptodate.com
- Valentino, T. (2019, September 27). Alliance announces demonstration pilots for value-based payment model. *Behavioral Health Executive*.

https://www.psychcongress.com/article/alliance-announces-demonstration-pilots-valuebased-payment-model

van Boekel, L. C., Brouwers, E. P. M., van Weeghel, J., & Garretsen, H. F. L. (2013). Stigma among health professionals towards patients with substance use disorders and its

consequences for healthcare delivery: Systematic review. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *131*(1–2), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.02.018

- Venkataramani, A. S., Bair, E. F., O'Brien, R. L., & Tsai, A. C. (2019). Association between automotive assembly plant closures and opioid overdose mortality in the United States: A difference-in-differences analysis. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.5686
- Verdier, M., Routsolias, J. C., & Aks, S. E. (2019). Naloxone prescriptions from the emergency department: An initiative in evolution. *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 37(1), 164–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2018.05.044
- Villapiano, N. L. G., Winkelman, T. N. A., Kozhimannil, K. B., Davis, M. M., & Patrick, S. W. (2017). Rural and urban differences in neonatal abstinence syndrome and maternal opioid use, 2004 to 2013. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 171(2), 194. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.3750
- Volkow, N. D. (2020). Stigma and the toll of addiction. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(14), 1289–1290. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1917360

- Volkow, N. D., Koob, G. F., & McLellan, A. T. (2016). Neurobiologic advances from the brain disease model of addiction. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 374(4), 363–371. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1511480
- Wakeman, S. E., Baggett, M. V., Pham-Kanter, G., & Campbell, E. G. (2013). Internal medicine residents' training in substance use disorders: A survey of the quality of instruction and residents' self-perceived preparedness to diagnose and treat addiction. *Substance Abuse*, 34(4), 363–370. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2013.797540
- Wakeman, S. E., Ladin, K., Brennan, T., & Chung, R. T. (2018). Opioid use disorder, stigma, and transplantation: A call to action. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 169(3), 188. https://doi.org/10.7326/M18-1099
- Wakeman, S. E., Larochelle, M. R., Ameli, O., Chaisson, C. E., McPheeters, J. T., Crown, W. H., Azocar, F., & Sanghavi, D. M. (2020). Comparative effectiveness of different treatment pathways for opioid use disorder. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(2), e1920622. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.20622
- Wakeman, S. E., & Rich, J. D. (2017). Barriers to post-acute care for patients on opioid agonist therapy; An example of systematic stigmatization of addiction. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 32(1), 17–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-016-3799-7
- Walley, A., Paasche-Orlow M, Lee EC, Forsythe S, Chetty VK, Mitchell S, & Jack BW. (2012). Acute care hospital utilization among medical inpatients discharged with a substance use disorder diagnosis. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 6(1), 50–56. MEDLINE. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.0b013e318231de51
- Walley, A. Y., Alperen, J. K., Cheng, D. M., Botticelli, M., Castro-Donlan, C., Samet, J. H., & Alford, D. P. (2008). Office-based management of opioid dependence with

buprenorphine: Clinical practices and barriers. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 23(9), 1393–1398. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-008-0686-x

- Walley, A. Y., Bernson, D., Larochelle, M. R., Green, T. C., Young, L., & Land, T. (2019). The contribution of prescribed and illicit opioids to fatal overdoses in Massachusetts, 2013-2015. *Public Health Reports*, *134*(6), 667–674. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354919878429
- Walsh, S. L., & Long, K. Q. X. (2019). Deploying science to change hearts and minds: Responding to the opioid crisis. *Preventive Medicine*, 105780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.105780
- Wang, E. A., Moore, B. A., Sullivan, L. E., & Fiellin, D. A. (2010). Effect of incarceration history on outcomes of primary care office-based buprenorphine/naloxone. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 25(7), 670–674. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-010-1306-0
- Waters, R. (2019). In support of buprenorphine deregulation. *Family Practice Management*, 26(4), 6–8.
- Waye, K. M., Goyer, J., Dettor, D., Mahoney, L., Samuels, E. A., Yedinak, J. L., & Marshall, B.
 D. L. (2019). Implementing peer recovery services for overdose prevention in Rhode
 Island: An examination of two outreach-based approaches. *Addictive Behaviors*, 89, 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.09.027

Weber, E., & Gupta, A. (2019). State medicaid programs should follow the "medicare model": Remove prior authorization requirements for buprenorphine and other medications to treat opioid use disorders. Legal Action Center. https://lac.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/07/access-to-meds-in-medicaid-eweber-FINAL-070919.pdf
- Webster, L., Gudin, J., Raffa, R. B., Kuchera, J., Rauck, R., Fudin, J., Adler, J., & Mallick-Searle, T. (2020). Understanding buprenorphine for use in chronic pain: Expert opinion. *Pain Medicine*, pnz356. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnz356
- Wegrzyn, E. L., Chaghtai, A. M., Argoff, C. E., & Fudin, J. (2018). The CDC opioid guideline: Proponent interpretation has led to misinformation. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 103(6), 950–953. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.1062
- Weimer, M. B., Tetrault, J. M., & Fiellin, D. A. (2019). Patients with opioid use disorder deserve trained providers. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.7326/M19-2303
- Weiner, S. (2018). *Responding to the opioid epidemic through medical education*. Association of American Medical Colleges. https://www.aamc.org/news-insights/responding-opioid-epidemic-through-medical-education
- Weiner, Scott G., Baker, O., Bernson, D., & Schuur, J. D. (2019). One-year mortality of patients after emergency department treatment for nonfatal opioid overdose. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, S0196064419303439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2019.04.020
- Weiner, S.G., Baker, O., Bernson, D., & Schuur, J. D. (2017). 402 one-year mortality of opioid overdose victims who received naloxone by emergency medical services. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 70(4), S158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2017.07.281
- Weintraub, E., Greenblatt, A. D., Chang, J., Himelhoch, S., & Welsh, C. (2018). Expanding access to buprenorphine treatment in rural areas with the use of telemedicine:
 Buprenorphine in rural areas with telemedicine. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 27(8), 612–617. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12805
- Weiss, R. D. (2011). Adjunctive counseling during brief and extended buprenorphine-naloxone treatment for prescription opioid dependence: A 2-phase randomized controlled trial.

Archives of General Psychiatry, 68(12), 1238.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.121

- Weisz, G., Cambrosio, A., Keating, P., Knaapen, L., Schlich, T., & Tournay, V. J. (2007). The emergence of clinical practice guidelines: The emergence of clinical practice guidelines. *Milbank Quarterly*, 85(4), 691–727. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0009.2007.00505.x
- Welch, A. E., Jeffers, A., Allen, B., Paone, D., & Kunins, H. V. (2019). Relay: A peer-delivered emergency department–based response to nonfatal opioid overdose. *American Journal of Public Health*, 109(10), 1392–1395. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2019.305202
- Wen, H., Borders, T. F., & Cummings, J. R. (2019). Trends in buprenorphine prescribing by physician specialty. *Health Affairs*, 38(1), 24–28. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05145
- Wen, H., Hockenberry, J. M., & Druss, B. G. (2017). Impact of medicaid expansion on medicaid-covered utilization of buprenorphine for opioid use disorder treatment. *Medical Care*, 55(4), 6.
- Wesson, D. R., & Ling, W. (2003). The Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale (COWS). Journal of Psychoactive Drugs, 35(2), 253–259. https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.2003.10400007
- West, J. C., Kosten, T. R., Wilk, J., Svikis, D., Triffleman, E., Rae, D. S., Narrow, W. E., Duffy,
 F. F., & Regier, D. A. (2004). Challenges in increasing access to buprenorphine treatment
 for opiate addiction. *American Journal on Addictions*, *13*(s1), S8–S16.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10550490490440753
- White, A. G., Birnbaum, H. G., Mareva, M. N., Daher, M., Vallow, S., Schein, J., & Katz, N. (2005). Direct costs of opioid abuse in an insured population in the United States. *Journal*

of Managed Care Pharmacy, 11(6), 469–479.

https://doi.org/10.18553/jmcp.2005.11.6.469

- White, W. L. (2011). Narcotics anonymous and the pharmacotherapeutic treatment of opioid addiction in the United States. Philadelphia Department of Behavioral Health and Intellectual disAbility Services. http://www.williamwhitepapers.com/pr/2016 NA & Recovery from Opioid Addiction.pdf
- Williams, A. R., Nunes, E. V., Bisaga, A., Pincus, H. A., Johnson, K. A., Campbell, A. N., Remien, R. H., Crystal, S., Friedmann, P. D., Levin, F. R., & Olfson, M. (2018).
 Developing an opioid use disorder treatment cascade: A review of quality measures. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *91*, 57–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2018.06.001
- Williams, A. R., Samples, H., Crystal, S., & Olfson, M. (2019). Acute care, prescription opioid use, and overdose following discontinuation of long-term buprenorphine treatment for opioid use disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, appi.ajp.2019.1. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19060612
- Wilson, J. D., Spicyn, N., Matson, P., Alvanzo, A., & Feldman, L. (2016). Internal medicine resident knowledge, attitudes, and barriers to naloxone prescription in hospital and clinic settings. *Substance Abuse*, 37(3), 480–487.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2016.1142921

Winkelman, T. N. A., Villapiano, N., Kozhimannil, K. B., Davis, M. M., & Patrick, S. W. (2018). Incidence and costs of neonatal abstinence syndrome among infants with Medicaid: 2004 - 2014. *Pediatrics*, *141*(4), e20173520. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2017-3520

- Woodruff, A. E., Tomanovich, M., Beletsky, L., Salisbury-Afshar, E., Wakeman, S., &
 Ostrovsky, A. (2019). Dismantling buprenorphine policy can provide more
 comprehensive addiction treatment. *NAM Perspectives*. https://doi.org/10.31478/201909a
- Woolf, S. H., & Schoomaker, H. (2019). Life expectancy and mortality rates in the United States, 1959-2017. *JAMA*, *322*(20), 1996. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.16932

World Health Organization. (2014). Community management of opioid overdose.

- Yang, Y. T., Weintraub, E., & Haffajee, R. L. (2018). Telemedicine's role in addressing the opioid epidemic. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 93(9), 1177–1180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2018.07.001
- Zheng, W., Nickasch, M., Lander, L., Wen, S., Xiao, M., Marshalek, P., Dix, E., & Sullivan, C. (2017). Treatment outcome comparison between telepsychiatry and face-to-face buprenorphine medication-assisted treatment for opioid use disorder: A 2-year retrospective data analysis. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, *11*(2), 138–144. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.0000000000287
- Zibbell, J. E., Asher, A. K., Patel, R. C., Kupronis, B., Iqbal, K., Ward, J. W., & Holtzman, D. (2018). Increases in acute hepatitis c virus infection related to a growing opioid epidemic and associated injection drug use, United States, 2004 to 2014. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(2), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.304132
- Zule, W. A., Oramasionwu, C., Evon, D., Hino, S., Doherty, I. A., Bobashev, G. V., & Wechsberg, W. M. (2016). Event-level analyses of sex-risk and injection-risk behaviors among nonmedical prescription opioid users. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 42(6), 689–697. https://doi.org/10.1080/00952990.2016.1174706

Opportunities and Resources for Hospitalists, Hospital Leaders, and Hospitalist Organizations

for Addressing Substance Use Disorders

Action Opportunities	Hospitalists	Hospitalist Leaders	Hospitalist Organizations
Clinical Management	Initiate medications for SUD (eg, methadone or buprenorphine for OUD; naltrexone for AUD) Prescribe naloxone at hospital discharge Offer harm reduction resources (eg, clean syringes, fentanyl test strips) Practice trauma-informed care	Review hospital guidelines and policies (eg, methadone, active drug use) Implement inpatient SUD screening and treatment workflows Develop pathways to post hospital community addictions treatment (eg, office-based buprenorphine, methadone clinics, syringe access services) Hire an SUD navigator and/or peer mentor	Publish and promote guidelines or position statements supporting addiction care, including medication for OUD in hospital settings
Training and Certification	Obtain a buprenorphine waiver Participate in addiction medicine mentoring or training programs	Provide incentives and/or pay for hospitalists to complete buprenorphine waiver training Develop a staff education campaign on evidence-based addiction treatment, trauma-informed care, harm reduction, and avoiding stigma	Support addiction medicine training at hospitalist society meetings Lobby medical specialties to include addiction medicine competencies in board certification and maintenance of certification requirements
Stakeholder Engagement	Engage hospital- and community-based peer mentors, social workers, counselors, case managers Advocate for evidence-based treatment if stigma impedes care (eg, cardiac valve repair if medically indicated) Model and advocate for the use of nonstigmatizing language when discussing SUD	Identify and support SUD clinical champions Develop addiction medicine consult services Integrate peer mentors with lived experience into hospital care Create treatment pathways with community SUD partners Organize a taskforce to coordinate diverse SUD efforts across the hospital	Partner with addiction medicine societies and harm reduction groups Advocate with governmental leaders to reduce barriers that restrict treatment access such as the buprenorphine waiver
Resources	National treatment guidelines ¹⁴ Point-of-care clinical tools ^{15,16} Free mentoring and online buprenorphine waiver trainings ¹⁵ UCSF Telephone Warmline: clinician-to-clinician real-time case support 9 AM to 8 PM EST ¹⁷ Harm reduction in hospital reference ¹⁸ Changing the Language of Addiction brief ¹⁹ ECHO: remote telementoring that includes didactics and case discussions ²⁰	California Bridge: acute care resources on buprenorphine and methadone, including webinars, dosing guidelines, patient materials ¹⁶ IMPACT toolkit ²¹ Recommendations for integrating peers into hospital care ²² State and federal funding opportunities (eg, 2019 State Opioid Response grants)	Example position papers include: American College of Emergency Physicians Position Statement on Buprenorphine in the Emergency Department ²³ Society of Hospital Medicine Consensus Statement on safe opioid prescribing ²⁴

Abbreviations: AUD, alcohol use disorder; ECHO, extensions for community healthcare outcomes; IMPACT: inpatient addiction medicine consult service; OUD, opioid use disorder; SUD, substance use disorder; UCSF, University of California, San Francisco.

From "A Call to Action: Hospitalists' Role in Addressing Substance Use Disorder" by H.

Englander, et al. 2019, Journal of Hospital Medicine, P. E2. Copyright 2018 by Wiley. Reprinted

with permission.

Сотр	lete List of	^c Stereotypes,	Prejudice, a	and Discrimination Th	emes
------	--------------	---------------------------	--------------	-----------------------	------

Stereotypes (N = 35)	Prejudice ($N = 16$)	Discrimination ($N = 15$)
 Dangerous Unpredictable Uncontrollable Impulsive Crazy Have strange behaviors Criminal Cheats/Liars Sneaky Will do anything for a fix Sinner Promiscuous Don't have standards/limits Dirty Don't take care of themselves Hopeless Helpless Homeless Poor Worthless Ignorant Lazy Weak Not able to function normally No job potential Uneducated Loser Can't keep job Self-Destructive Can't keep job Self-Destructive Can't go back To blame Will relapse In denial Blame others Selfish 	Blatant Fear Wary Paranoid Anger Hate Resentment Disgust Subtle Indifferent Curious	Opportunity Restriction 1. Don't provide job opportunity Drug test Wait for him/her to mess up 2. Don't help or give support Don't give chances 3. Deny Services Deny apartment to rent Dehumanization 4. Dehumanize 5. Avoid Dismiss Ignore 6. Reject Cut off from social network 7. Watch closely Act suspicious

*Overall themes in each category are indicated in BOLD with individual codes falling into that theme listed underneath.

From "Exploring the public stigma of substance use disorder through community-based

participatory research" by K Nieweglowski, et al. 2018, Addiction Research & Theory, P. 326.

Copyright 2018 by Taylor & Francis. Reprinted with permission.

Rank Scored Phrases of People with Substance Use Disorders

Negative word/phrase I (Mean) (Min.) (Max.)	Positive word/phrase I (Mean) (Min.) (Max.)
People in recovery $(n = 15)$ 1. Crackhead (3.5) (1.0) (6.0) 2. Junkie (4.17) (1.0) (10.0) 3. Addicts (4.83) (2.0) (8.0) 4. Abuser (5.0) (3.0) (9.0) 5. Alcoholics (5.17) (1.0) (9.0) 6. Criminals (5.50) (2.0) (10.0) 7. Felon (5.50) (2.0) (10.0) 8. Sinners (6.50) (1.0) (10.0) 9. Drunk (7.0) (4.0) (10.0) 10. Boozer (7.83) (6.0) (10.0)	 Person in long-term recovery (2.50) (1.0) (5.0) Person in recovery (2.67) (2.0) (4.0) Person / people (3.83) (1.0) (10.0) Recovered / recovering person (4.67) (3.0) (7.0) Sober (5.50) (2.0) (10.0) Person with a substance use disorder (5.50) (3.0) (9.0) Person with an alcohol use disorder (6.00) (4.0) (8.0) Recurrence of use (7.0) (6.0) (8.0) Former drug user (8.0) (6.0) (10.0) Drug user Substance user (9.33) (8.0) (10.0)
Family members $(n = 15)$ 1. Junkie I (2.73) (1.0) (10.0) 2. Dope fiend I (3.73) (2.0) (10.0) 3. Addict I (4.18) (1.0) (7.0) 4. Drug abusers I (4.82) (2.0) (7.0) 5. Alcoholic I (5.18) (1.0) (8.0) 6. Dirty/clean I (5.73) (3.0) (8.0) 7. Drunk I (6.19) (2.0) (10.0) 8. Codependent/enabler I (7.0) (1.0) (10.0) 9. Relapse I (7.64) (1.0) (10.0) 10. Rock bottom I (7.82) (2.0) (10.0)	 Long-term recovery (2.55) (1.0) (5.0) Person with a substance use disorder (3.55) (1.0) (8.0) Honest (4.36) (1.0) (9.0) Impacted loved one (4.36) (1.0) (10.0) Positive/negative urinalysis (5.64) (1.0) (10.0) Substance free (5.82) (2.0) (9.0) Drug-free person (6.5) (3.0) (9.0) Sober (6.64) (2.0) (10.0) Period of abstinence (7.45) (4.0) (10.0) Law-abiding citizen (7.91) (3.0) (10.0)
Professionals $(n = 15)$ 1. Junkie I (1.38) (1.0) (3.0) 2. Dope fiend I (4.0) (2.0) (9.0) 3. Addict I (4.25) (1.0) (7.0) 4. Substance abuser I (5.25) (4.0) (7.0) 5. Pothead I stoner I (5.50) (3.0) (10.0) 6. Alcoholic I (5.75) (3.0) (8.0) 7. Criminal I (6.63) (3.0) (10.0) 8. Drug injector I (7.0) (2.0) (9.0) 9. Relapse I (7.50) (2.0) (10.0) 10. Recovering addict/alcoholic I (7.75) (1.0) (10.0) Natasa Nagativa Croups 1 — most atigmaticin	 Person/human being (2.25) (1.0) (10.0) Person in recovery (2.50) (1.0) (6.0) Recurrence of symptoms (4.38) (2.0) (6.0) Person with a substance use disorder (4.63) (2.0) (7.0) Multiple pathways of recovery (4.75) (3.0) (7.0) Person who uses drugs (6.25) (4.0) (9.0) Free from addiction (6.63) (2.0) (10.0) Abstinence (7.25) (4.0) (10.0) Returning citizen (8.13) (4.0) (10.0) Survivors (8.25) (5.0) (10.0)
Notes: Negative Group: $1 = most$ stigmatizin, stigmatizing), $10 = least$	g, $10 = \text{least}$ Positive Group: $1 = \text{most}$ positive (least

From "Expanding language choices to reduce stigma: A Delphi study of positive and negative

terms in substance use and recovery" by R. Ashford, et al., 2019, Health Education. Copyright

2019 by Emerald Publishing Limited. Reprinted with permission.

Factors Associated with Leaving AMA and 30-Day Readmissions in People Who Use Opioids

	AMA discharges	30 Day readmissions
	AOR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)
Opioids only	REF	REF
Opioids + Stimulant ^a	1.83 (1.73, 1.96)	1.30 (1.23, 1.37)
Opioids + Alcohol	1.31 (1.23, 1.39)	1.68 (1.58, 1.79)
Opioids + Sedative	1.55 (1.42, 1.69)	1.27 (1.18, 1.37)
Opioids + Stimulant + Alcohol	2.41 (2.24, 2.60)	2.56 (2.36, 2.79)
Opioids + Alcohol + Sedative	2.22 (1.98, 2.50)	2.57 (2.28, 2.90)
Opioids + Stiulant + Sedative	2.61 (2.19, 3.10)	1.87 (1.68, 2.09)
Opioids + Stimulant + Alcohol + Sedative	3.84 (3.34, 4.40)	4.00 (3.55, 4.52)
Age (years)	0.99 (0.98, 0.99)	1.01 (1.01, 1.012)
Urban	1.42 (1.14, 1.77)	1.16 (1.01, 1.34)
Female	0.69 (0.66, 0.73)	0.95 (0.92, 0.98)
Infection	1.77 (1.66, 1.89)	2.40 (2.32, 2.48)
Overdose	1.01 (0.95, 1.08)	0.96 (0.92, 1.01)
Psychiatric diagnosis	0.99 (0.94, 1.04)	2.21 (2.12, 2.31)
Elixhauser sum of comorbidities	0.96 (0.94, 0.98)	1.07 (1.06, 1.09)
Insurance type		
Private insurance	REF	REF
Medicaid	1.73 (1.56, 1.92)	1.34 (1.28, 1.41)
Medicare	1.51 (1.38, 1.66)	1.49 (1.41, 1.57)
Self-pay	1.57 (1.38, 1.80)	1.01 (0.93, 1.08)
No charge	1.32 (1.09, 1.58)	0.99 (0.89, 1.10)
Other	1.14 (0.995, 1.30)	0.99 (0.91, 1.08)

^a Amphetamine and/or cocaine use.

From "Hospitalization Outcomes of People Who Use Drugs," by E. Merchant, et al. 2020,

Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 112, p. 26. Copyright 2020 by Elsevier. Reproduced with

permission.

Potential Measurements of In-Hospital Opioid Stewardship Programs

Table 2. Scores and Ranks for Final Quality Indicators ^a								
Indicator (Survey Domain)	Mean Value (Rank)	Lower Bound of 95% Cl (Rank)	Upper Bound of 95% Cl (Rank)	25th Percentile Value (Rank)	Median Value (Rank)	75th Percentile Value (Rank)	Sum of Ranks ^b	Final Rank°
Proportion of hospitalized patients who received naloxone (patient outcomes) 9,20,27	8.15 (1)	7.73 (1)	8.57 (1)	8 (1)	9 (1.5)	9 (7)	12.5	1
Proportion of patients who have multiple p.r.n. opioid orders with duplicate p.r.n. indication (pain management) ^{21,28,40,41}	7.97 (2)	7.51 (2)	8.43 (2)	7 (7)	9 (1.5)	9 (7)	21.5	2
Proportion of hospitalized patients who are opioid naïve and have long acting or extended release opioid orders (metha- done, patches, extended release formulations) (pain management) ^{<i>p.7,9,31,42</i>}	7.70 (3)	7.26 (3)	8.14 (5)	7 (7)	8 (7.5)	9 (7)	32.5	3
Average dose of MME administered per day (pain management) ^{6,7,9,20,33}	7.64 (4.5)	7.00 (7)	8.27 (4)	7 (7)	8 (7.5)	9 (7)	37	4
Proportion of opioid dis- charge prescriptions that exceed 7 days of treat- ment (discharge) ⁹	7.64 (4.5)	6.97 (10)	8.30 (3)	7 (7)	8 (7.5)	9 (7)	39	5
Proportion of hospitalized patients on opioid therapy who have a POSS ≥3 (pa- tient outcomes) ³⁹	7.55 (7.5)	7.01 (5)	8.08 (8)	7 (7)	8 (7.5)	9 (7)	42	6
Proportion of hospitalized patients with concur- rent administrations of high doses of opioids and at least one medi- cation from the following classes: benzodiazepines, barbiturates, sedative hypnotics, GABA analogs, or muscle relaxants (pain management) ^{d,0,7,11,25,34,37}	7.58 (6)	7.14 (4)	8.01 (11)	7 (7)	8 (7.5)	9 (7)	42.5	7
Proportion of patients with opioid doses ≥ 90 MME/ day (pain management) ^{6,7,9}	7.55 (7.5)	6.98 (8)	8.11 (6)	7 (7)	8 (7.5)	9 (7)	43	8
Proportion of discharged patients with opioid dis- charge prescriptions of ≥ 50 MME/day (discharge)*	7.52 (9)	6.98 (9)	8.05 (9)	7 (7)	8 (7.5)	9 (7)	48.5	9
Proportion of hospital- ized patients who have documentation of patient defined pain goals (patient assessment) ^{10,12,24,38}	7.48 (10)	7.01 (6)	7.96 (12)	7 (7)	8 (7.5)	9 (7)	49.5	10
						Continue	d on nex	t page

Indicator (Survey Domain)	Mean Value (Rank)	Lower Bound of 95% Cl (Rank)	Upper Bound of 95% Cl (Rank)	25th Percentile Value (Rank)	Median Value (Rank)	75th Percentile Value (Rank)	Sum of Ranks ^b	Final Rank
Proportion of hospitalized patients with opioid orders who have a standardized documentation of the pain management plan (eg use of approved order sets) (pain management) ^{24,37}	7.45 (11)	6.89 (11)	8.02 (10)	6 (14.5)	8 (7.5)	9 (7)	61	11
Proportion of patients with opioid discharge pre- scriptions given in the ED that exceed 3–5 days (discharge) ^{22,31}	7.42 (12)	6.75 (14)	8.09 (7)	6 (14.5)	8 (7.5)	9 (7)	62	12
Proportion of hospital days with 1 or more severe pain rating score (patient outcomes)*	7.27 (13.5)	6.77 (13)	7.78 (13)	7 (7)	7 (15.5)	8 (16.5)	78.5	13
Proportion of patients with opioid doses ≥ 50 MME/ day (pain management) ^{6,7}	7.27 (13.5)	6.84 (12)	7.71 (15)	7 (7)	7 (15.5)	8 (16.5)	79.5	14
Proportion of patients dis- charged on opioids who receive discharge educa- tion on opioid purpose, adverse effects, moni- toring, secure storage/ disposal, and alternatives (discharge) ^{20,20,24,37}	7.18 (15)	6.64 (15)	7.72 (14)	6 (14.5)	7 (15.5)	8 (16.5)	90.5	15
Proportion of patients dis- charged from the ED with opioid discharge prescrip- tions (discharge) ²²	6.52 (17)	5.72 (18)	7.31 (17)	5 (18)	7 (15.5)	9 (7)	92.5	16
Proportion of hospital- ized patients who have documentation of patient defined function goals (pa- tient assessment) ^{12,21}	6.97 (16)	6.31 (16)	7.63 (16)	6 (14.5)	7 (15.5)	8 (16.5)	94.5	17
Proportion of patients dis- charged from the hospital with opioid discharge pre- scriptions (discharge) ^{21,34}	6.36 (19)	5.59 (19)	7.14 (18)	5 (18)	7 (15.5)	8 (16.5)	106	18
Proportion of hospital- ized patients receiving	6.42 (18)	5.73 (17)	7.12 (19)	5 (18)	6 (19)	8 (16.5)	107.5	19

From "Quality indicators to measure the effect of opioid stewardship interventions in hospital and emergency department settings," by E. Rizk, et al., 2019, *American Journal of Health System Pharmacy*, 76, p. 230-231. Copyright 2019 by American Society of Health-System Pharmacists / Oxford University Press. Reprinted with permission.

Quality Measurement Framework for Emergency Department Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder

			Outcome Measures			
OUD Domain	Structural Measures	Process Measures	ED	Population		
Primary prevention	Availability of nonopioid pain management	Patient education about opioid safe storage and disposal on	Adverse events after ED discharge after receiving new opioids	Patients with unintended prolonged opioid use		
	PDMP-EMR integration	Trial of nonopioid analgesics before opioid initiation when indicated	ED revisitation for analgesia-associated adverse medication events	New OUD per-capita incidence		
	"Safe prescribing" ED policies	Median days opioids prescribed	chunto	OUD prevalence		
		Median MME/day per ED visit Frequency of benzodiazepine and opioid coprescribing		Opioid overdose incidence		
Harm reduction	ED naloxone distribution policy	Proportion ED OUD patients: a) Provision of overdose prevention and response patient education	Risk-adjusted inhospital mortality for overdose	Risk-adjusted repeated nonfatal overdose		
	Community syringe access program	 b) Discharged with/ prescribed naloxone c) Referred to a syringe access program d) Referred to community 	Risk-adjusted 30-day repeated ED visit for nonfatal opioid overdose	Risk-adjusted repeated fatal overdose Risk-adjusted out-of- hospital overdose mortality HCV and HIV incidence		
		resources		and prevalence		
	Buprenorphine-waivered providers (ED and community)	Structured screening and diagnostic questionnaires		Repeated ED visit rates for opioid overdose, opioid withdrawal, or complications of injection drug use		
	addiction medicine specialist consultation access	Urine taxicology testing	Opioid withdrawal scale at ED discharge	Proportion patients engaged in formal addiction treatment at 30 days		
Treatment	Availability of outpatient providers of medication for OUD	Proportion ED OUD patients:		Proportion patients maintaining receipt of medication for OUD at 30 days		
	Community opioid treatment programs	 a) With initiated medication for OUD 	Risk-adjusted inhospital mortality for overdose	Risk-adjusted repeated nonfatal overdose		
	and providers Hospital or community bridge clinics	b) Prescribed medication for OUD		Risk-adjusted repeated fatal overdose		
		 c) Linked to outpatient OUD treatment 		Risk-adjusted out-of- hospital overdose mortality		
		d) Counseled by health promotion advocates, counselors, or social workers				

From "A Quality Framework for Emergency Department Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder," by E. Samuels, et al., 2018, *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 73, p. 240. Copyright 2018 by American College of Emergency Physicians / Elsevier. Reprinted with permission.

Concerns, Realities, and Solutions Regarding Opioid Use Disorder and Buprenorphine

Treatment in the Emergency Department

Concern	Reality	Solution
Addiction is a moral failing; patients keep coming back to the ED time and time again.	Addiction is a chronic and relapsing disease that can be effectively treated with opioid-agonist therapies. Emergency physicians often see a skewed sample of patients not in treatment.	Provide patient-specific feedback to ED pro- viders on success stories regarding en- gagement in treatment.
Providing buprenorphine to patients will lead to diversion.	There is less diversion of buprenorphine than of other opioids. Buprenorphine bought off the street is often used to reduce withdrawal symptoms. Every buprenorphine pill taken is one less opportunity for overdose, complication of injection drug use, or death.	Offer limited supplies, preferably 2–7 days' worth of treatment, until an appointment with a community provider or program can be arranged.
Initiating buprenorphine treatment is compli- cated, and the ED is already crowded and chaotic.	Buprenorphine is safer and more predictable than many medica- tions used in routine ED practice. Treatment can be accom- plished in less time than an urgent care visit.	Integrate protocols electronically into the ED workflow from triage to discharge that engage all providers in order to facilitate a simplified and streamlined process. Identify a cadre of champions available to support new prescribers.
Initiating buprenorphine will increase length of stay.	Initiating buprenorphine will reduce length of stay and reduce the potential for violent behaviors and injury to staff. Buprenorphine markedly reduces withdrawal symptoms in 20–30 minutes.	Streamline protocols and educate staff to achieve times of 60–90 minutes from presentation to discharge, in keeping with urgent care criteria.
There is a lack of referral sites for patients who have initiated bupre- norphine treatment.	Most communities have treatment resources of which the ED staff are unaware.	Partner and develop relationships with com- munity resources and local health de- partments to permit efficient referral and feedback. Hire an ED staff member such as a health promotion advocate, which is helpful and cost-effective. ³
Patients will return repeat- edly for redosing.	Repeated visits for redosing have not been demonstrated at sites that consistently offer buprenorphine.	Develop treatment plans that are similar to those for other chronic diseases, such as sickle cell disease. Treat withdrawal with buprenorphine and referral.
Patients will flock to the ED for treatment.	Patients with OUD are already in the ED. Sites with ED-initiated buprenorphine do not report an uptake of patients seeking treatment.	Initiate treatment protocols at triage to pro- mote rapid assessment, treatment, and referral.
Many patients don't want treatment anyway.	Some patients, often after an overdose, are not ready for treatment after a brief psychosocial intervention, but discussion may lead to a change in motivation in the future. The ED visit is often a missed opportunity to engage patients who may be contem- plating a positive change but need guidance and support.	Introduce harm-reduction strategies such as overdose prevention and naloxone distri- bution. Establish rapport to facilitate im- proved outcomes.
Obtaining a waiver to pre- scribe buprenorphine is too burdensome.	The training required to obtain a waiver can be done all online or as half-day courses coupled with half-day online services. Most training is free and similar to other required learning and counts toward CME requirements for specialty certifica- tion, recertification, and licensing in many states.	Identify resources online and at institutions using the SAMHSA and ASAM websites. Offer faculty development days or group learning events.

* ASAM denotes the American Society of Addiction Medicine, CME continuing medical education, and SAMHSA the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.

From "Emergency Departments — A 24/7/365 Option for Combating the Opioid Crisis," by G.

D'Onofrio, R. McCormack, and K. Hawk, 2018, New England Journal of Medicine, 379, p.

2489. Copyright 2018 by Massachusetts Medical Society. Reproduced with permission.

Organizational Characteristics Indicating Readiness to Hire Peer Workers

Characteristics
Organizational values
 A recovery-oriented mission Defined peer roles that are permanent with secure funding Clear job descriptions for peer workers Equitable wages and benefits packages for peer workers
Policies and practices
 Policies and practices align with recovery-oriented values Clear confidentiality policies and practices Clear policies regarding relationships and personal boundaries Inclusive hiring policies and practice Policies that ensure regular communication among staff members Policies that ensure routine performance evaluations that reflect the peer worker's role
Staff knowledge and attitudes
 Staff believe that recovery is possible Staff is knowledgeable about the benefits of peer support Staff continue to develop their knowledge and understanding of peer support Staff address their own prejudices about people with behavioral health conditions
Supervision and support
 Organization ensures the provision of regular supervision Supervision is recovery-oriented and trauma-informed Supervisors know how to use reasonable accommodations for colleagues with disabilities

From "Peer Workers in the Behavioral and Integrated Health Workforce: Opportunities and

Future Directions" by C. Gagne, et al. 2018, American Journal of Preventative Medicine, 54, P.

S258. CC BY NC ND.

Coach-provider Interaction	For providers	For coaches
Introducing the coach role to the patient	 Before the coach is introduced, communicate with the coach to update them on and engage them in the development of treatment goals. 	• Ask the provider what they have communicated to patients about the coach role.
	 Invite the coach to attend an appointment to meet the patient and demonstrate the importance of the coach's role encouraging coaches to take the lead in introducing their role. 	 In collaboration with the rest of the care team, develop a written description of the coach role that the provider can share with patients.
	 Consider reinforcing boundary setting (times the coach is available, types of services the coach provides) by coaches during the initial visit. If the patient will meet the coach at a separate time, ask the coach 	 Many patients are reluctant to ask for help because they don't know what services coaches offer or they assume they must be interested in recovery to work with a coach. Provide a clear description to patients about the range of services and supports
	how their role should be described to the patient before this meeting.	you can provide.
Confidentiality	 A provider statement to the patient supporting patient-coach confidentiality is a strong signal of respect to both patient and coach. 	 Work with your providers to develop a list of "red flag" information that should be communicated to providers.
	 Work with your institution to establish a peer mentor program and clear supervision structure for coaches that offers support and quidance around difficult decisions about disclosure. 	 Discuss difficult issues around disclosure with a peer mentor and your supervisor.
Shared decision- making	 Agenda setting before or early in a shared appointment should include both patient and coach priorities. 	 Work with patients to develop a list of topics to discuss with a provider during an upcoming appointment.
	 During shared appointments, use teach-back with patients and coaches to get an assessment of the collective understanding of a treatment plan. 	 During appointments, encourage patients to ask questions of providers when there may be misunderstanding from either the provider or patient.
	 Involve coaches in multidisciplinary discussions of the management of complex patients in recovery. 	 If conflict is developing with a provider, work with a peer mentor or supervisor to develop ways of refocusing discussions on patient care.
Integration with care team	 Invite coaches to develop brief teaching sessions for providers about addiction and recovery. 	 Ask a supervisor how you should document your interactions with patients in the her.
	 Develop clear guidelines for the coach's notes in the electronic health record. 	Engage with provider-led community-based research efforts.
	 Elicit feedback from coaches as a way of reflecting on behaviors or language that may be perceived as judgmental. Develop clear protocols for how RCs should handle psychiatric emergencies. 	 Ask for feedback from providers and peers.

Sample Program Expectations for Providers and Coaches

From "Addressing substance use disorder in primary care: The role, integration, and impact of

recovery coaches" by H. Jack, et al. 2018, Substance Abuse, 39, P. 312. Copyright 2018 by

Taylor & Francis. Reprinted with permission.

Characteristics of Interviewees

ID	Discipline	Age	Ethnicity	Years in Healthcare	Highest Degree	
Dhysician1	Internal	33	White	11	MD	
FIIySiciali	Medicine	55	vv inte	11	MD	
Physician?	Internal	31	Asian	7	MD	
F Hysicializ	Medicine	51	Asiali	1	MD	
Dhysician2	Internal	30	Asian	11	MD	
Filysicialis	Medicine	37	Asiali	11	MD	
	Internal					
Physician4	Medicine /	52	White	30	MD	
	Palliative Care					
Pasidant1	Internal	37	White	7		
Kesidenti	Medicine	52	vv mte		WID, WIDA	
Psych1	Psychiatry	42	White	11	MD	
SW1	Social Work	26	White	3	LCSW	
APN1	Palliative Care	63	White	39	MA	
RN1	Nursing	33	White	5	BSN	
Chaplain1	Chaplain	33	White	3	MA	
Executive1	Administration	67	White	40	MD	

Timeline of Opioid Epidemic

1850s: Opioids used for medicinal purposes

Early 1900s: New forms analgesia reduced reliance on opioids

1930s to 1960s: International conflicts resulted increased utilization of opioids to treat acute

and pain

1986: Case series in the journal Pain published reporting opioids are safe

1990s: Purdue Pharma uses the 1986 Pain article as the foundation for marketing OxyContin.

Opioid prescriptions rise by over 300%. Concurrently, overdose deaths related to this

medication begin to rise.

1995: American Pain Society launches "Pain is the Fifth Vital Sign" campaign

1998: American Pain Society and American Academy of Pain Medicine release statement that pain is undertreated

2000: The Department of Veteran Affairs and the Join Commission begin promoting the Pain

is the Fifth Vital Sign campaign

2010: To deter abuse of oxycontin, its formulation changes which results in patients pursuing heroin.

2013: Fentanyl starts to be introduced into the heroin supply chain.

2015: Overdose deaths from heroin surpass that of opioid pills for the first time.



Three Waves of the Rise in Opioid Overdose Deaths

From "Understanding the Epidemic," by Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018 (https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/epidemic/index.html). In the public domain.

Criteria for Opioid Use Disorder

The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th Edition describes opioid use disorder as a problematic pattern of opioid use leading to problems or distress, with at least two of the following occurring within a 12-month period:

- 1. Taking larger amounts or taking drugs over a longer period than intended.
- 2. Persistent desire or unsuccessful efforts to cut down or control opioid use.
- 3. Spending a great deal of time obtaining or using the opioid or recovering from its effects.
- 4. Craving, or a strong desire or urge to use opioids
- 5. Problems fulfilling obligations at work, school or home.
- 6. Continued opioid use despite having recurring social or interpersonal problems.
- 7. Giving up or reducing activities because of opioid use.
- 8. Using opioids in physically hazardous situations.
- Continued opioid use despite ongoing physical or psychological problem likely to have been caused or worsened by opioids.
- Tolerance (i.e., need for increased amounts or diminished effect with continued use of the same amount)
- 11. Experiencing withdrawal (opioid withdrawal syndrome) or taking opioids (or a closely related substance) to relieve or avoid withdrawal symptoms.

From "Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition," by American Psychiatric Association, 2013. Copyright 2013 American Psychiatric Association. Reprinted

with permission.



Proportion of Deaths Related to Opioid Use by Age Group in 2001, 2006, 2011, and 2016

From "The Burden of Opioid-Related Mortality in the United States" by T. Gomes, M. Tadrous,M. Mamdani, et al. 2018, *JAMA Network Open*, 1, P. 3. CC BY.



Opioid Overdose Deaths in the United States

From "Current status of opioid addiction treatment and related preclinical research" by M. Kreek,B. Reed, and E. Butelman, 2019, *Science Advances*, 5, P. 3. CC BY NC.



Hospitalizations by Type of Opioid-Related Diagnosis, 1993-2014

From "Mortality Quadrupled Among Opioid-Driven Hospitalizations, Notably Within Lower-Income And Disabled White Populations," by Z. Song, 2017, *Health Affairs*, 36, p. 2057. Copyright 2017 by Project HOPE/Health Affairs. Reprinted with permission.





From "Mortality Quadrupled Among Opioid-Driven Hospitalizations, Notably Within Lower-Income And Disabled White Populations," by Z. Song, 2017, *Health Affairs*, 36, p. 2057. Copyright 2017 by Project HOPE/Health Affairs. Reprinted with permission.



In-Hospital Mortality for Opioid vs Other Primary Diagnoses

From "Mortality Quadrupled Among Opioid-Driven Hospitalizations, Notably Within Lower-Income And Disabled White Populations," by Z. Song, 2017, *Health Affairs*, 36, p. 2057. Copyright 2017 by Project HOPE/Health Affairs. Reprinted with permission.

National Differences in Hospitalizations Related to Prescription Opioid Poisoning (POD) vs

Heroin Poisoning (HOD)



From "US regional and demographic differences in prescription opioid and heroin-related overdose hospitalizations" by G. Unick and D. Ciccarone, 2017, *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 46, P. 115. Copyright 2017 by Elsevier. Reprinted with permission.

Deaths After ED Treatment for Non-Fatal Opioid Overdose by Number of Days After Discharge



From "One-Year Mortality of Patients After Emergency Department Treatment for Nonfatal Opioid Overdose" by S. Weiner, O. Baker, D. Bernson, and J Schuur, 2019, Annals of Emergency Medicine, 75, P. 17. Copyright 2019 by Elsevier. Reprinted with permission.

Incidence of Drug Associated Infective Endocarditis (DA IE) Compared to Non-DA IE, 2002-



2016

From "Geographic Trends, Patient Characteristics, and Outcomes of Infective Endocarditis Associated With Drug Abuse in the United States From 2002 to 2016" by A. Kadri, et al., 2019, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 8, P. 7. CC BY NC ND.



Trends in Black and White Opioid Mortality in the United States, 1979-2015

A, Age-standardized opioid mortality rate for the white (red) and black (blue) US resident populations, 1979–2015. B, Rate ratio (white/black) of opioid mortality rates. Dots are estimated rate. Vertical bars represent 95% confidence interval. Solid lines are joinpoint model fits.

From "Trends in Black and White Opioid Mortality in the United States, 1979–2015:" M.

Alexander, M. Kiang, and M. Barbieri, 2018, Epidemiology, 29, p. 711 CC BY NC ND



Opioid-Related Overdose Deaths with Accompanying Toxicology

From "Sociodemographic Factors and Social Determinants Associated with Toxicology Confirmed Polysubstance Opioid-Related Deaths," J. Barocas, et al., 2019, *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 200, p. 60. Copyright 2019 Elsevier / Drug and Alcohol Dependence. Reprinted with permission.



Impact of Discontinuing Long-Term Buprenorphine Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder

From "Acute Care, Prescription Opioid Use, and Overdose Following Discontinuation of Long-Term Buprenorphine Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder" by R. Williams, et al., 2019, *American Journal of Psychiatry*, P. 5. Copyright 2019 American Psychiatric Association. Reprinted with permission.

^a All comparisons are with the reference group (the 6 - to 9 - month cohort). p<0.05. **p<0.01. ***p<0.001.

Impact on Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome with Exposure to Methadone Compared to

Buprenorphine



From "Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome after Methadone or Buprenorphine Exposure," by H.

Jones et al., 2010, New England Journal of Medicine, 363, p. 2326. Copyright 2010 by

Massachusetts Medical Society. Reprinted with permission.



Trends in Buprenorphine Prescribing by Physician Specialty, 2006-2014

From "Trends In Buprenorphine Prescribing By Physician Specialty," by H. Wen, T. Borders, and J. Cummings, 2019, *Health Affairs*, 38, p. 27. Copyright 2019 by Project HOPE/Health Affairs. Reprinted with permission.

SOURCE Authors' analysis of data for 2006–14 from the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey. **NOTE** "Psychiatry" and "other" are explained in the notes to exhibit 1.

Growth in Buprenorphine Treatment Capacity per 100,000 People in Rural Counties for Nurse Practitioners and Physician Assistants, by Scope of Practice Regulations, 2016-2019



From "In Rural Areas, Buprenorphine Waiver Adoption Since 2017 Driven By Nurse Practitioners And Physician Assistants," by M. Barnett, D. Lee, and R. Frank, 2019, *Health Affairs*, 38, p. 2054. Copyright 2019 by Project HOPE/Health Affairs.

Challenges in Increasing Buprenorphine Access



*This work is largely adapted from the work of Berwick (10): Rogers (17): Ryan & Gross (18). Beal & Bohlen (19).

From "Challenges in Increasing Access to Buprenorphine Treatment for Opiate Addiction," by J.

West et al. 2004, American Journal on Addictions, 13, p. S14. Copyright 2004 by John Wiley

and Sons. Reprinted with permission.
Stage Model of Self-Stigma



From "On the Self-Stigma of Mental Illness: Stages, Disclosure, and Strategies for Change," by P. Corrigan and D. Rao, 2012, *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 57, p. 466. Copyright 2012 by Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. Reprinted with permission.

Recurrence Rates of Chronic Diseases





(https://archives.drugabuse.gov/publications/drug-abuse-addiction-one-americas-mostchallenging-public-health-problems/addiction-chronic-disease). In the public domain.

Opioid Use Disorder Treatment Cascade



Fig. 2. Candidate quality measure concepts for an OUD treatment cascade at structural, process, and outcome levels for patients treated for overdose.

S = structure; P = process; O = outcome;

From "Developing an opioid use disorder treatment cascade: A review of quality measures," by

A. Williams, et al., 2018, Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 91, p. 65. Copyright 2018 by

Elsevier. Reprinted with permission.

Trends in Medicaid Prescriptions for Buprenorphine by Medication Expansion Status



From "Impact of Medicaid Expansion on Medicaid-covered Utilization of Buprenorphine for Opioid Use Disorder Treatment" by H. Wen, J. Hockenberry, and B. Druss., 2017, *Medical Care*, 55, P. 338. Copyright 2017 by Wolters Kluwer Health and Medical Care. Reprinted with permission.



Benefits of Peer Mentorship in the Hospital

From "If It Wasn't for Him, I Wouldn't Have Talked to Them": Qualitative Study of Addiction Peer Mentorship in the Hospital" by D. Collins, 2019, Journal of General Internal Medicine. Copyright 2019 by Springer Nature. Reprinted with permission.

CDC Recommendation for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain Outside of Active Cancer,

Palliative, and End-Of-Life Care

Determining When to Initiate or Continue Opioids for Chronic Pain 1. Nonpharmacologic therapy and nonopioid pharmacologic therapy are preferred for chronic pain. Clinicians should consider opioid therapy only if expected benefits for both pain and function are anticipated to outweigh risks to the patient. If opioids are used, they should be combined with nonpharmacologic therapy and nonopioid	7. Clinicians should evaluate benefits and harms with patients within 1 to 4 weeks of starting opioid therapy for chronic pain or of dose escalation. Clinicians should evaluate benefits and harms of continued therapy with patients every 3 months or more frequently. If benefits do not outweigh harms of continued opioid therapy, clinicians should optimize other therapies and work with patients to taper opioids to lower dosages or to taper and discontinue opioids.
 pharmacologic therapy, as appropriate. 2. Before starting opioid therapy for chronic pain, clinicians should establish treatment goals with all patients, including realistic goals for pain and function, and should consider how therapy will be discontinued if benefits do not outweigh risks. Clinicians should continue opioid therapy only if there is clinically meaningful improvement in pain and function that outweighs risks to patient safety. 3. Before starting and periodically during opioid therapy, clinicians should discuss with patients known risks and realistic benefits of opioid therapy and patient and clinician responsibilities for managing therapy. Opioid Selection, Dosage, Duration, Follow-Up, and Discontinuation 4. When starting opioid therapy for chronic pain, clinicians should prescribe immediate-release opioids. 5. When opioids are started, clinicians should use caution when prescribing opioids at any dosage, should carefully reassess evidence of individual benefits and risks when increasing dosage to ≥50 morphine milligram equivalents (MME)/day, and should avoid increasing dosage to ≥90 MME/day. 6. Long-term opioid use often begins with treatment of acute pain. When opioids are used for acute pain, clinicians should prescribe the lowest effective dosage to ≈90 MME/day. 6. Long-term opioid use often begins with treatment of acute pain. When opioids are used for acute pain, clinicians should prescribe the lowest effective dosage to ≈90 milligram equivalents (MME)/day. 6. Long-term opioid use often begins with treatment of acute pain. When opioids are used for acute pain, clinicians should prescribe the lowest effective dose of immediate-release opioids and should prescribe no greater quantity than needed for the expected duration of pain severe enough to require opioids. Three days or less will often be sufficient; more than seven days will rarely be needed. 	 Assessing Risk and Addressing Harms of Opioid Use 8. Before starting and periodically during continuation of opioid therapy, clinicians should evaluate risk factors for opioid-related harms. Clinicians should incorporate into the management plan strategies to mitigate risk, including considering offering naloxone when factors that increase risk for opioid overdose, such as history of overdose, history of substance use disorder, higher opioid dosages (≥50 MME/day), or concurrent benzodiazepine use, are present. 9. Clinicians should review the patient's history of controlled substance prescriptions using state prescription drug monitoring program (PDMP) data to determine whether the patient is receiving opioid dosages or dangerous combinations that put him or her at high risk for overdose. Clinicians should review PDMP data when starting opioid therapy for chronic pain, ranging from every prescription to every 3 months. 10. When prescribing opioids for chronic pain, clinicians should use urine drug testing a testing at annually to assess for prescribed medications as well as other controlled prescribing opioid prescribing opioid pain medication and benzodiazepines concurrently whenever possible. 12. Clinicians should avoid prescribing opioid pain medication and benzodiazepines concurrently whenever possible. 13. Clinicians should avoid prescribing opioid pain medication and benzodiazepines concurrently whenever possible. 14. Clinicians therapice) for patients with opioid use disorder.
 All recommendations are category A (apply to all patients outside of active car (designated category B, with individual decision making required); see full guid 	lefine for evidence ratings.

From "CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain — United States, 2016," by D.

Dowell, T. Haegerich, and R. Chou, 2016

(https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/rr/rr6501e1.htm). In the public domain.

Questions Received from Stakeholders During Planning Stages of Hospital Based

Buprenorphine Program

- 1. Who will lead the project?
- 2. Does a similar program exist already within the hospital system or within other hospital systems at local, regional, state, or national levels?
- 3. How does offering buprenorphine as part of hospitalization fit with the department or organizations vision, mission, and / or goals for a specific time period?
- 4. What are the milestones for rolling out the program? How will success be measured?
- 5. Are trainees involved?
- 6. Will the hospital be performing buprenorphine initiation and maintenance therapy?
- 7. Is buprenorphine on the hospital formulary?
- 8. What is the capacity for outpatient buprenorphine treatment in the region? Who are those stakeholders? Are they willing to collaborate with the hospital?
- 9. Do patients have reliable transportation to attend their initial follow-up appointment? If not, what resources are available to ensure this.
- 10. Do local retail pharmacies stock buprenorphine?
- 11. If a patient cannot afford to pay for bridge buprenorphine, is the hospital willing to pay for that?
- 12. What infrastructure is needed to support this project and is that infrastructure reliably in place?
- 13. Which members of the interprofessional team might participate?
- 14. Is it possible to bill for these services?

- 15. From nursing order perspective, what are the notification parameters?
- 16. Who will provide coverage after hours?
- 17. Under what circumstances might a patient be transferred to the ICU?
- 18. What is available on the formulary?
- 19. How will orders be entered / saved into the electronic health record?
- 20. What are the relationships like with local retail pharmacies?
- 21. For nurses:
 - a. What is the "B-Team"
 - b. Who is the "B-Team"
 - c. A brief overview of the Medication itself.
 - d. How and when do I consult the "B-Team" (more consults the better, worse case scenario is they don't qualify).
 - e. Accessing our Intranet page
 - f. Administering the medication
 - g. Introduction to COWS form and nursing responsibilities with charting, reassessments, etc. (follow the medication order instructions).
 - h. A possible patient scenario that runs through COWS form to familiarize nurses
 - i. Educating nurses that each patient will be different based on whether they are in acute withdrawal or have multiple days clean and are only experiencing "cravings"
 - j. What to do if there is a question in off hours or weekends (not sure if we have an answer to this yet).
 - k. Informing nurses that packets of information will be placed at nurses station.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria for Hospital-Based Buprenorphine at Conception

Initial Inclusion criteria for enrollment with OAST

- Inpatient status on the internal medicine or family medicine service.
- Over age 18 with stable housing.
- Anticipated length of stay at least 48 hours from the time of referral.
- Enrollment in the Travis County Medical Assistance Program or be eligible for enrollment.
- Have a Community Care Clinic primary care provider.

Initial Exclusion criteria for enrollment with OAST

- Incarceration at the time of referral.
- Severe benzodiazepine disorder.
- Severe alcohol use disorder.
- Severe medical or psychiatric problems.
- Chronic pain being treated with opioids.
- Current enrollment in a buprenorphine or methadone treatment program.
- Administration of methadone during the current hospitalization.

Working Milestones for Hospital-Based Buprenorphine at Conception

- Develop and distribute digital and print awareness campaign for distribution to all Internal Medicine and Family Medicine attending and resident physicians, in addition to acute care registered nurses.
- A minimum of 10 Internal Medicine and Family Medicine attending or resident physicians to complete x-waiver training within four months.
- Complete 100 patient screens for the diagnosis of opioid use dependency, conducting 10 within the first month and increasing by 20% monthly thereafter.
- Provide buprenorphine counseling to 75% of affirmatively screened patients.
- Administer buprenorphine induction therapy to 50% of eligible patients.
- Greater than 50% of patients who have been provided induction attend their first maintenance therapy follow-up appointment.
- Greater than 30% of patients who have been provided induction in the hospital continue to follow-up with maintenance therapy after six months.

Laboratory studies obtained as part of B-Team program

Order the MAT Baseline Lab Panel consisting of the following tests:

- a. CBC with differential
- b. BMP
- c. Hepatic panel
- d. Lipid profile
- e. Urinalysis
- f. Pregnancy test for women of childbearing potential
- g. Toxicology test for drugs of abuse
- h. Blood alcohol test
- i. HIV 4th Generation Screening test
- j. Hepatitis B virus serology (HBsAg, anti-HBc antibody, anti-HBs antibody)
- k. Hepatitis C virus (HCV) antibody screen
- I. RPR with Reflex FTA (syphilis screening)

History Obtained from Patients as Part of B-Team Program

Basic info

- Confirm phone #
- Employment
- Support system
- · Living situation (and do others use illicit substances)
- Transportation
- Children
- Goal for treatment

Substance use history

- Age first use, how often, amount, route, last use
- Specifically ask about heroin, oxycodone, oxycontin, benzos
- Needle sharing?
- ETOH use history
- Fhx related to substances

Substance Treatment history

- Detox, residential, 12-step
- Behavioral health counseling
- Methadone
 - o When, where, how long, dosing history
 - Reason for cessation
- Suboxone
 - o When, where, how long, dosing history
 - Reason for cessation
- Attempts made to become sober and most recent attempt
- Longest period of sobriety and trigger for relapse

Mental health history

- Depression, anxiety, bipolar, schizophrenia, OCD, PTSD, ADHD
- Psychiatrist (who / how often)
- SI/HI currently or hx
- Psych hospitalizations

Criminal

Arrest, incarceration

Clinical

- PCP who and when last seen
- PmHx
- Med Hx
- HIV and TB
- Pain hx

Brief Interview Guide

- 1. Can you describe the general structure of your program?
 - a. Teaching vs non-teaching services? Consult service structure?
 - b. What is the workflow?
- 2. How do you screen patients for appropriateness for inpatient suboxone induction?
- 3. What specific education did you do (and to which audiences) when you began performing inpatient suboxone inductions?
- 4. Do you use the Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale (COWS)? Who performs the assessment? How frequently? How is it documented?
- 5. What best practices have you developed for transitioning to community maintenance therapy?
- 6. There is some concern from our compliance department that performing inpatient suboxone induction will require extra privacy control as per 42 CFR. Has this been an issue for you?
 - a. Have you experienced any patients presenting to the ER specifically for suboxone induction therapy? What has been done to prevent this from happening?
- 7. You've done a great job publishing your findings. What advice might you have for us? What data should we collect? How should it be stored? Who maintains your research database?
- 8. If you could redesign your program based on what you've learned, what would you do differently?

B-Team Summary



Buprenorphine Order – Main Screen with adjunctive medications

Cravir	ngs Treatment		promethazine 25 mg PO (oral) q6hr PRN Nausea or Vomiting, Form: Tab	습
Active	Withdrawal		traZODone 25 mg PO (oral) at bedtime PRN Insomnia, Form: Tab	
Maint	enance Dosing		melatonin 9 mg PO (oral) at bedtime, Form: Tab	습
LFT Blood	, AM collect, qMonday	☆	cloNIDine 0.1 mg PO (oral) q6h, Form: Tab	습
hydrO 25 mg Tab	XYzine J PO (oral) tid PRN Anxiety, Form:		cloNIDine 0.1 mg PO (oral) q6h, Form: Tab	습
ondar 4 mg Vomit	isetron PO (oral) q6hr PRN Nausea or ing, Form: DIS Tablet	☆	gabapentin 100 mg PO (oral) tid, Form: Cap	습
ibupro 600 m Form:	o fen ng PO (oral) q6hr PRN Pain, Tab	☆		
melat 9 mg Inson	onin PO (oral) at bedtime PRN inia, Form: Tab	☆		
lopera 2 mg Form:	mide PO (oral) q6hr PRN Diarrhea, Cap	☆		
acetai 500 m	minoph <mark>en</mark> ng PO (oral) q6h, Form: Tab	습		

Buprenorphine Order – For Cravings

Treatment Instructions Once, Reassess opioid craving symtoms two hours after initial Suboxone dose	습
Notify Provider	-
For worsening opioid withdrawal symptoms or cravings.	Û
Suboxone 2 mg-0.5 mg sublingual film 1 Each SubLINGUAL Once	습
Suboxone 2 mg-0.5 mg sublingual film 1 Each SubLINGUAL q2hr PRN Other (see order comment) For 4 dose(s)	☆

Buprenorphine Order – For withdrawal



公

Figure 35

Buprenorphine Order – For maintenance

Suboxone 8 mg-2 mg sublingual film 1 Each SubLINGUAL qDay
Suboxone 2 mg-0.5 mg sublingual film

1 Each SubLINGUAL qDay

Suboxone 4 mg-1 mg sublingual film 1 Each SubLINGUAL qDay

B-Team One Year Outcomes – Total Referrals







B-Team One Year Outcomes – Treatment Retention



B-Team One Year Outcomes – Treatment Retention





B-Team One Year Outcomes – Orders for Buprenorphine

Consistent Messages Used When Discussing In-Hospital Buprenorphine

- Buprenorphine is life-saving, evidence-based, and cost-effective.
- Patients are not admitted solely for buprenorphine initiation or continuation of maintenance therapy.
- Offering buprenorphine as part of acute hospitalization is the standard of care.
- The program does not advertise this externally.
- An x-waiver is not needed for inpatient ordering of buprenorphine. It is only needed for outpatient prescribing at discharge.
- The hospital is a place where patients come for acute care needs. Opioid use disorder is a life-limiting and potentially life-threatening medical disease. Therefore, the hospital can and should be a place where patients can go to, in part, initiate their journey to recovery. However, the hospital should not be a place where patients receive long-term care for OUD or other chronic medical diseases.
- Buprenorphine is technically an opioid, but is the only one classified as a partial agonist.
 This is a key part of its efficacy in addition to its high affinity for and slow disassociation from the mu receptor.

Appendix

Appendix 1



Figure 1 in Multiple Parts Denoted as Pages 1 - 9









From "Developing a clinical decision support for opioid use disorders: a NIDA center for the clinical trials network working group report – supplement and figures," G. Bart, et al., 2020,

Addiction Science & Clinical Practice, 15, p. 1-2,5-7 CC0 1.0

*Only pages pertaining to buprenorphine therapy have been included.

Appendix 2

NIDA Clinical Trials Network The Tobacco, Alcohol, Prescription medications, and other Substance (TAPS) Tool

TAPS Tool Part 1

Web Version: 2.0; 4.00; 09-19-17

Ge	neral Instructions:				
The and onl Ch	e TAPS Tool Part 1 is a 4-item scree d illicit substance use in the past yea ly be females. Each of the four multip eck the box to select your answer.	ning for tobacco use, alco r. Question 2 should be a ble-choice items has five p	ohol use, prescription medication misuse, nswered only by males and Question 3 possible responses to choose from.		
Se Vis	gment: it number:				
1.	In the PAST 12 MONTHS, how often have you used any tobacco product (for example, cigarettes, e- cigarettes, cigars, pipes, or smokeless tobacco)?				
	Daily or Almost Daily	Weekly	Monthly		
	Less Than Monthly	Never			
2.	In the PAST 12 MONTHS, how often have you had 5 or more drinks containing alcohol in one day? One standard drink is about 1 small glass of wine (5 oz), 1 beer (12 oz), or 1 single shot of liquor. (Note: This question should only be answered by males).				
	Daily or Almost Daily	Weekly	Monthly		
	Less Than Monthly	Never			
3.	In the PAST 12 MONTHS, how often have you had 4 or more drinks containing alcohol in one day? One standard drink is about 1 small glass of wine (5 oz), 1 beer (12 oz), or 1 single shot of liquor. (Note: This question should only be answered by females).				
	Daily or Almost Daily	Weekly	Monthly		
	Less Than Monthly	Never			
4.	In the PAST 12 MONTHS, how often have you used any drugs including marijuana, cocaine or crack, heroin, methamphetamine (crystal meth), hallucinogens, ecstasy/MDMA?				
	Daily or Almost Daily	Weekly	Monthly		
	Less Than Monthly	Never			
5.	In the PAST 12 MONTHS, how ofte more than prescribed or that were re this way include: Opiate pain relieve Medications for anxiety or sleeping example, Adderall or Ritalin)	en have you used any pre not prescribed for you? Pr ers (for example, OxyCor (for example, Xanax, Ativ	scription medications just for the feeling, rescription medications that may be used tin, Vicodin, Percocet, Methadone) ran, Klonopin) Medications for ADHD (for		

Daily or Almost Daily	Weekly	Monthly
Less Than Monthly	Never	

NIDA Clinical Trials Network The Tobacco, Alcohol, Prescription medications, and other Substance (TAPS) Tool

TAPS Tool Part 2

Web Version: 2.0; 4.00; 09-19-17

General Instructions:

The TAPS Tool Part 2 is a brief assessment for tobacco, alcohol, and illicit substance use and prescription medication misuse in the PAST 3 MONTHS ONLY. Each of the following questions and subquestions has two possible answer choices- either yes or no. Check the box to select your answer.

1. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you smoke a cigarette containing tobacco?
Yes No If "Yes", answer the following questions:

a. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you usually smoke more than 10 cigarettes each day?
Yes No b. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you usually smoke within 30 minutes after waking?
Yes No

2. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you have a drink containing alcohol? Yes No

If "Yes", answer the following questions:

a. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you have 4 or more drinks containing alcohol in a day?* (Note: This question should only be answered by females).

Yes No

b. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you have 5 or more drinks containing alcohol in a day?* (Note: This question should only be answered by males).

*One standard drink is about 1 small glass of wine (5 oz), 1 beer (12 oz), or 1 single shot of liquor.

c. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, have you tried and failed to control, cut down or stop drinking? Yes No

d. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, has anyone expressed concern about your drinking?
Yes No

3. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you use marijuana (hash, weed)?
Yes No If "Yes", answer the following questions:

a. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, have you had a strong desire or urge to use marijuana at least once a week or more often?
Yes No

b. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, has anyone expressed concern about your use of marijuana? \Box Yes \Box No

- In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you use cocaine, crack, or methamphetamine (crystal meth)?
 Yes
 No
- If "Yes", answer the following questions:

a. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you use cocaine, crack, or methamphetamine (crystal meth) at least once a week or more often?
Yes
No

b. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, has anyone expressed concern about your use of cocaine, crack, or methamphetamine (crystal meth)?
Yes No

5. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you use heroin?
Yes No

If "Yes", answer the following questions:

a. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, have you tried and failed to control, cut down or stop using heroin? Yes No

	b. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, has anyone expressed concern about your use of heroin? 🗌 Yes 🗌 No
6. If "`	In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you use a prescription opiate pain reliever (for example, Percocet, Vicodin) not as prescribed or that was not prescribed for you? ☐ Yes ☐ No Yes", answer the following questions:
	a. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, have you tried and failed to control, cut down or stop using an opiate pain reliever? Yes No
	b. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, has anyone expressed concern about your use of an opiate pain reliever? Yes No
7. If "`	In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you use a medication for anxiety or sleep (for example, Xanax, Ativan, or Klonopin) not as prescribed or that was not prescribed for you? Yes No Yes", answer the following questions:
	a. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, have you had a strong desire or urge to use medications for anxiety or sleep at least once a week or more often? Yes No
	b. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, has anyone expressed concern about your use of medication for anxiety or sleep? Yes No
8. If "	In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you use a medication for ADHD (for example, Adderall, Ritalin) not as prescribed or that was not prescribed for you? Yes No
	a. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you use a medication for ADHD (for example, Adderall, Ritalin) at least once a week or more often?
	b. In the PAST 3 MONTHS, has anyone expressed concern about your use of a medication for ADHD (for example, Adderall or Ritalin)? Yes No
9.	In the PAST 3 MONTHS, did you use any other illegal or recreational drug (for example, ecstasy/molly, GHB, poppers, LSD, mushrooms, special K, bath salts, synthetic marijuana ('spice'), whip-its, etc.)? Yes No
If "	Yes", answer the following questions:
In t	he PAST 3 MONTHS, what were the other drug(s) you used?

Comments:

From "The Tobacco, Alcohol, Prescription medications, and other Substance (TAPS) Tool," by

National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2017 (https://cde.drugabuse.gov/sites/nida_cde/files/TAPS

Tool Parts I and II V2.pdf). In the public domain.

Appendix 3

Qualitative Interview Guide

Demographics

- 1. What is your age?
- 2. What is your ethnicity?
- 3. How many years have you worked in the healthcare industry?
- 4. What is the highest degree or level of school you have completed?

Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder

- 5. How do you define opioid use disorder?
 - a. How common is opioid use disorder?
- Describe your experiences working with or supporting programs for patients who have opioid use disorder.

Questions for Care Team Members of The Program

- 1. Describe the work of the program.
- 2. In what ways has the program succeeded? In what ways has it been not as strong?
- 3. Think back to when you began seeing patients for the program.
 - a. What barriers existed to starting buprenorphine during hospitalization?
 - b. How did you overcome these barriers?
 - c. What barriers exist now?
- 4. What resources would have helped the program the most in the beginning?
 - a. What resources would be helpful now?

- 5. Were your peers supportive of the program? Why or why not? Has this changed over time?
- 6. Was your supervisor supportive of you participating on the team? Why or why not? Has this changed over time?
- 7. Describe how you feel hospital staff has responded overall to the program?
 - a. Prescribers
 - b. Nurses
 - c. Social workers
 - d. Pharmacists
 - e. Other clinical staff
 - f. Staff at community partners?
- 8. Describe how you feel patients have responded overall to the program?
- 9. The program has existed so far only within inpatient medicine. What other areas of the hospital might benefit from such a service?
 - a. What barriers do you perceive in starting such a program in those settings?
- 10. How has being part of the program impacted you personally?
- 11. How has being part of the program impacted your job satisfaction?
- 12. What factors might influence an individual's desire to support the hospital-based treatment of opioid use disorder?
- 13. What have been the "lessons learned" from the program that may be helpful for other institutions interested in starting a similar program?
- 14. For members of the program who prescribe buprenorphine
 - a. Overall, how prepared did you feel after completing the x-waiver training course?

- b. Reflect on when you started seeing patients during hospitalization. What modifications, if any, to the x-waiver curriculum would have helped you be more prepared for seeing patients specifically in the hospital setting? Why?
- c. The x-waiver is only required to prescribe buprenorphine at the time of discharge. However, if on the formulary, federal law allows buprenorphine to be ordered by any prescriber as part of acute hospitalization. If you were going to design a onehour lecture for your colleagues on key points of starting buprenorphine during hospitalization, what topics would you include?

Questions for administrators

- 7. Describe what you know about the Buprenorphine Team
 - a. What is its purpose
 - b. How does it work
 - c. What are its benefits?
 - d. What are its drawbacks?
 - e. What has been your interaction with the program?
- 8. Should buprenorphine therapy be offered to patients in inpatient medical wards as part of acute hospitalization? Why or why not?
- 9. What are the barriers to starting a patient on buprenorphine therapy during hospitalization?
 - a. Probe: Describe how the following may or may not be barriers to starting a hospitalbased buprenorphine program (list individually as needed):
 - i. Patient preference towards buprenorphine.
- Pharmacologic treatment of opioid use disorder does not work as well as 12step or narcotics anonymous.
- iii. Geographic location of hospital.
- iv. Financial concerns related to inpatient cost of medication.
- v. Financial concerns related to ongoing cost of outpatient medication.
- vi. Availability of outpatient providers who can prescribe buprenorphine.
- vii. There are other none-restricted medications that can treat symptoms of withdrawal.
- viii. Not enough prescribers in the hospital with an x-waiver.
- ix. Nursing staff does not have the time to perform the assessments necessary to implement the protocol.
- x. Nursing staff does not have the education needed to perform the assessments necessary to implement the protocol.
- xi. Too few other hospitals in the area performing this work may result in a large influx of patients seeking treatment.
- b. How can these barriers be overcome?
 - i. Probe: Are there educational opportunities that may change these barriers?

Questions for all

- 1. Some have expressed that offering buprenorphine treatment in a hospital will increase the number of patients who present seeking treatment. What are your perceptions about this?
- 2. Should buprenorphine therapy be offered in other parts of the hospital outside of inpatient medicine? Why or why not?

- a. Probe: Should buprenorphine therapy be offered to patients in the emergency department setting? Why or why not?
- b. Probe: Should buprenorphine therapy be offered to patients as part of inpatient obstetrics? Why or why not?
- c. Probe: What other practice areas within the hospital may benefit from the initiation of buprenorphine therapy.
- 3. Define peer recovery coaching.
 - a. Should peer recovery coaches be incorporated into the hospital-based treatment of opioid use disorder? Why or why not?
- 4. Should the management of buprenorphine therapy be the responsibility of a specific medical discipline?
 - a. Specific provider type? (e.g., pharmacist, NP, physician, etc.)
 - b. Specific specialty? (addiction/psych, medicine, etc.)
 - c. How might the service provided by the program change in the presence of a formal addiction medicine consultation service?
- 5. Describe the current role of interprofessional health care in treating opioid use disorder in hospitals?
 - a. How could this be improved?
 - b. In what way might interprofessionalism contribute to effectiveness of the hospitalbased treatment of opioid use disorder?
 - c. In what ways do the following disciplines and roles contribute to hospital-based treatment of opioid use disorder: physician, nurse, physician assistant, social worker, chaplain, pharmacist, psychiatrist, palliative care specialist.

- 6. Are you concerned about diversion of buprenorphine provided at time of discharge? Why or why not?
- 7. Were there any legal or regulatory concerns that you or your colleagues had at any point about the work of the program?
 - a. How were those concerns resolved?
- 8. The long-term vision for the program is that all prescribers in the hospital (attending physicians, residents, physician assistants, and advanced practice nurses) are capable of identifying patients with opioid use disorder, starting buprenorphine on their own, and coordinating outpatient care related to opioid use disorder in concert with other members of the team. If successful, a group like the program might not be necessary. What steps need to be taken for this vision to be fulfilled?
- 9. Do you have any additional comments that may be helpful in understanding how to successfully start a buprenorphine program for hospitalized patients?
 - a. Do you have any additional comments that may be helpful in understanding the role that interprofessional care may play in the delivery of this care?

*Note: This document reflects early knowledge and contains language stigmatizing of patients with opioid use disorder which has seen been changed.

The Buprenorphine Team

Inpatient Buprenorphine Induction

Prepared by Richard Bottner, PA-C

Original: November 10, 2017

Updated: April 5, 2018

Introduction

The opioid use epidemic continues to plague our nation's healthcare system. Over 90 individuals in the United States die every day from opioid overdose which includes prescription medications such as oxycodone and fentanyl, and non-prescription drugs including heroin. Approximately 75% of heroin users report abusing prescription opioids before transitioning to heroin. Over 500,000 Americans died from drug overdoses between 2000 and 2015, and the number of deaths specifically from opioids has increased by 400% since 1999 (CDC, 2017).

County, located in Texas, has a population of over million people with a land area of over square miles including

[Main Health] is the County's regional healthcare authority. This agency administers the [Clinical Access Program (CAP)], which provides access to medical services including primary and emergency care, and prescription drug coverage, for indigent residents including undocumented individuals.

This relationship also

included [Academic Medical Center], a

that serves as the regional safety net hospital, and the main teaching hospital affiliated with the [Medical School]. The partnership also extended to [Behavioral Health Practice], the regional Mental Health and Developmental Disability Authority.

Medication-Assisted Treatment

Medication-Assisted treatment (MAT) offers patients a comprehensive approach to opioid abuse cessation including counseling and social support. Providing MAT for patients with opioid use disorders is one of the four main strategies deployed by the Department of Health and Human Services to combat the opioid epidemic. MAT programs reduce the risk of drug relapse, improves societal functioning such as employment, reduces the transmission of various infections, and decreases criminal activity. Many of these programs rely on prescribing methadone, a highly-regulated medication that can only be dispensed by Addiction Medicine specialists in specifically licensed clinics. These regulations limit access to methadone.

In 2002, the FDA approved buprenorphine for the use of treating opioid dependency disorders. Importantly, the Drug Addiction Act of 2000 (DATA 2000) and subsequent legislation, allows for physicians, physician assistants, and advanced practice nurses to prescribe buprenorphine, regardless of medical specialty or practice setting(United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2016).

In August 2017, the [Opioid Treatment Clinic] was launched. Referrals to this program have been generated from primary care providers, family drug court, mental health clinics, and the local methadone clinic. To date, referrals have not been intentionally or systematically generated from the hospital inpatient setting.

Hospitals as Induction Settings

The hospital setting provides a unique opportunity to deliver education and offer patients treatment with buprenorphine. Hospitalization related to opioid misuse has increase more than 150% from 1993 to 2012. Patients with opioid use disorders cost the healthcare system a minimum of eight times more than non-opioid abusers. Patients with substance use disorders are more likely to be readmitted within 30 days of discharge, and the majority of patients with previous substance abuse before hospitalization will return to that behavior after discharge if treatment has not been initiated. Buprenorphine induction in the hospital setting leads to

increased completion of inpatient medical therapies and ultimate transition to outpatient substance abuse treatment. Given that patients may be hospitalized for several days or weeks at a time, and may be at various stages of dependency during this time, the inpatient setting is an important time to offer treatment to this captive audience.

Unfortunately, there are few programs which offer buprenorphine induction in the inpatient setting. A thorough literature review has revealed only four examples. In one program, 72% of patients attended their first outpatient appointment with 16% remaining at the sixth month. In another program, 50% of patients followed-up for their initial appointment with 40% still enrolled at three months. Another example found 62% attending the initial assessment with 17% still engaged at three months. In the last study, 47% of patients had initiated outpatient treatment within two months of discharge.

Several barriers to MAT induction in the inpatient setting have been reported. Hassamal et al. (2017) divide these obstacles into three domains including patients, practitioners, and organizations. Many patients have misconceptions about MAT. Some may consider initiating this sort of treatment as exchanging one bad habit for another. Clinicians, especially inpatient providers, often lack experience with substance abuse disorders, and have less comfort when dealing with opioid dependency beyond acute withdrawal symptoms. A stigma exists both around patients with opioid dependency as well as its primary treatments such as methadone and buprenorphine. In fact, less than 10% of 102 patients with a diagnosis of infective endocarditis secondary to injection drug use who were evaluated at a large academic tertiary care center in Boston were referred to MAT, despite its availability for this population.

Case for Dell Seton Medical Center

[Academic Medical Center] is in a unique position to offer buprenorphine induction therapy. In [the County], 2.3 deaths per 100,000 residents are attributed to opioids. Approximately \$2.4 million was spent in 2012 in field EMS services related to opioid abuse. From October 2015 through September 2017, over 2,240 admitted patients at [Academic Medical Center] carried a diagnosis of substance use disorder. Over 100 patients were deemed candidates for methadone or buprenorphine treatment. From October 2016 through September 2017, over 270 admitted patients carried a diagnosis of opioid use dependency. This data is based on consultations by the Behavior Health Social Work team. As this group only evaluates certain patients based on strict criteria (including positive urine drug screens and direct consultation requests), it is highly likely that the true number of patients with these diagnoses and who are appropriate for MAT is significantly higher.

The Buprenorphine Team

Buprenorphine is offered through The Buprenorphine Team (TBT.) This interprofessional and multidisciplinary group works to screen appropriate patients for buprenorphine induction, initiate this treatment while patients are hospitalized, facilitate linkage with an outpatient maintenance clinic, and provide institutional education in an effort to reduce stigma and raise awareness.

As primary teaching hospital, TBT partners with the [Medical School] in addition to the County colleagues previously mentioned to develop an educational campaign for hospital-based clinicians, resident physicians, bedside nurses, and social work staff. The goal of training is stigma reduction, buprenorphine awareness, and resources for outpatient MAT linkage. TBT also offers resources for interested clinicians to participate in the x-waiver program to serve as primary buprenorphine prescribers.

Initial Funding

Buprenorphine is not currently covered by [CAP] insurance. Hospital administrators have endorsed utilizing internal safety-net funds earmarked for outpatient prescriptions to pay for the bridge dosing of outpatient buprenorphine until the patient can follow-up with the [Opioid Treatment Clinic]. The 8mg sublingual film has an estimated 340B pricing of \$7.93 per film. Assuming each patient requires the maximum dose (24mg / 24 hours) and each patient's initial follow-up appointment requires the maximum timeframe for scheduling (10 days), the maximum estimated cost per patient is \$237.90. However, it is expected that the majority of patients will follow-up within seven days or less. The follow-up appointment date will be secured prior to discharge, and only the exact amount of buprenorphine needed to cover the interval between discharge and follow-up will be prescribed. Some patients may only require 8mg or 16mg per 24-hour period. Importantly, it is expected that [CAP] will begin including buprenorphine on its formulary in the future and long-term use of hospital funds to support this program is not expected. The specific timeline for formulary inclusion of buprenorphine therapy is unknown.

In addition, TBT has received a \$5,000 grant from the National Institute on Drug Abuse sponsored by the National Institutes of Health and offered in partnership with the American Academy of PAs. Funding will be used for educational printed materials, video production, xwaiver training, and stigma reduction efforts.

TST Objectives

- To raise awareness and provide education about opioid use dependency and treatments among Internal Medicine and Family Medicine attending and resident physicians, in addition to acute care registered nurses.
- To offer x-waiver training for Internal Medicine and Family Medicine attending and resident physicians.
- To evaluate and screen patients for the diagnosis of opioid use dependency.
- To administer buprenorphine induction for qualified, consented patients.

- To facilitate effective transitions of care from the inpatient setting where induction has occurred, to the outpatient setting for maintenance therapy.
- Greater than 30% of patients who have been provided induction in the hospital continue to follow-up with maintenance therapy after six months.

Presentation to Incubator

*Note: This document reflects early knowledge and contains language stigmatizing of patients with opioid use disorder which has seen been changed.











Goals		
10 physicians with x-waiver in 4 months	100 patients screened	Buprenorphine counseling to 75% of eligible patients
Buprenorphine therapy to 50% of eligible patients	50% of induction patients attend first outpatient visit	30% outpatients still in program at 6 months

Treatment Algorithm



COWS Assessment

CLINICAL OPIOID WITHDRAWAL SCORE (COWS)

Date and Time of Assessment: Total Do Bupreno Before ti	se of Induction rphine Administered his COWS Assessment:mg	Score
Resting Pulse Rate: Record beats per n 0 = pulse rate 80 or below 1 = pulse rate 81-100	ninute after patient is sitting or lying down for one minute. 2 = pulse rate 101-120 3 = pulse rate greater than 120	
Sweating: Over past 30 mins not accour 0 = no chills or flushing 1 = subjective chills or flushing	nted for by room temperature or activity. 2 = flushed or observable moistness on face 3 = beads of sweat on brow or face 4 = sweat streaming off face	
Restlessness: Observation during asses 0 = able to sit still 1 = reports difficulty sitting still, but able to do so	ssment 2 = frequent shifting or extraneous movement of legs/arms 3 = unable to sit still	
Pupil Size: 0 = pupils pinned or normal size for light 1 = pupils possibly larger than normal for	2 = pupils moderately dilated light 3 = only rim of iris visible	
Bone or Joint Aches: 0 = not present 1 = mild discomfort	 2 = severe diffuse aching of joints and muscles reported 3 = patient rubbing joints or muscles and unable to sit still due to discomfort 	
Runny Nose or Tearing: Not accounted 0 = not present 1 = mild/diffuse discomfort	l for by cold or allergy. 2 = nose running or tearing 3 = nose constantly running or tears streaming down cheeks	
GI Upset: Over the course of the previou 0 = no GI symptoms 1 = stomach cramps 2 = nausea or loose stool	<i>is 30 minutes.</i> 3 = vomiting / diarrhea 4 = multiple episodes of diarrhea / vomiting	
Tremor: Observation of outstretched har 0 = no tremor 1 = tremor can be felt but not observed	nds. 2 = slight tremor observable 3 = gross tremor or muscle twitching	
Yawning: Observation during assessmen 0 = no yawning 1 = yawning once or twice during assessment	nt. 2 = yawning 3+ times during assessment ent 3 = yawning several times a minute	
Anxiety or Irritability: 0 = none 1 = patient reports increasing irritability or anxiousness	 2 = patient obviously irritable or anxious r 4 = patient so irritable or anxious that participation in the assessment is difficult 	
Gooseflesh Skin: 0 = skin is smooth	3 = piloerection of skin can be felt or hairs standing up on arms 5 = prominent piloerection	
RN Signature: RN Name Printed: Time: All	Total 5-12 - mild 13-24 - moderate 25-36 - moderately severe 25-36 - severe withdrawal	:



236 Nursing Assessment

pdf (Rev 09/18)



Inpatient Buprenorphine Induction Process Map

Appendix 8





Original Promotional Flyer

*Note: This document reflects early knowledge and contains language stigmatizing of patients with opioid use disorder which has seen been changed.



How does the program work?

- A patient admitted to **provide** reports use of opioids and expresses fear or signs of withdrawing from opiates while in the hospital.
- A member of the primary team TigerTexts the "Buprenorphine Team".
- The B-Team screens the patient for criteria needed to start MAT. If eligible orders are placed, and the nurse follows protocol to administer buprenorphine.
- The patient will stay on buprenorphine while in the hospital, and will receive a prescription upon discharge to last through their first outpatient appointment.
- Lastly, the patient will receive maintenance buprenorphine therapy as an outpatient.

Common Misconceptions about MAT

- MAT is replacing one opioid with another
- Although buprenorphine does activate opioid receptors to some extent, it provides a safer and standardized dose. It is also proven to reduce mortality, decrease opioid dependency, and establish a stable foundation to improve a patient's quality of life.
- MAT has high potential for diversion/misuse
- The potential for diversion is significantly lower than that of methadone. Buprenorphine in the outpatient setting is typically mixed with naloxone, and administered buccally or sublingually. This makes it very challenging to achieve euphoria if misuse is attempted.

Guidelines and Talking Points



Establish rapport with patients to discuss drug use and opioid dependency in a comfortable, judgment-free setting.



Ask open-ended questions that invite patients to tell their story and consider potential options alongside professional guidance.

Use positive, patient-centered language to foster mutual trust and reduce stigma around opioid use disorder and MAT.

To place a B-Team consult, TigerText the "Buprenorphine Team". For specific questions related to the B-Team Program, please contact Rich Bottnervia TigerText





Internal Website

*Note: This document reflects early knowledge and contains language stigmatizing of patients with opioid use disorder which has seen been changed.

Buprenorpl	hine Team	
Home About Us In	nduction X-Waiver Training Resources Naloxone	
	B·team	

The Buprenorphine Team offers patients with Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) the opportunity to be started on buprenorphine Medication Assisted Treatment (MAT) while in the hospital. MAT is proven to decrease a patient's dependency on opioids while increasing self-efficacy and overall quality of life during and after treatment. Primary teams are encouraged to TigerText the Buprenorphine Team about any patient who may be a candidate for MAT.

Click HERE to download our informational flyer

Have questions about buprenorphine or suboxone? TigerText the Buprenorphine Team!

* Currently a

program only. Interested in starting a B-Team at your site? Contact us! *



The United States continues to face a public health crisis of epic proportion. Over 500,000 individuals have died from opioid overdoses since 2000. Medication-Assisted treatment (MAT), such as with buprenorphine, offers patients a comprehensive and effective approach to cessation. The B-Team is one of the nation's first programs to train and partner with primary teams in the inpatient setting to offer buprenorphine inductions on medical or surgical wards.

B-Team Mission Statement

To be an interprofessional group that screens appropriate patients for buprenorphine induction, assists with initiating treatment in hospitalized patients, facilitates linkage with an outpatient maintenance clinic, and provides institutional education in an effort to reduce stigma and raise awareness about opioid use disorders.

Why offer buprenorphine in the inpatient setting?

- More likely to complete inpatient therapies
- > Improve societal functional including stable housing, meaningful employment, and fulfillment of family obligations
- Increase abstinence from opioids after discharge
- Reduce injection and illicit drug use in the community and in the hospital
- > Decrease bacterial bloodborne infections, including their sequelae such as endocarditis.
- Reduce 30-day readmission rates for patients with Opioid Use Disorder
- > Decrease overall cost to the patient and healthcare system
- Reduce HIV and viral hepatitis transmission rates



Buprenorphine Team
Resources

Home About Us Induction X-Waiver Training

rces Naloxone

Online Media

Read our original Society of Hospital Medicine and follow-up blog posts! Overdose Deaths Set a Record Last Year. New York Times, November 2018 Addiction Treatment Gap Is Driving A Black Market For Suboxone, NPR, October 2018 A Medication-Assisted Therapy to Treat Opioid Abuse, Austin Chronicle, August 2018 This E.R. Treats Opioid Addiction on Demand. That's Very Rare., New York Times, August 2018 Moving Addiction Care to the Mainstream — Improving the Quality of Buprenorphine Treatment, NEJM, July 2018 Primary Care and the Opioid-Overdose Crisis — Buprenorphine Myths and Realities, NEJM, July 2018 How America's Doctors Can Help Beat The Opioid Epidemic, Vox, June 2018 When an Iowa Family Doctor Takes On the Opioid Epidemic, New York Times, June 2018 Opioid Addiction Drugs Severely Underutilized, CNN, June 2018 There's A Highly Successful Treatment for Opioid Addiction. But Stigma Is Holding It Back, Vox, November 2017 How The U.S. Has Been Working To Disrupt The Opium Trade In Afghanistan, NPR, November 2017 Hospitalist Involvement Needed To Treat Opioid Epidemic, ACP Hospitalist, October 2017 The Family That Built an Empire of Pain, The New Yorker, October 2017 How Do Former Opioid Addicts Safely Get Pain Relief After Surgery? NPR, April 2017

References

American Society of Addiction Medicine MAT National Practice Guidelines Suboxone Medication Package Insert Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration MAT – Tip 63



Naloxone Risk Assessment

Suggested Order Sentences Operation-Naloxone

Let's Talk About Naloxone

Nurse Education Flyer

*Note: This document reflects early knowledge and contains language stigmatizing of patients with opioid use disorder which has seen been changed.

Buprenorph	ine/Naloxone (Suboxone)	Ritea
Nursing Qu	ick Reference Sneet	0
The Buprenorphine Tean started on buprenorphin to decrease a patient's d and after treatment. Prin who may be a candidate patient is discharged.	n (B-Team) offers patients with opioid use disorder (OUD) th e/haloxone medication-assisted treatment (MAT) while hos ependency on opioids while increasing self-efficecy and ow any teams are encouraged to TigerText the Buperonrphine for MAT. The B-Team partners with outpatient clinics for co	e opportunity to be pitalized. MAT is prover erall quality of life durir Team about any patier ntinuity of care after th
Indication	Medication Assisted Treatment for Opioid Use Disor withdrawal, pain.	der, opioid
Mechaniam	Buprenorphine - partial opioid agonist; naloxone - antagonist (Prevents IV abuse. Not absorbed sign	opioid ificantly orally.
Adverse Effects	Mild risk for over-sedation, potential to induce w injury (rare)	ithdrawal, hepatic
Monitoring	Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale (COWS) or 'opio (performed prior to start of induction), urine drug (frequency/need determined by medical provider	id cravings; LFTs screens)
Documentation	Must document COWS score (similar to CIWA) or 'or MAR comment each time a dose is administered. C0 when indicated, must be documented on the paper COWS assessment versus 'opioid craving' will be de medical provider based on whether patient is still in (based on timing of last opioid use.) The nurse will b which assessment tool to use.	piold cravings' in DWS assessment, COWS form. etermined by acute withdrawal se notified of
Administration	Buprenorphine/naloxone is administered sublingual under the tongue, close to the base on the left or rig If an additional film is necessary (based on COWS or place an additional film sublingually on the opposite film. Place the film in a manner to minimize overlaps possible. The film must be kept under the tongue until the film dissolved. Moistening the mouth with water prior to may help absorption. Patients should not eat or drin after administration (-10 minutes).	ly. Place one film ght side. r opioid cravings'), e side from the first oing as much as n is completely administration k immediately
Additional Tips	If the patient has acute need for pain medication buprenorphine/naloxone, they will require higher d there will be competition at the opioid receptor. I should NOT receive any opioids while on buprer unless absolutely necessary. Alternative analg acetaminophen, gabapentin, etc.) should be used w Buprenorphine/nsloxone will not compete with receptors. Although, the combination may cause in if there is any concern for illicit drug use while takin naloxone, please contact the primary medical team	n and is receiving oses of opioids as deally, the patient norphine/haloxone esics (ibuprofen, henever possible. a benzodiazepine creased sedation. ng buprenorphine/ or the B-team.
	Buprenorphine Team started on buprenorphine to decrease a patient's of end after treatment. Prin who may be a candidate patient is discharged. Indication Mechanism Adverse Effects Monitoring Documentation Administration	Buprenorphine/Naloxone (Suboxone) Nursing Quick Reference Sheet The Bupmorphine Team (B-Team) offers patients with opioid use disorder (OUD) th started on buprenorphine/haloxone medication-assisted treatment (MAT) while hogs to decrease a patient's dependency on opioids while increasing set-efficacy and ov and after treatment. Primary teams are encouraged to Tiger Teat the Buprenorphine who may be a canddate for MAT. The B-Team partners with outpatient clinics for co- patient is discharged. Indication Medication Assisted Treatment for Opioid Use Disor withdrawal, pain. Mechanism Buprenorphine - partial opioid agonist; naloxone - antagonist (Prevents N abuse. Not absorbed sign Adverse Effects Mild risk for over-sedation, potential to induce w injury (rare) Monitoring Monitoring Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale (COWS) or 'opioid (performed prior to start of induction), urine drug (frequency/need determined by medical provider Documentation Must document COWS score (similar to CIWA) or 'o WAR comment each time a does is administered. OW Sasesement twersus 'opioid craving' will be do medical provider based on whether patient is still in (based on timing of last opioid use.) The nurse will be which assessment tool to use. Administration Buprenorphine/haloxone is administered sublingual under the tongue, close to the base on the left or rig of ass and additional film is necessary (based on COWS on passible. Administration Buprenorphine/haloxone, they will require higher do medical provider based on whether patient is still in dissolved. Moistening the mouth with water prior to may help absorptio

The B-Team is an interdisciplinary group that includes physicians, advanced practice providers, nurses, social workers, case managers, and pharmacists. To refer a patient, TigerText the "Buprenorphine Team". For questions about the B-Team Program, please contact Rich Bottner via TigerText or

Pharmacist Education Flyer

*Note: This document reflects early knowledge and contains language stigmatizing of patients with opioid use disorder which has seen been changed.

	Ruproporphin	o/Nalayana (Subayana)	After screening, TigerText the Buprenorphine team.
	Pharmacist Q	uick Reference Sheet	Biteam
	B-Team Program	The Buprenorphine Team (B-Team) offers patients use disorder (OUD) the opportunity to be started of buprenorphine/naloxone medication assisted trea while hospitalized. MAT is proven to decrease a pa dependency on opioids while increasing self-effici- overail quality of life during and after treatment. P are encouraged to TigerText the Buprenorphine Te any patient who may be a candidate for MAT. The I partner with Dove Springs Clinic for continuity of patient is discharged.	with opioid on trient (MAT) tient's acy and rimary teams am about 8-Team will care after the
	Indication	Medication Assisted Treatment for Opioid Use Diso withdrawal, pain	rder, opioid
	Mechanism	Buprenorphine – high affinity, partial opioid agon opioid antagonist (prevents IV abuse, not signific absorbed orally)	ist: Naloxone - antly
1-	Dose	See algorithm. Based on presence of withdrawal sy and timing of last use of opioids, patients will be pli protocol driven by either COWS (Clinical Opiate Wi Scale) or cravings.	mptoms aced on thdrawal
	Dose adjustments	Renal: None. Hepatic: moderate impairment – use caution; sever impairment – avoid use	e
	Adverse effects	Mild risk for over-sedation, potential to induce with hepatic injury (rare)	drawal,
	Drug interactions	CYP 3A4 substrate – caution with inducers and inhi additive effects with co-administration of other CNS depressing agents	bitors; 5/respiratory
	Ordering prescribers	Ideally, B-Team providers will order inpatient, but ar can order under current regulations. Outpatient pre must be prescribed by prescribers who have receiv waiver certification from the DEA.	ny provider iscriptions ed an x-
	Administration	Buprenorphine/naloxone is administered sublingua one film under the tongue, close to the base of ton- left or right side. If an additional film is necessary (based on COWS of cravings), place an additional film sublingually on t side from the first film. Place the film in a manner to overlapping as much as possible. The film must be kept under the tongue until comp dissolved. Moistening the mouth with water prior to administration may help absorption. Patients should drink immediately after administration (-10 minutes	lly. Place gue on the propiolid he opposite minimize letely d not eat or).
	Monitoring	COWS or 'opioid cravings,' LFTs (performed prior to a induction), urine drug screens (frequency/need dete	start of rmined by MD)
	Documentation	RN to document COWS in MAR comment and on pa form	aper COWS
-	Floor PharmD action	1) Ensure SCOP has adequate supply for outpatient until follow-up appointment; 2) counseling	prescription

The B-Team is an interdisciplinary group that includes physicians, advanced practice providers, nurses, social workers, case managers, and pharmacists. To refer a patient, TigerText the "Buprenorphine Team". For questions about the B-Team Program, please contact Rich Bottner via TigerText or

Situation Background Assessment Recommendation Document for Pharmacy Department

The Buprenorphine Team (B Team) is excited for the program launch tomorrow! Please see the SBAR below for additional information. I've also attached a Pharmacist Quick Reference, RN Quick Reference, COWS form, Induction Flow Chart, and a recent NEJM publication regarding buprenorphine utility in opioid use disorder.

Situation: Up to 29% of hospitalized patients meet criteria for substance abuse disorder and only ~65% of these patients are identified by the care team. Although other chronic illnesses unrelated to the admitting diagnosis are often treated in the inpatient setting, opioid use disorder (OUD) is frequently not addressed and patient undergo medically supervised withdrawal (detox) while hospitalized. Medically supervised withdrawal has low retention rates for long term abstinence. Background: Medication-assisted treatment (MAT) with therapies such as methadone and buprenorphine are proven to reduce mortality due to OUD. Methadone and buprenorphine prescribing is limited to providers who have completed additional training and have been granted an X-waiver. Until recently, there were no active X-waiver providers practicing at [Academic Medical Center].

Within the last year, an interdisciplinary group called the Buprenorphine Team (B Team) has developed protocols, created educational information, and conducted several outreach programs to initiate eligible patients on buprenorphine-naloxone in the inpatient setting with bridging to an outpatient opioid treatment program.

Assessment: As the opioid epidemic continues to grow, we are encountering more patients with OUD in the inpatient setting. At [Academic Medical Center], an interdisciplinary group called

the B Team will now be a resource to assist primary teams with buprenorphine-naloxone inductions.

Plan: Starting September 11th, the B Team will be accepting consults from primary teams

regarding patients who have OUD and are interested in initiating therapy with buprenorphine-

naloxone. The B-Team has partnered with [Opioid Treatment Clinic] to link patients to

comprehensive OUD treatment once discharged.

Additional clinical pearls:

- One of the biggest risks with buprenorphine-naloxone is the potential for precipitated withdrawal. This is due to buprenorphine's high binding affinity at the mu opioid receptor which will "knock off" any other opioid at the receptor site. If a patient is not already in withdrawal, buprenorphine can induce withdrawal.
- If precipitated withdrawal does occur, additional doses of buprenorphine are typically required.
- Ideally, other opioids should not be used in combination with buprenorphine. As mentioned above, buprenorphine will dominate the receptor site due to its high affinity. If patients do experience acute pain, the daily dose of buprenorphine can be divided into TID dosing. Alternatively, opioids can be used in addition to buprenorphine, however, higher doses will likely be required.
- At [Academic Medical Center], our B-Team X-waiver prescribers include and the B-Team Program.

Medical Executive Committee Slides

*Note: This document reflects early knowledge and contains language stigmatizing of patients with opioid use disorder which has seen been changed.



Buprenorphine

- Partial agonist, high affinity, slow disassociation
- Ceiling effect
- Less likely to cause adverse effects, including respiratory depression

Buprenorphine

- Drug Addiction Act of 2000 (DATA 2000) and subsequent legislation, allows for physicians, physician assistants, and advanced practice nurses to prescribe buprenorphine, regardless of medical specialty or practice setting.
- To prescribe, must complete "x-waiver" training.
 - 8 hours for physicians
 - 24 hours for PAs and APNs
- Currently low adoption 162 physicians, 67 NP, 16 PA







- From October 2015 through September 2017, over 2,240 admitted patients at a carried a diagnosis of substance use disorder.
 - Over 100 patients were deemed candidates for methadone or buprenorphine treatment.
- From October 2016 through September 2017, over 270 admitted patients carried a diagnosis of opioid use dependency.
- Data only reflects behavioral health social workers.



Cutting Edge

 "For people with an opioid use disorder, medications present the most effective strategy... Given randomized clinical trial outcomes and observational analyses examining mortality, medication treatments, particularly, those using opioid agonists (eg, buprenorphine and methadone), should be a bedrock on which treatment is built... However, clinical strategies allowing physicians or nurse practitioners to work in teams to engage patients with the use of medications are not being implemented with the necessary urgency. A continuing national failure to ensure the accessibility of such treatment disgraces us in a time of tragedy."

amet JH, Kertesz SG. Suggested Paths to Fixing the Opioid Crisis. JAMA Network Open. 2018;1(2):e180218. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.0218



All Hands Address

Note: Patient name below is an alias.

Good afternoon. My name is [omitted] and I am a [omitted] with the department of internal medicine. I am also a [omitted]. I've been a PA for five years but it wasn't until about 12 months ago, that I began realize substance use disorders, more specifically in this case opioid use disorders are a chronic relapsing medical condition.

Since 2000, we've lost over 50,000 patients to opioid overdoses. In the time it takes for me to speak with you today, we will lose another. Despite vast evidence that Medication-Assisted Treatment with agents like methadone and buprenorphine works, we are not using them. For the last year, I have had the privilege of leading an interprofessional team of passionate physicians, residents, nurses, social workers, and pharmacists to offer these life-saving medications to patients suffering from opioid use disorder in the hospital setting.

This is the story of our very first patient. Alvin is a 42-year-old man from [omitted] who was never really given a chance. His parents both had severe alcohol use disorder. At age 12, his parents encouraged him to skip school to sell marijuana in order to fund their drinking. As his parents began using various illicit drugs, Alvin turned to crack cocaine. A year later, he was arrested with enough drugs in his possession to justify a criminal charge for dealing.

Alvin spent the next 20 years in and out of prison. He had never been in a physical altercation, but now he needed to learn how to fight for survival. He had never been an artist, but now he taught himself to draw to pass time in solitary confinement.

I met Alvin when he was admitted to complete six weeks of IV antibiotics for his third bout of endocarditis. The previous two episodes were incompletely treated because he left hospital AMA – against medical advice, by his own wishes because, by his own admission, he sought to use street drugs because we were not adequately addressing his opioid use disorder.

One of the worst outcomes of a hospitalization is an AMA discharge. Imagine a patient with a life-threatening condition who is incompletely treated, not to mention the healthcare resources spent, some might argue wastefully. Alvin may have been two weeks into treating this infection for the third time, but his underlying disease was not.

At one point, just a few days into hospitalization, he snuck out of the hospital and used heroin from the street. There was discussion among staff about discharging him again against medical advice. That is likely what would have happened even a week earlier in our hospital and what happens every day at almost every hospital in America. Instead, the nurse called our team. When I arrived at the room, Alvin was pacing back and forth. Extremely nervous. Screaming at nurses. Cursing. Tearful. Agitated. He kept repeating, "I need a fix. I'm just going to leave. I can't stay here any longer."

I pulled up a chair and spoke with Alvin. Not like a patient but as a human. He would tell me later that was the first time in over 20 years that anyone in the medical system had done that. So together with the rest of our team, we initiated buprenorphine or Suboxone therapy.

Alvin made an incredibly positive turnaround in just a few short days. He was upbeat. Thinking about his future. For those who have been to [Academic Medical Center] you know in the patient rooms we those long couches by the window. Everytime you walked by the room he'd be looking out the window and jamming out loud to Led Zepplin. He began opening up. Speaking about his troubled past. Wanting to do better for himself and his fiancé.

Alvin completed his entire inpatient medical treatment. Prior to discharge, he drew our hospital staff a picture of life before and after buprenorphine therapy.

On the bottom left, Alvin sits on a street corner in despair. Moving counter-clockwise, he drew the different masks of addiction because as he would say "every time you use you feel like a different person, and none of them are good." A similar sentiment shared with dice, and a stopwatch representing all the time that has ticked away because of oxycodone and heroin. But at the top left, beaming with radiance through the darkness of addiction, a possible solution.

For Alvin, that's buprenorphine. Based on his comorbidities, I am confident that if he had left without completing medical therapy, he would have died.

There are 2.5 million people in the United States with Opioid Use Disorder. Many will be admitted to the hospital at some point during their disease. Just as hospital-based clinicians actively treat chronic illness such as diabetes and heart disease, so to must we actively take steps to offer evidence-based therapies for this population; one that has been stigmatized and underserved for far too long.

If I sound passionate about this it's because I am. A year ago I admit I was part of the problem but now The Buprenorphine Team as were called at the hospital is part of the solution. And the medication that we use, suboxone, can be offered by any prescriber in any practice setting so I invite you to be part of the solution too.

Despite a plethora of reasons to offer MAT on medical and surgical wards, there are a scant number of programs in the nation's 5,500 hospitals. And the only formal program that we know of in the entire state of Texas is at [omitted], leveraging the resources and expertise that we have at [omitted]. We hope to serve as a best practices model for how hospitals in Texas and throughout the country can rethink the treatment of opioid use disorders. Thank you for your time.


Appendix 16

Presentation to Process Improvement Council

*Note: This document reflects early knowledge and contains language stigmatizing of patients with opioid use disorder which has seen been changed.

Outline

- 1. What is buprenorphine and MAT?
- 2. Why start buprenorphine in the hospital?
- 3. How does the B-Team work?
- 4. Activity, Call to Action





Mollie Durkin Mollie Mollie Durkin Mollie Molli	Hospitalist involvement needed to treat opioid epidemic Despite rising admissions related to opioid use disorder, few nospitalists are obtaining the expertise to prescribe nedications for addiction. Experts say they should.	Addiction consultation services – Linking nospitalized patients to outpatient addiction treatment Paul Trowbridge ^{Aba} , Zoe M, Weinstein ^a , Todd Kerensky ^a , Payel Roy ^a , Danny Regan ^a , Jeffrey H. Samet ^{Ac} , Alexander Y. Walley ^a ^a Department of Medicis. Edition of Control Internal Medicise, Christi Addictise Research and Education Unit, Botton University School of Medicise & A Memora. Binsto UM ^a Spentrum Institu Control In Internal Medicise, 25 Styleine Bott 52, Control Baptis, NI USA ^a Department of Control Internation, Boston University School of Public Netable, Bott Massachusera, Januar, MA, USA
In increasing numbers, people with opioid use disorder are being admitted to the hospital with overdoses, infections, or respiratory lepression. Joi Suzuki, MD, ¹² Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ⁵³ Sea Should ND, ¹⁴ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ⁵⁴ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹² Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ⁵⁴ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹² Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ⁵⁴ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ⁵⁴ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ⁵⁴ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵⁴ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ⁵⁵ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ⁵⁵ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ⁵⁵ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ⁵⁵ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ⁵⁵ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ⁵⁵ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵⁵ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵⁵ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵⁵ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵⁵ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ³⁴ Inder Kaira, MD, ⁵⁵ Sejal Shah, MD, ¹⁵ S	ly Mollie Durkin	Initiating Buprenorphine Treatment for Hospitalized Patients With Opioid Dependence: A Case Series
The data basically show that we're seeing it more and more in our imergency rooms and on the inpatient floors," said hospitalist Pooja agisetty, MD, MSc, a research investigator at the Ann Arbor Veterans Affairs Center for Clinical Management and Research. "As physicians reating this patient population, I think we're often left wondering what ve're supposed to do in this situation, outside of just stabilizing the patient ind treating their acute needs."	n increasing numbers, people with opioid use disorder are being admitted to the hospital with overdoses, infections, or respiratory lepression.	Joji Suzuki, MD, ^{1,2} Jeffrey DeVido, MD, ^{3,4} Inder Kalra, MD, ⁵ Leena Mittal, MD, ¹ Sejal Shah, MD, ^{1,2} Jennifer Zinser, Bsc, ¹ Roger D. Weiss, MD ^{2,6} ¹ Department of Psychiatry, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts ⁹ Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts ⁹ Department of Psychiatry, University of California, San Francisco, California ¹ School of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, California ⁹ Department of Psychiatry, University of California, San Francisco, California ⁹ Department of Psychiatry, Laber Einszein Headhcare Network, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania ⁸ Division of Alcohol and Drug Abuse, McLean Hospital, Beimont, Massachusetts
	The data basically show that we're seeing it more and more in our emergency rooms and on the inpatient floors," said hospitalist Pooja Lagisetty, MD, MSc, a research investigator at the Ann Arbor Veterans Affairs Center for Clinical Management and Research. "As physicians reating this patient population, I think we're often left wondering what ve're supposed to do in this situation, outside of just stabilizing the patient and treating their acute needs."	CACI Intervise Vieworks June 19, 2016 Mortality in year after overdose lower with methadone of buprenorphine treatment Compared with no medications for opioid use disorder, methadone and buprenorphine were each associated with decreased all-cause and opioid-related mortality. I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I







Activity: Barriers to Care

- 25-year-old white woman with PMH of opioid use disorder involving intravenous heroin for 6 years, chronic hep C, and multiple hospital admissions for complications of endocarditis and sepsis, admitted for altered mental status and sepsis.
- TTE + tricuspid valve vegetations as well as severe tricuspid and aortic valve regurgitation. MRI brain + multiple acute infarctions of the frontal, parietal, and occipital lobes secondary to septic emboli.

Case continued...

- The cardiology service recommended surgical repair of the cardiac valves due to the patient's high risk of recurrent infections. However, the cardiothoracic surgeons were reluctant to perform this surgery due to the patient's active opioid use and nonadherence to medical treatments.
- The patient's earlier hospital courses had been marked by suspected smuggling of contraband into the hospital, misuse of narcotics through her peripherally inserted central catheter (PICC) line, and frequent discharges from the hospital against medical advice.

The primary team decides to start the patient on buprenorphine.

What are the barriers that we face at in starting this medication?

Organizational Barriers	Practitioner Barriers	Patient Barriers
 Financial Lack of insurance and drug coverage for buprenorphine²¹ Lack of payment for clinical and administrative resources^{17,20} Administrative Lack of support staff, lack of institutional support, and frequent laboratory testing^{17,24,27} Inadequate referral networks, and need to keep buprenorphine notes separately from other medical records^{33,37} Government Limitation on the number of patients to whom a provider can prescribe buprenorphine³⁴ 	 Information Lack of knowledge and training about buprenorphine^{12,17} Lack of access to an expert consultant^{17,29} Beliefs Stigma that opioid patients are manipulative, demanding, and disruptive²⁸ Concerns that patients will misuse their buprenorphine²⁴ A belief that patients receiving buprenorphine require more office time for visits²⁴ Concern about attracting opioid-dependent patients to their practice²⁴ Concern about drug enforcement agency audits²⁴ 	Information (1) Lack of education, knowledge, and interest about buprenorphine maintenance treatment ^{12,17,18} Beliefs (1) Stigma and negative attitudes associated with opioid maintenance treatment ^{18,28} (2) Lack of confidence in the effectiveness of buprenorphine maintenance treatment due to past negative experience ¹⁹ (3) High treatment cost of buprenorphine ^{17,20,21} Patient characteristics (1) Cocaine use and younger age ²² (2) History of complicated inductions such as precipitated withdrawal ²³ (3) Low motivation for change ¹⁷ (4) Nonadherence with buprenorphin ¹⁷

The Impact

"I wanted to share with you all that during the assessment, he became quite emotional, started crying to the point where he could not talk (not just tearful), and expressed a lot of gratitude for everything you all have provided there, for him. He acknowledged that he was so relieved to not have been kicked out after having been caught using in the hospital, but more importantly, it really seemed to be about his feelings, and almost disbelief, that 'they actually really care about me.' It was kind of heartbreaking, but very awesome that you all have made such an impact." -Sarah, LPC from



Appendix 17

Improved and Destigmatized Program Collateral

B-TEAM



Inpatient Buprenorphine Initiation for Opioid Use Disorder

PROGRAM OVERVIEW

The Buprenorphine Team (B-Team) offers patients with Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) the opportunity to start buprenorphine treatment while in the hospital. Buprenorphine has been FDA approved to treat OUD since 2000 and is proven to decrease a patient's physical dependency on opioids while increasing self-efficacy and overall quality of life during and after treatment. Primary teams are encouraged to notify the Buprenorphine Team about any patient who may have a diagnosis of OUD.

WHY USE THE B-TEAM?

Opioid Use Disorder is a chronic, lifelong medical condition that can be effectively treated with buprenorphine. Buprenorphine is safe and cost-effective. Importantly, starting buprenorphine for interested patients during hospitalization facilitates increased completion of inpatient medical therapies and the ultimate transition to outpatient substance use disorder treatment. This program may provide definitive therapy for some of our most vulnerable patients and helps them to achieve meaningful societal contributions, such as employment, long-term housing, reducing infections associated with OUD, and decreasing subsequent drug use.

Our team can also help patients who are not interested in buprenorphine therapy, including counseling, resource navigation, and naloxone.

HOW DO I KNOW WHEN TO REFER MY PATIENT TO THE B-TEAM?

Any member of the care team can refer patients to the B-Team — the primary team as a whole is the point of contact with the B-team.

Look for the following signs:

- Patient is physiologically dependent on opioids (heroin or illicit pill use), or expresses interest in cessation of illicit opioids.
- Using opioids other than as prescribed and feeling sick when opioids are abruptly stopped are both signs of possible opioid use disorder.

The B-Team is an interdisciplinary group that includes prescribers, nurses, social workers, case managers, pharmacists, chaplains, and a peer support specialist. To refer a patient, TigerText the "Buprenorphine Team".

HOW DOES THE PROGRAM WORK?

A patient admitted to the hospital reports use of opioids and expresses fear or signs of withdrawing from opioids while in the hospital.

- 1. Request a Consultation: Any member of the primary team TigerTexts the "Buprenorphine Team"
- Patient Assessment: The B-Team screens the patient for opioid use disorder and counsels on buprenorphine treatment. If the patient is interested, orders are placed for buprenorphine, and the nurse follows protocol to initiate the medication.
- Treatment Plan: The patient will continue to receive buprenorphine while in the hospital, and will
 receive a prescription upon discharge to last through their first outpatient appointment. The
 patient will also be provided with care coordination and peer recovery support.
- Discharge and Outpatient Care: The patient will receive ongoing buprenorphine therapy and will continue to have access to peer recovery support services as an outpatient.

COMMON MISCONCEPTIONS ABOUT MAT

· MAT is replacing one opioid with another

Although buprenorphine does activate opioid receptors to some extent, it provides a safer and standardized dose. It is also proven to reduce mortality in half while decreasing drug use, decrease hepatitis C and HIV transmission, and establish a stable foundation to improve a patient's quality of life.

MAT has high potential for diversion/misuse

The potential for diversion is significantly lower than that of treatments for opioid use disorder. Buprenorphine in the outpatient setting is typically combined with naloxone, and administered buccally or sublingually. This makes it very challenging to achieve euphoria if misuse is attempted.

GUIDELINES AND TALKING POINTS

- Establish rapport with patients to discuss drug use in a comfortable, judgment-free setting.
- Ask open-ended questions that invite patients to tell their story and consider potential options
 alongside professional guidance.
- Use positive, patient-centered language to foster mutual trust and reduce stigma around opioid use disorder and MAT

CHANGING THE LANGUAGE OF ADDICTION

Say This

- person with a substance use disorder
- person with an opioid use disorder
- person in recovery
- negatice/positive result(s)
- addiction, substance use disorder
- drug or medication misuse

To place a B-Team consult, TigerText the "Buprenorphine Team".

Not That

- addict, abuser, user, junkie, druggie
- oxy-addict, meth-head
- ex-addict
- clean/dirty (drug test)
- addictions, addictive disorders
- drug abuse

Buprenorphine-Naloxone (Suboxone) Pharmacy Quick Reference Sheet

B-TEAM

The Buprenorphine Team (B-Team) offers patients with Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) the opportunity to be started on buprenorphine while in the hospital. Buprenorphine has been FDA approved to treat OUD since 2000 and is proven to decrease a patient's physical dependency on opioids while increasing self-efficacy and overall quality of life during and after treatment. Primary teams are encouraged to notify the B-Team about any patient who may have a diagnosis of OUD. The B-Team partners with outpatient clinics for continuity of care after the patient is discharged.

Indication	 Moderate to severe OUD and opioid withdrawal (can also be used off-label for pain). 				
Mechanism	Buprenorphine - partial opioid agonist, binds to opioid receptors and reduces cravings.				
	 Naloxone - opioid antagonist, displaces opioids at receptor sites and prevents IV abuse. 				
Adverse Effects	Mild risk for over sedation. Potential to induce withdrawal. Hepatic injury (rare).				
Documentation	 When required, the COWS score (similar to CIWA) or opioid cravings should be documented in the MAR comment and on a paper form each time a dose is administered. 				
	 NOT all patients will have a COWS or opioid cravings documentation required. This determination is made by the B-Team provider and will be discussed with the primary nurse to determine if this assessment is needed or if the patient can be started on scheduled dosing. 				
Administration	 Buprenorphine-naloxone is administered sublingually and is poorly absorbed by the oral route. 				
	 Place one film or tablet under the tongue, close to the base on the left or right side. 				
	 If an additional dose is needed (based on COWS score), place film or tablet on the opposite side from the first dose 				
	 Place the film or tablet in a manner to minimize overlapping as much as possible. 				
	 Film and tablets should not be chewed, cut, or swallowed. 				
	 Films and tablets must be kept under the tongue until completely dissolved. 				
	 Moistening the mouth with water prior to administration can help with absorption. 				
	 Patients should not eat or drink immediately after administration (~10 minutes). 				
Monitoring	 COWS is assessed with each dose of buprenorphine-naloxone and reassessed based on level of withdrawal by previous COWS score. 				
	 Monitor sedation using validated scales per hospital policy. 				
	LFTs (performed prior to start of induction), urine drug screens (frequency/need determined by MD)).				
Additional Tips	 If the patient has an acute need for pain medication and is receiving buprenorphine-naloxone, alternative analgesics (ibuprofen, acetaminophen, gabapentin, etc) should be used whenever possible 				
	 Ideally, the patient should not receive any opioids while on buprenorphine-naloxone unless absolutely necessary. 				
	Buprenorphine-naloxone will not compete with benzodiazepine receptors. Although, the combination may cause increased sedation				
	 If there is any concern of illicit drug use while taking buprenorphine-naloxone, please contact the primary medical team or the B-Team. 				

The B-Team is an interdisciplinary group that includes physicians, advanced practice providers, nurses, social workers, case managers, and pharmacists. For questions about the B-Team or for guidance on starting buprenorphine-naloxone **TigerText The Buprenorphine Team**.

Buprenorphine/Naloxone (Suboxone) Nursing Quick Reference Sheet

B-TEAM

The Buprenorphine Team (B-Team) offers patients with Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) the opportunity to be started on buprenorphine while in the hospital. Buprenorphine has been FDA approved to treat OUD since 2000 and is proven to decrease a patient's physical dependency on opioids while increasing self-efficacy and overall quality of life during and after treatment. Primary teams are encouraged to notify the B-Team about any patient who may have a diagnosis of OUD. The B-Team partners with outpatient clinics for continuity of care after the patient is discharged.

Indication	Moderate to severe OUD and opioid withdrawal (can also be used off-label for pain).			
Mechanism	 Buprenorphine – high affinity, partial opioid agonist, binds to opioid receptors and reduces cravings. Naloxone – opioid antagonist, displaces opioids at receptor sites and prevents IV abuse. 			
Dose	 Per algorithm. Starting dose is based on presence of withdrawal symptoms and timing of last use of opioids. Subsequent dosing is based on assessment of withdrawal symptoms using Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale (COWS). Dosing for tablet versus film are not interchangeable. 			
Dose Adjustments	Renal: None. Hepatic (moderate impairment): Use caution. Hepatic (severe impairment): Avoid use.			
Adverse Effects	 Mild risk for oversedation. Potential to induce withdrawal. Hepatic injury (rare). 			
Drug Interactions	 CYP 3A4 substrate – caution with inducers and inhibitors; additive effects with co-administration of other CNS/respiratory depressing agents. Recent use of opioid agonists, including heroin, increases the risk of withdrawal upon initiation of buprenorphine. 			
Ordering Prescribers	 Inpatient: the B-Team provider will typically order, though any provider can order under current regulations. Outpatient: prescriptions must be prescribed by prescribers who have received an X-waiver certification from the DEA. 			
Administration	 Buprenorphine-naloxone is administered sublingually and is poorly absorbed by the oral route. Place one film or tablet under the tongue, close to the base on the left or right side. If an additional dose is needed (based on COWS score), place film or tablet on the opposite side from the first dose. Place the film or tablet in a manner to minimize overlapping as much as possible. Film and tablets should not be chewed, cut, or swallowed. Films and tablets must be kept under the tongue until completely dissolved. Moistening the mouth with water prior to administration can help with absorption. Patients should not eat or drink immediately after administration (~10 minutes). 			
Monitoring	 COWS is assessed with each dose of buprenorphine-naloxone and reassessed based on level of withdrawal by previous COWS score. Monitor sedation using validated scales per hospital policy. LFTs (performed prior to start of induction), urine drug screens (frequency/need determined by MD). 			
Floor PharmD Action	 Patient counseling. Just-In-Time education as needed for members of the primary care team. Ensure patient has adequate medication supply between discharge and follow-up outpatient appointment. 			
Additional Tips	 If the patient has an acute need for pain medication and is receiving buprenorphine-naloxone, alternative analgesics (ibuprofen, acetaminophen, gabapentin, etc) should be used whenever possible. Ideally, the patient should not receive any opioids while on buprenorphine-naloxone unless absolutely necessary. Buprenorphine-naloxone will not compete with benzodiazepine receptors. Although, the combination may cause increased sedation. If there is any concern for illicit drug use while taking buprenorphine-naloxone, please contact the primary medical team or the B-Team. 			

The B-Team is an interdisciplinary group that includes physicians, advanced practice providers, nurses, social workers, case managers, and pharmacists. For questions about the B-Team or for guidance on starting buprenorphine-naloxone **TigerText The Buprenorphine Team**.

Place patient patient sticker here.

B-TEAM Clinical Opioid Withdrawal Score (COWS)

100	IN	8	
	Ш	Ш	Ш
	Ш		Ш

Date and time of assessment:	Total dose of induction buprenorphine administered before this COWS assessment:		
Resting Pulse Rate: Record b	peats per minute after patier	it is sitting or lying down for one minute.	
0 = pulse rate 80 or below	2 = pulse rate 101-120		
1 = pulse rate 81-100	3 = pulse rate greater that	n 120	
Sweating: Over past 30 mins	not accounted for by room	temperature or activity.	
0 = no chills or flushing	2 = flushed or observable	moisture on face 4 = sweat streaming off face	
1 = subjective chills or flushing	g 3 = beads of sweat on bro	w or face	
Restlessness: Observation d	uring assessment.	2 = frequent shifting or extraneous	
0 = able to sit still		movement of legs/arms	
1 = reports difficulty sitting sti	II, but able to do so	3 = unable to sit still	
Pupil size.	1 = pupils possibly larger t	than normal for light	
0 = pupils pinned or normal	2 = pupils moderately dila	ted	
size for light	3 = only rim of iris visible		
Bone or joint aches.			
0 = not present	2 = severe diffuse aching of	of joints and muscles reported	
1 = mild discomfort	3 = patient rubbing joints or muscles and unable to sit still due to discomfort		
Runny nose or tearing: Not a	accounted for by cold or aller	rgy.	
0 = not present	2 = nose running or tearin	g	
1 = mild/diffuse discomfort	3 = nose constantly running	ng or tears streaming down cheeks	
GI upset: Over the course of	the previous 30 minutes.		
0 = no GI symptoms	2 = nausea or loose stool	4 = multiple episodes of	
1 = stomach cramps	3 = vomiting / diarrhea	diarrhea / vomiting	
Tremor: Observation of outs	stretched hands.		
0 = no tremor		2 = slight tremor observable	
1 = tremor can be felt but not	observed	3 = gross tremor or muscle twitching	
Yawning: Observation durin	ig assessment.		
0 = no yawning		2 = yawning 3+ times during assessment	
1 = yawning once or twice due	ring assessment	3 = yawning several times a minute	
Anxiety or irritability.		2 = patient obviously irritable or anxious	
0 = none		4 = patient so irritable or anxious that	
1 = patient reports increasing	irritability or anxiousness	participation in the assessment is difficult	
Gooseflesh skin.		3 = piloerection of skin can be felt or	
0 = skin is smooth		hairs standing up on arms	
		5 = prominent piloerection	
RN Signature:		Total:	
RN Name:	A14 / DM	13—12 = milu 13—24 = moderate	
Time:	AM / PW	25-36 = moderately severe	

Inpatient Management of Opioid Use Disorder: Buprenorphine/Naloxone



BUPRENORPHINE INDUCTION ALGORITHM



*SL = sublingual

**Day 1 max dose may surpass 8mg by provider order, up to max dose of 16mg.

- Document COW5 score and evaluate for sedation at each check.
- + With each check, consider increasing dose if cravings or withdrawal are present. Decrease if sedation or RR
- < 8 is present. The goal is for patient to have no sedation, but also no cravings or withdrawal on their final dose. • Many patients will ultimately be on 16-24mg, however they may not reach this dose while hospitalized and

can finish the induction outpatient.

This project is funded by Texas Health & Human Services Texas Targeted Opioid Response.